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U DDBH            Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn         1421-1918 
 
Accession number: 1963/05; 2017/07 
 
Historical Background:  
The estate papers in this collection relate to two families, Hewley and Baines, who had resided in 
Wistow from about the fourteenth century. From the 1660s John Hewley (born in Wistow in 1619), 
lawyer of Gray's Inn and whig MP for Pontefract and also York, began buying land at Naburn. 
Nonconformist in religion, he may have done this to get around the law that prevented 
nonconformist ministers from residing within five miles of York. The property had been in the York 
families of Bell and North and their earlier mansion house was demolished by John Hewley in 
1679 to erect a new Bell Hall, just 500 yards from the River Ouse ('Bell Hall', Country Life, p.820; 
Wilberforce-Bell & Alec-Smith, 'Bell Hall', pp.22-23; Allison, History of the county of York, iii, p.77). 
 
John Hewley was married to Sarah Woolryche (b.1627), who was an active presbyterian 
sympathiser and wood panelling in Bell Hall is reputed to hide cavities in the walls where she hid 
presbyterian ministers. John and Sarah Hewley had two sons but they both died young and when 
John Hewley died in 1695 he left a large bequest to his sister's grandson. She was Margaret 
Hewley (1620-1659) and she had married John Baines (b.1623) from their home village of Wistow. 
Sarah Hewley was the heiress of her father, Robert Woolryche, and when she died in 1710 she 
left bequests to the nonconformist church and the rest of the Bell Hall estate to the grandson of 
Margaret Hewley and John Baines as well (Baines, Old Naburn, pedigree; Arnold, 'Bell Hall'; 
Wilberforce-Bell & Alec-Smith, 'Bell Hall', pp.23-24). 
 
By this means, Bell Hall changed hands from the Hewley to the Baines family, who have owned 
the house since 1710 and it is unusual in being a house that has never changed hands by 
purchase. Hewley Baines was born in 1693 and therefore was just 17 when he inherited. He 
married Lucy Masterman, probably around 1720, and they had five children, four of whom lived to 
adulthood. Their eldest son, Hewley Baines (b.1721), succeeded to the Bell Hall estates when his 
father died in the same year as his mother in 1760. He married Mary Ellis (1733-1778) in 1754 and 
they had nine children. He died in 1800 and was succeeded by Hewley John Baines (b.1762), who 
is the first member of the family for whom there is any correspondence some of which relates to 
his activities as colonel of the York Volunteers (Baines, Old Naburn, pedigree; Wilberforce-Bell & 
Alec-Smith, 'Bell Hall', p.24). 
 
Hewley John Baines married Mary Mortimer (1762-1826) in 1786 and they had one son, Hewley 
Mortimer Baines (b.1788) and three daughters, one of whom died at the age of two and a half and 
the other two at the relatively young ages of twenty five and thirty nine years. Mary Baines began 
a family tradition of keeping samples of hair, all of which survive in the collection, the earliest 
samples being that of her eldest daughter, Mary Ann (b.1789) taken when she was not quite two, 
in 1791, and then when she died later in the same year (Baines, Old Naburn, pedigree; U 
DX196/2). 
 
Hewley John Baines died in 1830 and was succeeded to the Bell Hall estates by Hewley Mortimer 
Baines who was married to Mary Harrison (b.1798). They had four children and were destined to 
outlive all but one of them. Their eldest child, Mary Catherine (b.1821), married John James 
Harrison in 1845, from a successful banking family at Harrogate, and they had nine children before 
she died in 1871. The second child, Hewley John Baines (b.1823), was a captain of the 95th 
regiment of foot and served in Ireland. In 1844 he secretly married Clara Maria Wade and she died 
within the year. When he remarried, Esther Mary Shannon, in 1846, his father, angered at his 
conduct, cut him out of his will. Letters of Hewley John Baines and his second wife are in the 
collection. They had no children and he died in 1855. Their third child, Henry Baines (b.1824), was 
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a captain in the East Yorkshire militia and there is correspondence of his in the collection as well, 
including letters home from a trip to America. He married Emily Jane Pease, but died without issue 
in 1868, so never succeeding to the estates; his father was, by this time, the oldest inhabitant in 
the region (Baines, Old Naburn, pedigree; U DX196/1). 
 
The fourth child of this generation, William Mortimer Baines, was born in 1830 and has left a very 
considerable number of personal papers starting with early letters to his father while at Bishopton 
Close School and Rugby. As a young man he travelled out to New Zealand, meeting and marrying 
there Mary Ann Verdon in 1855. In the early 1850s he bought land in Auckland and the Waikato, 
engaging in saw milling and gold prospecting. He and his wife lived at Remuera and Mount Eden 
where they had no less than seven children in the first dozen years they were married. These 
were: Mary Frances Mortimer Baines (b.1856), Katherine Baines (b.1858), Rosa Augustin Baines 
(1861), Emily Edith and Annie Baines, twins (b.1863), Hewley Mortimer Baines (1865) and Henry 
Verdon Baines (b.1868). This last child was born just three days before the death of William 
Mortimer Baines' brother Henry and his father wrote immediately saying that as the heir to Bell 
Hall he should return home. Within a few months he boarded the 'Kate Waters' with his eldest 
daughter who had never seen England or her English grandparents. Mary Ann Baines remained in 
New Zealand with their six youngest children and arranged for their Mount Eden estate to be let, 
following her husband at the end of the next year (Baines, Old Naburn, pedigree; U DX196/1). 
 
In 1870 William Mortimer and Mary Ann Baines rented Hemingborough Hall, buying the furniture in 
it, and on 30 August their eighth child, Ethel Mary Baines, was born in England. She was followed 
by Hilda Jane Maud Baines in 1872 and Mary Ann Baines was pregnant again when her husband 
finally succeeded to Bell Hall on the deaths of Hewley Mortimer Baines and his wife Mary within a 
month of one another in early 1874. The growing family moved into Bell Hall in time for William 
Philip to be born in May 1874. He was followed over the next ten years by five more children: Lucy 
Masterman Baines (1876), Leonard Mortimer Baines (1878), Winifred Esther Nona Baines (1879), 
Dorothy Sybella Baines (1881) and Walter Francis Woolryche Baines (1884). William Mortimer 
Baines and his wife, Mary Ann, were extremely unusual: despite having a very large family and 
emigrating right around the world not one of their children was lost in infancy or to childhood 
illness. All of their children except one lived into the twentieth century, nearly all of them living to 
old age. Only William Philip Baines, the first to be born in England, died as a young adult in the 
ship wreck of the 'Port Yarrock' off the coast of Ireland in 1894. Three of their children went to live 
overseas: Rosa Augusta Baines became a nurse in India and the eldest son, Hewley Mortimer 
Baines, was an engineer in the public works department in India. Letters from them in India are a 
useful source for Indian colonial history. Hilda Jane Maud Baines married a doctor and went to live 
in South Australia (Baines, Old Naburn, pedigree; U DX196/2). 
 
This generation inherited its long-livedness from both parents. William Mortimer Baines died in 
1912, at the age of eighty-two. His wife, despite fourteen pregnancies, outlived him, dying at the 
age of ninety-three years, in 1932. William Mortimer Baines published two books during his life, 
the first soon after his return from New Zealand, about his experiences there: The Narrative of 
Edward Crewe (1874). The second book was published some twenty years later, when he was 
selling off his New Zealand property and was very settled on his inherited estate at Bell Hall: Old 
Naburn (1895). Mary Ann Baines went on living at Bell Hall after the death of her husband and the 
property was then held in trust by their two eldest sons, Hewley Mortimer Baines (d.1945) and 
Henry Verdon Baines (d.1954), before passing to the eldest son of Hewley Mortimer Baines, John 
Hewley Baines, solicitor (b.1935). Bell Hall, a brick house, with stone dressings, five bays wide 
and three tall (with basement and attic also), is a beautiful, symmetrical, Wren-style house that 
pre-figures the best Georgian architecture while still containing much of its richly-carved, 
seventeenth-century wood pannelling. It also contains many portraits of this lively and interesting 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 3 of 331 

East Yorkshire family (Wilberforce-Bell & Alec-Smith, 'Bell Hall', p.24; Allison, History of the county 
of York, iii, pp.77-78). 
 
Custodial history:  
Deposited in the East Riding Record Office by J. H. Baines in 1963 and transferred to Hull 
University Archives in 1974. Hull University Archives purchased the collection from the executors 
of J. H. Baines in Jun 2021 with the aid of grants from Friends of the National Libraries and a 
private donor. 
 
Description:  
The Baines family papers consist of very considerable estate papers for properties in the three 
Ridings of Yorkshire, especially Naburn, Deighton and Wistow and Cawood (the abbreviations 
East Riding [ER], West Riding [WR] and North Riding [NR] will be used when describing the estate 
papers) as well as a very rich deposit of family letters, journals and diaries which are of particular 
interest for the study of colonial history, especially for nineteenth century New Zealand. The estate 
papers are catalogued alphabetically as follows: Bilsdale, NR (1700); Coneythorpe, WR (1785); 
Deighton manor, ER (1421-1688) comprising intermittent late medieval and early modern court 
rolls 1421-1602, pains 1584-1638 and estreats 1599-1688; Deighton, leases (1543-1873) 
including two schedules of deeds 1331-1706 and 1289-1716, the letters patent of 1542 granting to 
John Aske of Aughton the site of Ellerton Priory, a mansion house in York previously owned by 
Bolton Priory, Thykhede Priory and the manor of Deighton with a mansion house, some papers of 
the Robinson family including 'Madam Robinson's note for tyth' dated 1685 and the marriage 
settlements of Arthur Robinson and Elizabeth Walthall (1603) and John Robinson and Elizabeth 
Hutton (1639), a 1604 plan of Deighton by William Hampe, a rental account book 1800-1802, 
some 19th century plans of farms and Deighton Park, an original bundle of 17th century copies of 
medieval title deeds of St Mary's Abbey from c.1158 (originals in John Rylands Library, Latin MS 
221) and including a copy of the 1539 surrender of the Abbey and convent to Henry VIII, the wills 
of William Walthall (1608), Robert Bell (1757), Thomas Smith (1746), Robert Ward (1782) and 
Arthur Robinson (1685), the marriage settlements of Mary Denton and John Bell (1735), Ann 
Denton and Robert Bell (1743), Anna Maria Bell and William Cox (1783) and Arthur Robinson and 
Mary Molineux (1679); Dringhouses, WR (1728); Dunnington, ER (1820-1827); Ellenthorpe and 
Milby, ER (1597, 1636); Escrick, ER (1629-1630) being two confirmations by the Archbishop of 
York about the Robinson family pew in the church; Fryston and Hillam, WR (late 17th century) 
comprising an address on the difference between a court leet and a court baron; Hemingborough, 
ER (1870) including a valuation of furniture at Hemingborough Hall bought by William Mortimer 
Baines; Heworth, NR (1664-1679); Killinghall and Ferensby, WR (1554-1785) including some 
surrenders and admissions and an abstract of the title of Hewley Baines.    
 
Estate papers for Naburn in the East Riding are considerable and span the dates 1486-1890. They 
include 17th century copies of medieval title deeds, a note that Bell Hall derived its name from 
Richard Bell who owned a manor house in 1585, the 1721 licence to Hewley Baines to erect a 
pew in the church, a settlement of 1760 further to the marriage of Hewley Baines and Lucy 
Masterman, the Naburn enclosure award of 1768, the marriage settlements of Richard Bell and 
Jane North (1566), Hewley Baines and Lucy Masterman (1716) and Hewley John Baines and 
Mary Mortimer (1786), some surveys of the land around Bell Hall, some 18th century leases, 
abstracts of the wills of Timothy Mortimer (1751) and John Mortimer (1752), the will of Hewley 
Baines (1759), an original bundle of 19th century estate papers including some farm accounts, 
tenancies, notes on the Reader family (ferrymen at Naburn), an account for the rebuilding of the 
church and a list of its incumbents 1475-1878 and some papers of the Bell, Levett and Palmes 
families. The remainder of the estate papers in U DDBH are as follows: North Holme, NR (1737) 
being the agreement of sale to Hewley Baines; Ryther with Ozendyke, WR (16th century) 
including some pains laid in Ryther manor court; Sherburn in Elmet, WR (1693-1720); Sinderby, 
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NR (1809); Stillingfleet, ER (1773); Wigginton, NR (1651-1847) including the 1847 survey of the 
lands of Hewley Mortimer Baines; Wistow and Cawood, WR (1518-1830) including early 16th 
century instructions for procedure in the manor court and other early 16th century manorial 
records, a schedule of Mr Beckwith's writings 1606-1732 and some 17th century surrenders and 
admissions in the manor court; York (1666, 1873) including 19th century papers about Fishergate 
House. Papers for places outside Yorkshire include a 1742 assignment for Lincolnshire and 
London papers of the Robinson family, London merchants (1574-1631) including 16th century 
bonds to the crown including one for John Thynne of Wiltshire. There are also papers for 'various 
townships' (1567-1830) including a 1760 rental for Wistow, Stillingfleet, Bell Hall, Naburn, 
Wigginton, Pickering, Conisthorp, Killinghall, Ferensby, Knaresborough and York and a list of 
estates of Hewley Baines with valuations in 1785, as well as details of legacies left under his will 
with an 1830 account of the legacy duty paid by his son, Hewley John Baines.    
 
U DDBH also contains accounts and vouchers (1671-1883) including 17th century lawyers' 
accounts of Arthur Robinson, the accounts of Mary Robinson 1675-1703, various accounts of 
Hewley John Baines including a copy of the marriage certificate of Hewley Baines and Mary Ellis 
(1754), an account for an upright pianoforte in 1806 and various furniture and meat accounts, 
executors' account books, an 18th century servants' wages book, a female servants' book 1830-
1873, the 1830 funeral account of Hewley John Baines, the private cash account book of Mary 
Baines 1838-1849 and an 1839 account for painting and decorating. Bonds in the collection span 
the dates 1678-1686 and are those of Arthur and Mary Robinson.  
 
There are also legal papers (1608-1834) and again many of these are cases pursued by the 
Robinson family in the 17th century to do with such things as trespass, evictment and tithes. 
However, there are also 18th century opinions on family settlements and Baines family titles. A 
section catalogued as 'various deeds' (1587-1918) includes extracts from accounts drawn up by 
Robert Aske as sheriff of Yorkshire 1587-1588, a 1690 award of boundary wall and rights of light 
between the houses of Margaret Hardwick and William Justice, an 1832 valuation of furniture at 
Lingcroft and an original bundle of correspondence and papers of the Reverend Cecil Henry 
Legard with some Legard family inventories 1868-1918. Settlements in U DDBH (1582-1876) 
include the marriage settlements of Thomas Fairfax and Ellen Aske (1582), Thomas Armstrong 
and Margaret Nicholson (1712), Hewley Baines and Lucy Masterman (1718), Henry Baines and 
Emily Jane Pease (1857) and Stuart Alexander Menzies and Charlotte Amy Bewicke (1876). Wills 
in U DDBH are as follows: John Hewley (1682), Arthur Robinson (c.1685), Sarah Hewley (1707), 
Henry Masterman (1731), George Colbatch (1754), William Harrison (1802), Mary Baines (1834), 
Hewley John Baines (1819), Mary Baines (1831), Hewley Mortimer Baines (several - 1846-1871), 
James Middleton Hall (1875) as well as various letters of administration and executors' accounts 
for the Baines family through to 1916.    
 
Correspondence comprises over 2000 letters (1760-1918) largely dating from the late nineteenth 
century and dominated by letters of William Mortimer Baines (1830-1912), his wife, Mary Ann 
Verdon (1839-c.1932) and their fifteen children. However, earlier correspondence includes that of 
Hewley John Baines and his wife, Mary Mortimer (about estate affairs, local society, friends and 
relations); their daughter, Mary Baines (about family and local gossip as well as some national 
gossip including such things as a report of the cholera epidemic on the Isle of Man and notice of 
the death of the king); their eldest son, Hewley Mortimer Baines (about estate affairs, local affairs 
and including letters of his children) and his wife, Mary Askwith (also about local affairs, with many 
from her children including a description of her son, Henry Baines', voyage to America). There are 
also letters of their eldest son, Hewley John Baines including some about his disagreement with 
his father over his second marriage to Esther Mary Shannon in Ireland. There is also a bundle of 
letters from his wife to his younger brother, William Mortimer Baines, after his death in 1855, 
mostly about her financial problems as a widow. The bulk of the correspondence in U DDBH is 
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that of William Mortimer Baines, youngest son of Hewley Mortimer Baines and Mary Askwith, who 
spent the first part of his adult life prospecting and saw milling in the north island of New Zealand 
before returning as heir to the English estates at Naburn with his New Zealand wife, Mary Ann 
Verdon. There are early school letters to his parents, letters about his early establishment in New 
Zealand, about buying land in Auckland and the Waikato, about building two churches and the 
purchase of a saw mill. The correspondence contains many letters from friends and contacts in 
New Zealand and they are therefore useful for throwing light on affairs in New Zealand such as 
troop instalment, building in Auckland, relations with the Maori and changes in government, as 
well as the general economic climate of New Zealand and the fortunes and failures of its settlers. 
They are particularly interesting on the subject of gold mines and prospecting. The letters also 
contain news of the births of the first seven of their children in Mount Eden, Auckland, New 
Zealand and the trips back to England in the 1870s, first of William Mortimer Baines with his eldest 
child and then of Mary Ann Baines with her other six children. The correspondence of William 
Mortimer Baines after his return to Yorkshire in 1868 continues to be from friends and contacts, 
including his estate agent in New Zealand and therefore contains news of New Zealand family 
property, though it also broadens out to include news of Australia and India where three of his 
children went to live and/or work. Letters to Mary Ann Baines in this later period are embedded 
amongst the correspondence of her husband, except for U DDBH/27-28 which comprise letters to 
her alone from their children. William Mortimer Baines' correspondence from 1874 includes 
information on estate affairs at Bell Hall and there is an original bundle of letters from Thomas 
Harrison about shooting in Naburn Wood. Another bundle of letters relates to the loss at sea on 
the 'Port Yarrock' of William Philip Baines, the tenth child of William Mortimer and Mary Ann 
Baines. There is also an original bundle of letters relating to the affairs of William Price and some 
miscellaneous correspondence about legal affairs, fox hunting and five letters written to Mary 
Frances Baines from New Zealand friends (children) after her departure for England with her 
father in 1868.    
 
The collection also contains some interesting miscellaneous material including family locks of hair 
and the cuff of a baby's dress. There are also pedigrees, army commissions, an 1822 book of 
Chinese puzzles, some valuations and lists of personal effects, the funeral sermon of Dame Sarah 
Hewley, around seventy 19th century recipes and medical cures, a Crimean War almanac of 1856, 
a miner's certificate from New Zealand c.1866 and a 1905 note book of Mary Ann Baines 
containing jottings about New Zealand. 
 
Arrangement:  
U DDBH/1 Bilsdale (North Riding), 1700 
U DDBH/2 Coneythorpe (West Riding), 1785 
U DDBH/3 Deighton (East Riding), 1158-1873 
U DDBH/4 Dringhouses (West Riding), 1728 
U DDBH/5 Dunnington (East Riding), 1820-1827 
U DDBH/6 Ellenthorpe and Milby (North Riding), 1597-1636 
U DDBH/7 Escrick (East Riding), 1629-1630 
U DDBH/8 Fryston and Hillam (West Riding), late 17th cent. 
U DDBH/9 Hemingbrough (East Riding), 1870 
U DDBH/10  Heworth (North Riding), 1664-1679 
U DDBH/11  Killinghall and Ferrensby (West Riding), 1554-1785 
U DDBH/12  Naburn (East Riding), 1486-1890 
U DDBH/13  Northolme (North Holme? North Riding), 1737 
U DDBH/14  Ryther with Ozendyke (West Riding), 1557 
U DDBH/15  Sherburn in Elmet (West Riding), 1693-1720 
U DDBH/16  Sinderby (North Riding), 1809 
U DDBH/17  Stillingfleet (East Riding), 1773 
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U DDBH/18  Wigginton (North Riding), 1651-1847 
U DDBH/19  Wistow and Cawood (West Riding), 1499-1889 
U DDBH/20  York, 1666-1873 
U DDBH/21  Lincolnshire, 1742 
U DDBH/22  London (Robinson Family), 1568-1631 
U DDBH/23  Various Townships, 1567-1830 
U DDBH/24  Accounts and Vouchers, 1671-1883 
U DDBH/25  Bonds, 1678-1686 
U DDBH/26  Correspondence, 1760-1918 
U DDBH/27  Diaries and Journals, c.1780-1875 
U DDBH/28  Legal, 1608-1834 
U DDBH/29  Miscellaneous, 1724-1905 
U DDBH/30  Settlements, 1582-1876 
U DDBH/31  Various Deeds, 1587-1918 
U DDBH/32  Wills, 1682-1916 
 
Extent: 3.5 linear metres 
 
Related material:  
Papers relating to the Baines family [U DX196] 
Papers of the Forbes Adam/Thompson/Lawley (Barons Wenlock) Family of Escrick [U DDFA]  
Papers of the Palmes Family of Naburn [U DDPA]  
From the papers of the Preston Family of Moreby [U DDPR/7/353-356]  
From the papers of the Trust of the Ion and Tate Families, Hemingbrough Hall Estate [U DTT/53] 
 
Finding aids: Entry in Landed family and estate papers subject guide 
 
Access conditions: Access will be granted to any accredited reader 
 
Language: English; Latin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U DDBH/1 Bilsdale (North Riding) 

1 item 
 

1700 

U DDBH/1/1 Pleadings in Richard Saunderson v. James Preist 
(Prest) of Carleton 

Diversion of a watercourse running from 
Howmoorsyde to a close of pasture called High Intack 
in Bilsdale. 
2 items 
 

 

1700 
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U DDBH/2 Coneythorpe (West Riding) 
1 item 
 

1785 

U DDBH/2/1 Agreement for Sale 

For £500: John Lund of Bootham near the Walls, York, 
on behalf of Reverend Hewley Baines of York and 
Hewley John Baines (eldest son of Reverend H. B.) to 
Richard Mitton of Serlby, Nottinghamshire, gentleman. 
Messuage, garth, 5ac.3r.29p. on Short Sills Common; 
1ac.7p. arable lately inclosed from the Town Field; and 
4 Bamber Closes containing 12ac.11p. in all at 
Coneythorpe: Witnesses Michl. Ellis, Wm. Jameson. 
1 item 
 

 

5 Aug 1785 

U DDBH/3 Deighton (East Riding) 
1-4        Manor of Deighton 
5-29      Deighton Leases 
30-168  General 
168 items or bundles 
 

1158-1873 

U DDBH/3/1 Court Rolls  
8 Aug 1421-29 Jul 1423; 25 Apr 1430-14 Jul 1430 
(damaged); 18 Oct 1458 (damaged); 12 Oct 1470 
(damaged); 26 Apr, 25 Sep 1481 (damaged); 10 Apr 
1488; 26 Sep 1509 (damaged); 28 May 1510 
(damaged); 15 [  ] (1510-1511) (damaged); 1 Jun 1515 
(damaged); [  ] Apr 1516 (fragment); 1 Apr 1519 
(damaged); 13 Apr 1580; 19 Apr (temp Eliz.I) 
(damaged); c.1588 (damaged); 5 Oct 1596; 4 Apr, 1 
Oct 1600; 16 Oct 1601; 22 Apr, 20 Oct 1602. 
22 items 
 

1421-1602 

U DDBH/3/2 Pains  
15 Oct 1584-5 Oct 1596; early 17th cent. (damaged); 
13 Apr 1629-25 Apr 1631; 27 Oct 1634; 25 Oct 1638. 
5 items 
 

1584-1638 

U DDBH/3/3 Estreats  
18 May 1599; 5 Apr 1600 (temp. Eliz.I); 22 Oct 1622; 
25 Oct (c.1680); 9 Oct 1685; 20 Oct 1686; 7 Nov 1687; 
26 Oct 1688. 
9 items 
 

1599-1688 

U DDBH/3/4 Instructions to jury on Deighton boundaries 

1 item 
 

17th cent. 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 8 of 331 

U DDBH/3/5 Lease  
For 60 years: at 3s.11d. rent: John Aske of Aughton 
esquire to Thomas Ellerker of Dyghton. Cottage, croft, 
toft and lands: Not executed. 
1 item 
 

20 Sep 1543 

U DDBH/3/6 Lease  
For 21 years: at 2s.6d. rent: John Aske of Aughton 
esquire to Jenet Sheirborn widow of Thomas S. of 
Deighton yeoman. Messuage, garth, two oxgangs, 
Sheirburn Close, and three beastgates in the West 
Field. 
1 item 
 

10 May 1557 

U DDBH/3/7 Lease  
For 21 years: at 4s. rent: Robert Aske of Aughton 
esquire to Robert Innckyng of Dyghton. Cottage. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1558 

U DDBH/3/8 Lease  
For 21 years: at 2s.7d. rent: Robert Aske of Aughton 
esquire to Roland Hount yeoman. Cottage. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1558 

U DDBH/3/9 Lease  
For 41 years: at £3.11s.2d. rent: Robert Aske of 
Aughton esquire to John Tindaill of Dighton, son of 
James T. deceased: for 20 marks paid by Reverend 
Edmonde Tyndall of Gillyng. Messuage, cottage, five 
oxgangs, closes called Rowghtwhat Abbotte 
Riddynges besides the spring at the end of the Old 
Felde, Colliers Close at the end of the Mylne Felde, 2 
Langthwats, 2 Thwaites, the Hagges, the Olde 
Riddynges, and Cawood Garth, and four beastgates in 
the West Feildes: Witnesses Edmunde Tyndale clerk, 
John Chase, John Sandwith bowyer, Thomas Grene, 
Edmund Fale. 
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1563 

U DDBH/3/10 Lease  
For 21 years: at 9s.6d. rent: for 46s.8d.: Robert Aske 
of Dyghton esquire to Leonard Myers of Dighton 
husbandman. Tenement, lathe, garth, close called the 
Pighill, three beastgates in the West Feilde, two 
beastgates in Marsridding and 4ac. arable. 
1 item 
 

20 Jun 1573 
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U DDBH/3/11 Lease  
For 21 years: at 6s.8d. rent: Robert Aske of Awghton 
esquire to John Hessell of Dyghton tailor. Cottage, 
lathe, toft and croft, 1/2ac. arable in Padocke Meadow 
and two beastgates in the West Fylde: Witnesses 
Thomas (Wellfey?). 
1 item 
 

30 Sep 1578 

U DDBH/3/12 Lease  
For 21 years: at £15 rent: Robert Askwith, William 
Robinson and Robert Brooke as alderman of York to 
Brian Roocliff of Dighton gentleman. Manor of Dighton: 
Rent payable in counsel chamber on Ouse Bridge. 
Witnesses John Youdall, Leonard Belt, Oswould 
Chambers, Edmund Fale. 
1 item 
 

18 Jan 1580 

U DDBH/3/13 Lease  
For 21 years: at £10 rent: Robert Askwith, William 
Robinson and Robert Brooke as alderman of York to 
Humfrey Ellis of York public notary. Manor house of 
Dighton with Hall Garth, Cony Garthes and the 
Hopriddinges: Witnesses Water Mudde, William 
Holland, George Fawcett, Robert Stockdale. Seal of 
Robert Aske, poor impression, armorial, quarterly, (i) & 
(iv) barry of 6 (ii) & (iii) 4 lozenges (within a bordure?), 
'NEC FATA NEC MORTUM'. 
1 item 
 

12 Jan 1582 

U DDBH/3/14 Lease  
For 21 years: at 20s.8d. rent: John Aske of Ryther and 
wife Christyen to Thomas Jacksonn of Dighton 
husbandman. Messuage, garth, close and 16ac.: 
Endorsed 'Now James Jackson'. 
1 item 
 

Jun 1585 

U DDBH/3/15 Lease  
For 21 years: at 8s.7d. rent: for £6: John Aske of 
Ryther and wife Christyen to William Kirkby of 
Dieghton gentleman. Cottage, toft and croft, barn, two 
beastgates in West Field, three lands in Old Field, one 
land in Mylne Fielde, one land in Padocke  Myer, one 
land in Pescrofte, 1ac. between Westfeld Gayte and 
the Pighill, 1ac. next Hoprydinge: Witnesses Thomas 
Grene, Oswald Whittington, Bryan Ro[  ]. Endorsed 
'nowe Robart Kirkbyes'. 
1 item 
 

6 Jun 1585 
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U DDBH/3/16 Lease  
For 21 years: at 12s.7d. rent: John Aske of Ryther and 
wife Christyen to Raife Shereburne of Dighton 
husbandman. Messuage, garth, laithe, two oxgangs, 
Shereburne Close and three beastgates in the 
common fields: Witnesses George Fawcett, Tho. 
Smyth. 
1 item 
 

4 Aug 1585 

U DDBH/3/17 Lease  
For 21 years: at £3.11s.2d. rent: Robert Aske of 
Aughton esquire and his son and heir John to William 
Foxgaile of York butcher. As U DDBH/3/9:  Witnesses 
Fr. Meryng, Francis Copland, Robte. Wetherelde. 
1 item 
 

10 Jan 1586 

U DDBH/3/18 Lease  
For 10 years: at 15s. rent: William Otterborne of Kirkby 
Mooreside butcher (administrator of John Tindall), 
James Tindall of Dighton labourer and Reverend 
William Denton of Kirkby Mooreside to Tobye Warde of 
Dighton labourer. Cottage, garth and 2ac.: Witnesses 
John Broughton, Tho. Vaux, Robert Shereborne. 
1 item 
 

5 Oct 1615 

U DDBH/3/19 Lease  
For 10 years: at 9s.8d. rent: for £6.13s.4d.: William 
Otterborne of Kirkby Mooreside butcher (administrator 
of John Tindall), James Tindall of Dighton labourer and 
Reverend William Denton of Kirkby Mooreside to 
Anthonye Warde of Dighton tailor. Cottage, garth, four 
lands (1ac.) adjoining on the Cunnygarth, 1r. in 
Paddymyer, 1r. in Westergaite, 1/2ac. in Mylne Feild, 
1/2ac. in Old Feild and 2ac. in West Feild: Witnesses 
John Broughton, Robte. Shereborne, Tho. Vaux. 
1 item 
 

5 Oct 1615 

U DDBH/3/20 Lease  
For 21 years: at £23 rent: Arthure Robinson esquire to 
Robert Sprowson yeoman both of Dighton. Closes 
called Newe Rifte, Innge Bottom, Lowe Close, 
Crabtree Hill Close, Lowe Bottome Close, White Close 
or Broone Close and Hell Close (92ac.4p. in all) with 
their tithes and four wain loads of turves from the 
waste: Witnesses Ric. Robinson, Richard Kether. 
1 item 
 

3 Apr 1650 
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U DDBH/3/21 Lease  
For 7 years: at £67 rent: Mary Robinson of Dighton 
widow to Richard Yates of Kilburne yeoman. Capital 
messuage with Hall Yard, Cony Yard, Mill Feild, Moor 
Piece, Cliffe Close, Hithermost and Further Lees 
Closes, Dob Riding, Wood, Wheat Close, and Marsh 
Ridinge: Witnesses Darcy Molyneux, J. Hardwicke, 
Arth. Robinson. 
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1686 

U DDBH/3/22 Lease 

At £300 rent: Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
to James and John Wilson of Deighton butchers. Farm 
with 231ac. 
1 item 
 

30 Aug 1816 

U DDBH/3/23 Lease 

At £190 rent: Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
to Thomas Welburn and his surety John Sturdy, both 
of Easingwold yeomen. Farm with Home Close, Shaw 
Close, Eller Close, Ruffits, Denton Garth, Westergates, 
Moor Closes and Old Field in Deighton and Naburn. 
1 item 
 

20 Dec 1823 

U DDBH/3/24 Lease 

At £190 rent: Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
to John Clegg of Hessay yeoman and his sureties 
William Powell of Hessay yeoman and Robert Powell 
of Catterton. Farm with Home Close, Shaw Close, 
Eller Close, Ruffits, Denton Garth, Westergates, Moor 
Closes and Old Field in Deighton and Naburn. 
1 item 
 

21 Jun 1828 

U DDBH/3/25 Lease 

At £300 rent: Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
to William Webb of Fangfoss Grange farmer and his 
son John W. Farm with 235ac.  
1 item 
 

18 Apr 1829 

U DDBH/3/26 Lease 

At £300 rent: Hewley Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire to William Beckett of Deighton Hall Farm. 
Deighton Hall Farm (235ac.- as U DDBH/3/25?). 
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1858 

U DDBH/3/27 Lease 

At £10 rent: Hewley Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire to William Beckett of Deighton farmer. 
Buildings on the roadside and land. 
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1868 
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U DDBH/3/28 Lease 

At £57 rent: Hewley Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire to George Whitehead of Deighton Grove 
esquire. Farm and 3 Tilmer Closes (38ac.): Not 
executed. 
1 item 
 

1873 

U DDBH/3/29 Draft of U DDBH/3/28 

1 item 
 

c.1873 

U DDBH/3/30 Translation. Surrender and Gift: Hugo de Nevill, son of 
Geoffrey de Nevill, to Abbot Simon and St Mary's 
Abbey, York 

His manor of Deighton which he held of them and 
which they now receive of him again after 20 years, 
with the capital messuage, villeins, homage and 
service of freemen and all appurtenances: Witnesses 
J. de Obeton, J. de Baysgate, Roger de Lacell, T. 
Hooker, knights; B. de Ogylton seneschal to the 
Abbots; W. de Lacell of Escrick, T. Lacell and J. de 
Selby of the same, J. de Lasderen of Fulford, J. de 
Scharsgill, R. Weston of Deighton. 'Translation of a 
Deed in the Deighton Hall Chest by C. E. Freeman. Jul 
14 1909'. 
1 item 
 

[1258-1296] 

U DDBH/3/31 Schedule. Deeds 'belonging the Mannour of Deighton' 
1 item 
 

1331-1706 

U DDBH/3/32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Letters Patent granting to John Aske of Awghton esq.  
Site of Ellerton Priory with le Cotegarth (2ac.), fishing 
in River Derwent, 48ac. meadow lying between site of 
Priory and River Derwent; house called Fogge 
Graunge with barn, little garden, close called le House 
Flatt (7ac.); Cowe Close (3ac.), Burne Moor (8ac.), 
Armxsholme (10ac.), 2 Newlands (23ac.), Byrkys 
(THERE IS A GAP AT THIS POINT) all in Ellerton and 
Aughton [  ] (property) in Thorganby alias Throckenby. 
Messuage, tenement, bovate, and Priour Lande, 
annual rent of 8s.1d. from four oxgangs, all in West 
Cottyngwyth. Messuage and 15 oxgangs, messuage 
and lands, in Holme. Capital messuage, cottage, two 
parcels of land and water mill in Goodmadam. Grange 
and eight oxgangs, annual rents of 9s., toft and 
garden, all in Huggate. Messuage in Thorganby. 
Messuage in York. And all other property in those 
places sometime of Ellerton Priory. Tenement called le 
Mansion Place at Bysshopphill in York sometime 
property of Bolton Priory. Thykhede Priory with a 
windmill, close called le Mylne Flatt, Acorne Close, 
close (14ac.), 8ac. on le Fountaine Dykys, two parcels 
called Scower Flattys, two parcels (4ac.) in the fields, 

3 Apr 1542 
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U DDBH/3/32 

continued 

Cryngle Close, three parcels called Westowe on le 
More Buttes in Astylfeld, Littleinge Croft, Alleryddyng 
alias le Whynny Close, Wheate Close alias Fogge 
Close, Cowe Close, Kylne Garth, Haver Close alias 
Cony Close, closes called Sycone, le Crofte and le 
Tongue, Calfe Close, 4ac. in Lytel Mersh, 5ac. in 
Dyverse Hylls, 6ac. in Cottyngworth Ynges, 7ac. in 
Wheldrake Bankys, all in Thykhede and West 
Cottyngwith and sometime property of Thykhede 
Priory. Manor of Dyghton with mansion house and 
lands and closes called William Ryddynge, Bothorns, 
Northcloses, Conygarth, Naborneynges, Olde 
Ryddyng, Hempe Ryddyng and Dowe Ryddyng; 
messuage, two oxgangs, the Hagges and Old 
Ryddyng; messuage, oxgang and Wylle Ryddyng; 
messuage, five oxgangs, closes called Rowthwaite 
and Thabbott Ryddyng; messuage, oxgang, Brode 
Ryddyng, Melryddyng, Olde Ryddyng and Moore 
Ryddyng; messuage and 5ac.; four cottages, four 
crofts and 7acs.; messuage, two oxgangs and close 
called Naryate; cottage, croft, Nesperyddyng and 
1/2ac.; messuage and one oxgang; cottage, croft, 4ac. 
and one cowgate in Mersheryddynge; messuage, two 
oxgangs, close called Pyghell and two gates in 
Mershriddynge; cottage, 2ac. and croft; messuage, 
one oxgang and closes called Campe Rydyng, 
Sprynge Gate and le Westfeld; annual rent of 6s. from 
little close called Prest Crofte.  Close called Paddok 
Myre, all in Deighton and Naborne and sometime 
property of St Mary's Abbey, York. Toft, croft and four 
oxgangs in Clevyng, sometime property of the 
Preceptory of the Holy Trinity in Beverley. Tenants and 
areas specified. In exchange for the manors of Deane, 
Verdesey, Showestrode and Bestonour and all other 
property of J. A. in those places and in Pevensey, 
Tolyngton, Petteworth and Clympyng, all Sussex: 
Great Seal, fragment only, and initial portrait of Henry 
VIII. Copy at U DDBH/3/68. 
The damaged parchment has been repaired with: 
(a) Portion of a Lease for 10 years: at £7 rent: Arthur 
Robinson, citizen, mercer and merchant of the staple, 
and John Vanerpe, merchant stranger: messuage 
called the Cocke in or near Crowched Fryers, parish St 
Olave in Harestreete, in London (23 Jun 1604) 
(b) Schedule of implements and fittings (in messuage 
as U DDBH/3/32(a)?) See U DDBH/3/68 and U 
DDBH/22/12. 
1 item 
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U DDBH/3/33 Assignment. Jane, widow of Bryan Rocliff of Dighton 
gentleman, to her son George Rocliff  
Recited lease to her from John Aske and wife Kirchean 
of a messuage, smithy, barn, croft called the Inges, 
Lea Garth, closes called the Flat, Nebridinge, 
Browneriddinge, Ox Close and Haver Close, 8ac. 
arable, and three beastgates in West Field (17 Jan 
1588/89): Witnesses James Innckyn, James Jackson, 
Thomas Smythe, Richard Rowle. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1601 

U DDBH/3/34 Bond 

In £60: James Tyndall of Deighton yeoman to Thomas 
Wilson senior of York gentleman. For performance of 
covenants of deed of same date: Witnesses Robert 
Smythe, Willm. Willson, Anthonie Tyndall. 
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1602 

U DDBH/3/35 Settlement  
William Walthall to Arthur Robinson both citizens and 
mercers of London: Prior to marriage of A. R. and 
Elizabeth Walthall. Manor of Dighton; manor house 
with Cony Garth, messuage, two oxgangs, five 
beastgates in Mayste Riddinge, Owle Riddinge, Hemp 
Riddinge and Dow Riddinge; messuage, two oxgangs, 
closes called the Haggs and Old Riddinge; messuage, 
one oxgang, Will Riddinge, Moreby, Wayte Riddinge, 
and Dow Riddinge; Westfields; messuage, five 
oxgangs, closes called Rowthwaite, Abbots Riddinge, 
Langwaite, Thwaytes, Hope Riddinge, Haggs, Old 
Riddinge and Cawood Garth; messuage, one oxgang, 
closes called Broad Riddinge, Mell Riddinge, Olde 
Riddinge and Moor Riddinge; messuage and 5ac., 
cottage, croft and 6ac.; two cottages and crofts; two 
messuages, two oxgangs, close called Narriatt; 
cottage, croft, close called Nelpe Ridding and 1/2ac.; 
messuage and one oxgang; cottage, croft, 4ac. and a 
cowgate in Marsh Riddinge; messuage, two oxgangs, 
close called Pighell and two cowgates in Marsh 
Riddinge; cottage, 2ac. and croft; messuage, one 
oxgang and closes called Campe Riddinge, Spring 
Yate and Mell Riddinge; West Field; 6d. rent out of 
little close called Prestcrofte; close called Paddocke 
Myere. All sometime possessions of St Mary's Abbey, 
York. Tenants named: Witnesses John Holt, William 
Payne. 
1 item 
 

21 Apr 1603 

U DDBH/3/36 Plan. Little close, Old Feild, Nellrydings, Dighton 
Springes and Dowerydinge, by Francis Jobsonn 

1 item 
 

early 17th cent. 
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U DDBH/3/37 Plan. Deighton Leaes and surrounding lands, by 
William Hampe 

1 item 
 

Apr 1604 

U DDBH/3/38 Exemplification of Final Concord 

For £80: William Foxgaile plaintiff and John Aske 
esquire and wife Christiana deforceants. Two 
messuages, 40ac. land; 20ac. meadow and 20ac. 
pasture.  
1 item 
 

23 Jan 1607 

U DDBH/3/39 Quitclaim 

Arthure Robinson of London merchant of the staple to 
John Acklam of Mooreby esquire and Bryan Middleton 
of Dighton yeoman. All claims and actions in respect of 
a little close fast by Byrkarr, or any part of the West 
Field thereto adjoining called Dighton Leas; and 
actions for cutting wood on the premises: Witnesses 
William Acclome, John Dawney, Thomas Fyssher, 
Walter Retoricke, Fran. Jordan, Roger Pinkney. 
1 item 
 

6 Jun 1611 

U DDBH/3/40 Assignment 
For 100 marks: James Pinckney of Eskrigge and 
William Hopley of Sykehouses gentlemen to William 
Rocliff of Dighton Hall haberdasher. Manor house with 
closes called Connye Garthes and Hopriddinges; the 
Connye Warren Howse with the Connye Warren (and 
the right of keeping and killing conies, and collecting 
strays), the Newe Close adjoining, a woody close 
called Shipperd Paddock Myer: Recites leases of 
premises to J. P. by Arthur Robinson of London 
merchant (24 Sep 1603 as U DDBH/3/76) and by 
Christian Aske of Ryther Lodge, widow of John A. 
esquire (15 Apr 1606); and an assignment by J. P. to 
W. H. (23 Mar 1606/07). Witnesses Godfrey Copley, 
John Elwes, Rob. Rillington, George Barton, Anthonie 
Toppson, Fracesse Rocklefe. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1613 
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U DDBH/3/41 Assignment   
Similar to U DDBH/3/40 by William Rocliffe to George 
Burton of York joiner. Endorsement of a Defeasance 
conditional on G. B. being saved harmless from recited 
Bonds in which he is jointly bound with W. R. to James 
Rakes of York haberdasher for payment of £6.13s.4d. 
Witnesses George Watsonn, Arthur Watson, Thomas 
Sympson. Also endorsed with Assignment of the 
premises by G. B. to Luke Robinson of London 
gentleman, for £10. Witnesses G. Ellis, John Lovell, 
Arthur Robinson, Francis Ellys (3 Mar 1617/18). 
1 item 
 

1 Jul 1616 

U DDBH/3/42 Assignment 
For £60: William Otterburne and James Tindall (as U 
DDBH/3/18) to Thomas Jeffreys of London esquire. As 
U DDBH/3/9: Recites lease of premises by Robert 
Aske of Aughton and his son John to William Foxgaile 
(as U DDBH/3/17). Witnesses W. Holmes, John Vaux 
junior, Tho. Wilson. 
1 item 
 

10 Aug 1619 

U DDBH/3/43 Apportionment in Exchequer of rent reserved by 
Letters Patent 
As U DDBH/3/32, in respect of manor of Dighton and 
6ac. in Nayborne Inges. 
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1629 

U DDBH/3/44 Exemplification of Final Concord:  
For £70: Richard Robinson and Thomas Newark 
esquires plaintiffs and Luke Robinson esquire and 
Arthur Robinson gentleman deforceants. Manor of 
Dighton with nine messuages, mill, dovecote, nine 
gardens, 650ac. land, 50ac. meadow, 200ac. pasture, 
10ac. wood, 300ac. moor and 5s. rents in Dighton and 
Naburne.  
1 item 
 

11 Apr 1649 

U DDBH/3/45 Acquittance 

Elizabeth Robinson, one of two daughters of John R. 
(Anne being the other) and having reached age of 18, 
to Arthur Robinson of Deighton, brother of J. R. For 
£600, and £10 p.a. maintenance, under a recited 
Settlement (26 Feb 1638/39) of lands in Dighton by Sir 
Arthur and John Robinson: Witnesses Edward and 
Elizabeth Bowles, Robert Harland, Ra. Rymere. 
1 item 
 

1659 
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U DDBH/3/46 Exemplification of proceedings in Arthur Robinson 
junior esquire v. Henry Lasenby of Dighton yeoman 

Trespass on Dighton Moore. 
1 item 
 

3 Jun 1681 

U DDBH/3/47 Memorandum of Settlement (as U DDBH/3/139)  
Arthur Robinson of Dighton esquire to Darcy Molyneux 
of Mansfield esquire, Thomas Fawkes of Farnley 
esquire, John Robinson of Filingthorp in Filingdale 
esquire and Arthur Robinson of York merchant. Manor 
and estate of Dighton (mentions New Riff Close, Ing 
Bottome, Low Bottome, Crabtree Hill, Broom Closes, 
Hell Close, Old Field, Mill Field, Westergate Field, 
Paddomire Field, Whiny Pasture, the Haggs, East 
Corner Close, Roughetts Close, Haggs Close, 
Broomerideinge Close, Shaw Close, Rigton Shaw 
Close, Downdeinges Close, Mill Hill Close, Collier 
Close, Sand Pitt Close, Sheppards, Paddomires, 
Woodgate Close). 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1681 

U DDBH/3/48 'Madam Robinson's note for tyth' 
1 item 
 

c.1685 

U DDBH/3/49 Receipts from Joseph Roper for tithes paid by Arthur 
and Madam Robinson 

1 item 
 

10 Jan 1687- 
10 Nov 1701 

U DDBH/3/50 Particular of Mr Robinson's demesne lands in his own 
possession 

1 item 
 

late 17th cent.-
early 18th cent. 

U DDBH/3/51 Abstract of Title. Thomas Martin 

Messuage, Rush Close and Valentine Closes. 
1 item 
 

1746-1782 

U DDBH/3/52 Note of Mr Coultas' field land 

1 item 
 

early-mid 18th 
cent. 

U DDBH/3/53 Rental 
With Account Book (1800-1802). 
1 item 
 

1800 

U DDBH/3/54 Agreement for Sale 

For £18,250: Leonard Pickard of York to Hewley John 
Baines of Bell Hall esquire. Moiety of manor of 
Deighton. 
1 item 
 

3 Apr 1800 
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U DDBH/3/55 Schedule of deeds  
Relating to manor and estate of Deighton (1289-1716). 
1 item 
 

Nov 1800 

U DDBH/3/56 Valuation. Timber of Thomas Oldfield  
On farm tenanted by John Croft. 
1 item 
 

Nov 1804 

U DDBH/3/57 Plan. Farm at Deighton Park 

1 plan 
 

1806 

U DDBH/3/58 Copy. Notice to quit  
H. J. Baines to William Atkins: farm. Endorsed with 
details of farm in hand, Hall Farm, and Crabtree Hill 
Farm. 
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1811 

U DDBH/3/59 Draft Notice of Arbitration. Hewley John Baines to 
William Smallwood  
In respect of dilapidations of farm as U DDBH/3/23, 
leased to W. S. in Apr 1814. John Tuke of York land 
surveyor appointed arbitrator on behalf of H. J. B.  
1 item 
 

3 Oct 1818 

U DDBH/3/60 Portion of assessment. Deighton and Naburn 

1 item 
 

1846-1848 

U DDBH/3/61 Plan. Farm occupied by H. M. Baines 

1 item 
 

1854 

U DDBH/3/62 Assessment. Lands of H. M. Baines for Ouse and 
Derwent Drainage 

1 item 
 

1856 

U DDBH/3/63 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

'Abridgmt. of St. Maryes Recordes'  
Being a paper volume of extracts and copies, made by 
Thomas Sandwith, 'keeper of the evidences there' 
(1613-1625), from records in St Mary's Tower, York: 
(1)-(46) Summaries of extracts (from the cartulary of St 
Mary's Abbey, now in John Rylands Library, Latin 
Mss.221): 
(1) Gift in frankalmoign. Eudo son of Britannicus, with 
the assent of his heir and friends, to the abbey: all his 
services and dues in Dictona. See U DDBH/3/63 (47) 
([1158-1184]) 
(2) Confirmation. Alan, son of Roald constable of 
Richmond, to the abbey: gift of Eudo, as U DDBH/3/63 
(1), and the gift in frankalmoign, by Alan to the abbey 
of all lands retained in his own hands in Dictona. See 
U DDBH/3/63 (48) ([1158-1184]) 

1158-1313 
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U DDBH/3/63 

continued 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(3) Sale for five marks. Peter son of Peter de 
Queldrake to Duncan Darell: two bovates in Dictona. 
See U DDBH/3/63 (49) ([1184-1187]) 
(4) Letter of Attorney. Sir Hugh de Nevill to Roger de 
Stretton: to deliver seisin to Simon, abbot of St Mary's 
of the manor of Dictona. See U DDBH/3/63 (50) ([11 
Jun 1273]) 
(5) Quitclaim. Sir Thomas Baudewyn to Simon, abbot 
of St Mary's and convent: all his lands and tenements 
in Dighton, except a road which he has given to Roger 
de Weston. See U DDBH/3/63 (51) ([1260-1270]) 
(6) Gift in frankalmoign. Sir Thomas Baudwyn to 
Simon, abbot of St Mary's and convent: croft, toft, two 
bovates, cultivated parcels called Pighel and 
Rughtwayt, with all appurtenances in Dictona except a 
road to the North which he has given in fee to Roger 
de Weston from part of the toft. See U DDBH/3/63 (52) 
([1260-1270]) 
(7) Quitclaim. Roger de Burg of Dictona to the abbey: 
a cultivated parcel called Wethridynges in Dictona: 
See U DDBH/3/63 (53) (mid 13th cent). 
(8) Quitclaim. Nicholas son of William de Holteby 
citizen of York, to Simon, abbot of St Mary's, and 
convent: 5ac. in a cultivated parcel near le Suthyate; a 
toft lying between the town of Dighton and the 
highway; an assart (37 1/2ac.) in the field towards 
Eskcrick; and a toft called Fulsik ([post 1264]) 
(9) Demise. Simon, abbot of St Mary's, and convent to 
William de Holtby, citizen of York: 5ac. and toft, and 
assart, all as U DDBH/3/63 (8): Rendering 3s. for the 
5ac. and toft, and 12s.6d. for the assart yearly. See U 
DDBH/3/63 (55) ([11 Nov 1264]) 
(10) Arbitration Award between (John) the abbot, and 
Sir John de Merkynfeild, parson of Estkerik, and 
others, concerning the chapel of the abbot at Dighton. 
See U DDBH/3/63 (56) (23 Feb 1305/06]) 
(11) Continuation of U DDBH/3/63 (10) (as U 
DDBH/3/63 (57?) ) ([3 Feb 1305/06]) 
(12) Gift. Geoffrey the chaplain, son of John de Fulford 
to John, abbot of St Mary's, and convent: toft, croft, 
and 20ac. in Dighton near Eskrik: Rendering a rose at 
Nat. St John Baptist. See U DDBH/3/63 (59) ([1303-
1313]) 
(13) Quitclaim. Osemunda daughter of John son of 
Richard de Fulford to the abbot and convent: 
messuage and 22ac. in Dighton near Eskrik which the 
abbey had of the gift of Geoffrey the chaplain, son of 
Mabel Sporon. See U DDBH/3/63 (58) ([1303-1313]) 
(14) Sale. Parties & property as U DDBH/3/63 (12). 
See U DDBH/3/63 (59), 1303 - 1313- estimated date 
(15) Gift. Duncan Darell to Ralph de le Mare: the town 
of Dighton: To hold of Duncan in fee, rendering 20s. to 
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U DDBH/3/63 

continued 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

the abbey, and a sore hawk or 12d. to Duncan, yearly. 
See U DDBH/3/63 (60) ([Mich. 1202-Easter 1203]) 
(16) Gift. Sir Duncan Darell to William de Bretegate 
citizen of York: two bovates in Dictona: See U 
DDBH/3/63 (61) ([pre 1203]) 
(17) Gift. Geoffrey de Nevill to Roger de Burg for life: 
1/2 carucate in Dictona, with 9ac. in Quintrigd and 7ac. 
in Sudwraa: Rendering 6d. yearly (n.d.) 
(18) Gift in her widowhood. Mabel de Nevilla to Roger 
de Burg for life: 1/2 carucate with a toft and croft in 
Dictona: Rendering 6d. yearly (n.d.) 
(19) Quitclaim. Alan Crepes, with the assent of his wife 
Lettice and heirs to Geoffrey de Nevill: all claims and 
services in Dighton, except homage of Hugh de Seleby 
(13th cent.) 
(20) Bond. Hugh de Nevill to the abbot: to deliver 
charters and writings of the manor of Dictona near 
York (13th cent.) 
(21) Notification by Hugh de Nevill to all his tenants, 
free and villein, of the manor of Dighton: that he has 
given his manor of Dightona to the abbot & convent 
(13th cent.) 
(22) Gift. Thomas son of Ernisius to Hugh de Seleby: 
1/2 carucate with a toft and croft in Dicton, and 
cultivated parcels in Northruhthuait, Rathuatt and 
Westthuaitridinges: Rendering 1/2lb. of cummin to 
Thomas, and 15d. to the chief lord of the fee, yearly 
(13th cent.) 
(23) Gift. Abbot and convent to Duncan son of Thomas 
Darell: town of Dictona: Rendering 20s. yearly ([pre 
1203]) 
(24) Final Concord. Marmaduke de Thwenge and 
others and Geoffrey de Novo Villa and wife Mabel: 
three carucates in Dightona (n.d.) 
(25) Final Concord. Hugh de Selby and Geoffrey de 
Nevill and wife Mabel: 7 1/2 bovates in Dictona (13th 
cent.) 
(26) Final Concord. 'Richiesam' widow and Duncan 
Darell: 2 1/2 carucates ([pre 1203]) 
(27) Grant. Geoffrey de Nevill to Hugh de Selby citizen 
of York: 4ac. in Dightona (13th cent.) 
(28) Covenant by Geoffrey de Nevill. that if anyone 
challenges the title of Sir Hugh de Selby to 75ac. in 
Dighton, he will make an exchange with Hugh for the 
same number of acres in Daneby (13th cent.) 
(29) Covenant similar to U DDBH/3/63 (28) 
(30) Gift. Geoffrey de Nevill to Hugh de Selby citizen of 
York: 7 1/2 bovates in Dighton (13th cent.) 
(31) Gift. Parties as U DDBH/3/63 (30): 15ac. in 
Dighton (13th cent.) 
(32) Gift. Parties as U DDBH/3/63 (30): 60ac. in 
Dighton (13th cent.) 
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(33) Gift. Parties as U DDBH/3/63 (30): 4ac. which 
were of Thomas Prikernna of Dighton (early 13th cent.) 
(34) Gift. Thomas son of Ernisius to Reginald de 
Warthill and Hugh de Selby: one carucate in Dighton 
(early 13th cent.) 
(35) Gift. Nicholas de Selby citizen of York to his son 
John de Selby: messuage with tofts and lands in 
Dictona (n.d.) 
(36) Gift. Henry de Kipax, clerk, to the abbey: all lands 
in Dighton and Naburne which he had of the gift of 
John de Riggeton of Dicton (n.d.) 
(37) Quitclaim. Sir William Malbisse to James de 
Gayregrave chaplain and Thomas Frysmerske clerk: 
all lands in Dighton and Naburne sometime of John 
son of Richard Gray of York (n.d.) 
(38) Licence. Sir William Nalbis to James de 
Gayregrave chaplain and Thomas Frysmerske clerk: to 
give to the abbey, in frankalmoign, all lands and 
tenements in Dighton and Naburne which they hold of 
him (n.d.) 
(39) Gift. Hugh son of Nicholas de Selby of York to 
John de Rigton citizen of York: capital messuage and 
all his lands in Dighton near Eskerick and Naburne 
(early 13th cent.) 
(40) Gift. John son of Richard Graa of York to Sir 
James de Popilton chaplain and Thomas de 
Frysmeryke: all his lands and tenements in Dighton 
and Naburne (n.d.) 
(41) Charter similar to U DDBH/3/63 (40) 
(42) Letter of Attorney. John son of Richard Graa of 
York to John de Riggeton: to deliver seisin further to U 
DDBH/3/63 (40) (n.d.) 
(43) Demise for 40 years. James de Popilton chaplain 
and Thomas de Frysmerske to the abbey: all lands in 
Dighton near Eskerike and Naburne which they had of 
John son of Richard Graa of York: Rendering a rose 
yearly in the time of roses (n.d.) 
(44) Quitclaim. Parties and property as U DDBH/3/63 
(43) (Thomas de Frismerske clerk) (n.d.) 
(45) Final Concord. Duncan Darell and Geoffrey de 
Brecaneby and Anne daughter of his uncle: lands in 
Dighton ([pre 1203]) 
(46) Quitclaim. William son of Thomas de Selby of 
Estkrik to the abbey: all lands in Swynfleete and 
Rednesse in Auclesmore; and all common in Estryk 
park with pannage and agistment, and rights to trees 
and firewood and timber (n.d.) 
(47)-(61) Transcripts of some of the charters extracted 
above 
(47) Gift, as U DDBH/3/63 (1). Eudo the marshall son 
of Britannicus, with the assent of his heir and friends, 
to the abbey. Given on the high altar. Witnesses 
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Thomas son of Paulinus, Richard de Sancto Wilfrido, 
Walter son of Phanulf, Jocelin the chaplain, Thomas 
Darell, Duncan his son, Marmaduke his brother, David 
lardderario, Thomas and Robert his sons, Robert son 
of Godric, Thomas his son, Daniel son of Walter, 
Walter and Savaric his sons, Geoffrey and Gervase, 
sons of Romand, William Socovaginta, Stephen de 
Shipton, Ralph step-son of Eudo, William his bailiff.  
Printed 'Early Yorkshire Charters' Vol.V, 222 ([c.1158-
1184]) 
(48) Confirmation as U DDBH/3/63 (2). Witnesses 
Hervey son of Aithar, William 'my brother', Thorfin son 
of Robert, Jocelin the chaplain, Walter the priest, 
William the clerk, Adam de Danet, Geoffrey Portar, 
Thorfin the chaplain, Riginald Pugili, Richard de 
Morewik, Thomas de Holteby, Ranulph de Redenesse. 
Printed 'Early Yorkshire Charters' Vol. V, 223 ([1158-
1184]) 
(49) Sale as U DDBH/3/63 (3). Two bovates in 
Dighton, which P. held from Thomas son of Ernisius at 
7 1/2d. rent: Witnesses Reiner the sheriff, Robert de la 
Mare of York, Peter brother of the sheriff, Henry de 
Fyskergate, Robert Bellhus, Walter de Reppes, 
William de Marisko, Alexander Rufo, Stephen parson 
of the church of St Margaret, Paulinus his chaplain, 
William son of Robert, Thomas de Dighton, William de 
Vado, Geoffrey de Lindesey, Walter son of Roger, 
Walter son of Richard, Martin and William Coco. 
Printed 'Early Yorkshire Charters', Vol. V, 224 
([c.1184-1187]) 
(50) Letter of Attorney as U DDBH/3/63 (4). St 
Barnabas, 1273 ([11 Jun 1273]) 
(51) Quitclaim as U DDBH/3/63 (5). (which premises 
Sir T. had of the gift of Robert de Dighton and Sir Hugh 
de Nevill): Witnesses Sir Roger de Laskels, Sir William 
de Sancto Quintino, Nicholas de Seleby, Roger de 
Weston, William Moreby, Henry son of Conan of 
Eskrik, Thomas and Hugh de Selby of the same 
([c.1260-1270?]) 
(52) Gift as U DDBH/3/63 (6). (which premises Sir T. 
had of Robert de Dighton): Witnesses as U DDBH/3/63 
(51) ([c.1260-1270?]) 
(53) Quitclaim as U DDBH/3/63 (7). (which parcel R. 
de B. had of the gift of Sir Geoffrey de Nevill, and lies 
between lands of John de Selby and of Andrew Iris): 
Witnesses Sir John de Otton then seneschal of St 
Mary of York, Sir John de Raygate, Sir Simon de 
Lilling, John de Selby, Andrew his brother, John de 
Merston, Stephen ('cillio'?), Clement de Shupton, 
Thomas son of Gervase de Roucliff, William de Fulford 
clerk, Adam son of Nicholas the clerk of the same (mid 
13th cent.) 
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(54) Quitclaim as U DDBH/3/63 (8) (Suthyate now 
Sithyate). Witnesses Sir John de Raygate, Sir Roger 
de Laskels, Sir William de Sancto Quintino, Sir 
Thomas de Houke, Walter de Northamp' rector of 
Gilling, William de Butterwik clerk, Roger de Weston in 
Dighton, Henry son of Conan of Eskrik, William de 
Laskels of the same, Alan son of Nicholas de Fulford 
([post 1264]) 
(55) Demise as U DDBH/3/63 (9). For 17 years (i.e. 
until the end of the statute between the abbey and Sir 
Hugh de Nevill): William free to remove at the end of 
the term any buildings erected by him in the toft. 
Witnesses John de Selby in Eskrik, Thomas de 
Laskels in the same, Roger de Burg in Dighton, Adam 
son of Nicholas de Fulford. St Martin in Winter 1264 
([11 Nov 1264]) 
(56) Arbitration Award as U DDBH/3/63 (10), by John 
le Franceis, John prior of Bolton, Hugh de Louthyr, 
John de Snaynton, and (Sir) Harstulph de Cleseby: Sir 
John to quitclaim to the abbey the herbage and wood 
of the close of the said chapel, saving the rights of 
Escrick church and of the successors of Sir J. in the 
church. The abbot may build a house within the close, 
but no chapel is to be built within the close (as of old 
enclosed by ditches) for six years from the date of the 
Award. Thereafter the abbot may build a chapel there, 
saving the rights of Sir J., his church and successors 
to the chapel, close, herbage and growing trees. Sir J. 
to return to the abbot's manor in Dighton the bells, 
images, glass windows and timber removed by him 
from the chapel. And for having done this against the 
will of the abbot, Sir J. shall put himself in his mercy to 
the extent of £20 sterling; of which the abbot will 
release him of 15 marks (£16.13s.4d.): Given at St 
Mary's, York; Morrow of St Peter in cathedra, 1305 
([23 Feb 1305/06]) 
(57) Proceedings of Justices itinerant at York, referring 
to arbitration (as U DDBH/3/63 (56)): a suit brought by 
John, abbot of St Mary's against John de Merkenfeild, 
parson of Eskrik, John Hard of Elvington, chaplain, 
Thomas de Fehouse of Escrik and others for forceable 
entry into the chapel in Dighton on Tuesday after 
Mich., 33 Ed. I, (5 Oct 1305) and removal of a crucifix, 
images ('Marie & John & une ymage de Seinte Elene 
& ses seyns') and glass windows. Thurs. morrow of 
Purification B.V.M. 1305. See U DDBH/3/63 (11) ([3 
Feb 1305/06]) 
(58) Quitclaim: as U DDBH/3/63 (13). Witnesses 
Robert de Amcotes, Simon de Stutvill, Thomas son of 
Michael Davill (Darill?), James de Mylington, Hugh 
Bardarum, John de Hunklebye, John son of Ralph 
Henr' of Bilton, clerk ([1303-1313]) 
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(59) Bond. In £10: Geoffrey the chaplain, son of John 
de Fulford, to John, abbot of St Mary's, and convent: 
G., having been impleaded in King's Bench by his 
sister Osmunda (as U DDBH/3/63 (13) and U 
DDBH/3/63 (58)) for a toft, croft and 20ac. in Dighton 
and, in his great necessity, having sold his interest in 
the premises to the abbey during the proceedings, now 
binds himself in £10 which the abbey may levy if he 
has to render the premises to her. (See U DDBH/3/63 
(12) and U DDBH/3/63 (14)) ([1303-1313]) 
(60) Gift as U DDBH/3/63 (15). For 20 marks of silver 
and a gold buckle. Witnesses William de Percy sheriff, 
Robert de Percy, William son of William, Nicholas 
Basset, Warren de Vescy, William son of Peter, 
Richard de Vescy, (Reginald) de Capetofts, William 
Britton, John de Percy, Alan de la Mare, Adam parson 
of Cottingham, Driu de Harum, Richard de Breerton 
([Mich. 1202-Easter 1203]) 
(61) Gift as U DDBH/3/63 (16). Premises bought by Sir 
D. from Peter son of Peter de Queldrake (as in U 
DDBH/3/63 (3) and U DDBH/3/63 (49)?). Witnesses 
Stephen, son of Walter Paulino, his chaplain, Thomas 
de Bretgate, Turgiff de Walgate, Gerard son of Siward, 
William de Vado, William son of Robert, Thomas de 
Dighton, William Coco, Peter de Queldrak, Remerius 
and Thomas his sons ([pre 1203]) 
1 volume 
 

U DDBH/3/64 Copy. Inquisition  
Taken at Overfulford into the repair and cleansing of 
the water-course leading from Heslington through 
Tylmyre and thence through the fields of Quelderigg, 
Eskerigg, Dighton, Mourebye and Stelingfleete into 
River Ouse. Michaelmas 1347. 
1 item 
 

29 Sep 1347 

U DDBH/3/65 Copy. Inspeximus by Richard III  
Of previous Inspeximuses and charters granted by his 
predecessors (Edward IV; Richard II; Edward III, and 
II; Henry III, II and I) to St Mary's Abbey, York. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1484 

U DDBH/3/66 Copy. Surrender of St Mary's Abbey, York  
By William, abbot, and convent to Henry VIII. 
1 item 
 

29 Nov 1539 

U DDBH/3/67 Extract. Minister's Accounts 

Rental of manor and estate of Dighton. 
1 item 
 

1539 
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U DDBH/3/68 Copy. Grant by Letters Patent to John Aske 

As U DDBH/3/32. Bound in portion of a Lease (not 
executed) for 5 years at £7 rent: Arthur Robinson, 
merchant of the staple, to John Vanerpe merchant 
stranger, both of London: messuage and shops near 
Crowched Fryers in parish St Olave in Hartestreete, 
London: See U DDBH/22/12 and U DDBH/3/32 ([1604-
1605]). 
1 item 
 

1542 

U DDBH/3/69 Information in the Exchequer of Richard Aske esquire 
and Order  
That the fee farm rent of £13.9s.2d. reserved in the 
Grant as U DDBH/3/68, in arrears for year ending 
Michaelmas 1625, was levied wholly on a small parcel 
in Deighton held by him, and not proportionately on the 
lands granted. A proportionate levy is ordered. 
1 item 
 

29 Sep 1626 

U DDBH/3/70 Order relating to apportionment of rent  
As U DDBH/3/69. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1629 

U DDBH/3/71 Note of Mr Robinson's title to the manor of Deighton 
(1540-1638) 
1 item 
 

c.1640 

U DDBH/3/72 Agreement. Reverend Thomas Squire, rector of 
Escrick, and Sir Arthur Robinson of Dighton 

Tithes in Dighton: Witnesses T. Atkinson, Willm. Lee, 
John Cooke, Francis Myers, Luke Saunder. 
1 item 
 

25 Jun 1641 

U DDBH/3/73 Schedule. Deeds and writings 'belonging to the 
Mannour of Deighton' 
Covering 1331-1716. 
1 item 
 

18th cent. 

U DDBH/3/74 Quitclaim. Thomas Sandwith of York gentleman to 
James and John Tyndall of Dighton yeomen 

Righton Shawe in Dighton: Witnesses William 
Thornton, Antony Thorndayll. 
1 item 
 

24 Sep 1601 

U DDBH/3/75 Bargain and Sale 

For £20: James and John Tyndall as U DDBH/3/74 to 
Thomas Wilson senior of York gentleman. As U 
DDBH/3/74 (alias Riggton Shawe): Witnesses Robert 
Smythe, Willm. Wilson, Henrie Sommerscales, (Paul 
Thornley?). 
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1602 
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U DDBH/3/76 Lease  
For 21 years: at £36 rent: Arthur Robinson of London 
merchant to James Pinckney of York gentleman. 
Manor house, closes, Coney Warren House and 
warren, as U DDBH/3/40: Witnesses George Hill 
notary public, T. Hughes his scrivener. 
1 item 
 

24 Sep 1603 

U DDBH/3/77 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £900: John Robynson senior plaintiff and John 
Aske esquire deforceant. Manor of Dighton, with the 
sites of Ellerton and Thykhed Priories, 50 messuages, 
50 gardens, 50 orchards, 1000ac. land, 350ac. 
meadow, 1000ac. pasture, 15ac. wood, 1000ac. heath 
and furze, 150ac. moor, 150ac. marsh and 40s. rent in 
Dighton, Ellerton, Aughton, Cottingwith, West 
Cottingwith, Thorganby, Wheldrake, Westockwith and 
Thykhed; and fishing in River Derwent (12 Nov 1596). 
1 item 
 

23 Jan 1606 

U DDBH/3/78 Exemplification of Inquisition Post Mortem. John 
Acclam of Mooreby Hall esquire 

Close called the Lees and Byrker in Escrigge and 
Nayburne. Manor of Moreby with Moreby Hall and 
closes called the Parke, Twentie Acres, Bull Ridding, 
Fogge Close, Four Acres and Smithe Close (with 
herbage of the wood there); parcels adjacent to New 
Lane on E. side of the Parke, Gosse Crofte; a lane 
with Stayne Ridding and Osmond Ridding; a lane 
between Great Meadow and the Parke; and 19 1/2ac. 
in Great Inges, all in Moreby. Manor of Cawood with 
35 messuages, 21 cottages, a windmill, 3 fishgarths in 
River Ouse, 126ac. land, 40ac. meadow, 100ac. 
pasture, 14d. rent, common of pasture in Cawood 
woods; two oaktrees and a buck and a doe yearly. 
Manor of Bolnewicke (Bonwick) with lands there and in 
Elvyngton, Gawnton, Eastheslerton, Newton in Whitby 
Strandes, Stillyngfleet, York, Wheldrake and Deighton: 
Died 21 Oct 1551. Grandson and heir William Acclam 
(son of son William) aged 20 years 3 months 16 days. 
Inquisition at York Castle (31 May 1552). 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1607 
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U DDBH/3/79 Exemplification of Inquisition Post Mortem. John Aske 
esquire 

Manor of Everthorpe with 20 messuages and 800ac. in 
Everthorpe, North Cave, Welton, Drewton and West 
Ellay. Two tenements and 30ac. in Newsham and 
Brind. 14s. rent in South Dowfeild, six messuages, 
100ac. and moiety of a ferry across River Derwent in 
Bubwith and Bryghton. 30 messuages and 600ac. in 
Hith, Bellassysse, Blacktofte, Grenake, Youkflett, 
Howden, Astilby and South Doffeild. Four messuages 
and 300ac. in Eston, Esthorpe and Kyllincottes. 
Manors of Dyke and Ousthorpe, with six messuages, 
and 300ac. in Dyke, Ousthorpe, Newland and Cotnes. 
Site of Ellerton Priory with the demesne lands 
adjacent, and 200ac. in Ellerton. A grange, three 
tenements, a cottage and 100ac. in Latham. 
Cottingwith Grange with two tenements, 100ac. and 
8s.1d. rents. Two tenements and 200ac. in Holme. 
Capital messuage, a cottage, two parcels, a watermill 
and 200ac. in Goodmadham. Site of Thyckhead Priory 
with a windmill and 150ac. in Thykhed. A grange, a 
toft, 9s. rents and 60ac. in Huggate. Tenement and 
40ac. in Thorgunby. Manor of Dyghton with 10 
messuages, seven cottages, 200ac. and rents of 6d, 
34 hens, 205 eggs and 45 boons in haytime in Dyton 
and Naburn. Toft, croft, four bovates called Cleving 
and 2000ac. in Cleving. Property in Howden, Aughton 
and Londesburgh. Manor of Thirklebye. Recites 
various transactions affecting the premises 
(mentioning a number of place and field names) and 
Will of J. A.: Died 5 Mar 1543/44. Grandson and heir 
Robert Aske (son of son Robert) then aged 11 years 7 
months. Inquisition at York Castle 16 Jun 1544. 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1607 

U DDBH/3/80 Exemplification of Inquisition Post Mortem. William 
Aclome of Morebie esquire  
Property in Moreby, Bonwick, Escrick and Naburn, and 
Cawood, as U DDBH/3/78. Land in Stillingfleet. 
Manors of Scarcrofte and Shadwell with 43 
messuages, 40 tofts, three watermills, two windmills, 
four dovecotes, 40 gardens, 80ac. land, 300ac. 
meadow, 40ac. pasture, 100ac. wood, 200ac. moor, 
20ac. marsh and £10 rents in Scarcrofte, Shadwell, 
Kirkby super Warff, Grimeston, Kirke Fenton and 
Uske, and a moiety of the manor of Kirkbie super 
Warff: Died 15 May 1567. Son and heir John A., aged 
13 years 66 days. Inquisition at Cawood 27 Sep 1567. 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1607 
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U DDBH/3/81 Exemplification of proceedings in action of ejectment 
William Roclyff v. John Acklam late of Moreby esquire 
and Bryan Mydleton late of Escrigg yeoman. 
Messuage, 50ac. land, 40ac. meadow, 100ac. pasture 
& 140ac. wood in Dighton, leased to W. R. by Arthur 
Robinson. 
1 item 
 

15 Jun 1609 

U DDBH/3/82 Copy. Wills of William Walthall citizen and alderman of 
London  
(a) To be buried in church of St Peter, Cornhill, in the 
vault towards the upper end of the S. aisle of the 
chancel, in which his deceased wife (Cicelly) was 
buried. Bequests to poor, for a sermon at burial, two 
sermons a year for 20 years, poor of Bishopsgate 
Ward; clothworkers' porters at Waterside and 
Leadenhall; St Bartholomew's Hospital; Christ's 
Hospital; St Thomas Hospital in Southwark; poor 
hospital of Bridewell; poor of Bedlam; poor prisoners in 
Ludgate, Newgate, both compters, Marshallsea and 
King's Bench; St Peter's, Cornhill, for specified 
charities; maimed soldiers; poor of Derby; Mercers' 
Company; godson William Bate; god-daughters Anne 
Paine and Elsabeth Baynbrigg; cousin Flower; Robert 
Bristowe; Margaret, Marie and Joan, daughters of 
brother Payne; children of brother Bainebrigg; 
Margaret Fisher, her children and husband Thomas; 
Joan Higgins and three children; sister Joan Dutton; 
Anne Hubberd; maids Cesley, Nan, Jane Ellsworthe 
and Emme; Richard Walthall son of brother A.; brother 
Thomas and sons John and Thomas; sons William, 
Thomas and Luke; sister-in-law Anne; son-in-law 
Arthur Robinson and wife Elizabeth (and many other 
bequests) (25 Mar 1607/08) 
(b) Incomplete. Bequests to wife Dame Margaret 
(Goddart), etc. (16 Jul 1608) 
With memorandum of finding of the earlier Will after 3 
Sep 1608 and after administration of the later Will had 
been granted to his daughter Elizabeth Robinson. 
1 item 
 

1608 

U DDBH/3/83 Bargain and Sale 

For £24: James Wylson draper to Thomas Wilson 
junior gentleman both of York: Righton Shaw. 
Warranty against J. W. and wife Elizabeth, Thomas W. 
senior and wife Margarett. Witnesses George Barker, 
Antho. Warde, Alexander (Govanne?), Eliz. Belwood, 
Grace Leadson servant to Rich. Belwood. 
1 item 
 

12 Nov 1614 
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U DDBH/3/84 Covenant  
Abraham Sowden of the Middle Temple gentleman, 
son of Christofer S. of Owstropp gentleman deceased, 
to Arthur Robinson of London merchant. For peaceful 
possession of the manor of Dighton with eight 
messuages, eight cottages, 400ac. land, 150ac. 
meadow, 200ac. pasture and 100ac. called Dighton 
Lees alias Dighton Springe alias Dighton Wood, and 
other estates formerly of John Aske esquire deceased 
of which A. R. is seised: Witnesses John Mayle and 
his servants G. Almery and Raphe Hayward. 
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1617 

U DDBH/3/85 Covenant 
For £66.13s.4d.: William Rocliff of Dighton yeoman to 
Arthur Robinson citizen and mercer of London. To 
deliver up leases as U DDBH/3/76, and from Christian 
Aske to James Pinckney (15 Apr 1606.  As in U 
DDBH/3/40); and to assign the manor house, closes, 
Coney Warren House and coney warren (as U 
DDBH/3/40) to Richard Heywood and Robert Ryder in 
trust for A. R. Recites a mortgage of the premises by 
W. R. to George Burton of York carpenter, which is to 
be redeemed. A. R. to lease closes called the 
Hopriddinges to Thomas Burton: Witnesses Robert 
Ryder, G. Almery. 
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1618 

U DDBH/3/86 Bargain and Sale and Assignment 
William Rocliffe as U DDBH/3/85 to Luke Robinson of 
London gentleman: as U DDBH/3/40: Witnesses G. 
Ellis, Arthur Robinson, John Lovell, Francis Ellys. 
1 item 
 

4 Mar 1618 

U DDBH/3/87 Exemplification of proceedings of ejectio firma 

Edward Legard and James Tyndall: 100ac. land, 
100ac. meadow, 100ac. pasture and 200ac. wood in 
Deighton. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1619 

U DDBH/3/88 Bargain and Sale 

Righton Shawe: Witnesses Athur Robinson, Tho. 
Wilson junior, William Ensor, William Cleaveland, 
Thomas Puckering, William Gill, Frauncis Myers, 
Robert Ryder, George and Symon Barker, Wm. Gill 
junior, Henrye Warde. With Bond for performance. 
1 item 
 

1 Oct 1625 
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U DDBH/3/89 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £40: John Robinson gentleman plaintiff and James 
Tindall deforceant. Cottage and 8ac. pasture (Trin. 
1629). 
1 item 
 

5 Jun 1629 

U DDBH/3/90 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £40: John Robinson gentleman plaintiff and James 
Tindall and wife Margaret deforceants. Cottage and 
8ac. pasture (Easter 1631). 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1631 

U DDBH/3/91 Bargain and Sale 

For £170: Sir Arthur Robinson of Dighton to Edward, 
Lord Howard, Baron of Eskrick. A fourth part of 
Rickhall Hagg, and a close called the Little Arbarr with 
a house thereon all in Eskrick: Witnesses Geo. Buttler, 
Luke and John Robinson, Tho. Squire, Robt. Stanley, 
John Singleton. 
1 item 
 

21 Apr 1632 

U DDBH/3/92 Marriage Settlement 
Sir Arthur Robinson of Dighton and his son John R. to 
Sir William Sheffeld of York and Richard Hutton of 
Nether Poppleton esquire: Prior to marriage of J. R. 
and Elizabeth Hutton, daughter of Sir Thomas H. 
deceased and sister of R. H.: for her marriage portion 
of £1200. Manor of Dighton and all estate of Sir A. and 
J. R. in Dighton and Naburne: Tenants named. 
Witnesses Anne Hutton, Ric. Robinson, Tobias 
Humfrey, Peter Proctor, Edmund Watterworth, Richard 
Brabyner, Phil Howsman. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1639 

U DDBH/3/93 Bargain and Sale 

Parties and property as U DDBH/3/92. To lead to a 
Common Recovery. Witnesses as U DDBH/3/92. 
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1639 

U DDBH/3/94 Quitclaim  
Luke Robinson of Dighton esquire to his father Sir 
Arthur R. All claim to a child's portion on death of Sir A. 
who has already settled on him a good and competent 
estate in lands, money and goods: Witnesses Thomas 
Cawkland, William Prescott, Richard Feilder, Tho. 
Tippinge.  
1 item 
 

15 Oct 1633 
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U DDBH/3/95 Exemplification of a Common Recovery 

James Danby and Philip Howseman from Sir William 
Sheffeilde and Richard Hutton esquire. Manor of 
Dighton with nine messuages, one windmill, one 
dovecote, nine gardens, 650ac. land, 500ac. meadow, 
200ac. pasture, 10ac. wood, 300ac. moor and 5s. 
rents in Dighton and Naburne.  
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1639 

U DDBH/3/96 Inquisition Post Mortem. Sir Arthur Robinson of 
Dighton  
Manor of Dighton with estate in Dighton and Naburn 
(tenants named): Died 24 Dec 1642. Son and heir 
Luke then aged over 30. Inquisition at York Castle.  
1 item 
 

20 Dec 1644 

U DDBH/3/97 Lease  
For 60 years: at peppercorn rent: for £125: Elizabeth 
Robinson of Dighton widow of John R. esquire, to his 
brother Arthur R. Manor house in which J. R. dwelt 
with a windmill and Mill Feild alias West Feild in 
Dighton: Witnesses Ro. Barwicke, Ric. Robinson, Mat. 
Hall.  
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1646 

U DDBH/3/98 Covenant to levy a Fine 

(i) Luke Robinson of Thornton Risbrough in 
Pickeringlyth esquire 
(ii) Arthur Robinson of Dighton gentleman 
(iii) Richard Robinson of Thickett and Thomas Newark 
of Acome esquires: manor of Dighton and estate in 
Dighton and Naburne (tenants named). Mentions 
Cawoode House, closes called Thwaites, 
Westmoores, Naburn Moore, Tanfeild Garthes, 
Dighton Parke: To recited uses. Witnesses Peter 
Bradley, John Dobson, Jane Robinson, Richard 
Kether.  
1 item 
 

20 Nov 1648 

U DDBH/3/99 Appointment and Limitation 

Arthur Robinson of Dighton gentleman to Raiph Rimer 
of York and Richard Robinson of Thickett esquires: 
prior to marriage of A. R. and Isabel, daughter of R. 
Rimer. Estate of A. R. under U DDBH/3/96: Witnesses 
Robert Hilborn, Jo Stephenson.  
1 item 
 

15 Mar 1652 
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U DDBH/3/100 Exemplification of a Common Recovery  
(a) Thomas Rymer esquire and Edward Gray from 
Thomas Langley and Nathaniel Lambe gentlemen. 
Manor of Deighton with 20 messuages, 300ac. land, 
100ac. meadow, 200ac. pasture, 200ac. moor, 20ac. 
wood and 5s. rent (29 Nov 1675) 
Attached are:  
(b) Final Concord: for £600: Thomas Langley and 
Nathaniel Lambe plaintiffs and Arthur Robinson senior 
esquire and wife Isabel and Arthur Robinson junior 
deforceants: as U DDBH/3/100 (a). See U 
DDBH/3/130 (20 Oct 1675) 
(c) As U DDBH/3/100 (b)  
1 item 
 

1675 

U DDBH/3/101 Final Concord 

For £700: Richard Mawd and William Thompson 
gentlemen plaintiffs and Richard Braithwait gentleman 
and wife Grace and Richard Denton gentleman and 
wife Elizabeth deforceants. Manor of Dighton with 
eight messuages, five cottages, 400ac. land, 500ac. 
meadow, 100ac. pasture, 20ac. wood, and 200ac. 
heath and furze. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1713 

U DDBH/3/102 Deed of Partition  
i) Richard Braithwait gentleman and wife Grace 
ii) Richard Denton gentleman and wife Elizabeth 
iii) Richard Mawhood and William Thompson 
gentlemen all of York (G. B. and E. D. being sisters 
and co-heiresses of Arthur Robinson deceased): 
manor and estate of Dighton: Witnesses Will. Mawde, 
Tho. Jubb, Ro. Chappell. See U DDBH/3/168. 
1 item 
 

26 Mar 1713 

U DDBH/3/103 Deed of Appointment by Richard and Elizabeth Denton  
Charging their moiety of property as U DDBH/3/102 
('the West Division') with £1200 to be divided between 
their two younger children. Witnesses Elizabeth 
Denton, Chas. Mace, Fr. Taylor. 
1 item 
 

3 Oct 1715 

U DDBH/3/104 Agreement. Richard Brathwait and Richard Denton, 
lords of the manor of Deighton  
For the inclosure of the wastes and commons: Thomas 
Robinson of Welborn esquire being the only other 
freeholder. Witnesses Fr. Taylor, Ja. Bradshaw.  
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1717 
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U DDBH/3/105 Marriage Settlement 
i) Mary Denton of York spinster (one of two daughters 
and co-heirs of Richard and Elizabeth D. both 
deceased) 
ii) John Bell of York gentleman, a Lieutenant in Colonel 
Harrison's Regiment of Foot 
iii) Nathaniel Payler of Nun Monkton esquire and 
William Ward of Shipton, Ll.D. 
Prior to marriage of J. B. and M. D.: her moiety of a 
moiety of the manor, mansion house and estate of 
Dighton: Witnesses John Wilmer, (J. Clare). 
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1735 

U DDBH/3/106 Final Concord 

For £500: Nathaniel Payler and William Ward esquires 
plaintiffs and Mary Denton deforceant. A fourth part of 
the manor of Dighton and a moiety of six messuages, 
five cottages, 300ac. land, 50ac. meadow, 100ac. 
pasture, 20ac. wood and 200ac. furze and broom in 
Dighton. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov 1735 

U DDBH/3/107 Final Concord 

For £600: Nathaniel Payler and William Ward plaintiffs 
and Ann Denton spinster deforceant. Six messuages, 
five cottages, 300ac. land, 100ac. meadow, 100ac. 
pasture, 29ac. wood and 200ac. furze and heath in 
Dighton; and two fourth parts of the manor of Dighton.  
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1742 

U DDBH/3/108 Final Concord 

For £600: Nathaniel Payler and William Ward plaintiffs 
and Ann Denton spinster deforceant. Six messuages, 
five cottages, 300ac. land, 100ac. meadow, 100ac. 
pasture, 29ac. wood and 200ac. furze and heath in 
Dighton; and two fourth parts of the manor of Dighton. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1742 

U DDBH/3/109 Deed to declare uses of a Final Concord 

Ann Denton spinster (the other daughter of Richard 
and Elizabeth D.) to Nathaniel Payler and William 
Ward (as U DDBH/3/105). Her fourth part of the manor 
of Dighton and moiety of an estate there; and her 
reversion expectant to another fourth part of the manor 
and the other moiety of the estate, on the death of 
John Bell who married her sister Mary (as U 
DDBH/3/105) deceased (as heir of Mary and their 
daughter Elizabeth Frances who died an infant): To 
use of A. D. Witnesses Ellen Bell, John Wilmer. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1742 
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U DDBH/3/110 Marriage Settlement 
(i) Ann Denton, as U DDBH/3/107; (ii) Robert Bell 
esquire, captain in Major General Henry Harrison's 
Regiment of Foot; (iii) Nathaniel Payler and William 
Ward (as U DDBH/3/105); (iv) Francis Keate of parish 
St Ann Westminster apothecary. Prior to marriage of 
R. B. and A. D.: as U DDBH/3/109: Witnesses Geo. 
Keightley of Broad Street, parish St James, 
Westminster, Dighton Mathews his clerk, W. Spicer, 
Leonard Pickard, Richard Prance, John Wilmer. 
1 item 
 

4-5 Feb 1743 

U DDBH/3/111 Quitclaim 

For £40: Thomas Eadon of Deighton yeoman to Mark 
Brathwaite of York Ll.D., John Bell esquire, Robert Bell 
esquire and wife Ann all of London, lords and lady of 
the manor of Deighton. All right of common in parcels 
lately enclosed (by Richard Brathwaite and Richard 
Denton deceased) from common called the Tilmire, 
and all other rights of common in Deighton belonging 
to a farm bought by T. E. from Thomas Robinson of 
Beckhouse (son of T. R. of Pickering) and wife 
Dorothy: Witnesses John Wilmer, Leonard Pickard. 
1 item 
 

18 Jun 1743 

U DDBH/3/112 Mortgage 

For £500 
i) John Bell and 
ii) Nathaniel Payler and William Ward to Thomas 
Levett of parish St James, Westminster, esquire: as U 
DDBH/3/109. Closes and tenants named: Witnesses 
Geo. Keightley, Dighton Mathews, Francis Skelton. 
Endorsement of Assignment to Francis Keate of parish 
St Ann Westminster (15 Mar 1750/51). 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1745 

U DDBH/3/113 Further Mortgage 

For £1000: Parties as U DDBH/3/112: moiety of manor 
of Deighton with mansion house and estate (as U 
DDBH/3/109) there. Closes and tenants named. 
Endorsements of repayment and redemption (1 May 
1746; 17 Dec 1748). 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1745 
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U DDBH/3/114 Agreement. Richard Braithwaite and Richard Denton, 
as U DDBH/3/104  
For division of a modus of 13s.4d. payable to the 
rector of Escrick in lieu of tithes on the Hall, Hall 
Garths, Coney Garths, Hopruddings, West Field 
Closes and the Leaze, following a partition of the 
lordship of Deighton (as U DDBH/3/102): Witnesses 
Fr. Taylor, Ja. Bradshaw. 
1 item 
 

1 Nov 1717 

U DDBH/3/115 Copy. Will of Robert Bell of Lincoln esquire 

Bequests to wife Ann; children; brother David and wife 
Dorothy; sisters Mary Hannam, Martha Bell and Ellen 
Bell; Lord Monson; friends and executors Thomas 
Vivian of the Close of Lincoln esquire, William 
Scortreth of Spilsby esquire and Francis Keate of 
Dean Street, Soho, apothecary (who was also trustee 
of marriage settlement of R. B.). 
1 item 
 

6 Nov 1757 

U DDBH/3/116 Limited Administration (31 Oct 1800), with Will and 
four Codicils attached 

Of Francis Keate (as in U DDBH/3/115) now of Walton, 
Surrey, esquire. Bequests to sisters Ann Smith and 
Elizabeth Reeves; cousin Elizabeth Worden; Mary 
daughter of George Keightley; nephew Francis Reeves 
(son of E. R.). Property in Dean Street, Little Bedford 
Street, Maiden Lane, and Crown Street, or Hog Lane, 
in London. Also moiety of manor and estate in 
Deighton, in which F. K. was interested as trustee of 
marriage settlement of Robert Bell, which is recited. 
Codicils 1772-1773. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1772 

U DDBH/3/117 Marriage Settlement 
i) Anna Maria Bell of Lincoln spinster (one of daughters 
of Robert Bell deceased and his widow Ann B. of 
Lincoln) 
ii) William Cox esquire, lieutenant in 21st Foot 
commanded by Alexander Mackay esquire 
iii) David John Bell esquire, captain in 19th Foot, and 
John Thomas Bell of Lincoln gentleman 
Prior to marriage of W. C. and A. M. B.: sums of £250 
and £75 to which she is entitled: Witnesses Henry 
Rutter, Ann Bell. 
1 item 
 

9 Aug 1783 

U DDBH/3/118 Copy of U DDBH/3/117 

1 item 
 

c.1783 
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U DDBH/3/119 Bargain and Sale to lead to a Common Recovery 

i) John Thomas Bell of Lincoln esquire to 
ii) John Miller of parish St Clement Danes and 
iii) Henry Bankes of Lincoln gentlemen: moiety of 
manor of Deighton, of a rent of 2s.1d. from parcel 
called William Ruddings, and of 6d. from parson of 
Escrick as an acknowledgement for Priest Croft 
enclosed from the Common; capital messuage and an 
estate (closes and tenants named) in Dighton: To use 
of J. T. B. Witnesses John Hannah, Samuel Pickering, 
John Robert Miller, Steph. Richards. 
1 item 
 

15 Oct 1799 

U DDBH/3/120 Opinion on Settlement and Will (of Robert Bell) 
With answers to questions of title of John Thomas Bell. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1800 

U DDBH/3/121 Certificate from East Riding Registry of Deeds 

Incumbrances on estate at Deighton (1713-1799). 
1 item 
 

21 Mar 1800 

U DDBH/3/122 Letter. John Robert Miller, Carey Street, to Messrs. 
Gray and Thorpe, York 

Encloses certificate (missing) of a fine. 
1 item 
 

18 Oct 1800 
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U DDBH/3/123 Lease and Release  
For £16,000: John Thomas Bell of Lincoln esquire and 
wife Elizabeth to Leonard Pickard of Bootham esquire 
and his trustee William Gray of York gentleman. 
Moiety of manor of Deighton and of rents as U 
DDBH/3/119; with the capital messuage, with 
15ac.1r.32p. and closes called Calf Garth, Coney 
Garths, Hither Leys, Upper or Farther Leys, Thistler 
Leys, Brickkiln Close, 2 Dobrudding Closes, Wheat 
Close, 3 Town Field or Mill Field Closes, Barley Close, 
2 Cliff Closes, Moor Piece and Till Mire; messuage 
with 1ac.4p. and closes called the Croft, Crab Tree 
Hill, Ing Bottom, Low Bottom, Low Rifts, Upper Rifts, 
Hell Close, Bottom Close and Horse Close; messuage 
with 3ac.2r. 15p. and closes called Old House Garth, 
Lunds Garth, Shaw Close, Ellars Close in Naburn, 2 
Ruffitts Closes, Lunds Garth, Old Field in six closes, 
and Till Mire; messuage with 2ac.1r.6p. and closes 
called Low Garth, Westergate Field in three closes, 
Moor Common, Old Field in four closes, and Till Mire; 
messuage, 4ac.32p. and Denton's Garth; Agar Close; 
three cottages with garths and land; and Dobrudding 
Wood, Hell Wood, Wood Garth, and a parcel of wood 
(32ac.3r.36p. in all). In Deighton, Naburn, Escrick and 
Acaster. 
2 items 
 

11-12 Nov 1800 

U DDBH/3/124 Assignment  
Executor of Francis Keate esquire, by direction of J. T. 
Bell to William Harrison of Ripon doctor of physic, as 
trustee for Leonard Pickard. A recited term in premises 
as U DDBH/3/123: To attend the inheritance. 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1800 

U DDBH/3/125 Assignment  
Similar to U DDBH/3/124 in respect of interests in 
premises as U DDBH/3/123 of Martha Ellen and Jane 
Bell of the Close, Lincoln, spinsters (daughters of 
Robert and Ann Bell deceased). 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1800 

U DDBH/3/126 Bond 

In £1000: further to U DDBH/3/123: John Thomas Bell 
to Leonard Pickard and Jonathan Gray. To indemnify 
them against any claims to premises as U 
DDBH/3/123, arising from interest of Francis Keate 
and Assignment as U DDBH/3/124. 
1 item 
 

12 Nov 1800 
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U DDBH/3/127 Exemplification of a Common Recovery 

Henry Bankes from John Miller, gentlemen. 10 
messuages, 300ac. land, 200ac. meadow, 200ac. 
pasture, 40ac. wood and a moiety of rents of 2s.1d. 
and 6d. in Deighton, Escrick, Naburn and Acaster.  
Moiety of manor of Deighton. 
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1800 

U DDBH/3/128 Acquittance 

Ann daughter of John Robinson deceased to Arthur 
Robinson of Dighton gentleman. For £600 due to her 
under Settlement as U DDBH/3/92: Witnesses Hen. 
Paman, Clemt. Ludford. 
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1662 

U DDBH/3/129 Exemplification of proceedings in case of Richard 
Carter v. Ralph Holmes and Robert Cooke of Deighton 
yeomen  
For taking his bullock, pasturing in Tillmyre in 
Deighton. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1672 

U DDBH/3/130 Covenant to levy a Fine 

(i) Arthur Robinson senior of Deighton esquire, his wife 
Isabell and son and heir Arthur R. junior; (ii) Thomas 
Langley gentleman and Reverend Nathaniel Lamb 
both of York; (iii) Thomas Rymere of Grays Inn 
esquire, and Edward Gray of Dighton husbandman. 
Manor of Dighton, with estate (tenants named) in 
Dighton and Naburne: To recited uses including raising 
£1500 to be disposed of by A. R. senior. Witnesses 
James Atkinson, Henry Piers. The Final Concord is at 
U DDBH/3/100 (b-c). 
1 item 
 

1 Oct 1675 

U DDBH/3/131 Counterpart of U DDBH/3/130 

1 item 
 

c.1675 
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U DDBH/3/132 Settlement 
(i) Arthur Robinson senior and junior, as U 
DDBH/3/130; (ii) Ralph Rymer of Sowerby esquire and 
Thomas Rymer of Grays Inn esquire; (iii) Elizabeth, 
Dorothy and Hannah Robinson of Dighton spinsters, 
daughters of A. R. senior; (iv) John Tomlinson of 
Thorganby gentleman and Reverend Nathaniel Lamb 
as U DDBH/3/130. Manor of Dighton with a capital 
messuage, windmill, closes called Great and Little 
Hopriding, Helwood, Dobrideing, Brickilne Close, Great 
Leaze, Wood Marsh Rydeing, the Haggs, Milfeild, Cliff 
Close, Conygarth, Hall Yard, Wheat Close and Myles 
Close; messuages, cottages and lands in Dighton and 
Naburne (tenants named): To recited uses. Witnesses 
Arth. Robinson, Sam. Walker, Will. Penny. 
1 item 
 

20-21 Jan 1679 

U DDBH/3/133 Counterpart of U DDBH/3/132 

1 item 
 

c.1679 

U DDBH/3/134 Agreement. Arthur Robinson senior and junior 
A. R. junior to provide A. R. senior with suitable meat, 
drink, washing and lodging in his house in Dighton, 
with a manservant and stabling, hay and grass for two 
horses. A. R. senior to allow A. R. junior £10 yearly out 
of a rent of £70 reserved to A. R. senior out of the 
manor and estate of Dighton: Witnesses as U 
DDBH/3/132. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1679 

U DDBH/3/135 Agreement for Marriage Settlement  
Arthur Robinson junior of Dighton gentleman and 
Honourable Grace Molineux of York widow and her 
daughter Mary M. Prior to marriage of A. R. and M. M. 
and for her portion of £1000. A. R. to settle an estate 
of £120 yearly value in Deighton and Naburne: 
Witnesses Thomas D'arcy, Fr. Molyneux, Mary 
Molyneux. 
1 item 
 

24 Sep 1679 

U DDBH/3/136 Counterpart of U DDBH/3/135 

1 item 
 

c.1679 

U DDBH/3/137 Copy of U DDBH/3/136 

1 item 
 

c.1679 
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U DDBH/3/138 Defeasance of a Letter of Attorney  
Appointing Thomas Gill and Thomas Mace gentlemen 
to confess judgement for £2000: Darcy Molyneux of 
Mansfeild esquire and Thomas Fawkes of Farnley 
esquire, to Arthur Robinson junior. Conditional on 
performance by A. R. of covenants of U DDBH/3/135: 
Witnesses Dorothy Molyneux, Sarah Nelson. 
1 item 
 

16 Oct 1679 

U DDBH/3/139 Marriage Settlement further to U DDBH/3/135 

(i) Arthur Robinson junior; (ii) Darcy Molyneux and 
Thomas Fawkes (as U DDBH/3/138), John Robinson 
of Filingthorp in Filingdales esquire and Arthur 
Robinson of York merchant. The marriage having 
taken place: as in memorandum at U DDBH/3/47: 
Witnesses W. Palmer, Fr. Batten, Martha Batten, John 
Singleton. 
1 item 
 

10-11 Nov 1681 

U DDBH/3/140 Marriage Settlement further to U DDBH/3/135 

(i) Arthur Robinson junior; (ii) Darcy Molyneux and 
Thomas Fawkes (as U DDBH/3/138), John Robinson 
of Filingthorp in Filingdales esquire and Arthur 
Robinson of York merchant. The marriage having 
taken place: as in memorandum at U DDBH/3/47: 
Witnesses W. Palmer, Fr. Batten, Martha Batten, John 
Singleton. 
1 item 
 

10-11 Nov 1681 

U DDBH/3/141 Copy. Will of Arthur Robinson of Deighton esquire 

Bequests to eldest son Arthur; daughters Grace, 
Isabell, Elizabeth and Mary; wife. Given at Deighton. 
Witnesses Thomas Fawkes, Joseph Roper, John 
Singleton, Mary Smith. 
1 item 
 

14 Mar 1685 

U DDBH/3/142 Mortgage 

For £400: Arthur Robinson of Dighton esquire to Dame 
Elizabeth Dawson of York widow. Manor and estate of 
Dighton: Witnesses Sarah Parkar, Fr. Taylor. 
1 item 
 

15 Dec 1705 

U DDBH/3/143 Final Concord 

For £700: Elizabeth Dawson widow plaintiff and Arthur 
Robinson deforceant. Manor of Deighton with eight 
messuages, five cottages, 400ac. land, 500ac. 
meadow, 100ac. pasture, 20ac. wood, and 200ac. 
heath and furze in Dighton. 
1 item 
 

[9 Feb 1706] 
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U DDBH/3/144 Final Concord 

For £700: Elizabeth Dawson widow plaintiff and Arthur 
Robinson deforceant. Manor of Deighton with eight 
messuages, five cottages, 400ac. land, 500ac. 
meadow, 100ac. pasture, 20ac. wood, and 200ac. 
heath and furze in Dighton.  
1 item 
 

[9 Feb 1706] 

U DDBH/3/145 Assignment of Mortgage as U DDBH/3/142 

Dame Elizabeth Dawson to Francis Taylor of York 
gentleman as trustee for Richard Brathwait and 
Richard Denton. Witnesses Jo. Stainforth, Sam. Hilary. 
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1717 

U DDBH/3/146 Statute Staple  
In £1000: Richard Levett of Naborne esquire to Robert 
Woolriche of Grays Inn. 
1 item 
 

28 May 1659 

U DDBH/3/147 Probate Copy. Will of Thomas Smith of Deighton Park 
yeoman 

Bequests to brother John; sister Mary Granger; nieces 
Mary and Ann Gray, Mary, Elizabeth and Ann 
Batchelor; sister Alice Burton; nephews and nieces 
John, William and Mary Cartwright, Samuel Robert 
and Isabel Burton; sister Isabel Smith and children; 
nieces Mary and Elizabeth Smith; wife Rebeckah; 
nephews Thomas Smith and John Batchelor; brother 
Mauger: Rush Close, Valentine Close, Hay Close: 
Witnesses Michael Copley, Will. Temperton, John 
Bowman. Probate 13 Jan 1746/47. 
1 item 
 

7 Dec 1746 

U DDBH/3/148 Case and Opinion of W. Stables  
On Will as U DDBH/3/147. 
1 item 
 

28 Oct 1764 

U DDBH/3/149 Mortgage 

For £150: Michael Copley of Escrick and wife Rebecca 
(widow of Thomas Smith as U DDBH/3/147) and 
Thomas Smith of York sadler, nephew of T. S. to 
Robert Ward of New Malton gentleman. Messuage 
with Rush Closes and Valentine Closes: Witnesses 
Joseph Raper, Thomas Ewbank. 
1 item 
 

1-2 Nov 1764 
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U DDBH/3/150 Exemplification of a Common Recovery. Robert Waw 
from Thomas Martin gentleman 

Messuage, 10ac. land, 10ac. meadow and 10ac. 
pasture in Deighton: Thomas Smith, Michael Copley 
and wife Rebecca vouched to warranty. 
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1764 

U DDBH/3/151 Lease and Release 

For £200: Thomas Smith to Robert Ward, both as U 
DDBH/3/149. As U DDBH/3/149: Witnesses W. Bluitt, 
Thos. Ewbank. 
2 items 
 

12-13 Dec 1764 

U DDBH/3/152 Mortgage 

For £120: Robert Ward as U DDBH/3/149 to Thomas 
Empson of New Malton yeoman. As U DDBH/3/149: 
Witnesses M. Atkinson, John Terry, Joseph Dawson. 
1 item 
 

5 Apr 1781 

U DDBH/3/153 Copy. Will of Robert Ward as U DDBH/3/149 

Bequests to friend and relation Thomas Martin; 
daughter Hannah wife of William Shields of Hull 
merchant; friends Mary daughter of George Bass of 
Bridewell Precinct, London, optician, Grace Pratt of 
New Malton and William Herdsman of New Malton; 
clerk John Terry; etc.: Hull, England Hill, Rimswell, 
Owthorne, Beverley, Cottingham, Scarborough, 
Deighton, New Malton and Pickering.  Maiden Lane, 
Fleet Street, Poppins Court, Castle Court, Cockpitt 
Court, Mincing Lane, Tower and Royal Thames Street 
in London. Pattiswick, Essex: Witnesses John 
Thomlinson, John Taylor, Edw. Kitching. 
1 item 
 

15 May 1782 

U DDBH/3/154 Copy. Part of Decree in suit Hannah Shields widow 
and other creditors of Robert Ward v. Thomas Martin 
and Mary Bass 

Arising from Will as U DDBH/3/153. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1790 

U DDBH/3/155 Draft Redemption of Mortgage as U DDBH/3/152 

By Thomas Martin of Grays Inn gentleman and his 
trustee William Robins of Furnivalls Inn gentleman. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1793 

U DDBH/3/156 Redemption as U DDBH/3/155 

1 item 
 

c.1793 
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U DDBH/3/157 Lease and Release 

For £470: Thomas Martin and William Robins as U 
DDBH/3/156 to Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire. As U DDBH/3/149: Witnesses Jo. Allen, Hugh 
Lloyd, Edward Stewardson, Thos. Norman. 
2 items 
 

2-3 Aug 1793 

U DDBH/3/158 Copy. Valuation of Deighton by Mr Park 

1 item 
 

1800 

U DDBH/3/159 Lists 

a) 'An account of what goods is left in the house at 
Dighton with Mr Rich. Yates as Are loomes' (5 Jul 
1686) 
b) List of 'hens oweing for (16)86' 
c) List of nine books borrowed by William [  ] from 
Madam Robinson (5 Mar 1688/89) 
1 item 
 

1686-1689 

U DDBH/3/160 Questions, answers and memoranda  
Relating to woods and tithes and claims and suit of 
'son Brathwait'. 
1 item 
 

late 17th cent. 

U DDBH/3/161 Rough survey. Messuages and lands (in Deighton?) 
1 item 
 

late 17th cent. 

U DDBH/3/162 Account. Sums (rents?) divided between 'Children's 
part' and 'Jointure' 
1 item 
 

late 17th cent. 

U DDBH/3/163 Inventory. Furniture and goods  
'Left in the house with Mr Dinsdall and Goerge Knowls 
att Dighton'. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1696 

U DDBH/3/164 List. Furniture left with J. Cook 

1 item 
 

2 Feb 1701 

U DDBH/3/165 Survey. Farms of Thomas Marshall and Widow 
Elsworth at Deighton 

1 item 
 

c.1800 

U DDBH/3/166 Letters. Richard Clark, Escrick, to Hewley John Baines 

With a draft reply; and R. C. to Samuel Wormald, 
Walmgate, York. Purchase of estate by H. J. B. 
2 items 
 

1800 

U DDBH/3/167 Note on dispute arising from purchase as U 
DDBH/3/166 

1 item 
 

c.1800 
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U DDBH/3/168 Copy (19th cent.?). Map of Deighton  
As divided between Richard Braithwaite and Richard 
Denton. 
1 item 
 

 

1712 

U DDBH/4 Dringhouses (West Riding) 
1 item 
 

1728 

U DDBH/4/1 Bond 

In £100: John Haige fishmonger to John Cass bridler 
both of Dringhouses. For peaceful possession of 3 
1/2ac. meadow called Bury Ings at Middlethorp and 
tenement, croft and 6ac. at Dringhouses, parcel of late 
Monastery of Pontefract and now held under Crown by 
John Haige (in right of his wife Ann, who was widow of 
William Hood, a son of John Hood all of Dringhouses): 
Witnesses Rich. Yoward, Ra. Yoward. 
1 item 
 

 

1 May 1728 

U DDBH/5 Dunnington (East Riding) 
6 items 
 

1820-1827 

U DDBH/5/1 Valuation. Goods at Eastfield 

Endorsed on notice: W. Barr, sadler, Coney Street, 
York: With note from William Scott that Barr has taken 
over his business (21 Oct 1820). 
1 item 
 

30 Oct 1820 

U DDBH/5/2 Copy. Lease  
For 5 years: at £180 rent: Edward Elgin of York 
druggist to Hewlay Mortimer Baines of East Field 
House, Dunnington esquire. Eastfield House with 
45ac.10p. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1821 

U DDBH/5/3 Survey. Closes at Eastfield 

1 item 
 

early 19th cent. 

U DDBH/5/4 Letter from George Brown 

Proposals for taking over farm (Eastfield?). 
1 item 
 

13 Aug 1825 

U DDBH/5/5 Letter. Brook & Bulmer, York to H. M. Baines 

Mr Elgin claims compensation, H. M. B. not having left 
(Eastfield) in tenantable condition: With copy of Report 
of John Ayer on the premises (15 Apr 1826). 
1 item 
 

9 May 1827 
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U DDBH/5/6 Receipt for £15 paid by H. M. Baines 

Compensation for dilapidations at Eastfield. 
1 item 
 

 

27 Oct 1827 

U DDBH/6 Ellenthorpe and Milby (North Riding) 
2 items 
 

1597-1636 

U DDBH/6/1 Bargain and Sale 

William Thorneton, son of Richard T. of Ellingthroppe 
gentleman, late deceased, to Thomas Thornton citizen 
and haberdasher of London and his wife Suzan. 
Messuage and lands of R. T. in Ellingthroppe and 
Myton: Witnesses Anthony and Ric. Ellerker, John 
Squier, George Hobsonn, Tobias Gawdby, Christofer 
(Davye?). 
1 item 
 

30 Sep 1597 

U DDBH/6/2 Quitclaim 

William Slater, John Thompson, William Tebb, Richard 
Harrison, Thomas Wilkinson, William Bell, Thomas 
Firby, Nicholas Walles, Richard Warde, Robert Raye, 
John Allen and William Wympe yeomen, Jane Daggett 
and Elizabeth Wilson widows, all of Milby, and 
Augustine Houghton of York gentleman to Thomas 
Tanckred of Branton esquire. Nelbeck Lane from Milby 
Moore to Nelbeck Greene, and Nelbeck Greene 
adjoining R. Yore (Ure), in Ellingthorpe and Milby, 
lately enjoyed by them as common belonging to their 
tenements in Milby, under any demise or grant from T. 
T. or his deceased father Thomas: Witnesses John 
Tanckred, Willm. Stevenson, John Knaresbrough, 
Robte. Cropper, Raphe Bayne, John Baine, Isaac 
Havelock. 
1 item 
 
For conservation reasons this item is not fit for 
production [NFP] and is being reviewed by the 
conservator. However, a surrogate image may be 
provided on request. If you require access please 
contact the University Archives team at 
archives@hull.ac.uk clearly outlining your interest 
and timescales. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Dec 1636 
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U DDBH/7 Escrick (East Riding) 
2 items 
 

1629-1630 

U DDBH/7/1 Confirmation. Samuel, Archbishop of York to Arthur 
Robinson of Dighton esquire 

Pew in Eskerigg church: Seal, damaged. 
1 item 
 

6 Jan 1629 

U DDBH/7/2 Confirmation similar to U DDBH/7/1 

With faculty to erect another pew. Seal, damaged 

1 item 
 

 

27 Mar 1630 

U DDBH/8 Fryston and Hillam (West Riding) 
1 item 
 

late 17th cent. 

U DDBH/8/1 Address on the difference between a court leet and 
court baron 

To be delivered to the juries in the manors of Fryston 
and Hillam. 
1 item 
 

 

late 17th cent. 

U DDBH/9 Hemingbrough (East Riding) 
2 items 
 

1870 

U DDBH/9/1 Valuation. Furniture, etc. at Hemingbrough Hall 
Bought from Mrs Balmain by Mortimer Baines esquire. 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1870 

U DDBH/9/2 Copy. Lease  
At £75 rent 
i) Lionel Tomlinson of Hemingbrough and John 
Watlingson of Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, gentlemen 
ii) Charles Grey Tate of Richmond esquire to 
iii) William Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall esquire: 
Hemingbrough Hall with 13ac.2r. land: Schedule of 
fixtures etc. 
1 item 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18 Jul 1870 
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U DDBH/10 Heworth (North Riding) 
2 items 
 

1664-1679 

U DDBH/10/1 Letter of Attorney. Master and Chaplains of the Savoy 
Hospital to Thomas Fairfax of York and Thomas Geree 
of Great Barugh gentlemen  
To deliver Heworth Grange with Grange Feild and a 
windmill in it, four closes and other lands in Heworth to 
William Dawson of Heworth esquire, further to a lease 
of the premises to him (10 Jun 1662) for lives of 
himself, Robert Baynes and John Geere. Reference to 
W. D.'s mother Elizabeth D. Witnesses Tho. Peacock, 
Walter Payne, Tho. Shaw. Fragment of seal. 
1 item 
 

9 Dec 1664 

U DDBH/10/2 Declaration of Trust  
i) Roger Jaques of Elvington esquire and Robert 
Waller of York gentleman 
ii) Henry Jaques of Elvington esquire 
iii) William Dawson esquire (aged about 18) and his 
mother and guardian Elizabeth D. widow, both of 
Heworth 
Reciting:  
a) Lease: for 3 lives: Master and chaplains of the 
Savoy Hospital to W. D. and H. J.: as U DDBH/10/1 
(10 Jul 1679) 
b) Assignment of the lease to R. J. and R. W. (16 Oct 
1679) 
It is now declared that the Assignment is to secure the 
repayment to H. J. of £181.9s. laid out by him to 
secure the Lease. Witnesses F. and Tho. Langley, 
Rich. Hawson, W. Marshall. 
1 item 
 

 

16 Oct 1679 

U DDBH/11 Killinghall and Ferrensby (West Riding) 
19 items 
 

1554-1785 

U DDBH/11/1 Schedule. Surrenders and Admissions  
Coney warren on Killinghall Moor in Forest of 
Knaresborough. 
1 item 
 

[1554-1761] 
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U DDBH/11/2 Surrender and Admission. Manor court of Forest of 
Knaresborough 

William Parker senior, gentleman and wife Elizabeth 
and William Parker junior and wife Margarett all of 
Killinghall, and William Singleton of Ripley gentleman, 
to John Withes of Hewicke on the Bridge, gentleman. 
Seven messuages, 37ac.1r. land and 1ac. called le 
Coneygarth or Castle Dykes, on Killinghall Moor in 
Forest of Knaresborough. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1616 

U DDBH/11/3 Schedule. Surrenders and Admissions and 
Conveyances 

Killinghall Estate. 
1 item 
 

[1616-1742] 

U DDBH/11/4 Abstract of Title. Hewley Baines 

Freehold property in Killinghall. 
1 item 
 

[1619-1743] 

U DDBH/11/5 Surrender. Manor court of Forest of Knaresborough 

John Withes (as U DDBH/11/2) of Killinghall 
gentleman, to his brother and heir Henry Withes. 
Seven messuages, 41ac., and Coney Garth as U 
DDBH/11/2. 
1 item 
 

12 Apr 1621 

U DDBH/11/6 Surrender. Manor court of Forest of Knaresborough 

Henry Wise gentleman and Anne Leigh widow both of 
Killinghall and Phillip Darcie and wife Jane to Robert 
Wolredge of Grayston esquire. Seven messuages, 
40ac. land and coney warren on Killinghall Moor, all as 
U DDBH/11/2.  
1 item 
 

10 Aug 1653 

U DDBH/11/7 Schedule. Surrenders of messuages 

Killinghall, Ledgate, Craghill, Knaresborough, 
Coneythorpe and Ferrensby. 
1 item 
 

[1664-1683] 

U DDBH/11/8 Schedule. Deeds  
Relating to land in Killinghall, Knaresborough, Scriven, 
Ferrensby, and Little Fenton. 
1 item 
 

c.1722 
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U DDBH/11/9 Final Concord 

For £60: Hewley Baines esquire plaintiff and Richard 
Metcalf, wife Margaret and Ann Richardson widow 
deforceants. 5ac. meadow, moiety of messuage, 6ac. 
land, 5ac. meadow and 15ac. pasture in Killinghall and 
Little Fenton. 
1 item 
 

17 Apr 1743 

U DDBH/11/10 Extracts. Surrenders in manor courts of Liberty of 
Knaresborough and manor of Ferensby, and Forest of 
Knaresborough 

Surrenders by Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire. All 
copyhold property. To uses of his Will.   
2 items 
 

1757 

U DDBH/11/11 Copy. Surrender in court of Forest and Liberty of 
Knaresborough 

Surrender by Hewley Baines esquire. Copyhold 
property at Killinghall: To uses of his Will. 
1 item 
 

8 Feb 1758 

U DDBH/11/12 Abstracts. Inquisitions Post Mortem 

Hewley Baines of Bell Hall deceased. Eight 
messuages, 50ac. land, an ancient building with piece 
of land and parcel called the Coney Warren all in 
Killinghall. Four messuages, 7ac. land in 
Knaresborough, Scriven and Ferrensby and Abstract 
of Will of Dame Sarah Hewley of York widow, relating 
to her copyhold estate in manor of Forest of 
Knaresborough (9 Jul 1707). 
2 items 
 

1760-1761 

U DDBH/11/13 Copy. Admission of Reverend Hewley Baines  
To allotments under Forest of Knaresborough 
Inclosure Award. Killinghall (including Warren) and 
Knaresborough. Locations specified. 
1 item 
 

9 Jan 1782 

U DDBH/11/14 Agreement for Sale 

For £360: John Lund of Bootham, York gentleman on 
behalf of Reverend Hewley Baines of York and Hewley 
John Baines esquire his eldest son, to Richard Baxter 
of Ferrensby innholder. Messuage, High and Low 
Garths, Lawson Garth and two closes called Nanney 
Closes containing 7ac.3r.26p. at Ferrensby parish 
Farnham, copyhold of manor of Knaresborough. 
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1785 
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U DDBH/11/15 Agreement for Sale 

For £3000: John Lund on behalf of Reverend Hewley 
Baines and Hewley John Baines (all as U 
DDBH/11/14) to Stephen Broadbelt yeoman, and 
Thomas Craven butcher both of Killinghall parish 
Ripley and William Dawson of Little Ouseburn 
yeoman. Farm with specified closes and lands in 
Killinghall, freehold and copyhold: With memorandum 
of land sold by Stephen Broadbelt to Mr Craven and to 
Mr Dawson, and of that purchased for himself. 
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1785 

U DDBH/11/16 Agreement for Sale 

For £2640: John Lund on behalf of Reverend Hewley 
Baines and Hewley John Baines (as U DDBH/11/14) to 
Francis Moyser of Topcliffe Mills parish Topcliffe, 
miller. Farm with Wades House and garth, and 
126ac.1r.32p. land in Killinghall, copyhold of manor of 
Knaresborough. 
1 item 
 

30 Jul 1785 

U DDBH/11/17 Agreement for Sale 

For £550: John Lund on behalf of Reverend Hewley 
Baines and Hewley John Baines (all as U 
DDBH/11/14) to Stephen Broadbent of Killinghall 
yeoman. Barn, stable, granary and 36ac.2r. land, with 
two parcels of old inclosed land called the Warren 
Garths containing 3ac.35p., copyhold of manor of 
Knaresborough. 
1 item 
 

17 Oct 1785 

U DDBH/11/18 Agreement for Sale 

For £300: John Lund on behalf of Reverend Hewley 
Baines and Hewley John Baines (all as U 
DDBH/11/14) to Thomas Hutchinson of 
Knaresborough doctor of physic. 3ac.1r.15p. meadow, 
16 lands in Scriven Field called Haslehead Lands 
(eight lands on south and eight on north side of the 
road) containing 2ac.1r.19p. at Knaresborough and 
Scriven, copyhold of manor of Knaresborough. 
1 item 
 

22 Jul 1785 

U DDBH/11/19 Summary list. Sales as U DDBH/11/14-18 

1 item 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

late 18th cent. 
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U DDBH/12 Naburn (East Riding) 
U DDBH/12/66-183 is a collection of numbered 
deeds relating to Naburn, a manuscript list of 
which (c.1890) is at U DDBH/12/184. There are no 
documents with the numbers (23) (51) (52) (93) 
(119) and (121). The list at U DDBH/12/184 notes 
them as 'Missing'. There are no documents with 
the numbers (55) and (127). 
184 items or bundles 
 

1486-1890 

U DDBH/12/1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Copy manuscripts 

Of: 
a) Gift: Richard de Watervile to Sir William de Palma, 
in free marriage with his sister Matilda: manor of 
Naburne super House, and the advowson of St 
George in Fishergate in York: Witnesses William de 
Mandevill, Earl of Essex (mid 13th cent.) 
b) Partition of the wood of Naburn between William de 
Palma and wife Matilda, and Richard Maunsell:  
Wood called Suthwood, with all land and wood 
contained in it, from the W. part of Brokeholesike as 
Brokeholesike extends to the W. part of Tharidinge at 
the boundary of Mooreby, and thence as the wood 
extends to Naburne in length and breadth, and as 
Brokeholsike descends in Birkar, and from the head of 
Brokholsike through the middle of Birkar to the great 
moor of Naburne near the boundary of Dighton by the 
metes and bounds made in 1226 by John the clerk of 
Fulford, Robert Busterd, Henry (heuc?), Richard 
Princeware, Simon Flaminge, Ralph Butcher, Hugh 
Muse, Peter son of Hugh, Gervase son of Ralph, Hugh 
Faber, Arnold the clerk and William son of William, to 
remain to William and Matilda and their men. There 
shall also remain to them the land and wood contained 
in it called Nethereld; land and wood contained in it 
called Groveriddinge as it extends to the assarts of 
Naburne, which assarts lie between Groveriddinge and 
Scenesthwait towards the moor; a piece of land called 
Scenesthwait; land and wood contained in it called 
Middlemoore by the road called Gangegate as the said 
road goes to Buskfeildstele through the middle of 
Langwath and of Overwath to Modyveker, and so by 
the side of the moor to Naburne (reserving to R. M., 
his heirs and his men their arable land); land and wood 
(bounded from the boundary towards Buroccident by 
the bounds made by Fulmose to le Owthen, and 
thence through the middle of Owthen to the next 
bound near (Chin?) super Langwath, thence to the 
next bound towards the mill, thence to the pond, and 
so to the highway and the ditch of the Intack) in length 
and breadth towards the North, towards Fulford and 
towards Lincroft (reserving to R. M., his heirs and his 

17th cent. 
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U DDBH/12/1 

continued 

men, common of pasture for all that land of Naburne of 
which W. and M. have two parts and R. M. the third 
(excepting 176ac. which W. and his men ought to 
enclose at their will in one place, as against 88ac. 
which R. M. gave to St Mary's Abbey, York; and 
excepting two (moors?) lying between Naburn and 
Dighton (one lying between le Greneriddinge and the 
wood of Suth; and the other between Birkar and 
Nethereld) which were common between them, W. and 
M. having two parts and R. M. the third). 
All land and wood from the E. part of Brokeholsike and 
thence from Brokholesike to the E. head of 
Thariddinge to the bounds of Moorebya, and as those 
bounds go E. to the bounds of Dighton, thence to the 
head of Modivekr by the side of the moor to the 
bounds of Birkr, and so through the middle of Birker in 
Brokeholsike, to remain to R. M. and his men. There 
shall remain to them land and wood contained in 
length and breadth from the boundary towards 
Buroccidentle by the bounds and metes made through 
the middle of Fulmose towards le Outhen, and through 
the middle of Owthen to the next bound near Chinde 
super Langwath, thence to the next bound towards the 
mill, thence to the other bound on le Stanck, thence to 
the assarts of Litlewath, thence to the head of the pond 
towards Naburn, thence to the hedge ('haia') of 
Buskfeild round Litlethwait, thence to Buskfeildstele, 
thence by Gangegate through the middle of Langwath 
and of Overwath to Modivekr, and thence to the bound 
towards Buroccidentle by the bounds of Dighton and 
Naburn (reserving common of pasture to W. and M. as 
above) (mid 13th cent.) 
1 bundle 
 

U DDBH/12/2 Note. 'Richard Bell 1585', and that Bell Hall was called 
by that name in 1654 

1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/12/3 Lease and Release 

For £43: Richard Daniell of Yowton, parish Awne, 
yeoman and wife Ann and Robert Thompson of 
Tollerton yeoman and wife Ann to William White of 
Naburn yeoman. Cottage and orchard (Naborne Back 
Street at E. end), little close called Mill Hill at Water 
Mill Bridge, parcel in Thackmire, 1ac. in South Field, 
and 1ac. in the Intack called the Moor Piece: 
Witnesses John Singleton, Joseph Fairfax, J. Hardy. 
Attached is a Final Concord: for £100: Richard Darly 
and Thomas Pickering gentlemen plaintiffs and 
Richard Daniel and wife Anne, Robert Thompson and 
wife Ann, Francis Ingleby gentleman and wife 
Constance, and William Cowpland and wife Ann 
deforceants: three messuages, two cottages, two 
barns, orchard, 30ac. land, 50ac. pasture, 50ac. furze 
and heath in Stillingfleet, Naburn, parish Clapham and 
Bridlington (20 Jan 1710/11). 
2 items 
 

27-28 Sep 1708 

U DDBH/12/4 Lease  
For 6 years: at £76 rent: Hewley Baines of York 
esquire to Nathaniell Fligg, father and son, of 
Menthorpe husbandman. Out-houses, barns and 
stables near Bell Hall, with Appletree Close, 14ac. 
Close, 8ac. Close, 9ac. Close, 22ac. Close, 6ac. 
Close, High Burcarrs (32ac.), (10?)ac. in Naburne 
Field, 3ac. meadow in the Marsh, 8ac. Close, 7ac. 
Close, 6ac. Close and Dove Coat Close: Witnesses S. 
and Ann Goodgeon. 
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1716 

U DDBH/12/5 Copy. Lease and Release  
To lead to a Common Recovery 
i) Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
ii) Henry Masterman and Richard Thompson of 
London esquires 
iii) Thomas Stillington of Kelfield and Marmaduke 
Lawson of Moreby esquires 
Bell Hall with three closes opposite, Dove Coat Close, 
Cow Pasture with close at the bottom of it, Appletree 
Close, Burker Hill and adjoining close, 14ac. Close, 
two 8ac. Closes, 9ac. Close, 1 1/2ac. meadow in Mr 
Palm's Ing, Low Burkers close in High Burkers, 7ac. in 
Naburn Field and 17ac. woody ground in Naburn. 
Close in High Burker, 3ac. in Naburn Field and 3ac. in 
Naburn Marsh in Acaster Malbis: To use of H. B. 
Witnesses Darcy Preston, James Garth, Robert 
Herbert, W. Wigginton junior, Samuell Thornton.   
2 items 
 

1-2 Oct 1719 
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U DDBH/12/6 Copy. Exemplification of Common Recovery  
Further to U DDBH/12/5. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1720 

U DDBH/12/7 Agreement for Sale 

For £150: Hewley Baines as U DDBH/12/5 to Peter 
Meadley of Grimston woodmonger. 616 oak trees in 
Bell Hall Wood: Witnesses Darcy Preston, John 
Chaloner. 
1 item 
 

14 May 1720 

U DDBH/12/8 Agreement for Sale 

For £140: Hewley Baines to Thomas Root and John 
Bacon of Selby merchants. 122 ash and 208 oak trees 
in the hedge rows and 'over against the house of Bell 
Hall': Witnesses as U DDBH/12/7. 
1 item 
 

22 Oct 1720 

U DDBH/12/9 Licence to Hewley Baines  
To erect a pew in Nayburne church. 
1 item 
 

28 Oct 1721 

U DDBH/12/10 Quitclaim 

Bryan Palmes of Nabourn esquire, lord of the manor of 
Nabourn, to Hewley Baines: 1r. enclosed by H. B. in 
Nabourn Field: Witnesses Ed. and Tho. Wilkinson. 
With note from B. P. agreeing to an inclosure near 
Pidgeon Coat Garth (23 Jun 1733). 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1732 

U DDBH/12/11 Release 

For £160: George and John Whitehouse, father and 
son, of Naburn yeomen to Hewley Baines: as U 
DDBH/12/3, and specified parcels (10 1/2ac. in all) in 
Stillingfleet: Witnesses Ja. Smith, Sam. Thornton. With 
Bond for performance of covenants. 
1 item 
 

24 Dec 1734 

U DDBH/12/12 Final Concord 

For £100: John Tidy gentleman plaintiff and Meatham 
and Margaret Armstrong deforceants. 40ac. land, 
30ac. meadow, and 20ac. pasture in Naburne and 
Gatefoulforth. 
1 item 
 

[9 Feb 1737] 

U DDBH/12/13 Final Concord 

For £100: John Tidy gentleman plaintiff and Meatham 
and Margaret Armstrong deforceants. 40ac. land, 
30ac. meadow, and 20ac. pasture in Naburne and 
Gatefoulforth. 
1 item 
 

[9 Feb 1737] 
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U DDBH/12/14 Final Concord 

For £100: Reverend George Colbatch plaintiff and 
John Tidy and wife Isabel deforceants. 40ac. land, 
30ac. meadow and 20ac. pasture in Naburne and 
Gatefoulforth. 
1 item 
 

14 Jun 1742 

U DDBH/12/15 Draft Settlement 
i) Reverend Hewley Baines of Bell Hall (eldest son of 
Hewley Baines by his wife Lucy, nee Masterman, all 
deceased) 
ii) John Baines of Killinghall gentleman 
iii) Henry Masterman of the Middle Temple (son of 
Henry Masterman of parish St Andrew Holbourn 
gentleman deceased, and brother of Lucy) 
Further to Marriage Settlement of H. and L. B. (10 Mar 
1717/18): Bell Hall and estates in Naburn and Acaster 
Malbis. 
1 item 
 

19 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/12/16 Settlement 
i) Reverend Hewley Baines and wife Mary 
ii) Levyns Boldero of Staple Inn gentleman 
iii) Marmaduke Lawson of Moreby esquire and 
Reverend Robert Potter of Stillingfleet 
iv) Henry Masterman of the Middle Temple esquire 
and Reverend William Barrett of York 
Bell Hall with estate as in U DDBH/12/5: Witnesses J. 
and A. Ricard. 
1 item 
 

21 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/12/17 Naburn Inclosure Award 

1 item 
 

8 Jan 1768 

U DDBH/12/18 Survey. Land 'about Bell Hall' 
1 item 
 

late 18th cent. 
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U DDBH/12/19 Marriage Settlement 
i) Reverend Hewley Baines, formerly of Bell Hall, his 
eldest son Hewley John Baines 
ii) Timothy Mortimer gentleman 
iii) his eldest daughter Mary M. spinster, all of York 
iv) Sir Christopher Sykes of Sledmere, William Preston 
of Moreby Hall esquire and Reverend James Brooke of 
York 
Prior to marriage of H. J. B. and M. M.: Bell Hall with 
dovecote, courtyard and gardens, Dove Coat Garth, 
the Spring, Garth at the front of the house, orchard or 
new nursery, South Field Close, Thackmire Close, 
West and East Cow Closes, Rail Close and Seven 
Acre Close.  Messuage with Fourteen Acre Close, 
Appletree Close alias Eleven Acre Close, Fifteen Acre 
Close, Eight Acre Close and 5 Cold Patch Closes. 
Messuage with Hill Close, 2 Four Acre Closes, Ten 
Acre Close; Eighteen Acre Close, and Twenty Acre 
Close in two parts alias Burker Closes; and Nine Acre 
Close. Cottage and croft. The Great Wood at Bell Hall 
(19ac.1r.20p.): Witnesses Mary and Dorothy Baines, 
Wm. Jameson, Mich. Ellis. 
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1786 

U DDBH/12/20 Notice to John Lund  
To quit premises at Naburn, from H. J. Baines. 
1 item 
 

14 Sep 1793 

U DDBH/12/21 Valuation. Two farms near Bell Hall  
Tenanted by John Lunn and Thomas Throstle. 
1 item 
 

2 Oct 1793 

U DDBH/12/22 Exchange  
George Palmes of Naburn esquire and Hewley John 
Baines of Bell Hall esquire and wife Mary. H. J. B. to 
have 3r.17p. of Wood Close or Dove Cote Garth 
Close. G. P. to have garth at N. end of Naburn and a 
messuage and small garth: Witnesses Wm. 
Thompson, Geo. Foster, David Russell, William 
Smallwood, Henry Bourne, Wm. Dyson, John Barber. 
1 item 
 

28 Aug 1809 

U DDBH/12/23 Lease 

At £160 rent: Hewley John Baines to William 
Waterworth of Skelton yeoman. Farm with 127ac. 
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1824 

U DDBH/12/24 Survey. Closes in Naburn and Deighton 

1 item 
 

early 19th cent. 
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U DDBH/12/25 Agreement for Sale 

For £5: Hewley Mortimer Baines to Henry Preston of 
Moreby Hall. Small parcel of Bell Hall estate on which 
part of Moreby Bridge stands. 
1 item 
 

27 Jun 1832 

U DDBH/12/26 Account paid by Naburn lock keeper  
'For use of room etc.' 
1 item 
 

1854 

U DDBH/12/27 Agreement for Sale 

For £850: H. M. Baines to North Eastern Railway (York 
and Doncaster Branch). 5ac.21p. in Naburn and 
Escrick. 
1 item 
 

3 Nov 1866 

U DDBH/12/28 Plan. Land as U DDBH/12/27  
5ac.21p. in Naburn and Escrick. 
1 plan 
 

1866 

U DDBH/12/29 Rough notes and estimate of cost. Naburn Church 

With plan of seating. 
5 items 
 

late 19th cent. 

U DDBH/12/30 Disentailing Deed. H. M. Baines to David Russell of 
York gentleman 

1 item 
 

1 Jun 1867 

U DDBH/12/31 Lease 

At £60 rent: William Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire to Guy Palmes of Lingcroft Lodge esquire. 
Shooting rights over Bell Hall Estate in Naburn, 
Deighton and Acaster Malbis: Terminated 8 Mar 1893. 
1 item 
 

1 Sep 1890 

U DDBH/12/32 Lease and Release 

For £240: Meatham Armstrong of Staindrop dyer (only 
son of Thomas A. of Naburne deceased by his wife 
Margaret) and the said Margaret A. widow to John Tidy 
gentleman, all of Staindrop, County Durham. Great 
Wood Close in several closes (40ac.); also 2 
Howelands (one near windmill or site of windmill of 
William Taylor of York alderman deceased) and 2 
Houghlands in Gatefoulforth; in Naburne and 
Gatefoulforth: Witnesses Chris. Lonsdale, John 
Roddam. 
2 items 
 

2-3 Nov 1736 
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U DDBH/12/33 Quitclaim 

John Armstrong of London linen draper, uncle and heir 
of Meatham A. as U DDBH/12/32, to John Tidy now of 
Middleton in Teesdale. 
1 item 
 

25 Aug 1741 

U DDBH/12/34 Lease and Release 

For £315: John Tidy of Staindrop and wife Isabel to 
Reverend George Colbatch of Great Driffield. As U 
DDBH/12/32: Witnesses John Mayer, John Perrott. 
2 items 
 

18-19 May 1743 

U DDBH/12/35 Copy. Lease and Release 

For £4970: Timothy Colebatch of Catherton, 
Shropshire, gentleman (nephew and heir of Reverend 
George C. deceased) and wife Mary, and Thomas C. 
of Neen Savige, Shropshire, gentleman to William Paul 
of Nafferton esquire. As U DDBH/12/32. Also a 
messuage, garth, close, and close called the Creame 
(called Southend Farm); two cottages; capital 
messuage, Boulton Garth, and Northend and 
Southend Closes in Great Driffield. 11 oxgangs in 
Town fields of Great and Little Driffield, or specified 
allotments in lieu of them at the inclosure (including 
Clay Pitt Close, Nafferton Heads Close, Cow Pasture 
Close). Messuage, garden, six oxgangs partly 
enclosed, two parcels, 1 1/2 beastgates in the Low 
Field, two averish gates in Longston Carr and cottage 
in Haystropp. Parcel in Field or Carr of Gransmore. 
Briggs Close in Dunnington in Holderness. Cottage in 
several tenements, site of malt kiln and garth in 
Bridlington, now used as Poor House (Common Green 
N., close called Old Walls E.): Witnesses Wm. Nelson 
junior, Marmaduke Prickett junior. 
2 items 
 

9-10 May 1758 

U DDBH/12/36 Lease and Release 

For £410: William Paul to Hewley Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire. Great Wood Closes in Naburn: Witnesses J. 
Ricard, Tho. Vevers junior. With Bond for performance 
of covenants. 
2 items 
 

16-17 May 1758 

U DDBH/12/37 List. Deeds relating to Bell Hall (1711-1758) 
1 item 
 

1758 
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U DDBH/12/38 Abstracts of Leases  
a) Reverend William Knight subchanter and keeper of 
the Beddern and the Vicars Choral of York to Matthew 
Bigg of Mooregate near Rotheram: house in the 
Beddern with garth on backside and the N. end of the 
Longhouse (9 Sep 1723) 
b) Reverend Richard Warneford, subchanter and 
keeper, and Vicars Choral to Timothy Mortimer of York 
gentleman: as U DDBH/12/38a now built into a new 
house with garden at front, and the Longhouse (20 
Dec 1749) 
c) Reverend William Foster, subchanter and keeper, 
and Vicars Choral to Timothy Mortimer: as U 
DDBH/12/38b, and site of bowling alley (15 Apr 1762) 
3 items 
 

1723-1762 

U DDBH/12/39 Abstracts of Leases  
a) Reverend William Knight to Matthew Bigg (both as 
U DDBH/12/38a): parcel in Beddern, formerly a 
bowling alley (9 Sep 1723) 
b) Reverend Richard Warneford to Timothy Mortimer 
(both as U DDBH/12/38b): as U DDBH/12/39a (20 Dec 
1749) 
2 items 
 

1723-1749 

U DDBH/12/40 Abstract of Leases  
As U DDBH/12/38b-c and U DDBH/12/39a. 
3 items 
 

1749-1762 

U DDBH/12/41 Abstracts 

a) Will of Timothy Mortimer of York gentleman. 
Bequests to wife Frances; her mother Mary; sons 
Timothy and John. Probate 17 Aug 1751 (n.d.) 
b) Will of John Mortimer mariner of HMS Sphinx. 
Bequests to brother Francis; sister F. Probate 5 Jul 
1754 (1 Sep 1752) 
c) Quitclaim: Frances Mortimer to brother T. (24 Mar 
1761) 
1 item 
 

1752-1761 

U DDBH/12/42 Lawyer's Account. Reverend Hewley Baines debtor to 
Timothy Mortimer 
1 item 
 

1785-1787 

U DDBH/12/43 Abstract. Deed of Apportionment  
By Reverend Hewley Baines for benefit of his younger 
children. 
1 item 
 

17 Jun 1786 
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U DDBH/12/44 Marriage Settlement (Release only)  
As U DDBH/12/19. 
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1786 

U DDBH/12/45 Quitclaim, and Confirmation of U DDBH/12/44 

Henry Baines, Lieutenant R. N., and Elizabeth Baines 
of York spinster to their father Reverend Hewley 
Baines and brother Hewley John Baines. Children's 
portions charged on Bell Hall estate by U DDBH/12/16. 
1 item 
 

29 May 1790 

U DDBH/12/46 Circular letter issued prior to General Meeting of the 
Proprietors of the Foss Navigation 

The authors of which are in favour of a dividend being 
paid instead of a proposed extension from Sheriff 
Hutton Bridge to Stillington. With plan of extension. 
1 item 
 

1808 

U DDBH/12/47 Mortgage 

For £80: George Whitehouse of Naburn and son and 
heir John to Thomas Eadon of Deighton yeoman. As U 
DDBH/12/11: Witnesses Saml. Thornton, Ja. Smith, 
Jos. Hewan, Everild Hewan. 
1 item 
 

10 Apr 1733 

U DDBH/12/48 Exemplification of a Common Recovery 

Henry Masterman esquire and Reverend William 
Barrett from Levyns Boldero gentleman. Five 
messuages, dovehouse, four gardens, 100ac. land, 
50ac. meadow, 120ac. pasture, 20ac. wood and 50ac. 
moor in Bell Hall and parishes Naburn, Acaster Malbis, 
Ripley, Goldsbrough and Aldbrough: Reverend Hewley 
Baines and wife Mary vouched to warranty. 
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/12/49 Lease and Release 

To lead to a Common Recovery 
i) Reverend Hewley Baines and his eldest son Hewley 
John Baines 
ii) William Barton Borwick of Grays Inn gentleman 
iii) Reverend James Brooke, rector of St Cuthbert's, 
York: as U DDBH/12/19. Also specified allotments in 
Mill Field and 4 Bamber Close in Coneystrap; 16 
Hasslehead Lands in Scriven; 2 Turpin Closes and 
allotment from Forest of Knaresborough in Killinghall; 
and two messuages in Colliergate in York: To use of 
H. B. for life, and then to H. J. B. Witnesses Robert 
Scott and Michael Ellis clerks to Mr Mortimer of York, 
John Piper, George Simson. 
2 items 
 

25 May 1786 
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U DDBH/12/50 Copy. U DDBH/12/49 

1 item 
 

c.1786 

U DDBH/12/51 Copy. U DDBH/12/49 

1 item 
 

c.1786 

U DDBH/12/52 Marriage Settlement. Hewley Baines and Lucy 
Masterman 

As U DDBH/30/3. 
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1718 

U DDBH/12/53 Lease and Release 

To lead to a Common Recovery. As U DDBH/12/5. 
2 items 
 

1-2 Oct 1719 

U DDBH/12/54 Will. Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire 

Bequests to wife Lucy; grandchildren of deceased 
uncle Thomas Baines and of his sister Catherine 
Hunter; Jarvis Lyon and wife Elizabeth and their 
children Fisher, Jarvis, and Mary; Bluecoat Boys and 
Greycoat Girls and Infirmary of York; poor of Wistow, 
Killinghall and St George cum Naburn, etc. Bell Hall, 
Naburn, Stillingfleet, York, Wigginton, Coneystrap, 
Knaresborough, Scriven, Ferensby, Sherburn, 
Pickering Marshes, Acaster Malbis: Witnesses Willfrid 
Green, Henry Green, Richard Pickering. 
1 item 
 

21 Dec 1759 

U DDBH/12/55 Abstract. U DDBH/12/54 

1 item 
 

c.1759 

U DDBH/12/56 Settlement as U DDBH/12/15 

1 item 
 

18-19 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/12/57 Settlement as U DDBH/12/16 

1 item 
 

20-21 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/12/58 Mortgage 

For £500: Reverend Hewley Baines of Bell Hall; John 
Baines of Whitby surgeon and apothecary and Henry 
Masterman formerly of the Middle Temple now of York 
esquire to Peter Johnson of York esquire. Bell Hall 
with estate there and at Acaster Malbis (as U 
DDBH/12/5). 
1 item 
 

22 Nov 1768 

U DDBH/12/59 Extinguishment of Mortgage Term as U DDBH/12/58 

Peter Johnson to Reverend Hewley Baines and his 
eldest son Hewley John Baines. 
1 item 
 

3 Jul 1786 
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U DDBH/12/60 Account. Sheep and lambs bought and sold by H. J. 
Baines 

1 item 
 

14 Oct 1819 

U DDBH/12/61 Survey. Smallwoods Farm and other lands 

1 item 
 

c.1830 

U DDBH/12/62 Account. Rebuilding Naburn Church 

1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/12/63 Agreements. Tenancies on Bell Hall estate 

1 bundle 
 

1874 

U DDBH/12/64 List. Incumbents of Naburn (1475-1878) 
1 item 
 

c.1878 

U DDBH/12/65 Note on Reader family, ferrymen at Naburn 

1 item 
 

late 19th cent. 

U DDBH/12/66 Agreement. Richard Aclom of Moreby esquire and 
Brian Palmes of Naburn esquire 

a) R. A. to convey to B. P.: seven messuages, four 
mease-steads or tofts, 35ac. arable, and 3ac.1r. 
meadow. Also a moiety of two messuages, and lands 
sometime in tenure of Wylliam Tankard and Thomas 
Cowper, of which R. A. is tenant by curtesy if his son 
Rawfe, heir to his late wife Margaret, will agree on 
coming of age. All in Naburn. 
b) B. P. to convey to R. A.: 44ac. in seven closes on S. 
side of Naburn Wood; 18ac. lying between a close of 
R. A. called Nether Elde on N., and moor and waste of 
B. P. called Byrker Bushes on the S.; and 3ac.1r. 
meadow in the South Eynges of Naburn. 
c) Lands as U DDBH/12/66b being of 44s. lesser value 
than those as U DDBH/12/66a, B. P. to recompense R. 
A. with lands in other places, paying him rent 
meanwhile. 
d) B. P. to grant R. A. common in two moors between 
Naburn and Deighton (one lying between the Ground 
Riddyng and the South Wood; the other between 
Byrker and the Nethereld) for 12 cattle, male or 
female, over two years of age, seven horses or mares, 
60 sheep and six swine, with their offspring up to the 
age of six months. 
e) B. P. to cause William Chapman of Naburn to 
convey 10ac. in Gileriddyng to R. A. 
f) Sir Guy Fairfax to act as referee. 
1 bundle 
 

30 Sep 1486 
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U DDBH/12/67 Bargain and Sale 

For £50: John Acclome of Moreby esquire to John 
North alderman and tanner of York. 44ac. in the fields 
of Naburn, in six (formerly seven) closes, on the S. 
side of Nayburne Wodd on one side, and the lordship 
of Moreby on the other, and in length from close called 
Byrker to Nayburn Fields, now in tenure of Stephan 
Palmes gentleman: J. A. bound in a Statute Merchant 
in £100 for performance. 
1 item 
 

8 Dec 1543 

U DDBH/12/68 Statute Merchant  
Referred to in U DDBH/12/67. 
1 item 
 

8 Dec 1543 

U DDBH/12/69 Feoffment 
Parties and property as U DDBH/12/67. Power of 
attorney to John Emondson and Robert Porter to 
deliver seisin. Endorsement of livery of seisin. 
Witnesses Richard Goldthorp, Geoffrey Fodgill, 
William Bo[wer?], John Troughton of York, John 
Mathoo, Robert Aklam, George Syddall, Guy Purdon, 
John Hill, John Colson (29 Dec 1543). 
1 item 
 

10 Dec 1543 

U DDBH/12/70 Quitclaim  
Parties and property as U DDBH/12/67. 
1 item 
 

15 Dec 1543 

U DDBH/12/71 Marriage Settlement 
Richard North merchant and Richard Bell gentleman 
both of York: prior to marriage of R. B. and Jane eldest 
daughter of R. N. Six closes (47ac. as U 
DDBH/12/67?) now or late in tenure of Richard 
Graveson of Naburne. 
1 item 
 

18 Jan 1566 

U DDBH/12/72 Feoffment 
Parties and property as U DDBH/12/71. Power of 
attorney to James Byrkby gentleman and Robert 
Drewrey vintner to deliver seisin. Witnesses Edmund 
and Thomas Fale, Robert Beckwith, Wyllm. Slyne, 
John Hedwyn, John Raper, Willm. Gowland. 
Endorsement of livery of seisin and attornment. 
Witnesses Robert and Peter Newark gentlemen, 
Nicholas Valentyne tanner, George Lawson yeoman, 
John Langdale yeoman (15 Feb 1565/66). 
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1566 
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U DDBH/12/73 Final Concord 

For £140: Leonard Hall merchant plaintiff and Roger 
Cholmeley esquire and wife Jane deforceants. 10ac. 
land, 50ac. meadow and 150ac. pasture in Stearesby. 
1 item 
 

[14 Jun 1568] 

U DDBH/12/74 Final Concord 

For £140: Leonard Hall merchant plaintiff and Roger 
Cholmeley esquire and wife Jane deforceants. 10ac. 
land, 50ac. meadow and 150ac. pasture in Stearesby. 
1 item 
 

[14 Jun 1568] 

U DDBH/12/75 Final Concord 

For £140: Richard Bell gentleman plaintiff and Charles 
Hoskyns and wife Ann deforceants. As U DDBH/12/73. 
1 item 
 

[15 Jun 1579] 

U DDBH/12/76 Bond 

In £40: William Swaill of Northringes gentleman to 
Richard Bell of York gentleman. For performance of 
covenants of deed of same date: Witnesses Wyllyam 
Bell, Humfray Blenkcarne, Bartlemew Tong, Willm. 
Tattersall. 
1 item 
 

10 Apr 1579 

U DDBH/12/77 Covenant to levy a Fine 

Peter Newark of Acam esquire to James Birkbie of 
York gentleman. Eight closes (formerly six closes and 
previously seven closes. 70ac.) As U DDBH/12/71? in 
Naburn: To use of R. B. and wife Jane. Witnesses 
Edward Truslove, J. Bell, Wyllm. Rawnsonn. Seal of R. 
B., a bell. 
1 item 
 

23 Jul 1585 

U DDBH/12/78 Covenant to levy a Fine 

Peter Newark of Acam esquire to James Birkbie of 
York gentleman. Eight closes (formerly six closes and 
previously seven closes. 70ac.) As U DDBH/12/71? in 
Naburn: To use of R. B. and wife Jane. Witnesses 
Edward Truslove, J. Bell, Wyllm. Rawnsonn. Seal of R. 
B., a bell. 
1 item 
 

23 Jul 1585 

U DDBH/12/79 Final Concord 

For 130 marks: Peter Newarke esquire and James 
Byrkbye gentleman plaintiffs and Richard Bell 
gentleman deforceant. Messuage, cottage, garden, 
20ac. land, 20ac. meadow and 30ac. pasture. 
1 item 
 

[6 Oct 1585] 
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U DDBH/12/80 Exemplification of Final Concord  
As U DDBH/12/79. 
1 item 
 

[9 Oct 1585] 

U DDBH/12/81 Feoffment 
Richard Bell gentleman and his wife Joan to John 
Stephenson, Wilstrop Precyous and John Bell all of 
York. Messuage and six closes divided into seven 
(47ac.): Witnesses Wyllm. Ravensonn, Willm. 
Tattersall, Edward Pulleyn, Henry Dixon. 
1 item 
 

31 Dec 1588 

U DDBH/12/82 Feoffment 
John Stephenson, Wilstrop Precyous and John Bell to 
Anthony Teale, John Darley, Robert Blackaller and 
Henry Gillinge gentlemen all of York. As U 
DDBH/12/81: Power of attorney to Edward Pulleyn and 
Henry Dixson to deliver seisin. Witnesses Anthony 
Foster, William Tattersall, Willm. Man. Endorsement of 
livery of seisin. Witnesses Rich. Parker, Rauf Robson, 
Henrye Dixon (7 Jan 1588/89). 
1 item 
 

6 Jan 1589 

U DDBH/12/83 Feoffment 
Anthony Teal, John Darley, Robert Blackaller and 
Henry Gilling, as U DDBH/12/82, to Thomas 
Bennborough of Howsam esquire, Richard North of 
London merchant and William Rawnsonne of York 
goldsmith. As U DDBH/12/81: Power of attorney to 
William Tattarsall and Thomas Guy to deliver seisin. 
Witnesses Tho. Guy, Willm. Tattersall, John Bell. 
Endorsement of livery of seisin.  Witness Raufe 
Robson (24 Jan 1588/89). 
1 item 
 

15 Jan 1589 

U DDBH/12/84 Bond 

In £300: John Aclam of Moorebye Hall esquire to 
Richard Bell of York gentleman. To abide by award of 
Peter Ross of Laxton, Nottinghamshire, Christopher 
Vavasour of Hesslewood, William Payler and Thomas 
Buskell of York, esquires, concerning the title to a 
messuage and 44ac. in six (formerly seven) closes (as 
U DDBH/12/81?) on S. side of, and between, Naburne 
Wood and lordship of Moorebye, and in length 
between a close called Birker and Naburn Fields: 
Witnesses Peter Roos, Wm. Payler, Christofer 
Vavasour, Tho. Buskell, Cutbert Fayrefax, Henrye 
Acclome. 
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1590 
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U DDBH/12/85 Award 

As referred to in U DDBH/12/84. John Acclam to 
execute a conveyance of the premises to R. B. and 
wife Jane, for £40 payable in four specified 
instalments: Witnesses Cutbert Fayrfax, Henry 
Acclom, John Spence. Seal, armorial, of T. B. 
1 item 
 

9 Jan 1590 

U DDBH/12/86 Bargain and Sale 

Further to U DDBH/12/85. John Acclome to Richard 
and Jane Bell. Recites that the dispute over title 
stemmed from U DDBH/12/67. Witnesses Ro. 
Waterhous, Cutbert Fayrefax, Ric. Fearnley, William 
Fenay, Tho. Walshey. 
1 item 
 

18 Jan 1590 

U DDBH/12/87 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £80: Richard Bell gentleman and wife Jane 
plaintiffs and John Acclome esquire deforceant. 
Messuage and garden, 20ac. land, 20ac. meadow and 
30ac. pasture in Naburne (3 May 1590). 
1 item 
 

6 May 1590 

U DDBH/12/88 Receipt from John Acclom  
For £10 paid by Richard Bell. Being the final instalment 
of £40 payable further to U DDBH/12/85. Witnesses 
Willm. Barton clerk, Willyam Hagg, Willm. Grenopp the 
younger. 
1 item 
 

25 Dec 1591 

U DDBH/12/89 Marriage Settlement 
Richard Bell esquire to William Lamplughe gentleman 
both of York: further to marriage of R. B. and wife 
Katherine. Messuage, garden, orchard, barn, close 
(formerly seven closes. 60ac.) in Naborne. Messuage 
lately built out of an old house, 'a backe house' 
adjoining and 170ac. called Foulrice in Bransby: 
Witnesses George Lamplugh, Isaac Havelock, John 
Gamble, Richard Hill. Seal, armorial, of R. B. 
1 item 
 

24 Oct 1614 

U DDBH/12/90 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £120: William Lamplugh gentleman plaintiff and 
Richard Bell esquire deforceant. Two messuages, 
cottage, barn, two gardens, orchard, 20ac. land, 50ac. 
meadow and 170ac. pasture in Naborne, Bransby and 
Steresby (6 Oct 1614). 
1 item 
 

10 Oct 1614 
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U DDBH/12/91 Writ to sheriff of Yorkshire  
To levy a Statute Merchant in £600 by which Ralph 
Marston of Edlington and Peter Gill of Preston in 
Holderness are bound to William Lamplugh of York 
gentleman. 
1 item 
 

25 Jun 1618 

U DDBH/12/92 Bargain and Sale 

Sir William Acclom of Moreby Hall to Sir Gwy Palmes 
of Lingley. All his lands in Dighton and Naborne and 
parsishes Eskricke and Akaster called William 
Readinges, Nell Readinges, the Birker, a close 
adjoining Mooreby Bridge, and a close of wood (20ac.) 
in the manor of Mooreby Hall called Farther 
Dobreadinges, and containing 170ac. in all: Witnesses 
J. Hoskyns, Wm. Taylor, John Bate, William Prichard. 
Seal of G. P. 
1 item 
 

6 Nov 1619 

U DDBH/12/93 Bargain and Sale 

For £350: Sir Guy Palmes and Sir William Acclom, as 
U DDBH/12/92, to Richard Bell of York esquire and 
wife Katherine. Close of meadow and pasture called 
Birker (60ac.) in Naborne and Dighton: Witnesses 
Edw. Payler, John Bate, Isaac Havelock, John 
Dighton, Thomas Smith. Seals, armorial, of G. P. and 
W. A. 
1 item 
 

8 Nov 1620 

U DDBH/12/94 Feoffment 
Parties and property as U DDBH/12/93. Power of 
attorney to Francis Poole and William Lamplugh of 
York gentlemen to deliver seisin. Witnesses Edw. 
Payler, John Bate. Seals as U DDBH/12/93. 
Endorsement of livery of seisin. Witnesses Edw. 
Wood, Willm. Scruton, Willm. Thompson, John 
Shipperd (20 Dec 1620). 
1 item 
 

17 Nov 1620 
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U DDBH/12/95 Inquisition post mortem. Richard Bell of York esquire 

Messuage, garden, orchard, barn, close (sometime in 
seven closes. 60ac.) in Naborne; and messuage and 
170ac. in Bransby, as U DDBH/12/89. Close called 
Birker, as in U DDBH/12/93, in Naborne and Dighton: 
Died 7 Oct 1617. Widow living in York. Heirs being 
sister Anne widow of William Haddlesey gentleman 
(aged 72); sister Jane Greenbury widow (aged 40); 
niece Faith, wife of Reverend Matthew Levitt and 
daughter of sister Mary Tattersall, (aged 40); niece 
Susan wife of Matthew Hutton gentleman and 
daughter of sister Susan Hill (aged 38); and nephew 
John (Corance) son of sister Katherine C. (aged 24). 
Seal, armorial, of Thomas Hutton escheator. Taken at 
York Castle. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1618 

U DDBH/12/96 Copy. Final Concord 

For £60: Reverend Matthew Levett and Edward 
Saltmarshe gentleman plaintiffs and William 
Haddlesey and wife Ann deforceants. A fifth part of two 
messuages, two barns, two stables, two gardens, two 
orchards, 50ac. land, 20ac. meadow, 100ac. pasture 
and 6ac. wood in Naborne, Mooreby, Dighton and 
Foulrice. 
1 item 
 

19 Apr 1640 

U DDBH/12/97 Exemplification of Final Concord  
As U DDBH/12/96. 
1 item 
 

20 Apr 1659 

U DDBH/12/98 Bargain and Sale 

For £225: John Currance of London esquire to Richard 
Levett of Naborne gentleman. His share of messuages 
and lands in Escricke, Dighton, and Naborne in tenure 
of R. L. and in Stearesby (called Foulrice): Witnesses 
Ri. Bell, Christo. Jaques, Edward Oresby. 
1 item 
 

23 Nov 1650 

U DDBH/12/99 Bargain and Sale 

Richard Bell of York merchant to Richard Levitt of 
Naburne gentleman. The fifth part of a messuage and 
lands in Naborne, inherited by Dame Jane Greenebury 
as one of heirs of Richard Bell of York esquire (as in U 
DDBH/12/95): Recites conveyances from her to R. B. 
(29 Jan 1641/42); and from Richard and Jane 
Saltmarshe to R. B., Robert Bell now deceased, and 
John Breares (5 Apr 1648); and quitclaim, from John 
Breares to R. B. (13 May 1648). Witnesses Tho. and 
Lewis D'Arcy, Francis Smyth. 
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1651 
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U DDBH/12/100 Bargain and Sale 

For £250: Sir George Palmes of Nabourne, his son 
and heir William P. esquire, John Constable of York 
gentleman, Thomas Armstrong and Tristram Gray of 
Nabourne yeomen to Richard Levett of Nabourne 
gentleman. Close called the East End of Nabourne 
Great Wood: Witnesses William Constable, George 
Morton, John Raper. Endorsement of livery of seisin. 
Witnesses Ri. Bell, Geo. Wiley, Willm. Armestronge, 
Willm. Gray, Willm. Bovill (6 Mar 1653/54). 
1 item 
 

13 Oct 1653 

U DDBH/12/101 Bond. Performance of covenants of U DDBH/12/100 

1 item 
 

13 Oct 1653 

U DDBH/12/102 Demise  
For 999 years: at £8 rent: for £600: Parties as U 
DDBH/12/100. The West End of Nabourne Great 
Wood (50ac.): Witnesses as U DDBH/12/100. 
1 item 
 

13 Oct 1653 

U DDBH/12/103 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/102 

1 item 
 

c.1653 

U DDBH/12/104 Bond. Performance of covenants of U DDBH/12/102-
103 

1 item 
 

c.1653 

U DDBH/12/105 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

John Atkinson gentleman, Tristram Gray and Thomas 
Armestrong plaintiffs and Henry Thomson alderman 
and William Palmes esquire deforceants. 200ac. wood 
in Naborne. 
1 item 
 

18 Jan 1653 

U DDBH/12/106 Bargain and Sale 

For £50: Sir George and William Palmes, as U 
DDBH/12/100, to William Rogers merchant and 
William Wyvell mercer both of York. Close (4ac.) 
inclosed from W. end of Naborne Wood, with a fold 
garth adjoining, and parcels on which an ox-house, 
brewhouse and barn stand appertaining to the capital 
messuage there heretofore the inheritance of Richard 
Bell; and a long screed of ground extending from the 
said close to a yeate leading into Naburne Feild: 
Witnesses James Brearey, John Ellerker, Henry 
Pearson, Henrie Cundall. 
1 item 
 

13 Oct 1649 
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U DDBH/12/107 Bargain and Sale 

'For ..... the trust in them reposed': William Wyvell and 
William Rogers, as U DDBH/12/106, to Richard Levitt, 
as U DDBH/12/100. As U DDBH/12/106: Witnesses 
Edward Mascall, John Pannitt, John Ellerker, Tho. 
Armstrong, Tho. Charter, Robert Sprouston. 
1 item 
 

19 Dec 1655 

U DDBH/12/108 Letter of Attorney. William Rogers and William Wyvell 
to Henry Cundall of Naburne yeoman 

To deliver seisin further to U DDBH/12/107. 
1 item 
 

19 Dec 1655 

U DDBH/12/109 Copy. Final Concord 

For £240: George Rhodes plaintiff and Richard Levett 
gentleman deforceant. Messuage, barn, garden, 
orchard, 20ac. land, 20ac. meadow, 200ac. pasture 
and 100ac. wood in Naborne. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov 1656 

U DDBH/12/110 Assignment 
At £6 rent: John Constable merchant, John Smith 
attorney, both of York, George Wyley yeoman and 
William Palmes esquire, both of Naburne to George 
Rodes of Lotherton and William Plaxton of Wressell 
gentlemen. Close of wood (30ac.) abutting on W. on 
close called the West end of Naburne Great Wood, 
and on E. on Naburne Wood: Recites lease of the 
premises for 20 years 11 months 27 days from death 
of Sir George Palmes, father of W. P., from Francis 
Palmes of Ashwell, Rutland, esquire, Joseph 
Micklethwaite of York esquire and John Rushworth of 
Lincolns Inn esquire (with consent and direction of W. 
P.) to J. C., J. S. and G. W. (13 May 1657). Witnesses 
Matthew Bland, Charles Butteux, Willm. Boyes. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1657 

U DDBH/12/111 Assignment  
Similar to U DDBH/12/110: Parties as U DDBH/12/110. 
Great and small tithes on close as U DDBH/12/110; on 
close and screed as U DDBH/12/106; on close as U 
DDBH/12/102; and on close as U DDBH/12/100: 
Witnesses John Ryther, Peter Constable, W. 
Richardson. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1657 
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U DDBH/12/112 Demise 

For 1000 years at 4d. rent: for £50: William Palmes of 
Naburn esquire to Richard Levett of Bell Hall 
gentleman. Great and small tithes as U DDBH/12/111: 
Witnesses as U DDBH/12/111. 
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1657 

U DDBH/12/113 Demise 

For 1000 years at £6 rent: for £760: William Palmes to 
Richard Levitt, both as U DDBH/12/112. Close as U 
DDBH/12/110: Witnesses as U DDBH/12/110. 
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1657 

U DDBH/12/114 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/113 

1 item 
 

c.1657 

U DDBH/12/115 Mortgage 

For £500: Richard Levett (son and heir of Reverend 
Matthew L., late Dean of Ripon, and his wife Faith, 
only daughter of Mary Tattershall, a sister and co-heir 
of Richard Bell as U DDBH/12/96) to Robert Wolrych 
of Greys Inn esquire. Close called Birker (60ac.). All 
messuages and lands of Richard Bell in Escrick, 
Deighton and Naburn, in tenure of R. L. All messuages 
and lands in Stearesby called Foulrice. 44ac. in six 
(formerly seven) closes in Naburn, as U DDBH/12/84. 
Capital messuage and other buildings, and closes 
called East and West Ends of Naburn Great Wood: 
Witnesses Tho. Porter, James Wightman, S. Swale. 
1 item 
 

26 May 1659 

U DDBH/12/116 Affidavit by Richard Levett 
That premises as U DDBH/12/115 are of £70 clear 
yearly value and unencumbered. 
1 item 
 

28 May 1659 

U DDBH/12/117 Defeasance of a Statute Staple  
In £1000, of same date by which Richard Levett is 
bound to Robert Wolrych: conditional on performance 
of covenants of U DDBH/12/115: Witnesses Tho. 
Porter, James Wightman. 
1 item 
 

28 May 1659 

U DDBH/12/118 General Quitclaim 

Markham Haddlesay of South Duffeild gentleman to 
Richard Levett. Witnesses Lewis D'Arcy, Francis 
Wicliff, Cha. Saltmarsh, Hugh Leakeland. 
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1660 
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U DDBH/12/119 Bargain and Sale  
Markham Haddlesay, as U DDBH/12/118, son and heir 
of William H. deceased, son and heir of William H. 
senior deceased who married Ann, one of the five co-
heirs of Richard Bell, as U DDBH/12/95, to Richard 
Levitt of Naburne gentleman. His fifth part of Bell Hall 
and appurtenant buildings and lands, and of 
messuages and lands in Steersby called Foulerice: 
Witnesses as U DDBH/12/118. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1660 

U DDBH/12/120 Bargain and Sale 

William Claxton of Wimbledon, Surrey, gentleman and 
wife Jane, Rowland Steward of Cawton in Craven 
gentleman and wife Suzan, and Thomas Hamond of 
Dublin and wife Elizabeth (J. C., S. S. and E. H. being 
sisters and heirs of George Hutton, son of Suzan (wife 
of Matthew Hutton deceased) who was one of five co-
heirs of Richard Bell, as U DDBH/12/95) to Richard 
Levett. A fifth part of Bell Hall and appurtenant 
buildings and lands: Witnesses Lewis D'Arcy, G. 
Blanshard, Henry Aikeroyde, Daniell Dabbes, Henry 
Leeds, Robt. Dawe, Jo. Herbert, Rich. Favour. 
1 item 
 

2 May 1660 

U DDBH/12/121 Bond 

In £100: further to U DDBH/12/120: Rowland Steward 
to Richard Levett. R. S. to cause Thomas Hamond and 
wife Elizabeth to convey to R. L., within six months, 
their third part of a fifth part of the messuage and lands 
at Naburne. 
1 item 
 

2 May 1660 

U DDBH/12/122 Lease and Release and Assignment 
Richard Levett of Naburne and wife Alice to Thomas 
Thompson of parish Conystreet in York and Robert 
Waller of York gentlemen. Bell Hall with lands in 
Naburne, Escrick, Dighton, Mooreby, and Steersby. 
East End and West End of Naburne Great Wood: 
Witnesses Willm. Collinson, George Fisher. 
2 items 
 

28-29 Aug 1662 

U DDBH/12/123 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £100: Thomas Thompson and Robert Waller 
gentlemen plaintiffs and Richard Levett gentleman and 
wife Alice deforceants. Messuage, two barns, stable, 
two gardens, two orchards, 30ac. land, 30ac. meadow, 
30ac. pasture, 20ac. wood and 20ac. heath and furze 
in Naburne, Dighton, Escricke, Mooreby and Steersby 
(20 Oct 1662). 
1 item 
 

23 Oct 1662 
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U DDBH/12/124 Bargain and Sale, and Release  
For £224: William Palmes of Naburne esquire (son and 
heir of Sir George P. deceased), his wife Katherine, 
and son and heir William P. to Sir John Hewley of 
York. West End of Naburne Great Wood, close as U 
DDBH/12/110 and tithes as U DDBH/12/112: Recites 
Demises of the premises as U DDBH/12/102, U 
DDBH/12/112-113. Witnesses Will. Dyneley, Willm. 
Collington, Charles Butteux. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1663 

U DDBH/12/125 Assignment 
Sir John Hewley of Grays Inn to Nicholas Blackbeard 
gentleman and James Blackbeard milliner both of 
York. All interest of Sir J. H. in capital messuage in 
Naburne, and lands there and elsewhere in Yorkshire, 
of Richard Levett: Recites Statute Staple, as in U 
DDBH/12/117; and subsequent extent and liberate to 
Robert Wolrych; and that Sir J. H. married Sarah, only 
child of R. W., now deceased. In trust for Sir J. H. 
Witnesses John Clayton, John Davies, William 
Collinson. 
1 item 
 

16 May 1664 

U DDBH/12/126 Lease  
For 21 years at peppercorn rent: Richard Levett of 
Naburn gentleman to Thomas Croft of York esquire. 
Capital messuage in which R. L. lives, and all his lands 
in Naburne: As collateral security for T. C. who has 
joined with R. L. in a Bond in £100 to Anne Middleton 
of York widow, to secure payment of £50 to her. 
Witnesses John Rooke, John Ellerker. 
1 item 
 

14 Aug 1652 

U DDBH/12/127 Lease  
For 21 years: at 6d. rent: Richard Levett of Naburn to 
Francis Whelewright of York gentlemen. Three fifth 
parts of a capital messuage and lands in Naburn, 
Dighton and Eskrigge; West End and East End of 
Naburn Great Wood; close (30ac. as U DDBH/12/110); 
and tithes in Naburn: Subject to a recited lease, as U 
DDBH/12/132, to Francis Thorpe serjeant-at-law. 
Witnesses John Lister, John Yeates, Wm. Bowman, 
Simon Scott. 
1 item 
 

28 Sep 1657 
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U DDBH/12/128 Lease  
For 20 years: at rent of £20 a year for first 7 1/2 years 
of the term: Francis Whelewright to Richard Levitt. 
West End and East End of Naburn Great Wood; close 
(30ac. as U DDBH/12/110) and tithes in Naburn: 
Covenant for reconveyance at end of 7 1/2 years if all 
rent paid. Witnesses John Lister, John Yeates, Wm. 
Bowman, Simon Scott. 
1 item 
 

1 Oct 1657 

U DDBH/12/129 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/128 

1 item 
 

c.1657 

U DDBH/12/130 Assignment 
For £50: Olive, widow of Thomas Croft esquire to 
Francis Whelewright gentleman, all of York. Lease as 
U DDBH/12/126: Recites that the £50 mentioned in U 
DDBH/12/126 was not paid by Richard Levett to Anne 
Middleton; that O. C. was consequently sued and has 
paid; and accordingly is possessed of the term in the 
premises. Witnesses T. Thomson, John Cowltus, 
Thomas Harland. 
1 item 
 

17 May 1662 

U DDBH/12/131 Assignment 
Francis Whelewright and Richard Levett to Thomas 
Hesletine gentleman and John Hewley esquire of York: 
for £220 to F. W. by J. H. All interests of F. W. in 
capital messuage, closes and tithes at Naburn under U 
DDBH/12/126, U DDBH/12/127 and U DDBH/12/130: 
Witnesses Will. Wyvill, John Yeates, Will. Cowper, 
Geo. Fisher, Peter Dearelove. 
1 item 
 

25 Aug 1662 

U DDBH/12/132 Lease  
For 61 years: at 6d. rent: Richard Levett to Francis 
Thorpe, a Baron of the Exchequer, and his wife 
Elizabeth. Three fifth parts of Bell Hall, and of estate in 
Naborne, Eskrigge and Dighton: Witnesses F. 
Whelewright, Robert Twisleton, William Bulmer. 
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1653 

U DDBH/12/133 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/132 

1 item 
 

c.1653 
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U DDBH/12/134 Quitclaim 

Richard Levett to Francis Thorpe, as U DDBH/12/132. 
All errors in judgement obtained by F. T. against R. L. 
for £400 debt: Witnesses Ro. Barwicke, Rob. Waller, 
Fr. Whelewright, Nathaniel Barne (Baine?), John 
Yeates. 
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1653 

U DDBH/12/135 Lease  
For 60 years: Francis and Elizabeth Thorpe to Richard 
Levett: at rent of £60 for first seven years of the term. 
As U DDBH/12/132: Covenant for reconveyance at 
end of seven years if all rent paid.  Witnesses Francis 
Whelewright, Robert Twisleton, William Bulmer. 
1 item 
 

1 Dec 1653 

U DDBH/12/136 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/135 

1 item 
 

c.1653 

U DDBH/12/137 Assignment 
Francis Thorpe of Bardsey and Richard Levett of 
Naburne gentleman to Francis Brice innholder and 
John Hewley esquire of York. Three fifth parts of Bell 
Hall and estate, as U DDBH/12/132, and judgement for 
£400, as in U DDBH/12/134: Witnesses Ralph Thorpe, 
Willm. Hubberd, Willm. Collinson, Peter Dearelove, 
Geo. Fisher. 
1 item 
 

21 Aug 1662 

U DDBH/12/138 Mortgage 

For £300: Richard Levett to George Payler of Nune 
Mounckton esquire and Tempest Miller of London 
alderman. East End and West End of Naburne Great 
Wood; and three fifth parts of messuages and lands in 
Escrick, Dighton and Naburn: Witnesses Will. Raper, 
Will Ibson, Robt. Todd. 
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1654 

U DDBH/12/139 Bond. Performance of covenants of U DDBH/12/138 

1 item 
 

10 Mar 1654 

U DDBH/12/140 Assignment of mortgage  
As U DDBH/12/138 to Thomas Fairfax gentleman and 
John Hewley esquire both of York. Witnesses Francis 
Ewbank, William Collinson, Peter Dearelove, Geo. 
Fisher. 
1 item 
 

23 Aug 1662 
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U DDBH/12/141 Mortgage 

For £190: Richard Levitt to Markham Haddlesay as U 
DDBH/12/118. A fifth part of Bell Hall and estate, and 
of lands in Steersby called Foulrice (as U 
DDBH/12/118): Witnesses as U DDBH/12/118. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1659 

U DDBH/12/142 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/141 

1 item 
 

c.1659 

U DDBH/12/143 Agreement for assignment  
By Markham Haddlesay to Sir John Hewley of 
Naborne: of all estate of M. H. to property in Naborne, 
under Mortgage as U DDBH/12/141; and for securing 
title of lands in Foulrice to M. H. Witnesses George 
Blanshard, Katherin Gerard. Seal, armorial, of M. H. 
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1664 

U DDBH/12/144 Assignment 
For £180: further to U DDBH/12/143: Markham 
Haddlesay to Sir John Hewley and his trustee Richard 
Sowray of York gentleman: a fifth part of Bell Hall and 
estate in Naburn: Witnesses Ric. Blanshard, 
Christopher Rawdon, John Smith. 
1 item 
 

6 Aug 1664 

U DDBH/12/145 Lease  
For 999 years: at 1d. rent: Richard Levett of Naburn to 
Michael Pickering of Grays Inn and Toby Thurscros of 
York gentlemen. Bell Hall and appurtenant estate. 
Close called Birker in Naburne or Dighton: Witnesses 
Lewis D'Arcy, Arthur Squire, William Niskall, John 
Atkin, Daniell Dabbes, Daniell Crome. 
1 item 
 

14 Oct 1658 

U DDBH/12/146 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/145 

1 item 
 

c.1658 

U DDBH/12/147 Defeasance of U DDBH/12/145 

Conditional on payment of £110 on ensuing 29 Sep, 
and £20 yearly during life of Sutton Oglethorpe junior 
gentleman. 
1 item 
 

14 Oct 1658 

U DDBH/12/148 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/147 

1 item 
 

c.1658 
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U DDBH/12/149 Bond 

In £200: Richard Levett to Michael Pickering and Toby 
Thurscros: for payment of £200. With Letter of 
Attorney to confess judgement if failure be made in the 
payment (14 Oct 1658). 
1 item 
 

14 Oct 1658 

U DDBH/12/150 Draft. Judgement  
For recovery of £400 debt, further to U DDBH/12/149. 
1 item 
 

1658 

U DDBH/12/151 Agreement between parties as U DDBH/12/149  
That the Bond and Judgement, as U DDBH/12/149, 
relate only to the performance of the covenants of U 
DDBH/12/145-148. 
1 item 
 

14 Oct 1658 

U DDBH/12/152 Counterpart of DDBH/12/151 

1 item 
 

c.1658 

U DDBH/12/153 Assignment 
Michael Pickering, as U DDBH/12/145, and Sutton 
Oglethorpe junior of parish St Martins in the Fields to 
William Lister of York esquire as trustee for John 
Hewley of York esquire. Term as U DDBH/12/145: 
Recites that M. P. and Toby Thurscros, now deceased, 
acted as trustees for S. O.; that repayment, as U 
DDBH/12/147, was not made; and that a judgement 
was consequently recovered. Witnesses Martin 
Oglethorpe, William Collinson, Josiah Robinson. 
1 item 
 

22 Sep 1662 

U DDBH/12/154 Defeasance of a judgement  
For £1200 debt: Tristram Gray of Naburn yeoman to 
Richard Levett of Bell Hall esquire. Conditional on 
payment of £800 to Tristram Gray. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1657 

U DDBH/12/155 Assignment 
Tristram Gray, as U DDBH/12/154, to Robert 
Williamson senior of York goldsmith: judgement as U 
DDBH/12/154: Witnesses Tho. Fairfax, Tho. Raines, 
Robt. Williamson junior. 
1 item 
 

27 Sep 1662 
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U DDBH/12/156 Bargain and Sale 

For £390: William Palmes senior esquire and wife 
Katherine to Roger Gray senior all of Naburne. 
Messuage in which R. G. lives, with barn, garden, 
orchard, garth, 1ac. meadow in Little Inges, 3ac. 
meadow in the Marshe, 1/2ac. meadow in Broad 
Inges; closes called Izabell Riddinge, Crabb Tree Flatt 
alias Whin Close, and Great Acres; and 17ac.1r. 
arable in Southfield, Buskefield and Milne Field in 
Naburne: Endorsement of sealing and livery of seisin 
(20 Apr 1649). Witnesses William Throng, William Lee, 
Thomas Cirster, William Graye, George Graye. 
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1649 

U DDBH/12/157 Copy. U DDBH/12/156 

1 item 
 

c.1649 

U DDBH/12/158 Conveyance 

Robert Gray senior to his son Robert Gray junior both 
of Naburn: as U DDBH/12/157, except close called 
Great Acres: Witnesses Geo. Wiley, Richard Walls, 
Guy Burmbie. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1659 

U DDBH/12/159 Copy. U DDBH/12/158 

1 item 
 

c.1659 

U DDBH/12/160 Mortgage 

For £40: Roger Gray junior (R. G. senior deceased) to 
George Dickinson both of Naborne yeomen. 4ac. in 
the South Field abutting on Bell Hall; 3ac. meadow in 
the Marsh and 1/2ac. meadow in Broad Ings: 
Witnesses Leonard Robinson, Tho. Jackson, Jo. 
Smyth. 
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1672 

U DDBH/12/161 Counterpart of U DDBH/12/160 

1 item 
 

c.1672 

U DDBH/12/162 Bond. Performance of covenants of U DDBH/12/160 

1 item 
 

1 Jun 1672 

U DDBH/12/163 Bargain and Sale 

For £131: Roger Gray of Naborne yeoman and wife 
Margarett to Sir John Hewley of York and wife Dame 
Sarah. Flatt of land (4ac.) in the South Feild (orchard 
E.): Witnesses George Mathews, Thomas Summarton, 
George Dikinson. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1673 
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U DDBH/12/164 Mortgage 

For £50: Roger and Margaret Gray, as U 
DDBH/12/163, to John Wilson of York maltster. Close 
called Isabell Riddings and 1/2ac. meadow in Broade 
Ings: Witnesses George Bovill, Ralph Turner, Leonard 
Wilson. 
1 item 
 

14 Nov 1673 

U DDBH/12/165 Bond. Performance of covenants of U DDBH/12/164 

1 item 
 

14 Nov 1673 

U DDBH/12/166 Mortgage by Lease and Release 

For £50: Roger Gray of Naburn yeoman to Christopher 
Bayles of Bubwith gentleman. 6ac. in the Mill Field and 
5ac. in Busk Field: Witnesses Henry Idle, Edward 
Cade, Elizabeth Smith. 
2 items 
 

8-9 Feb 1677 

U DDBH/12/167 Bond. Performance of covenants of U DDBH/12/166 

1 item 
 

8-9 Feb 1677 

U DDBH/12/168 Assignment of Mortgage  
As U DDBH/12/50: John Wilson and Roger Gray to 
Peter Dawson of York gentleman in trust for Sir John 
Hewley. Witnesses Simon Scott, Wm. Harrison, James 
Cooke, Daniell Duffield. 
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1678 

U DDBH/12/169 Lease and Release 

For £53: Roger Gray and Christopher Bales, as U 
DDBH/12/166, to Peter Dawson, as U DDBH/12/168, 
in trust for Sir John Hewley. As U DDBH/12/166: 
Witnesses Henry Bayles, William Bovill, Daniell 
Duffeild. 
2 items 
 

28-29 Jan 1678 

U DDBH/12/170 Bargain and Sale 

For £188: Roger Gray and wife Margaret to Sir John 
Hewley and wife Dame Sarah. 6ac. in South Field; 
4ac. in Buskfeild; 2ac. in Milne Field; 3ac. meadow in 
the Marsh in the Miln Field with their tithes; close 
called Isabell Ridding (10ac. in 3 closes); and 1/2ac. in 
Broad Ings: Witnesses Peter Dawson, Timo. Hodgson, 
James Cooke, Daniell Duffeild, Robert Marshall, 
Thomas Bell, Robert Preston, Robert Marshall, Francis 
Dolfin. 
1 item 
 

1 Feb 1678 
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U DDBH/12/171 Bargain and Sale 

For £220.8s.: Roger Gray to Sir John Hewley and 
Dame Sarah. 1ac. in Milne Feild; 1ac. in South Field; 
1ac. in Busk Field; and 2ac. in New Field called Moor 
Piece: Witnesses Christopher Hutton, John Sowray, 
Peter Dawson, Richard Pickeringe. 
1 item 
 

6 Feb 1678 

U DDBH/12/172 Final Concord 

For £60: Sir John Hewley plaintiff and Roger Gray and 
wife Margaret deforceants. 20ac. land, 4ac. meadow 
and 28ac. pasture in Naburn 

1 item 
 

14 Apr 1678 

U DDBH/12/173 Final Concord 

For £60: Sir John Hewley plaintiff and Roger Gray and 
wife Margaret deforceants. 20ac. land, 4ac. meadow 
and 28ac. pasture in Naburn 

1 item 
 

14 Apr 1678 

U DDBH/12/174 Lease  
At 1d. rent: George Palmes of Naburn esquire to Sir 
John Hewley of York: for their lives. 1 1/2ac. in South 
Field:  Witnesses Peter Vavasour, Marma. Palmes, 
Tho. Simpson. Endorsed 'Exchange for some Acres in 
the Inges for some in the Feild att Gate'. 
1 item 
 

10 Sep 1694 

U DDBH/12/175 Warrant from Roger Gray to Peter Dawson, Robert 
Vescy or others  
To suffer a judgement in suit of debt in £15 brought 
against him by Sir John Hewley. Witnesses Thomas 
Simpson, Phillip Fidler, Samuel Siers. 
1 item 
 

19 Oct 1681 

U DDBH/12/176 Account. 'Moneys laid out for Bellhall & to bee payde' 
1 item 
 

post 1662 

U DDBH/12/177 Receipt for 15s. paid by Sir John Hewley 

For a post fine in respect of a licence to Thomas 
Thompson to concord with Richard Levett for a 
messuage, 30ac. land, 30ac. meadow and 30ac. 
pasture in Naborne, Deighton, Eskricke, Moorby and 
Scarsby (Michaelmas 1662). 
1 item 
 

1662 

U DDBH/12/178 Undertaking by George Blanshard to Sir John Hewley  
'To get the Statute acknowledged by Mr Levett to Mr 
Woolrich returned and fyled'. Witnesses Katherin 
Gerard. 
1 item 
 

4 Aug 1664 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 81 of 331 

U DDBH/12/179 Receipt  
For £20.16s.: Anthony Harland to Roger Gray. In full of 
execution by which the goods of R. G. were taken, at 
suit of Christopher Bayles. 
1 item 
 

14 Jan 1678 

U DDBH/12/180 Receipt  
For 10s.: Thomas Blanshard to Sir John Hewley of 
York. For a post fine of lands in Naborne bought from 
Roger Gray. 
1 item 
 

7 Sep 1678 

U DDBH/12/181 Deposition of Thomas Sumerton, aged 79 

Concerning a bank 'at Bell Hall' between Seventeen 
Acre Close belonging to Lady Hewley and wood 
belonging to George Palmes. Witnesses Timo. 
Hodgson, Jo. Wilkinson. 
1 item 
 

29 Sep 1702 

U DDBH/12/182 Letter from Jane Tyrwhitt 
A disputed annuity of £16 'out of Bell Hall'. Reference 
to son 'Scroppe Territt'. 
1 item 
 

17th cent. 

U DDBH/12/183 Details of 'landes at Naborn purchased of Rog. Gray'. 
1 item 
 

17th cent. 

U DDBH/12/184 List. Deeds (U DDBH/12) 
1 item 
 

 

c.1890 

U DDBH/13 Northolme (North Riding) 
1 item 
 

1737 

U DDBH/13/1 Agreement for Sale 

For £4200: Joseph Stillington of Kelfield esquire, on 
behalf of Henry Masterman, to Hewley Baines of Bell 
Hall esquire. Manor, estate and farm called North-holm 
or Nor-holm: Witnesses Alice Godfrey, Samll. 
Thornton. 
1 item 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7 Jul 1737 
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U DDBH/14 Ryther with Ozendyke (West Riding) 
2 items 
 

1557 

U DDBH/14/1 Lease  
For 21 years: at 24s. rent: Robert Aske of Ryther 
esquire to Henry Heworth of Ossindike husbandman. 
Messuage, garth and lands in Ossyndyke formerly in 
tenure of Richard Heworth father of H. H. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1557 

U DDBH/14/2 Pains laid in Ryther manor court 
1 bundle 
 

 

16th cent. 

U DDBH/15 Sherburn in Elmet (West Riding) 
7 items 
 

1693-1720 

U DDBH/15/1 Lease  
For a year: for 5s.: Richard Wynne esquire and wife 
Anne and John Baynes esquire and wife Dorothy 
(formerly Anne and Dorothy Hewley spinsters) to Sir 
John Hewley, all of York. Two closes pasture and one 
close meadow, called North Sweemans, with a house 
'thereupon buylded .... for the Keeper of the said close' 
(Cawood Lane S.; lordship of Fenton N.; Flight Ditch 
from Fenton 'through the lower fox of the said Lane' E.; 
common lane from North corner of Ress Park to 
Fenton: Recites lease from Archbishop of York to 
Anne and Dorothy Hewley (12 Dec 1691). To lead to a 
Release. Witnesses Nich. Suger, Wm. Tomlinson, 
John Welburne. 
1 item 
 

31 Oct 1693 

U DDBH/15/2 Lease  
For 9 years: at £35.15s. rent: Dorothy Baynes of York 
widow to James Backhouse of South Mitforth yeoman. 
Four closes called Swamonds, with house and barn, in 
Sherburne: Witnesses George, Eliz., and Margaret 
Wright, James Dawson. 
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1704 

U DDBH/15/3 Assignment of the lease from the Archbishop of York 
(as in U DDBH/15/1) 
John Conyers of York gentleman to Hewley Baynes of 
Bell Hall esquire. Recites that Anne Wynne and John 
Baynes (as U DDBH/15/1) are dead and that Dorothy 
Baynes has since married John Conyers. Witnesses 
Darcy Preston, W. Wigginor. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1720 
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U DDBH/15/4 Letter. John Conyers to Mr Preston  
Authorising him to recover the farm called North 
Swimmings near Bishopdike (in possession of James 
Bacchus), from Thomas Woodhouse, who extorted 'a 
pretended conveyance' from J. C. when he was a 
prisoner in custody at the suit of T. W.; and to deliver 
possession to Hewley Baynes. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1720 

U DDBH/15/5 Copy. Petition from Hewley Baines to Archbishop of 
York 

Asking him to intervene in claim of Mr Duffeild, vicar of 
Sherburn, to tithes of line from farm called Swemons. 
1 item 
 

c.1720 

U DDBH/15/6 Assignment of the lease from the Archbishop of York 
(as in U DDBH/15/1) 
For £63: Thomas Woodhouse of York painter stainer 
to Hewley Baynes. Witnesses as U DDBH/15/3. 
1 item 
 

28-29 Oct 1720 

U DDBH/15/7 Bond 

In £200: James Bacchus of North Sweamans yeoman 
to Hewley Baynes. For performance of covenants of 
lease of North Sweamans from H. B. to J. B.  
Witnesses Tho. Dickenson, Darcy Preston. 
1 item 
 

 

29 Oct 1720 

U DDBH/16 Sinderby (North Riding) 
1 item 
 

1809 

U DDBH/16/1 Tenancy Agreement 
At £200 rent: Executors of William Harrison of Ripon to 
Christopher Wells of Sinderby: farm with 127ac. at 
Sinderby: Witnesses John Tuke. 
1 item 
 

 

9 Dec 1809 

U DDBH/17 Stillingfleet (East Riding) 
1 item 
 

1773 

U DDBH/17/1 Abstract of Mortgage 

For £500: Reverend Hewley Baines to John Lund of 
Bootham in York and Timothy Mortimer of York 
gentlemen: newly built farmhouse and specified closes 
and land in Stillingfleet and Kelfield. 
1 item 
 

 

16 Dec 1773 
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U DDBH/18 Wigginton (North Riding) 
13 items 
 

1651-1847 

U DDBH/18/1 Bargain and Sale 

William Scot junior of York gentleman and Seth 
Lasinbye of Earswick yeoman to William Weddell of 
Earswick esquire. Manor of Wigginton with cottage, 
four closes meadow (called Little Breck Closes alias 
Old Breck Closes alias 2 East and 2 West Breck 
Closes) with specified rights of access, and 64 1/2ac. 
1/2r.: Witnesses Leonard Weddell, Will. Lazenbie, Will. 
Weddell, Will. Clarke, Will. Mason. 
1 item 
 

30 Dec 1651 

U DDBH/18/2 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £100: William Weddell esquire and Thomas 
Sharpe plaintiffs and Edward Lunde and wife Joane, 
John Barnard and wife Awdrey, Thomas Cooke 
gentleman and wife Elizabeth deforceants. Messuage, 
cottage, barn, garden, 38ac. land, 12ac. meadow and 
12ac. pasture in Wigginton, Huntington, Bradford and 
Horton.  
1 item 
 

20 Nov 1654 

U DDBH/18/3 Bargain and Sale 

John Plowman junior, son of Richard P. deceased, 
both of Wigginton to William Weddell senior of 
Earswick esquire. Close in the Breck feild, the North 
part of Lairefoote Hill Close, and the Moore Close near 
the Mill, in Wigginton: Witnesses Robt. Plowman, 
Alexander Lund, William Keeley, Seth Lasinbye, Leo. 
Weddell, Willm. Scott, Tho. Clarke, Thomas Stibin, 
Edward Plowman. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1662 

U DDBH/18/4 Final Concord 

For £460: Sir John Hewley and John Cuthbert esquire 
plaintiffs and Richard Wynne esquire and wife Anne 
and Dorothy Hewley spinster deforceants. Manor of 
Wigginton with three messuages, three cottages, 
100ac. land, 100ac. meadow, 100ac. pasture and 
300ac. heath and furze in Wigginton, Pickering and 
Wistow. 
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1692 
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U DDBH/18/5 Copy. Deed to declare uses of a fine  
i) Richard Dalton of Wigginton yeoman and wife Sarah, 
and 
ii) Gabriel Wilkinson of York jeweller, William Idle and 
John Skipwith of Bubwith yeomen:  messuage, garth 
and Kirkfeild Close in Wigginton. 3ac. in Hagg Close at 
Strensall: To use of R. D. Witnesses Jo. and Ed. 
Wilkinson, John Tate. 
1 item 
 

14 Jun 1715 

U DDBH/18/6 Mortgage 

For £2000: Reverend Hewley Baines of Bell Hall and 
wife Mary to Sarah Wade of York widow, William 
Maude of Downing Street, Westminster gentleman and 
William Webster late of Token House Yard, now of 
Walbroke, London merchant. Farmhouse with Breck 
Close, three pieces enclosed from the Common; Flatt 
Lands, Flatt Lands Wyths, Church Field Close, Bias 
Close, 5 Moor Closes adjoining Grundforth Street and 
Narrow Lane and 6 Layforth Hill or Townend Closes, 8 
Breck Closes, garth, and four inclosures made at the 
inclosure of the common, all in Wigginton: Witnesses 
Tim. Mortimer, Will. Walton, Theo. Davye Garencieres, 
Mary Lowe, Wm. Jameson. 
1 item 
 

23-24 Oct 1776 

U DDBH/18/7 Plan. Brecks Closes in Wigginton 

1 item 
 

1789 

U DDBH/18/8 Award of John Pemberton of York barrister  
Title to closes called Swang and [Hornsea?] Garth, 
and the Sandhole, in dispute between (i) Hewley John 
Baines, lord of the manor, and the constable and 
overseers of Wigginton, and (ii) Thomas Bellerby of 
Wigginton yeoman. 
1 item 
 

15 Jan 1820 

U DDBH/18/9 Lease 

At £150 rent: Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
to William Waterworth of Haxby yeoman and his surety 
John Reed of Stillington yeoman. Farm with 125ac. 
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1824 

U DDBH/18/10 Memorandum of Lease 

At £140 rent: to John Kendall of Whixley farmer. Farm 
with 115ac.3r.27p. 
1 item 
 

early 19th cent. 
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U DDBH/18/11 Draft. Particulars of Sale 

Manor; farm with 116ac.3r.29p.; farm with 
181ac.2r.33p.  
1 item 
 

25 Nov 1830 

U DDBH/18/12 Valuation of waygoing crop of corn on farm  
As U DDBH/18/9. 
1 item 
 

12 Aug 1831 

U DDBH/18/13 Survey. Lands of Hewley Mortimer Baines 

1 item 
 

 

Apr 1847 

U DDBH/19 Wistow and Cawood (West Riding) 
U DDBH/19/61-68 Surrenders and Admissions, and 
associated documents, in Cawood and Wistow 
manor courts. 
68 items or bundles 
 

1499-1889 

U DDBH/19/1 Gift 
Robert Smythe of Wystowe labourer to Thomas 
Robinson of Cawood glover. A toft builded in Wystowe 
in a place called Brademer (tofts of William Feld S. and 
of William Barker N.); with a butt of land on which it is 
built and another butt of land abutting on le 
Wodcardyke: Witnesses Amer Dobson of Wystowe, 
William Hollay of Cauwood, Randolph Rosyndalle, 
Roger Syme and Richard Thomson all of the same. 
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1518 

U DDBH/19/2 Bargain and Sale 

For £10: Robert Aske of Aghton and William Acclome 
of Mowerbye Hall esquires to John Elys of Bardsay 
gentleman. Reversion of a messuage, garth, 2ac. 
arable, and 1ac. meadow called Marryon Acar in the 
bottom of Haysteyfenne in Wystow, held by Gyles 
Ryther alias Cobham for life and in tenure of John 
Jackson: Witnesses Thomas Hillington gentleman, 
Thomas Holgate gentleman, Robt. Crake gentleman, 
Raffe Thornton, George Aske, George Chapman. 
Endorsement of enrolment before Sir Thomas 
Gargrave JP and Custos Rotulorum, and Stephen 
Brome, Clerk of the Peace, for the West Riding (4 Aug 
1562). 
1 item 
 

23 Jun 1562 
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U DDBH/19/3 Gift  
Edward Wodmerpole of Wodmerpole (Widmerpool, 
Nottinghamshire) esquire and his son William W. to 
William Smith of Cawood yeoman. 2ac. meadow in 
Litlesteade in Wistowe (1ac. butting on Littlesteade 
Well; and 1ac. butting on le Stockedyke); 1/2ac. and 
1r. butting on le Marshe Lane; and a butt, parcel of the 
2ac., butting on le Marshe Layne near le Yate there: 
Power of attorney to Edward Johnson of Wystowe to 
deliver seisin. Witnesses Richard Nooth clerk, William 
Harebred, Peter Marshall, William Vowden, James 
Montane, Lawrence Rossendall, William Bilbrough. 
Endorsement of livery of seisin. Witnesses James 
Montane, Philip Tewe, Antho. Snawdon, Tho. Watson, 
Robert Lightfote, Tho. Wilson, Stephen Cappes, 
Richard Rowdon, William Bilbroughe junior, Miles 
Bilbrough, Paul More, Miles Johnson, Roland 
Rossendall, Wilf. Hermitage. 
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1570 

U DDBH/19/4 Feoffment 
At 1d. rent: Nicholas Wilson gentleman to Thomas 
Howley yeoman both of Wistow. 1/2ac. 1/2r. in North 
Field of Wistow and three hemp-butts, which N. W. 
had of Roger Calverd son of Richard C. deceased: 
Witnesses Chr. Wigorne, Thomas Smythe, Thomas 
Hessay, Jo. Robynson (and, to livery of seisin, John 
Jackson). 
1 item 
 

13 Sep 1586 

U DDBH/19/5 Bond 

In £9: for peaceful possession of U DDBH/19/4. 
1 item 
 

13 Sep 1586 

U DDBH/19/6 Bond 

In £8: Robert Leake yeoman and wife Margaret to 
Simon Godsalf husbandman both of Wistowe. For 
peaceful possession of 1/2ac. in North Field of 
Wistowe: Witnesses Tho. Hewley, Henrye 
Chamberlain, Tho. Smythe, John Horseman, John 
Carter, Willm. Anbie. 
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1587 

U DDBH/19/7 Gift 
Miles Billbrowghe of London brewer to Walter Tetlawe 
of Wistowe yeoman: two butts arable in the North 
Field: Witnesses Thomas Feld, William Carlton, Henry 
Chamberlain. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1589 
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U DDBH/19/8 Gift 
Robert Armitage of Selby cooper and wife Agnes 
(daughter of William Woddall of Wistowe) to Thomas 
Hessey of Wistowe labourer. Toft recently builded in 
Bradmyer in Wistowe: Witnesses Thomas Hewley, 
Richard Horsman, Thomas Horsman, Nicholas 
Horsman junior, Richard Lambert. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1601 

U DDBH/19/9 Gift 
William Smythe to John Hewley both of Cawood 
yeomen. 2ac. in Littlesteade (i.e. 1ac. abutting on 
Littlesteade Well; 1r. abutting on Stockdyke; 3r. 
abutting on Marshe Laine): Witnesses Thomas 
Beverley, Willm. Hawke, Will. Horsmann, Alex. 
Pickeringe. 
1 item 
 

22 Jun 1611 

U DDBH/19/10 Gift 
Thomas Hessey of Wistow labourer to his son 
Thomas. Reversion of a toft in Wistowe near Bradmyer 
(as U DDBH/19/8): Witnesses Tho. Collingson, Alex. 
Pickeringe. 
1 item 
 

11 Mar 1613 

U DDBH/19/11 Bond:  
In £5: William Godsalf of Thorpe to Thomas G. of 
Wistow yeomen. For peaceful possession of 1/2ac. in 
North Field in Wistowe: Witnesses George Banes, 
Alex. Pickeringe, Willm. Godsalfe, Raphe Armyteage, 
George Crowle. 
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1614 

U DDBH/19/12 Receipt. An Hewly to her son-in-law John H. 
For 2s. received from him yearly since the death of her 
husband, Thomas H., for her right in certain freehold 
land in Wistow North Field: Witnesses Thomas 
Roumans, Willm. Moore. 
1 item 
 

26 Dec 1616 

U DDBH/19/13 Gift 
John Tetloe of Selby tanner and wife Joan and Ann 
Hewley of Wistow widow to John Hewley of Wistow 
yeoman. Two butts (1/2r.) in North Field of Wistow: 
Witnesses Willm. and George Hewley, Ja. Storke, 
Wm. Hewitson, Alex. Pickeringe. 
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1617 

U DDBH/19/14 Bond 

In £3: for peaceful possession of U DDBH/19/13. 
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1617 
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U DDBH/19/15 Gift 
Thomas Hessay of Wistow labourer and his son and 
heir Thomas H. of Hackney silkweaver to John Hewley 
of Wistow yeoman. Toft (as U DDBH/19/8): Witnesses 
Thomas Romans, Robert Leake, Laurence Thornton. 
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1619 

U DDBH/19/16 Bond 

In £16: Parties as U DDBH/19/15. For peaceful 
possession by J. H. of a freehold messuage (as U 
DDBH/19/15?) and a copyhold cottage in Wistow, 
without disturbance from T. H. father and wife 
Margaret; T. H. son and wife Phebe, and Robert 
Armitage and wife An. 
1 item 
 

13 Jul 1619 

U DDBH/19/17 Exemplification of a Final Concord 

For £60: William Smythe and William Moore plaintiffs 
and Robert Armitage and wife Agnes, Leonard Baynes 
and wife Katherine, and Robert Bee and wife Alice 
deforceants. Three messuages, three gardens and 2 
1/2ac. land in Wistowe, Cawood and Selbie: (30 Apr 
1620). 
1 item 
 

3 May 1620 

U DDBH/19/18 Bond 

In £10: Thomas Godsalfe weaver to John Hewley 
gentleman both of Wistow. For peaceful possession of 
1/2ac. arable in North Field in Wistow: Witnesses 
Thomas Roumans, William Hewlay. 
1 item 
 

20 Dec 1622 

U DDBH/19/19 Feoffment 
Parties as U DDBH/19/18. 1/2ac. in North Field in 
Wistow: Warranty against Robert Leake and wife 
Margaret. Witnesses Richard Crosdaile, George 
Hewley, R. Wilson, Laurence Thornton. 
1 item 
 

4 Jan 1623 

U DDBH/19/20 Gift 
John Beverley of Selby gentleman to John Hewley of 
Wistow yeoman. 1/2ac. in Cawood Flaggs, which 
descended to J. B. on death of John Beverley of Selby 
esquire. 
1 item 
 

10 Feb 1637 

U DDBH/19/21 Abstract of Title. Freehold estate in Wistow of 
Reverend Hewley Baines 

3ac. in two closes called the Sowleys; closes called 
Ciscrofte and Bradley Hill; two messuages and garth. 
1 item 
 

1652-1720 
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U DDBH/19/22 Covenant to levy a Fine 

Francis Wyvill of Spennythorne esquire and wife Anne 
(widow of Christopher Hewley of York gentleman) to 
Dorothy and Anne Hewley of York spinsters, daughters 
and heirs of C. H. Estates in York, Wiggington, Wistow 
and Pickering: Witnesses John Hewley, Edw. 
Hodgson, Geo. Fothergill. 
1 item 
 

21 Apr 1691 

U DDBH/19/23 Confirmation of a Mortgage  
For £900, by Surrender and Admission: Hewley Baines 
of Bell Hall esquire to Mary Pearson of York widow. 
Three cottages, 2 1/2 heads, a penny place, 17 1/2ac. 
of Penny Ing or Oxgang Ing and 72 1/2ac. of Penny 
Land or Oxgang Land; two penny places built in the 
West End, 6ac. called the Pighills, 2ac. at Hurne, 3 
1/2ac. at Rawhalls, 1ac.1r. at the Fleet, 1 1/2ac. at 
Wistow Lane, 3ac. lately Sturrs, 1ac.3r. at Woodside, 
2ac. at Wollay side penny land, 1r. in North Field, 2ac. 
'near the said house', 4ac. at Dogfleet, 3ac. at North 
Field Side, 2ac. called Fleet Close, 5ac. late Rawdens, 
and 1r. at Vicars Leas; all in Wistow: Witnesses Nich. 
Suger, Wm. Watkinson, D'arcy Preston. Endorsement 
of receipt for a further £150 on the Mortgage (making 
£1250 in all - a previous £200 having been received) 
(13 Jul 1720). 
1 item 
 

13 Jan 1719 

U DDBH/19/24 Bond 

In £52: Christopher Woodall of Messingham, 
Lincolnshire, yeoman to Hewley Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire. For peaceful possession of two third parts of a 
copyhold cottage in Wistow: Witnesses D'arcy 
Preston, John Caloner. 
1 item 
 

28 Jul 1721 

U DDBH/19/25 Agreement (not executed) by inhabitants, occupiers 
and landowners in Wistow  
To resist claims of James Smith of Cawood gentleman 
to tithes of herbage and agistment. 
1 item 
 

1747 

U DDBH/19/26 Inquisition post mortem. Cawood manor court: Hewley 
Baines of Bell Hall esquire 

Cock Closes (8ac.) with 2ac. late Mountains in 
Cawood: With Admission of Reverend Hewley Baines, 
his eldest son and heir. 
1 item 
 

15 Oct 1760 
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U DDBH/19/27 Agreement for Surrender. Wistow manor court 
For £405: Reverend Hewley Baines to Samuel Storr of 
Wistow gentleman. Close called Cawood Hagg (9ac.). 
1 item 
 

9 Apr 1774 

U DDBH/19/28 Agreement for Sale 

For £1000: Reverend Hewley Baines to William 
George Nicholson of Cawood gentleman. Two houses 
& 27ac.: Endorsed on manuscript Particulars of Sale 
(above premises and three houses in Sherburn Street 
in Cawood). 
1 item 
 

7 May 1774 

U DDBH/19/29 Particulars of lands purchased by James Ward of 
Wistow farmer 
Cawood Hagg, as U DDBH/19/27. 
1 item 
 

late 18th cent.-
early 19th cent. 

U DDBH/19/30 Notice. Bazaar in aid of Wistow Church Restoration 
Fund 

With notes on the church and restoration. 
1 item 
 

5-6 Aug 1889 

U DDBH/19/31 Instructions for procedure in manor court 
Manor court [of Wistow]. 
1 item 
 

early 16th cent 

U DDBH/19/32 Rental of customary lands  
With receipt for £8.7s.11 3/4d. paid to Christopher 
Chamberlain, beadle, by Dorothy Hewley for 
customary rents, defaults for non-appearance and 
fines of land. Endorsed on portion of Assignment at 
£13.10s. rent: Thomas Waide of C-ton in the county of 
the city of York husbandman to Thomas Collinson of 
Kelfield yeoman: moiety of tithes of corn, hay, wool 
and wood in Kelfield; of the tithe barn; of all meadow 
grounds; of tithe cocks; closes called Oggle Carre 
adjoining on Kelfield Moor and in parish Eskerke 
(Escrick), Hall Warme Close next unto Kelfield, the 
Flagges, and Bayneley next unto Gregory Gibton Little 
Bayneley; 1/2ac. in Long Landes; 1ac. in Rigge 
Shawes; 1ac. in North Field; 3r. in close called Robben 
Ridden; 1r. in garth of Thomas Collynson; parcel called 
the Headds alias Tentynge Grasse; a little land at 
Baneley Gate Ende; and three horsegates in Kelfield: 
Recites lease of whole of premises from William 
Brokden of York draper to T. W. for 21 years at £27 
rent (20 Apr 1574). Witnesses John Hodge, James 
Rigge, John Myers, William Foster (10 May 1574). 
1 item 
 

5 Nov 1631 
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U DDBH/19/33 Portion of [draft?] custumal of Cawood and Wistow 

1 item 
 

16th cent. 

U DDBH/19/34 Summary of evidence  
Relating to customs in Cawood and Wistow. 
1 item 
 

c.1565 

U DDBH/19/35 Bill of inhabitants. Cawood and Wistow  
Relating to customs claimed. 
1 item 
 

c.1565 

U DDBH/19/36 Orders of Council  
Relating to hearing of matters in controversy between 
Archbishop of York and inhabitants of Cawood and 
Wistow (9 Oct, 17 Nov 1565). 
2 items 
 

9 Oct-17 Nov 
1565 

U DDBH/19/37 Account of loads. Wood and hens payable by Wistow 
men 

1 item 
 

21 Nov 1608 

U DDBH/19/38 Summary of evidence  
Relating to customs in Cawood and Wistow. 
1 item 
 

1558-1603 

U DDBH/19/39 Receipt. Francis Rawson to Jo. Hewley of Wistow 

For £20 in part of £33, purchase money for a close at 
Woodsid. 
1 item 
 

17 Aug 1730 

U DDBH/19/40 Note. Breadth of every man's meadows in the dale in 
Maryonn Acres in the Haisteade Fenn 

1 item 
 

1616 

U DDBH/19/41 Depositions of witnesses  
Examined by Robert, Abbot of Selby, and Bryan 
Higdon, Dean of York. Responsibility of inhabitants of 
Wistow for maintenance of banks of River Ouse; and 
customary rents. 
1 bundle 
 

c.1537 

U DDBH/19/42 Receipt. John Wilson to Sir John Hewley 

For £14 purchase money for a copyhold house in 
Wistow. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1674 
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U DDBH/19/43 Inquisition post mortem. John Hewley of Wistoe 
gentleman 

Messuage called Jacksons, Hesseyes Garth, 2ac. two 
butts and 1r. in North Field, 1 1/2ac. meadow in close 
called Littlesteade, and 1ac. meadow called Marrian 
Acre in the Ings, all in Wistoe: Died 29 Oct 1630; son 
and heir John H. gentleman then aged 12. Widow 
Dorothy H. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1641 

U DDBH/19/44 Schedule. Mr Beckwith's writings (1606-1732)  
Received by William Haughton from Hewley Baines. 
1 item 
 

13 Apr 1736 

U DDBH/19/45 Abstract of Title. 'Cawood & Wistow Copyhold' 
1 item 
 

1658-1778 

U DDBH/19/46 Agreement for Sale 

For £145: John Needdum of Cawood to Hewley 
Baines of Bell Hall. Close called Ellicars (8ac.) in 
Wistow. 
1 item 
 

30 May 1720 

U DDBH/19/47 Bond 

In £200: William Watson of Killinghall yeoman and 
Robert Browne of Pannall yeoman to Hewley Baines of 
Bell Hall esquire. For performance of covenants of 
deed of same date between H. B. and W. W.: 
Witnesses Samuell Thornton, D'arcy Preston. 
1 item 
 

22 Feb 1723 

U DDBH/19/48 Account. Mr Stillington debtor to Mr Masterman 

[Money on loan]. 
1 item 
 

1737-1738 

U DDBH/19/49 Lawyer's accounts. Reverend Hewley Baines debtor to 
Timothy Mortimer 
Cawood and Wistow, Knaresborough Forest, 
Killinghall, Colliergate in York, Wigginton, Naburn, 
Stillingfleet. 
3 items 
 

1773-1778 

U DDBH/19/50 Agreement for Sale 

For £150: John Lund of Bootham gentleman (attorney 
on behalf of Reverend Hewley Baines), Hewley John 
Baines esquire eldest son of Reverend H. B., William 
Preston of Moreby Hall esquire and Timothy Mortimer 
of York gentleman (trustees for sale) to Peter 
Richardson of Wistow yeoman. Towery Hagg (4ac.3r.) 
in Wistow: Witness Michael Ellis. 
1 item 
 

10 Sep 1785 
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U DDBH/19/51 Bond 

In £100: Reverend Hewley Baines, late of Bell Hall, 
and Hewley John Baines both of York to Richard 
Goldsbrough of Etton and wife Ann. For payment of 
£100: Witnesses Jno. Lund, Wm. Jameson. 
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1784 

U DDBH/19/52 Lease and Release 

For 5s.: Tempest Millner citizen and woollendraper of 
London to John Hewley of York esquire and wife 
Sarah. 3ac. meadow in two closes called the Sowleys 
in Wistow: Witnesses John Kaye, John Huscrofts, 
Richard Smithson. 
2 items 
 

6-8 May 1652 

U DDBH/19/53 Bargain and Sale 

For £37: Ursula widow of Anthony Collinson of Wistow 
gentleman to John Hewley of York esquire and wife 
Sarah: close called Ciscrofte in Wistow: Witnesses 
William Hewley, Tho. Beverley. 
1 item 
 

6 Aug 1655 

U DDBH/19/54 Quitclaim 

For £5: Tempest Millner (lord of the manor of Wistow) 
to John Bewley both as U DDBH/19/52. Boon wood, 
hens and swine, tax payable from three messuages 
(one wasted) and three cottages (one wasted) in 
Wistow: Witnesses Tim. Squier, Will. Clark, Step. 
Topham. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1658 

U DDBH/19/55 Gift in Exchange. George Crowle of Hull alderman to 
Sir John Hewley of York  
Close called Bradley Hill (3r.) in Wistow (closes called 
Bradley Hill W. and Towry Hagge E.)  In exchange for 
a messuage and garth in Wistow: Witnesses Timothy 
Hodgson, Peter Dawson, James Cooke. 
1 item 
 

30 May 1677 

U DDBH/19/56 Counterpart of U DDBH/19/23 

1 item 
 

c.1719 

U DDBH/19/57 Demise at peppercorn rent 
For £10: John Conyers of York gentleman and wife 
Dorothy to Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire: for life 
of J. C. Messuage and garth in Wistow: Witnesses 
D'arcy Preston, Wm. Wiggmor junior. 
1 item 
 

29 Apr 1720 
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U DDBH/19/58 Bond 

In £126: Thomas Woodhouse senior painter stainer 
and T. W. junior fellmonger, both of York, to Hewley 
Baines of Bell Hall esquire. For performance of 
covenants of deed of same date: Witnesses as U 
DDBH/19/57. 
1 item 
 

29 Oct 1720 

U DDBH/19/59 Plan. 6 Cock Closes in Wistow and Cawood 

1 item 
 

7 May 1774 

U DDBH/19/60 Bond 

In £20,000: Hewley Mortimer Baines esquire to Mary 
Baines spinster, both of Bell Hall. For payment of 
£10,000. 
1 item 
 

23 Dec 1830 

U DDBH/19/61 File. (Cawood)  
Numbered 21 to 48. 
1 file 
 

2 Oct 1499- 
3 Mar 1619 

U DDBH/19/62 File. Similar to U DDBH/19/61 (Wistow) 
Numbered 49 to 98. 
1 file 
 

21 Jan 1506- 
10 Dec 1572 

U DDBH/19/63 File. Similar to U DDBH/19/61 (Wistow) 
Numbered 99 to 150. 
1 file 
 

11 Aug 1574- 
3 Apr 1594 

U DDBH/19/64 File. Similar to U DDBH/19/61 (Wistow) 
Numbered 151 to 200. 
1 file 
 

10 Apr 1594- 
14 Aug 1622 

U DDBH/19/65 File. Similar to U DDBH/19/61 (Wistow) 
Numbered 201 to 210. Includes depositions taken after 
death of John Hewley, as to disposition of his estate. 
1 file 
 

26 Jul 1626- 
30 Jun 1672 

U DDBH/19/66 File. Similar to U DDBH/19/61 (Wistow) 
Numbered 211 to 242. 
1 file 
 

30 Sep 1545- 
3 Mar 1669 

U DDBH/19/67 File. Similar to U DDBH/19/61 (Wistow, except one 
Cawood) 
Lettered 'A' to 'DD' (30). 
1 file 
 

25 Oct 1609- 
7 Aug 1689 

U DDBH/19/68 Bundle. (Wistow and Cawood) 
1 bundle 
 

 

20 Mar 1667- 
30 Aug 1786 
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U DDBH/20 York 

5 items 
 

1666-1873 

U DDBH/20/1 Receipt of John Waller 
For £124 from John Hardwicke of York. For interest 
and part of principal of a debt of his father, William H., 
secured on a house in Colliergate. 
1 item 
 

7 Feb 1666 

U DDBH/20/2 List. Fixtures at Fishergate House  
Purchased from Ambrose Walker esquire by W. M. 
Baines esquire. 
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1873 

U DDBH/20/3 List. Fixtures at Fishergate House  
Belonging to A. Walker (as U DDBH/20/2) and left for 
use of W. M. Baines. 
1 item 
 

[1873] 

U DDBH/20/4 Draft. Lease 

At £80 rent: Ambrose Walker of New Walk Terrace, 
York, gentleman to William Mortimer Baines of 
Fishergate House, York esquire. Mansion called 
Fishergate House and appurtenances (excluding 
stabling and stable yard) in the suburbs of York. 
1 item 
 

Apr 1873 

U DDBH/20/5 Copy. Lease  
As U DDBH/20/4, but at rent of £102.10s. p.a., and 
including stables. Schedule of fixtures. 
1 item 
 

 

16 Dec 1873 

U DDBH/21 Lincolnshire 

1 item 
 

1742 

U DDBH/21/1 Assignment 
For £10: John Conyers of Wigginton gentleman to 
Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire. Two leasehold 
tenements and lands in Lincolnshire, held of the 
Bishop of Lincoln: Witnesses Dorothy Rudd, Ed. 
Wilkinson. With Bond for performance of covenants. 
1 item 
 

 

3 Dec 1742 
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U DDBH/22 London (Robinson Family) 
U DDBH/22/1-9 A series of Bonds to the Crown, 
each from Richard Candler gentleman and a 
surety, for the faithful performance by R. C. of his 
office as one of the four tellers of the Exchequer.  
Witnesses are either Humfrey Shelton and his 
clerks John Knape and Nicholas Crafford, or Robt. 
Petre. All dated 16 Sep 1568. Amounts and sureties 
are as follows. 
43 items 
 

1568-1631 

U DDBH/22/1 Bond 

£200: Sir Henry Compton of Compton Uyniates, co. 
Warwick. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/2 Bond 

£200: John Gressham of London mercer. With Bond in 
50 marks: John Gresham of Fulham gentleman and 
William Maynerde of parish St Martin, Vintry Ward, 
London, mercer, to the Crown: for payment of £80 of 
debts of R. C. to the Crown on account of his office: 
Witnesses Arthur Galwey, [  ] de Morrant (22 Dec 
1574). 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/3 Bond 

£200: Sir John Thynne of [ ]glett, Wiltshire. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/4 Bond 

£100: William Heton of London merchant. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/5 Bond 

£100: William Villers of London stapler. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/6 Bond 

£100: Francis Carew of Bedington, Surrey esquire. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/7 Bond 

£100: Edward Cordell of London esquire. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/8 Bond 

£100: John Chapman of London grocer. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 
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U DDBH/22/9 Bond 

£100: Anthony Jenkynson of London gentleman. 
1 item 
 

16 Sep 1568 

U DDBH/22/10 General Quitclaim 

Sir Henry Compton, Lord Compton to Richard Candler 
citizen and mercer of London. Witnesses John Payne. 
1 item 
 

10 Dec 1578 

U DDBH/22/11 Fragment. Assignment of Lease 

Percyvall Hassell skinner and Rowland Wynter 
cordwainer citizens of London to Anthonye Morecrofte. 
Tenement in St Brides in Fleet Street. Tenement and 
brewhouse called the Rose:  References to Dean and 
Chapter of Rochester, John Appryse, Stephen Cockes, 
Thomas Smallman, John North citizen and brewer. 
1 item 
 

14 May 1583 

U DDBH/22/12 Fragment. Lease  
For 10 years: at £7 rent: Arthur Robinson to John 
Vanerpe: messuage. 
1 item 
 

16th cent. 

U DDBH/22/13 Quietus of Richard Candeler  
As a teller of the Exchequer. 
1 item 
 

1597 

U DDBH/22/14 Bond 

In 40s.: John Favell of Barfold Parva, Bedfordshire, 
yeoman to Arthur Robinson citizen and mercer of 
London. To deliver a buck to A. R.'s house in 
Busshopsgatestreete in London on 1 Aug ensuing. 
Witnesses William Jones senior. 
1 item 
 

1 May 1604 

U DDBH/22/15 General Quitclaim 

Anthony, Bishop of Chichester almoner to James I, 
and formerly to Elizabeth, to Henry, Arthur and William 
Robinson of London merchants. Recites forfeiture of 
goods of Thomas Larrance, which were given in alms 
to Robert Bromley citizen and draper of London, who 
commenced suits, now compounded, against the 
Robinsons for broad woollen cloths, kerseys and other 
goods of T. L. in their hands. 
1 item 
 

19 Jul 1604 
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U DDBH/22/16 Bond 

In £20: Danyell Larke of Coggeshalle clothier to Arthur 
Robinson as U DDBH/22/14, merchant of the staple. 
For payment of £10.18s.8d. at A. R.'s house (as in U 
DDBH/22/14) on 1 Mar ensuing: Witnesses William 
Jones senior, Richard Paine. 
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1605 

U DDBH/22/17 Bond 

In £230: George and Anthony Webbe of 
Raindgeworthie, Gloucestershire, and Christopher 
Neale of Alderly, Gloucestershire, clothiers to Arthur 
Robinson, as U DDBH/22/14. For payment of 
£119.14s.4d. at A. R.'s house (as in U DDBH/22/14) 
on 1 Oct ensuing: Witnesses William Jones senior. 
1 item 
 

18 Apr 1606 

U DDBH/22/18 Bond 

In £40: John Reary of Halstead, Essex, clothier to 
Arthur Robinson, as U DDBH/22/14. For payment of 
£21.12s. at A. R.'s house (as in U DDBH/22/14) on 16 
Apr ensuing: Witnesses Edward Goode senior. 
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1607 

U DDBH/22/19 Bond 

In £120: Robert Gibson of York and John Scisson 
(Syssonn) of Wetherbie gentlemen to Arthur Robinson, 
as U DDBH/22/14. For payment by R. G. and J. S. of 
£63 to George Foster at the house of George Lowe, 
merchant, in Lothbury on 9 Dec ensuing; for which 
payment A. R. has entered into a Bond as their surety: 
Witnesses John Plukenett notary public. 
1 item 
 

7 Jun 1608 

U DDBH/22/20 Letter of Attorney 

Thomas Walthall citizen and mercer of London 
(executor of William Walthall citizen and alderman of 
London) to Arthur Robinson, as U DDBH/22/14. To 
collect scheduled debts to W. W.: Witnesses Robert 
Holliland servant to Thomas Chapman, Francis 
Towers, John Walthall. 
1 item 
 

23 Sep 1608 

U DDBH/22/21 Counterpart of U DDBH/22/20 

1 item 
 

c.1608 
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U DDBH/22/22 Quitclaim 

For £5000: Arthur Robinson, as U DDBH/22/14, and 
wife Elizabeth (only daughter of William Walthall as U 
DDBH/22/20) to Thomas Walthall as U DDBH/22/20. 
All claims to estate of W. W. (except a nest of bowls, 
value £15; a third part of his linen, plate and household 
goods; and a legacy of £200 to Arthur Robinson, son 
of A. and E. R.). 
1 item 
 

23 Sep 1608 

U DDBH/22/23 Bond 

In £50: Robert Gibson of York gentleman and Arthur 
Robinson, as U DDBH/22/14, to Walter Bricken citizen 
and merchant tailor of London. For payment of £31: 
Witnesses John Plukenett. Seal, armorial, a chevron 
between three stags trippant (Robinson). 
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1610 

U DDBH/22/24 Bond 

In £100: Robert Gibson, as U DDBH/22/23, and his 
servant John Scisson to Arthur Robinson, as U 
DDBH/22/14. For payment by R. G. and J. S. of £31, 
as in U DDBH/22/23, to Walter Bricken at his house in 
Bishopesgatestreete on 9 Jul ensuing. 
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1610 

U DDBH/22/25 Letter of Attorney 

Thomas Walthall, as U DDBH/22/20, to Thomas 
Walthall of London gentleman, eldest son of William 
W. as U DDBH/22/20. To collect scheduled debts to 
W. W.: Witnesses Thomas Chapman scrivener, Arth. 
Nedham, Jo. Dowsse, Robert Holland servant to T. C. 
1 item 
 

30 Jul 1610 

U DDBH/22/26 Bond 

In £200: Thomas Walthall gentleman as U 
DDBH/22/24, to Thomas Walthall as U DDBH/22/20. 
For peaceful possession by Margaret widow of William 
Walthall (formerly Dame Margaret Goddard of London 
widow) of W. W.'s house at Hackney:  Reference to 
Luke, brother of T. W. gentleman. Witnesses as U 
DDBH/22/25. 
1 item 
 

30 Jul 1610 

U DDBH/22/27 Final Concord 

For £100: Arthur Robynson plaintiff and Robert 
Robynson and wife Martha deforceants. Five 
messuages in parish St Michael, Bashinghall alias 
Bassingshawe, alias Bassieshawe. 
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1611 
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U DDBH/22/28 Bargain and Sale 

For £1000: Robert Robinson citizen and mercer to 
Arthur Robinson citizen and mercer and wife Elizabeth, 
all of London. Messuage, two orchards, garden and 
two long slips of land with 6 1/2ac. meadow in 
Tottenham Marsh and parcels of meadow near Garbell 
Ditch in Broadmeade, all in Tottenham: Witnesses 
Humfrey Robinson, Robert Bankworth senior, and his 
servants John Bagshawe, Thomas Wayte and Anthony 
Anketill. 
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1611 

U DDBH/22/29 Bond 

In £55: Robert Pettell of Manningford, Wiltshire, 
clothier to Arthur Robinson as U DDBH/22/14. For 
payment of £27.10s. at A. R.'s house (as in U 
DDBH/22/14) on 10 Aug ensuing. 
1 item 
 

10 Apr 1612 

U DDBH/22/30 Precipimus to sheriff of Gloucestershire 

For arrest of Sir Edward Grevill and satisfaction of his 
debt of £3000 to Robert Robinson executor of John 
Robinson senior.  
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1613 

U DDBH/22/31 Acquittance 

Thomas Walthall gentleman as U DDBH/22/24 to his 
uncle Thomas Walthall as U DDBH/22/20: for 
£132.13s.5d.: Not executed. 
1 item 
 

3 Apr 1613 

U DDBH/22/32 Bond 

In £400: Katherine Watkin of Brackley, 
Northamptonshire, widow of Gifford Watkin of Molton 
Parke gentleman, to Arthur Robinson as U 
DDBH/22/14. For performance of covenants of Letter 
of Attorney, from her to him, of same date. 
1 item 
 

23 Jun 1613 

U DDBH/22/33 Bond 

In £20: Humphrey Thompson citizen and merchant 
tailor of London to Arthur Robinson, as U DDBH/22/14. 
For payment of £10 at house of A. R. in or near St 
Lawrence Lane, London, on 20 May 1616: Witnesses 
John Plukenett notary public and his servant John 
Davies. 
1 item 
 

19 May 1615 
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U DDBH/22/34 Letters of Administration 

Estate of Arthur Robinson junior of parish St Peter 
Cornhill, citizen of London, granted to his father Arthur 
Robinson; his brother Luke and sisters Elizabeth and 
Margaret being under age. 
1 bundle 
 

31 Jul 1617 

U DDBH/22/35 Lease  
For 21 years: at 40s. rent: for £149 fine: Arthur 
Robinson of Tottenham High Crosse, Middlesex, 
esquire to Thomas Haford citizen and haberdasher of 
London. Newly built messuage in parish St Michael 
Bassishawe: Witnesses Abra. Church, Robert Ryder. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1623 

U DDBH/22/36 Bargain and Sale 

Arthur Robinson as U DDBH/22/35 to Richard Wilcox 
citizen and haberdasher of London. All (specified) 
fixtures, trees and plants in or upon messuages and 
lands of A. R. in Tottenham High Crosse: Witnesses 
Geo. Scott, Arthur Lee, Henry Shelbery senior, James 
Smyth, William Ensor. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1623 

U DDBH/22/37 Quitclaim 

Thomas Walthall esquire, a son of William Walthall of 
London alderman deceased, to his brother-in-law 
Arthur Robinson esquire. All claims and actions arising 
from Will of W. W.: Witnesses William Ensor, John 
Harris, Robert Ryder. 
1 item 
 

27 May 1623 

U DDBH/22/38 Acquittance 

Anthony Baker of London apothecary, a son of Robert 
B. of Charte next Sutton, Kent, gentleman deceased, 
to Arthur Robinson esquire executor of Elizabeth 
Candeler of Tottenham widow. For £20 bequest under 
her Will: Witnesses Fra. Masse notary public, Ro. 
Barham, George Preston, Robt. Norton. 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1625 

U DDBH/22/39 Acquittance  
Similar to U DDBH/22/38, for £20, from Richard 
Browne citizen and 'imbrotherer' (embroiderer) of 
London and wife Margerie, one of the younger children 
of Richard Baker of parish St Giles Cripplegate 
gentleman deceased. Witnesses Fra. Mosse notary 
public and his servants John Townsend and Mathew 
Locke. 
1 item 
 

20 Sep 1628 
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U DDBH/22/40 Assignment 
For £1000: Sir Charles Cornewallis of Beeston, 
Norfolk, and Hamond Claxton of Gray's Inn esquire to 
Arthur Robinson of Dighton esquire. Wardship and 
marriage of Robert Jegon son and heir of John Jegon 
late Bishop of Norwich: Recites Grant by Jas. I to Sir 
C. C. (20 Jun 1621). Witnesses Rob. Jegon, John 
Browne, Samuell Swannicke. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1629 

U DDBH/22/41 Acquittance 

Similar to U DDBH/22/38: for £30: from Fardinando 
Baker son of Robert B. as U DDBH/22/39. Witnesses 
William Robinson, Edward Rayne, Richard Brown; and 
John Townsend, John Rolfe and Mathew Locke, 
servants to Francis Mosse. 
1 item 
 

27 Sep 1629 

U DDBH/22/42 General Quitclaim 

William Robinson citizen and merchant of London to 
Sir Arthur Robinson of Dighton. Witnesses Jo. 
Woodward notary, and his servants Fra. Shepard and 
Martin Dallison. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1631 

U DDBH/22/43 Quitclaim. Robert Jegon to Sir Arthur Robinson 

All claims and actions arising from Assignment as U 
DDBH/22/40: Witnesses Luke Robinson, Tho. Leman, 
Nicho. Arlush, Peter Braser, John Wilson. 
1 item 
 

 

13 Sep 1631 

U DDBH/23 Various Townships 

15 items 
 

1567-1912 

U DDBH/23/1 Quitclaim 

Margaret Saunder daughter of Sir Thomas Sanders to 
Robert Aske of Aughton esquire. All property in 
Thackoe, Dighton, Goodmadam and Westcotingwith, 
subject to a recited deed of 14 Jun 1567 between (i) R. 
A. and (ii) Francis M[oring?] junior and M. S.: 
Witnesses Robert Estofte. 
1 item 
 

17 Jun 1567 

U DDBH/23/2 Agreement for Sale 

For 100 guineas: John Conyers late of Oxenfeild, now 
of Blackwell, County Durham, and wife Dorothy to 
Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire. All estates of J. 
and D. C. in Wigginton, Pickering Lyth, Wistow and 
Bishopdyke: Witness Whayre Fawcett. 
1 item 
 

26 Sep 1719 
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U DDBH/23/3 Exemplification of a Common Recovery 

William Wharton esquire from John Thompson 
gentleman. Moiety of six messuages, 200ac. land, 
100ac. meadow and 200ac. pasture in Pannsheels 
alias Painsheels, Shotleyfield and Broomhill:  John Hall 
Stevenson and wife Ann vouched to warranty. 
1 item 
 

17 Jun 1741 

U DDBH/23/4 Final Concord 

For £460: Levyns Boldero gentleman plaintiff and 
Reverend Hewley Baines and wife Mary deforceants. 
Manor of Wigginton with six messuages, three 
cottages, three dovehouses, 300ac. land, 100ac. 
meadow, 250ac. pasture, 30ac. wood, 500ac. moor in 
Naburn, Acaster Malbis, Wigginton, Stillingfleet, 
Sherburn, Ripley, Goldsbrough and Aldbrough. 
1 item 
 

25 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/23/5 Rental 
Wistow, Stillingfleet, Bell Hall, Naburn, Wigginton, 
Pickering, Conisthorp, Killinghall, Ferensby, 
Knaresborough, York. 
1 item 
 

1760 

U DDBH/23/6 Particular of estates of which Hewley Baines died 
possessed 

Wigginton, Pickering Marishes, Scriven, Ferensby, 
Coneystrop, Killing Hall, Sherbourn, Wistow. 
1 item 
 

late 18th cent. 

U DDBH/23/7 Exemplification of Common Recovery 

Reverend Edward Place and Lionel Place esquire from 
Thomas Strangwayes gentleman. Manor of Green 
Hammerton, 16 messuages, four dovehouses, 20 
gardens, 230ac. land, 200ac. meadow, 320ac. 
pasture, 60ac. wood, and 100ac. moor in Green 
Hammerton, Lennerton, Sherburn and Milford: Thomas 
Place esquire vouched to warranty. 
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1769 

U DDBH/23/8 Valuation. Estates of Reverend Hewley Baines, to be 
sold 

Wigginton, Wistow, Cawood, Stillingfleet, Coneystrope, 
Ferrensby, Knaresborough and Scriven, Bilton, 
Killinghall, York (Colliergate). 
1 item 
 

1785 
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U DDBH/23/9 Exemplification of a Common Recovery 

Reverend James Brook from William Barton Borwick 
gentleman. Five messuages, two dovehouses, five 
gardens, 120ac. land, 70ac. meadow, 150ac. pasture 
and 30ac. wood in Bell Hall, Coneystrope, Ferrensby, 
Killinghall, Knaresborough, Scriven, Naburn, Acaster 
Malbis, Goldsbrough, Ripley and Aldbrough. 
1 item 
 

29 May 1786 

U DDBH/23/10 Certificate of Contract for redemption of Land Tax 

Three messuages and one cottage at Naburn. 
Messuage at Deighton. 
1 item 
 

Jun 1799 

U DDBH/23/11 Certificate of Contract for redemption of Land Tax 

Messuage and 137ac.; messuage and 150ac. at 
Wigginton. 
1 item 
 

Jun 1799 

U DDBH/23/12 Certificate of Contract for redemption of Land Tax 

Messuages and 580ac. at Deighton. 
1 item 
 

Jun 1803 

U DDBH/23/13 Certificate of Contract for redemption of Land Tax 

Land in Naburn. 
1 item 
 

Aug 1806 

U DDBH/23/14 Receipt  
For legacy of £10,000 under Will of Hewley John 
Baines of Bell Hall. Mary Baines, daughter of H. J. B., 
to Hewley Mortimer Baines, executor and heir of H. J. 
B. for Legacy Duty. 
1 item 
 

5 Aug 1830 

U DDBH/23/15 Draft Account. Personal estate of Hewley John Baines 

For Legacy Duty. 
1 item 
 

31 Aug 1830 

U DDBH/23/16 Rent book. Bell Hall, Wigginton, Wistow, Naburn, 
Deighton, York 

Includes tenants' names and details of rent paid. There 
are also loose notes and receipts within the volume. 
1 volume 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1784-1912 
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U DDBH/24 Accounts and Vouchers 

17 bundles or volumes 
 

1671-1883 

U DDBH/24/1 Original bundle. Lawyers' accounts  
Cases involving Arthur Robinson of Deighton esquire; [ 
] Lasenby; Robert Leafe; Reverend Joseph Roper; 
William Pickard; Henry Richardson; and George 
Naylor. 
10 items 
 

1671-1686 

U DDBH/24/2 Accounts. Mary Robinson  
With (amongst others) Robert Horsfield; John Hillary; 
Judith Murlthwaite; Thomas Mosley; John Hunt; 
Richard Page; Michael Fothergill; Leonard Wilson; 
Phillip Wilberfoss; Francis Loftus; H. Langley; Joshua 
Squier; Tim. Wilkinson; Richard Lambert; Jo. Smeaton; 
William Pearson; Matthew Savage; Jane Haynes; 
Margarett Blancherd; John Squire; Charles Charnocke; 
Susanna Raper; Richard Yates; Richard Hunt; John 
Rayson; Dorothy Wise; Thomas Proctor; George 
Bronswell: Clothing, cloth, shoes, medicines, 
groceries, ale, wine, saddles, shoeing horses, legal 
matters, funeral escutcheons, repairs to house at 
Deighton, thatching, rent, work at Deighton windmill, 
etc.  
120 items 
 

1675-1703 
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U DDBH/24/3 'Bundle No. 31. Bills of Colonel H. J. Baines'  
a) Copy of marriage certificate of Hewley Bains of 
Naburn and Mary Ellis of Cawood (26 Feb 1754) 
b) Account: Hewley John Baines esquire (in right of his 
wife Mary), Miss Arabella Mortimer and Charles 
Mortimer, residuary legatees of Timothy Mortimer 
esquire deceased., in account with Thomas Chapman, 
representative of William Chapman: 1/6th share of 
Husthwaite, Carlton and North Newbald rents, etc. 
(See also U DDBH/24/5) (1779-1782) 
c) Account for an upright pianoforte, purchased by 
Colonel Baines from Samuel Knapton 'at his Musical 
Circulating Library', Coney Street, York. With receipt 
(28 Aug 1806) 
d) Account: H. Baines esquire to the late Hugh Rusby: 
furniture (1817-1819) 
e) Accounts: H. J. Baines esquire to James Wilson and 
Joseph Bowser (5): meat (1829-1830) 
f) Account: H. J. Baines esquire to W. Whitwell, carrier 
(1829) 
g) Account: H. J. Baines esquire to Joshua Bell :- meat 
(1830) 
h) Memorandum: 'Proper allowance for a Horse up in 
the stable at forage' (n.d.) 
1 bundle 
 

1754-1830 

U DDBH/24/4 Account. Reverend Hewley Baines and John Baines 

Reverend Hewley Baines (eldest son and heir of 
Hewley Baines late of Bell Hall esquire deceased) and 
John Baines of Killinghall gentleman (younger son of 
H. B.) as executor of his mother Lucy Baines 
deceased. 
1 item 
 

20 Jul 1761 

U DDBH/24/5 Account book. Sir Christopher Sykes and William 
Preston 

Sir Christopher Sykes and William Preston esquire, 
executors of Timothy Mortimer esquire in account with 
Hewley John Baines esquire, Miss Arabella Mortimer 
and Charles Mortimer. 
1 volume 
 

1776-1791 

U DDBH/24/6 Servants' Wages Book 

Reversed: memorandum on 'How to bring up Turkies', 
from Mrs Harrison, Ainderby, Ripon (1788). 
1 volume 
 

1787-1874 

U DDBH/24/7 Accounts. J. H. Baines to John Barber 
Tools etc.  
2 items 
 

1788-1795 
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U DDBH/24/8 Original bundle. Accounts and vouchers  
Of Hewley John Baines esquire for services of 
lawyers, bricklayer, stonemason, etc. 
15 items 
 

1794-1823 

U DDBH/24/9 Original bundle. Lawyers' bills 

H. J. Baines and executors as U DDBH/24/5 in 
account with Robert Scott and Messrs. Russell, 
Thompson and Russell. 
10 items 
 

1795-1825 

U DDBH/24/10 'Female Servants Book' 
1 volume 
 

1830-1873 

U DDBH/24/11 Funeral Account. Executors of H. J. Baines esquire to 
George Beal 
1 item 
 

29 Jun 1830 

U DDBH/24/12 Account. Messrs. Mills and Sons  
For obtaining probate of Will of H. J. Baines esquire. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1830 

U DDBH/24/13 Private cash account book. Mary Baines 

1 volume 
 

1838-1849 

U DDBH/24/14 Account. H. M. Baines esquire to Robert Gouland 

Painting and decorating. 
1 item 
 

1839 

U DDBH/24/15 Lawyers' bills. H. M. Baines esquire  
In account with Messrs. D. and A. H. Russell. 
2 items 
 

1862-1868 

U DDBH/24/16 Account. John Carr  
For valuation of timber in Naburn Wood. With valuation 
and conditions for sale. 
2 items 
 

1867-1868 

U DDBH/24/17 Account. H. M. Baines esquire  
To Messrs. J. Baynes and Son, mahogany merchants, 
15 Micklegate, York. Fitting mantelshelf, etc. 
1 item 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21 Dec 1883 
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U DDBH/25 Bonds 

19 items 
 

1678-1686 

U DDBH/25/1 Bond 

In £20: Arthur Robinson of Deighton gentleman to 
Hannah Robinson spinster. For payment of £8.7s. on 
her attaining age of 18, or marrying: Witnesses Raiph 
Rymer, Nathaniel Lambe. 
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1678 

U DDBH/25/2 Bond 

In £300: Arthur Robinson of Deighton esquire and 
Arthur Robinson of York gentleman to Mary Dyneley of 
York spinster. for payment of £150: Witnesses Arth. 
Marshall, Rog. Wynne. 
1 item 
 

1 May 1681 

U DDBH/25/3 Bond 

Arthur Robinson of Deighton to Hannah Robinson of 
York spinster for payment of £31.15s.7d.: Witnesses 
Robert Hardy, George Jackson. 
1 item 
 

24 Nov 1682 

U DDBH/25/4 Bond 

In £300: Arthur Robinson esquire and Arthur Robinson 
merchant, both as U DDBH/25/2 to Robert Squire of 
York notary public, for payment of £150: Witnesses 
Hen. Maisterman, George Allinson. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1685 

U DDBH/25/5 Bond:  
In £300: Mary Robinson of Deighton widow and Arthur 
Robinson of York merchant to Robert Squire 
gentleman for payment of £150: Witnesses Tho. 
Langley, Edw. Gray, Tho. Leppington. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1685 

U DDBH/25/6 Bond 

In £200: Mary and Arthur Robinson (as U DDBH/25/5) 
to Thomas Hesketh of Heslington esquire for payment 
of £100: Witnesses Darcy Molyneux, J. Hardwicke, 
Rich. Agar. 
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1686 

U DDBH/25/7 Bond 

In £400: Parties as U DDBH/25/6 for payment of £200: 
Witnesses as U DDBH/25/6. 
1 item 
 

 

7 Jul 1686 
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U DDBH/26 Correspondence 

1         Colonel Hewley John Baines 
2         Mrs Mary Baines (nee Mortimer) 
3         Miss Mary Baines 
4-7      Hewley Mortimer Baines 
8         Mrs Mary Baines (nee Askwith) 
9         Henry Baines 
10       Hewley John Baines 
11-28  William Mortimer Baines (11-18 arranged 
chronologically; 19-26 original bundles relating to 
specific topics; 27-28 volumes) 
29-38  Miscellaneous correspondence 
 
The letters at U DDBH/26/11-28 have been 
catalogued individually, partly as a result of a 
microfilming project run by the National Library of 
Australia in 1989.  
28 bundles, 2 volumes, 8 items 
 

1760-1918 

U DDBH/26/1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Letters to Colonel Hewley John Baines  
From: Wilson and Smith, Otley; Thomas Baines, 
Moreby; John Graham, York (3); Hewley Mortimer 
Baines, Thorp Arch (3); 'A Volunteer'; William Bell, 
York; T. N. Dalton; Jno. Wolstenholme, York; A. Gee, 
York; Wm. Dealtry, Wigginton (3); J. Morley; Dr 
Hunter; Robert Scott, York; Chas. Mitley, Bishophill; 
Jno. Moiser junior, York (2); W. Pick, York; Russell, 
Bowne and Thompson, York; Archbishop of York; 
Arthur Shuldham, Swinton Park, Bedale; Wm. 
Jameson, Bail Hill Palace (3); Thomas Preston, 
Moreby; Chas. Ellison, Clerk to Charity 
Commissioners, Grays Inn; Yorkshire Fire and Life 
Insurance Co., York; Russell, Thompson and Russell; 
Peter Barns, Malton; Joseph Kemp for R. Wheeler 
amd Son, 27 Snow Hill, Birmingham (gunsmiths); 
Yorkshire Philosophical Society; W. Delcombe; John 
Scotland, Stillingfleet. Some letters with draft replies 
from H. J. B. 
Subjects include: nomination as magistrate for Liberty 
of Cawood, Wistow and Otley; sale of Brigg Close; 
disputes arising from Will of his father; lists of speakers 
at annual exhibitions at Thorp Arch Academy (3) 
(1800-1803); servant; York Volunteers- financial affairs 
and resignation of H. J. B. as major, with addresses of 
appreciation signed by members of the corps; 
purchase of land at Wigginton; account for pantiles; 
method of preparing cattle fodder; treatment for dog 
suffering from the mange; case, Barlow v. Brearey, at 
York Assizes; pedigree of a horse; valuation of waste 
land at Middlethorpe near York, and of timber there; 
inclosure of waste land at Wigginton (8 Sep 1813); 
fishing rights in River Ouse in manor of Naburn (6 Jul 

1792-1830 
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U DDBH/26/1 

continued 

1814); theft of soil at Wigginton; financial and estate 
affairs; draft of Will of George Simpson of Stillingfleet, 
labourer: bequests to wife, nephews William Simpson, 
Edward and John Atkin and Joseph Herbart; brothers 
William, Thomas and Richard, Will to be kept by 'my 
good friend' H. J. Baines (1821); bequest of Sir John 
Hewley to parish of Naburn; resolutions of 
Shareholders at establishment of Fire and Life 
Insurance Company, York (26 Jul 1824); purchase of a 
gun; resolutions of Yorkshire Philosophical Society 
relating to the Yorkshire Museum (15 Feb 1830); land 
at Moreby Bridge. 
1 bundle 
 

U DDBH/26/2 Letters to Mrs Mary Baines (nee Mortimer) wife of 
Hewley John Baines, as U DDBH/26/1  
From: [  ], Finchley; [  ], York; Chs. Mortimer, Lincoln 
College, Oxford (4); Lord Wintringham, Dover Street, 
Upper Hall, Hammersmith (5); Fran. Dawson, New 
Chapel, City Road, London; J. Irwin, Moss Side (2). 
Subjects include: social gossip; marriage of sister of 
Chs. Mortimer to Mr Wren (a Methodist minister) 
against the wishes of her family; congratulations on 
marriage of Mary Baines (Mortimer); death of her 
parent; illuminations and celebrations in London at 
opening of Parliament, on recovery of the King (Jul 
1789); Prince of Wales to attend York Races; birth and 
death of Mary Anne, daughter of Mary Baines; hair 
fashions. 
1 bundle 
 

1781-1796 
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U DDBH/26/3 Letters to Miss Mary Baines (daughter of Hewley John 
Baines, as U DDBH/26/1) 
From: Catherine Askwith, Norton Conyers (2); A. F. 
Richardson, Fulford; H. J. Baines, Bell Hall (8); Mary 
Baines, Bell Hall; Mary Harrison, Ripon and Harrogate 
(2); Anne Dawson, Ayerley (8); C. Harrison, Ripon; 
Mary Sergeantson, Fulford Road (3); Margaret 
Mackintosh, Moynall; Jane Irwin, Justustown; Mrs J. 
Bury, Ripon; Alicia Mortimer, Amiens; J. Graham (2); 
William Hey, Leeds; Lucy Sawyer, York (3); Society for 
Promoting Christian Knowledge; Harriet Menzies, 
Harewood (2); S. Williamson, Ripon (2); E. L. Russell, 
Copgrove; C. W. Harcourt, Midhurst and Brighton (3); [  
], Castle Rushen; David Russell, Clifton; Cath. Glynne; 
Elizabeth Jones, Naburn Hall. And Mary Baines to 
Arabella Baines, Norton Conyers. 
Subjects include: family and social gossip; letters of 
condolence on deaths of sister Arabella and parents; 
autobiography of Mrs J. Bury; death of the King; 
cholera on the Isle of Man. 
1 bundle 
 

1816-1834 
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U DDBH/26/4 Letters to Hewley Mortimer Baines  
From: John Harrison, Ripon and Bellwood (19); T. 
Walmesley, Paris (2); Chs. Eyre (to Russell and 
Thompson, York); John Walker, Walterclough, 
Southowram, Halifax (9); Miss C. W. Walker, 
Walterclough; Samuel Washington, Tenney Royd, 
Hipperholme, Halifax (5); Robert Wheeler and Son, 
Birmingham (gunsmiths); Wm. Dealtry, Wigginton (3); 
John King, agent, Waterclough and Brighouse (11); 
Mrs S. Williamson, Wistow; John Baines, Division 
Street, Sheffield; Henry E. Grimston, Lund (5); Mrs 
Anne Dawson (Pullan), The Wells (2); Mary Baines, 
Hastings and Escrick (3); Richard Hague; Hewley John 
Baines, Bishopton Close, Haxby Hall and Shrewsbury 
School (10); Henry Baines, Bishopton Close (9); John 
Bischoff, Leeds (2); W. Middleton, Poppleton; Captain 
Thomas Harrison; Mary Kate Baines, Burlington, Bell 
Hall and Queen Square, London (9); Miss Delia G. E. 
Walker, Waterclough (8); Colonel C. N. Fox, Office of 
Ordnance (4); John Marshall, London (2); Stephen 
Creyke, Wigginton (2); Mrs E. Broadbelt, Queen 
Square, London; H. S. Thompson, Fairfield; D. J. and 
O. Russell, York; Jane Askwith, Retford; Baron de 
Langer; William Mortimer Baines (2). Many letters with 
draft replies from H. M. B. 
Subjects include: financial and estate matters 
(Lingcroft, Wigginton); enquiry as to heirs of Bell Hall 
estate; objections to marriage of Mrs Dawson and Mr 
Pullan; family and social gossip; sale of a horse; letters 
from children of H. M. B. at school; will of Mary, sister 
of H. M. B.; heir-at-law of Lady Hewley; Hewley John 
Baines nominated for admission to Woolwich 
Academy; descriptions of St Paul's Cathedral and 
London (1837); blowing glass at Gallery of Practical 
Science, London; the Apollonican in London 'an 
instrument considered by all eminent musicians to be 
superior to any other in Europe' (22 Jan 1838); 
exhibition of fleas at 209 Regent Street (22 Jan 1838); 
skating on the Serpentine; an accident when many 
lives were lost; scarcity of water in London, all springs 
being frozen (22 Jan 1838); sale of furniture at 
Guisborough. 
1 bundle 
 

1822-1839 
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U DDBH/26/5 Letters to Hewley Mortimer Baines  
From: Delia G. E. Walker, Walterclough (6); John 
Marshall, London; General in Chief, Horse Guards (2); 
Hewley John Baines, Shrewsbury School, Carlisle 
Castle, Harwich, Chatham, Sheerness and Dover (12); 
John Harrison, Ripon (12); Banks and Massey; 
Colonel Trevor (to Hewley John Baines) (2); Chas. H. 
Godby, Queen's Bench (2); Mary Catherine Baines, 
London, Bell Hall and Old Bank (3); Messrs. Cox and 
Co., Craigs Court; William Mortimer Baines, Bishopton 
Close (3); Henry Broadley, St James's; J. Charnock, 
Bishopton Close (2); H. Preston, 7 Marine Parade, 
Dover; J. and D. Russell, Solicitors, York; Joseph 
Richardson and Co., Brick and Tile Burners, Kelfield 
(2); Parker and Weddall, Selby (2). Many letters with 
draft replies from H. M. B. 
Subjects include: purchase of ensigncy in 95th Foot 
Regiment for Hewley John Baines; sale of trees in 
Naburn Wood and Deighton; financial and estate 
affairs; Hewley John Baines gazetted to lieutenancy; 
financial dispute with Mr Godby; appointment as Depot 
Paymaster; journal of visit to London by Mary 
Catherine Baines (1842); letters from William Mortimer 
Baines at school; engraving of Dover (1841) on letter 
heading (29 Oct 1843); school accounts for Master 
Baines (Christmas 1843); marriage of Mary Catherine 
Baines and John James Harrison and the marriage 
settlement; purchase of Sinderby estate by J. Harrison; 
notice of a ball at Mrs Lawrence's Hall, Ripon (20 Dec 
1844); commutation of Deighton tithes (1845); 
accounts for bricks and tiles. 
1 bundle 
 

1840-1846 
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U DDBH/26/6 Letters to Hewley Mortimer Baines  
From: Hewley John Baines, Kinsale Barracks, Tralee 
Barracks, Dublin, Liverpool, London, Brussels and 
Adams's Lodgings, Market Place, Beverley (41); 
Messrs. Cox and Co., Craigs Court (11); E. R. 
Richardson, Tralee (3); John Harrison, Ripon (4); 
Commander in Chief, Horse Guards; Henry Gilpin, 1 
Northumberland Street, Strand (2); Major Alcock (3); 
E. Cornwall, Liverpool (2); Messrs. Thomas, 153 Bond 
Street; Borough, Armits and Co., Dublin; - Michantson 
(?), United Services Club; Jerh. Volake, 86 George 
Street, Cork; John R. Williams, Kinsale; John Hill and 
Co., Cork (2); J. J. Harrison; Keane and Turnbull, 
Tailors, Cork (4); J. Murphy, Pianoforte and Instrument 
Seller, Cork; Edwd. Hawkesworth, Cork; W. I. 
Tomkins, Wine Merchant, Cork; Dr Henry Cooper, 
Hull. Many letters with draft replies from H. M. B. 
All relating to affairs of Hewley John, eldest son of 
Hewley Mortimer, Baines (debts and financial affairs; 
secret marriage to Clara Maria Wade (1844) and her 
death (1845); second marriage, in Ireland, to Esther 
Shannon (1846), against his father's wishes; purchase 
of company in 95th Regiment of Foot; accounts of his 
creditors in Ireland; sale of his commission to pay 
debts; financial hardship whilst living in Brussels; ill 
health.) 
1 bundle 
 

1844-1855 
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U DDBH/26/7 Letters to Hewley Mortimer Baines 

From: Henry H. Willis and Co., Insurance Brokers, 
Bishopsgate Street; Reverend Jas. Sabben, Fulford 
(2); John Harrison, Ripon (4); J. J. Harrison (senior), 
Ripon (5) and (junior), Harrogate (5); Thomas 
Harrison, Knaresborough; Jos. and Harriet Pease, 
Hesslewood, Pickering, etc. (7); Joseph Thompson, 
Marton near Kirby Moorside; William Lovel, Timber 
Merchant, Norton Saw Mills (4); William Banks, York 
(4); James W. Corbett, Wigginton Rectory; Ouse and 
Derwent Drainage Commission (9); Chas. Brereton, 
Highgate, Beverley (2); Reverend J. R. Farrow, Riccall 
(2); Jno. Carr, Heslington (7); J. Askwith, Railway 
Hotel, Hull; Lord Wenlock, Escrick Park; Martin 
Dodsworth, Undertaker, Yorkersgate, Malton; A. 
Gibney, Hanover Crescent; William Mortimer Baines, 
Hemingbrough Hall (3); A. H. Russell, York (2); J. M. 
Shackleton, York; J. Hope Barton, Stapleton Park, 
Pontefract; Emily Baines, St Leonards, York (5); Mary 
Kate Harrison, Harrogate (5); G. Whitehead, Deighton 
Grove; Reverend Norman Staton, York; Richard 
Holden, Chemist, York; Wm. H. Dawson, 
Skinningrove; Lady Milner, Tadcaster. 
Subjects include: prospectuses of the 'Sir Edward 
Paget' (3), sailing to New Zealand (details of food, etc. 
provided); and receipt for balance of fare (1850); new 
church at Fulford; financial affairs; purchase of 
commission for Hewley John Baines; valuation of 
tenant right :- premises at Deighton given up by 
Thomas Swann to William Bell (24 May 1856); 
marriage Settlement (Henry Baines and Emily Pease); 
valuations of timber on Bell Hall estate; account of 
Lady Hewley's Charity for 1859; laying foundation 
stone of Wigginton church (23 Mar 1860); drainage 
rates (Deighton and Stillingfleet) (1861-1872); illness 
of Henry Baines; restoration of Riccall church and list 
of subscribers (1864); land (at Riccall?) for railway; 
exchange of land (at Deighton?) with Lord Wenlock; 
funeral of Henry Baines (Feb 1868); death of Henry 
Mortimer (1870); coachman/groom; receipt of H. M. B. 
for 2 fees of 1/- for passing over his land; re-marriage 
of Emily Baines (nee Pease) to Reverend Norman 
Staton; funeral of (Thomas Harrison?); prescription for 
H. M. B.; William Dawson to become pupil of Mr 
Green, engineer, Newcastle; memorandum relating to 
a marriage settlement; licence to shoot on Mrs 
Lawrence's moors. 
1 bundle 
 

1850-1873 
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U DDBH/26/8 Letters to Mrs Mary Baines (nee Askwith) wife of 
Hewley Mortimer Baines (as U DDBH/26/4-7) 
From: Hewley John Baines, Bell Hall; C. Askwith, 
Funchal and West Lodge (4); W. H. Harrison, 
Conyngham Hall and Melton Hill (2); John Harrison, 
Ripon and Old Bank, Leeds (5); Eliz. Agar; C. 
Harrison; Mary Baines, Escrick Rectory; Richard 
Hague (copy); Arabella Mortimer, Bishopthorpe; Henry 
Baines, 'The Asia', Delmonecoe's Hotel, New York, 
Niagara Falls, Donegane's Hotel, Montreal (addressed 
to Mary and Hewley Mortimer Baines) (6); C. J. 
Dawson, Guisborough; B. Hills, 17 Golden Square; 
Mary Catherine Baines, Flinton's Hotel, St James's 
Street, and Harrogate (2); Hewley John Baines, 
Carlisle Castle, Kinsale, Tralee, Brussels, Ostend and 
Adams's Lodgings, Market Place, Beverley (9); Geo. 
Palmes, Paris; J. J. Harrison, Old Bank; Saml. Isaac, 
Chatham; Elizabeth Warde, Campsall Vicarage (3); 
Caroline Harrison, Bellwood; Ann Palfreman, 25 
Rougier Street; Hannah Pease, Thornton Hall, 
Pickering; Ann Tinsley, 3 Clifton Street; C. Askwith 
(junior) The Terrace, Ripon (3); Mary Frances Baines, 
Mount Eden, New Zealand; Caroline M. Wood, 
Bellwood; Esther Mary Baines, 25 Blake Street. 
Subjects include: wedding congratulations; description 
of Madeira and conditions there; family affairs; 
financial matters; instructions for varnishing; cholera in 
York (Aug 1833); sale of a horse; death of [  ], niece of 
Arabella Mortimer (Jan 1834); progress of Mary 
Catherine Baines at school in London; death of Bryan 
[Palmes?]; death of wife of Hewley John Baines, his 
financial and family difficulties; cost of living in London; 
marriage of Mary Catherine Baines; Henry Baines's 
voyage to America; descriptions of New York, 
Philadelphia, Baltimore, Washington, Niagara Falls, 
Toronto and Montreal; fire in Montreal 'about 1800 
houses burnt down' (Jul 1852); death of Mary 
Catherine Baines (6 Mar 1871); matters relating to the 
marriage settlement after her death. 
1 bundle 
 

1820-1873 
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U DDBH/26/9 Letters to Henry Baines at Bell Hall; Reverend 
Charnock's School, Bishopton Close; and Balgone 
Barns, Haddington, Scotland 

From: Hewley John Baines, Bell Hall, Bishopton Close 
and Tralee (6); Mary Catherine Baines, Welton 
Convent and Queen Square (2); Hewley Mortimer 
Baines, Bell Hall (5); J. J. Harrison, Harrogate; Mary 
Baines, High Harrogate and Bell Hall (5); Mary 
Catherine Harrison, High Harrogate; Catherine Akers, 
Bell Hall; 'J. A.'; Landon and Morland, Military 
Outfitters, 17 Jermyn Street, St James's, London (4); 
James Bulmer, York. 
Subjects include: school life; school cricket score list; 
marriage and financial difficulties of Hewley John 
Baines; horses; family gossip; request for payment of 
Naburn tithes; accounts for military uniform. 
1 bundle 
 

1834-1852 

U DDBH/26/10 Letters to Hewley John Baines at school at Mr 
Storey's, Haxby; Reverend James Charnock's, 
Bishopton Close near Ripon; and Reverend Dr 
Kennedy's, Shrewsbury 

From: Hewley Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall (6); William 
Mortimer Baines (2); Henry Baines, Bishopton and 
Rugby (9); Mrs Mary Baines, Bell Hall and Rugby (12); 
Broadley Harrison, Richmond (2); George D. Pitt, 
Leeds; M. Heighway, Grocer, Castle Street, 
Shrewsbury (4); Mary Catherine Baines, Bell Hall and 
Queen Square (7); J. T. Kearsly, Shrewsbury; John 
James Harrison, Shrewsbury and Ripon (3); 
Hamburger, Rogers and Co., Gold Lace Manufacturers 
and Embroiderers, 30 King Street, Covent Garden, 
London (4); Landon and Co., Military Outfitters, St 
James's, London (4); N. Richardson. 
Subjects include: monthly 'Class Registers' of Hewley 
John Baines at Haxby Hall (1837-1838 ) (10); minutes 
of meeting of scholars at Haxby Hall to discuss school 
visits; school and family affairs; death of Ben Agar, 
killed in accident with a cart; annual grocer's bills; 
commission purchased for H. J. B. in 95th Regiment of 
Foot; illness of Henry Baines; accounts for items of 
military uniform. 
1 bundle 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1837-1842 
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U DDBH/26/11 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, in Auckland, 
Manyatwhiri, Hobson Bay and Mount Eden, New 
Zealand 

From various correspondents. 
238 items 
 

1850-1868 

U DDBH/26/11/1 Letter. Lord Lyttleton, St James Palace, to the Lord 
Bishop of New Zealand 

Introducing Mr Baines as an emigrant to New Zealand 
and highlighting his agricultural and engineering 
experience. 
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1850 

U DDBH/26/11/2 Cancelled memorandum of agreement between Daniel 
Lynch of Auckland  
For the purchase of a piece of land and a saw mill for 
£250. 
1 item 
 

23 Dec 1851 

U DDBH/26/11/3 Letter. C. J. Abraham, St John's College to the 
Reverend R. Maunsell, Maraltai 
Written in reference to W. M. Baines who wishes for an 
introduction and to be allowed to see the school and 
station. Mentions that Mr Baines' mill and property up 
the Whao has been destroyed by a flood and that he is 
returning to England. 
1 item 
 

6 Aug 1852 

U DDBH/26/11/4 Letter. Emily Baines, Lingcroft, to W. M. Baines 

Brief family news; information about his mother and 
father's daily routine.   
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1854 

U DDBH/26/11/5 Letter and duplicate bill. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. 
M. Baines.  
Duplicate bill for £600 payable at the Union Bank of 
Australia, Auckland. Letter explains that £500 is for the 
mill and £100 is yearly allowance. 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1855 

U DDBH/26/11/6 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Reference to him building a church; family news. 
1 item 
 

5 Oct 1859 

U DDBH/26/11/7 Letter. Henry Baines, Lingcroft Lodge, to W. M. Baines 

Family news, mentions Hewley's widow, J. J. A. and 
Kate, Mr Yeoman, Charlotte and mother and father. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1859 
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U DDBH/26/11/7a Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall to W. M. Baines 

Received the box he sent, the contents of it, and how 
Christmas was spent. 
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/8 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Has received the box from New Zealand with the 
model canoe, root of flax, two birds to stuff and other 
items; domestic news; enclosed is a shipping 
document of 5 Aug 1861 sending a box to New 
Zealand through Willis Gann and Co. of London and a 
money transfer for £150 through the Union Bank of 
Australia (18 Apr 1860).   
3 items 
 

9 Jan 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/9 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for sending the box/items, especially the 
photograph of his daughter and wife; family news. 
1 item 
 

6 Feb 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/10 Memorandum signed by G. B. Owen, Auckland 

Under which he has sold allotments 56 and 57 (78 
acres) for £166 to W. M. Baines. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/11 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Contains information he has discovered about the 
family pedigree. Accompanied by a second letter dated 
18 Mar, adding to what he has found on the pedigree.  
2 items 
 

Mar [1860] 

U DDBH/26/11/12 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Glad to hear about his new land purchase; father is 
poorly with bronchitis; have had a photograph taken of 
Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/13 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sister Kate is expecting; John James appointed 
Captain of Rifle Corps at Harrogate; has prepared a 
box of articles to send to New Zealand; domestic 
news.  
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/14 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Father is better; going to Harrogate; Kate gave birth to 
a boy. Mentions Mr Patrick, Henry Harrison and 
Esther. Box is being sent to New Zealand on board the 
ship 'Caduceus'. 
1 item 
 

8 May [1860] 
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U DDBH/26/11/15 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sent draft bill for £150 but could not afford the £200 he 
had asked for. Domestic news. 
1 item 
 

9 May 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/16 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall to W. M. Baines 

Busy packing box to send; the Archbishop of York has 
died; Ripon has both a new Bishop and Dean. Brief 
domestic news. 
1 item 
 

10 May 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/17 Letter. M [?] Macqueen, Auckland to W. M. Baines 

Has left the house and is sorry that he has no money 
at present. 
1 item 
 

16 May 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/18 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall to W. M. Baines 

Details about her trip to Harrogate; brief domestic 
news. Newspaper cutting attached to top left corner, 
referring to the marriage of Thomas Harrison. 
Enclosed is a money transfer for £150 (18 Apr 1860). 
3 items 
 

8 Jun 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/19 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Domestic news. Mentions Aunt Caroline at Bellwood, 
Mrs Yeoman, Sir Robert Sheffield, John Sheffield Cox 
and the Dawson's at Asgodby. Enclosed is a receipt 
for shipping goods (30 May 1860). 
2 items 
 

16 Jul 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/20 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details about her week in Harrogate and Mary 
Yeoman's wedding. Has heard about the disturbances 
in New Zealand.  
1 item 
 

16 Aug 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/21 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Discusses the forthcoming marriage of Kate Harrison 
to Mr Robinson, the death of Mr Russell and the new 
Archbishop of York.   
1 item 
 

8 Oct 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/22 Receipt. W. M. Baines to G. B. Owen, Auckland 

For £100 for land at Mangatawhiri.  
1 item 
 

22 Aug 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/23 Letter. Henry Baines, Lingcroft Lodge, to W. M. Baines 

He is sorry father could not send the £200; has read in 
the newspaper about the war in New Zealand; brief 
domestic news.  
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1860 
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U DDBH/26/11/24 Letter. Emily Baines, Lingcroft, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes he is not in any danger from the Maori; his 
eldest daughter is very pretty; she herself has over 22 
nephews and nieces.  
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/25 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Met a Captain Eiven who lived in New Zealand for 
seven years; asks if he ever thinks of coming back to 
England; Lady Wenlock is to be confined; Tom 
Barstow's marriage.  
1 item 
 

14 Nov 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/26 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Writes about her preparations for Christmas; offers 
several possible names for his new child; briefly 
mentions how evenings are spent at Bell Hall; gives 
the 'New Zealand Wars' as a good reason to return to 
England.   
1 item 
 

17 Dec 1860 

U DDBH/26/11/27 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Had a visit from Mr Graham (a friend of W. M. Baines, 
from New Zealand); Colonel Richard has died. 
1 item 
 

13 Jan 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/28 Letter. G. B. Owen, Auckland to W. M. Baines, c/o Mr 
Macqueen 

Cannot keep up payments on the house he is renting 
from him so wishes to move to a smaller one on the 
North shore.   
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/29 Letter. G. Charon, Native Secretary's Office, to W. M. 
Baines, Hobson Bay 

Asks him to call at the Native Office to have his affair 
settled. 
1 item 
 

6 Feb 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/30 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Hopes his third child is healthy, and adds that there is 
no prospect of a family at Lingcroft. Talks about Mr 
Graham's visit, Mrs Cox, and Esther.  
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/31 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief letter which mentions the state of New Zealand, 
the attack on his son's place and the English weather.  
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1861  
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U DDBH/26/11/32 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Due to the war, she suggests he sell his property and 
return to England. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/33 Letter. Henry Baines, Lingcroft Lodge, to W. M. Baines 

Has heard of his trouble with the Maori; his godfather 
Colonel Richardson has not left him a great fortune.  
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/34 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the account in his last letter about being 
attacked by two Maori. Father has not been well; Mr 
Sabben's son would like to go out to New Zealand; 
John James has been in York on the grand jury. Local 
news. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/35 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry he has to leave his place in the bush. Talks 
about the Maori, and asks if he will return to his land or 
come back to England. Henry and Emily are leaving 
Lingcroft; Mrs Cox is not in high spirits about her 
confinement. 
1 item 
 

17 Apr [1861] 

U DDBH/26/11/36 Letter. Henry Baines, Lingcroft Lodge, to W. M. Baines 

He and his wife are leaving Lingcroft in October to live 
at Bell Hall for 6 months; going out with the militia next 
month. 
1 item 
 

11 Apr 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/37 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Mentions the war in New Zealand; Aunt Caroline has 
died. Enclosed is a money transfer for £200 (9 May 
1861). 
1 item 
 

14 May 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/38 Letter. Emily J. Baines, Lingcroft Lodge, to W. M. 
Baines 

Talks about the items she and Henry are sending to 
New Zealand.  
1 item 
 

9 May [1861] 

U DDBH/26/11/39 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Aunt Caroline has died at Bellwood; brief domestic 
news. 
1 item 
 

16 May 1861 
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U DDBH/26/11/40 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Agrees that it was best to settle up with Owen although 
it meant selling his town property. Enclosed is a money 
transfer for £200 (9 May 1861).  
2 items 
 

16 Jun 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/41 Letter. Mary Cath Harrison, Harrogate, to W. M. 
Baines 

Has sent a few [likenesses] to remember them by. 
Talks about her children, one of whom is going to 
school at Woolwich.     
1 item 
 

26 Jul 1861     

U DDBH/26/11/42 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Kate is expecting a baby before the year is out; young 
Earl de Grey has succeeded his uncle; Henry and his 
wife are at Scarborough; the eldest [Sabben] is 
studying physic in Edinburgh. Mentions work on the 
gardens.  
1 item 
 

17 Sep 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/43 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details of Henry and his wife's move to Bell Hall; Mrs 
Cox has had a little girl. 
1 item 
 

16 Oct 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/44 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details of his move to Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

17 Oct [1861] 

U DDBH/26/11/45 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry nor Emily regrets leaving Lingcroft; had a carte 
de visite size photograph taken; Esther has been 
staying at Bell Hall.  
1 item 
 

16 Nov 1861 

U DDBH/26/11/46 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Getting on very well at Bell Hall; selling a mare at the 
York Christmas horse show; there was an recent 
accident, where a man was killed whilst breaking his 
horses. 
1 item 
 

17 Dec [1861] 

U DDBH/26/11/47 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Father and Henry are both ill; Mr Barstow and some of 
his daughters have caught whooping cough but are 
recovering. 
1 item 
 

17 Apr 1862 
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U DDBH/26/11/48 Letter.  H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about spending a good deal of time at the farm, 
the shooting season and his birthday.  
1 item 
 

16 May 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/49 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the rainy weather and how it must have 
disappointed those visiting the exhibition in London. Dr 
Crigan has come into possession of Irish property 
which is worth a fortune.  
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/50 Letter. Arthur [Allam], Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Asks him if he would like to put in a written tender to 
erect the [Mall/Hall].  
1 item 
 

14 Aug 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/51 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief domestic news. William Askwith's wife has had a 
third son. 
1 item 
 

17 Aug 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/52 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details of his trip to Wales and London, where he 
bought a penny carriage. Mentions that Corndale, the 
tenant at Wissinton, is leaving because he cannot pay 
his rent and he would like to take it on but thinks there 
may be too much work.  
1 item 
 

17 Aug 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/53 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

It was her wedding day 42 years ago to the day; they 
are preparing a box for him, which will be sent on the 
'Devonshire'; his Uncle John is marrying again. 
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/54 Letter. Emily Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details of the items being sent in the box. 
Accompanying the letter is a shipping bill for the box 
and a small note which lists its contents. 
3 items 
 

12 Feb 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/55 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief, mentions that he has been staying at 
Scarborough and he is still thinking of taking on 
Wissinton. 
1 item 
 

10 Oct 1862 
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U DDBH/26/11/56 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sent his box on the 'Devonshire'; brief family news; 
Rose Harrison has died.  
1 item 
 

16 Nov 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/57 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Kate has got bronchitis; had a visit from Mary Ann 
Walmsley; Henry and Emily have decided not to take 
Wissinton.  
1 item 
 

14 Dec 1862 

U DDBH/26/11/58 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details of how they spent Christmas and New Year. 
Mentions that a new bridge opened in York. 
1 item 
 

11 Jan 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/58a Note. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall to W. M. Baines 

Asks about the type of herds and cattle in New 
Zealand and talks about the improvements in York. 
1 item 
 

11 Jan 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/59 Letter. James Russell, 2 Bellfull Row, [London?] to H. 
M. Baines 

Has received the sum of £2534.12.2. in [discharge] of 
all [principal] money and interest due on the note of 
hand given by H. M. Baines to Russell's late father and 
as requested, he sends enclosed the promissory note 
cancelled and with receipt endorsed.  
3 items 
 

16 Jan 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/60 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief family news. Mentions the new bridge across the 
Ouse and that he has had the New Zealand birds 
stuffed.  
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/61 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Great Barrier, to W. M. Baines 

Has broken one of his saws and needs a replacement 
and files.  
1 item 
 

6 Feb 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/62 Letter. Henry Baines, York to W. M. Baines 

They are staying in York for a while. He is going to 
Beverley for three weeks with the militia. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/63 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry has recovered from his illness; Kate has been 
staying at Bell Hall; held a dinner for some of the poor 
in Naburn. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1863 
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U DDBH/26/11/64 Letter. Ann Tinsley, Blackpool, to W. M. Baines 

Reminisces about her time at Bell Hall when he was a 
child. Talks about her recent visit to Bell Hall.  
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/65 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Gives details about the house cleaning and 
renovations taking place at Bell Hall. Had Uncle John 
and his wife to stay; Mr Farrow is having a new house 
built. 
1 item 
 

17 Apr 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/66 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Brief family news. Tom Harrison's wife has got a little 
girl. 
1 item 
 

17 May 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/67 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Just returned from a visit to Bellwood; John [Palmes] is 
trying for the constableship of the East Riding. 
Enclosed is a money transfer for £150 (5 Jun 1863). 
1 item 
 

15 Jun 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/68 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Short letter to say that he has enclosed a money 
transfer bill for £150.  
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/69 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

He and his wife are ill. Mentions Charlotte Crigan's 
marriage, the agricultural show at Deighton and the 
American Civil War. 
1 item 
 

13 Jul 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/70 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief domestic and family news; attended a fete at 
Moreby for the ragged school from York. Enclosed is a 
shipping receipt for 7 Oct 1863 for one box on the 
'Royal Stuart' and a money transfer for £150 (5 Jun).  
3 items 
 

15 Jul 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/71 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Nonchalant letter about growing old and how long it 
has been since he left. Suggests that his wife call the 
baby Henry if it is a boy. 
1 item 
 

17 Aug [1863] 
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U DDBH/26/11/72 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the places she has visited recently. 
Mentions Charlotte Crigan's wedding and that Kate is 
pregnant. 
1 item 
 

17 Sep 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/73 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief note to say they are all well and are sending a 
box to New Zealand. 
1 item 
 

17 Sep [1863] 

U DDBH/26/11/74 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the box they are sending and lists some of 
its contents. Mentions that Colonel George Barston 
has been ordered to New Zealand and many others 
are embarking, so they must foresee trouble.  
1 item 
 

6 Oct 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/75 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the box and the book he has included; 
brief domestic news; Mr They has died. 
1 item 
 

12 Oct 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/76 Letter. Emily Baines, George Hotel, York, to W. M. 
Baines 

Talks about their time in York. Makes reference to Dr 
Worcester, Mr Key's daughters and the collections in 
all the churches for the poor. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov [1863] 

U DDBH/26/11/77 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Got his letter about the birth of his twins; George 
Barstow has married a girl from the south and she is 
going to New Zealand with him; Kate had a boy. 
Enclosed is a note (2 Oct 1863), listing the contents of 
the box. 
2 items 
 

11 Nov 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/78 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Father is ill; there is the possibility of a railway to 
Selby. Asks if he knows Captain Walmsley. 
1 item 
 

15 Dec 1863 

U DDBH/26/11/79 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about his illness caused by the poor weather; 
details of the farm's produce; the new rail road from 
Selby to York will cross one of his fields. 
1 item 
 

16 Dec 1863 
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U DDBH/26/11/80 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Father is much better; Catherine Askwith has been for 
a visit to Bell Hall; one of the miller's men has 
drowned; Uncle John went to the Christmas Ripon 
Ball, where [Carry] Wood's daughter made her first 
appearance.  
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/81 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Everyone is doing well; the plans for the rail road have 
gone before parliament.  
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/82 Letter. Ann Tinsley, 3 [Ch_tarn] Street, Blackpool, to 
W. M. Baines  

Hopes he and his family will come to England soon. 
Reminisces about old times at Bell Hall.  
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/83 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

There is to be a new church built at Fulford; the 
Edward Lloyds are adding to their house at Lingcroft; 
the bill has been passed for the rail road; Henry is not 
well. 
1 item 
 

10 Apr 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/84 Letter. W. Verdon Hunter, to W. M. Baines 

Glad he arrived at the G. Barrier safely. Thanks him for 
the oysters and honey. Hopes to put in an order for 
timber soon. 
1 item 
 

5 Jun 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/85 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Mrs Broadley has died and left William Harrison her 
heir; Uncle John, his wife and Catherine Askwith are 
staying at Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/86 Letter. Henry Baines, Scarborough, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the rail road, Miss Broadley's death and 
hopes he and his brother-in-law will prosper at Barrier 
Island. 
1 item 
 

18 Jun 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/87 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about Scarborough. Domestic news.  
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1864 
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U DDBH/26/11/88 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry and Emily intend to spend the winter in Mr 
Herbert's House in Fulford; Jane Bill died a few weeks 
ago. 
1 item 
 

12 Aug 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/89 Letter. Mary Baines, High Harrogate, to W. M. Baines 

Briefly talks about Kate's children and about sending 
another box. Henry is ill.  
1 item 
 

15 Oct 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/90 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Packing up his box. Sending by H. Luke Robinson who 
has succeeded Willis. 
1 item 
 

21 Oct 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/91 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sent the box; Henry and Emily have moved to Fulford; 
went to dine at Mr Lawley's yesterday.  
1 item 
 

15 Nov 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/92 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Spending the Christmas week at Harrogate; Kate and 
family have been staying at Bell Hall for ten days. 
Enclosed is a loading bill (26 Oct 1864). 
2 items 
 

16 Dec 1864 

U DDBH/26/11/93 Letter. Henry and Emily Baines, Fulford, to W. M. 
Baines 

They are very happy in their new house at Fulford. 
1 item 
 

10 Jan 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/94 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines, 
Fishergate House  
Has sent the carriage for him and Mary Ann to come 
over as his mother is in a very precarious way. 
1 item 
 

[Jan 1865] 

U DDBH/26/11/95 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Details of how they spent Christmas; there have been 
many deaths lately - Mr Clough the banker, Mr Charles 
Hall, and Mr George Read; the old Riccall church is 
getting restored. Enclosed is a loading bill (26 Oct 
1864). 
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1865 
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U DDBH/26/11/95a Incomplete letter. Mary Baines, to W. M. Baines 

Mentions Hewley's widow, who she thinks should go 
back to Ireland. Glad he has good neighbours, they 
have had no sociable neighbours since the Crigans 
left. It is her 64th birthday.  
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/96 Note. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines, 
Fishergate House 

Mother has had a better night but he has had a 
restless one; busy leading coals today with the help of 
G. Beckett. 
1 item 
 

[early 1865] 

U DDBH/26/11/97 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Talks about the possibility of him moving back to 
England, Henry and Emily's new hobby and Ann 
Tinsley's visit.  
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/98 Letter. Henry Baines, Fulford, to W. M. Baines 

Ann Tinsley and husband have been over; he would 
be very glad to see him come over from New Zealand. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/99 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Brief family news. Uncle John is thinking of building a 
house at Harrogate; Carry Wood is to be married to 
William Whitaker on 19 Apr; has some new neighbours 
at Riccall Hall.  
1 item 
 

15 Mar 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/100 Note. H. M. Baines, to W. M. Baines 

Asks some questions about New Zealand. Farm news. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/101 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry and Emily have taken the Lock House for the 
summer; there has been an accident at Escrick - 
someone shot dead whilst out shooting; having a 
bazaar in York next Monday for a boy's schoolroom in 
Fulford. 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/102 Letter. Henry Baines, Fulford, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about how he has changed in appearance, and 
his living arrangements. 
1 item 
 

19 Apr 1865 
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U DDBH/26/11/103 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Uncle John and his wife have been staying at Bell Hall; 
last night dined at Mr Lawley's at the rectory in Escrick. 
1 item 
 

16 May 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/104 Letter. [No name] to W. M. Baines 

Instructions to pick up [sepinets] and send them by 
vessel.  
1 item 
 

13 May 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/105 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sending a draft bill from the Auckland Bank; heard that 
New Zealand did not agree with George Barstow; 
Henry is lodging at Naburn Lock. 
1 item 
 

17 May 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/106 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Has been at a wedding breakfast given by Mr Barstow 
for a niece of his; Mr Royd  who married Jane Askwith 
died lately. Enclosed is money transfer for £150 (16 
May 1865).  
1 item 
 

Jun 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/107 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about his decision not to undertake the mill. 
Henry has had a severe attack of small pox but is 
recovering well and everyone has been vaccinated. 
Gives details of the outcome of the recent elections. 
1 item 
 

16 Jul 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/108 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes he has got the box alright and likes the 
contents.  
1 item 
 

12 Nov [1865] 

U DDBH/26/11/109 Letter. [Kate], Harrogate, to W. M. Baines 

Sending boots and shoes for his girls; her young ones 
have enclosed some toys. Corner of letter torn.  
1 item 
 

20 Mar [1865] 

U DDBH/26/11/110 Incomplete letter. Mary Baines, to W. M. Baines 

John Jameas says how difficult it is to get a son into 
the Artillery; Uncle John's widow has gone south and 
the Woods have taken Bellwood. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/11/111 Letter. Henry Baines, Bridlington Quay, to W. M. 
Baines 

Has had the small pox; Bridlington has little changed. 
1 item 
 

4 Aug 1865 
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U DDBH/26/11/112 Letter. Mary Baines, Redcar, to W. M. Baines 

Spending the week with his uncle; going to Saltburn 
this morning; Henry and Emily are going to the Lakes. 
1 item 
 

17 Aug 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/113 Letter. Henry Baines, Ambleside to W. M. Baines 

Spending a week at the Lakes to purify from the small 
pox; never hears anything of the Clarks. 
1 item 
 

17 Aug 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/114 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Kate and John James have been staying; went to stay 
at Welton House; Mr Dawson has come into a large 
fortune; Henry and Emily bought an old chest as a 
present from the Lakes. 
1 item 
 

14 Sep 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/115 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

He encloses a five pound Bank of England note as a 
present; worried about the Cattle Plague; George 
Barstow has returned to England. 
1 item 
 

16 Oct 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/116 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Heard from his last letter that his wife was going to be 
confined; Mr Henry Grimston died last week at Etton. 
1 item 
 

16 Oct 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/117 Letter. Emily Baines, Naburn Lock, to W. M. Baines 

Sending him a photograph of herself; hopes his wife 
has a boy; Henry is getting up a testimonial for Mr 
Sabben. 
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/118 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Is sorry to hear that his move from Auckland to the 
Barrier Island has not been successful. So far they 
have escaped the cattle plague but some counties 
have it very bad; Henry and John James have had 
some good shooting - Volunteer Rifle shooting is the 
order of the day in England. 
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/119 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear about his loss at the Barrier; if his next 
child is a boy call him Hewley Mortimer; Henry is in 
much better health. 
1 item 
 

14 Nov 1865 
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U DDBH/26/11/120 Letter. Emily Baines, Fulford to W. M. Baines 

Received his letter and photograph this morning; she 
is sending one of herself; talks about Esther; the cattle 
plague is very bad across the country. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/121 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Asking for a letter of introduction for Captain and Mrs 
Frederick Hertron, who are the bearers of the letter. 
1 item 
 

5 Dec 1865 

U DDBH/26/11/122 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Glad to hear his wife has had a son; Kate's eldest son 
Jeremy has passed examinations and has passed into 
Sandhurst. 
1 item 
 

9 Jan 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/123 Letter. Henry Baines, Fulford, to W. M. Baines 

Very pleased about his son - probably will be squire 
some day at Bell Hall; Mother has had a fall; speaks of 
his dislike for Kate and John James. 
1 item 
 

18 Jan 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/124 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Grieved to hear of his distress over the state of his 
wife's mind and body; talks about her fall, the house, 
and looking for a new gardener; the Barstow's have 
lost their son William. 
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/125 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

She has enclosed a photograph of Mary Cox; talks 
about the family photograph he sent her; Henry and 
Emily at Torquay; Jeremy has got a commission. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/126 Note. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Encloses a Bank of England note for twenty pounds to 
help with his wife's ill health.  
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/127 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Discusses Emily and Kate's health, Ann Tinsley is 
staying at the moment and looks young for her age. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/128 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about her fall; Aunt Charlotte has been in danger 
with a heart complaint; rest of family is well. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1866 
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U DDBH/26/11/129 Letter. Ann Tinsley, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
His father is looking well but his mother's memory is 
not what it used to be; reminisces about his childhood. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/130 Letter. James [?], [Waiho], to P. V. Dixon 

Arranged with Mr Howell about the bullocks; has got a 
cheque for him and is sending it enclosed in this letter; 
talks about the mule Dixon had sold recently. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/131 Incomplete letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. 
Baines 

Hopes his wife's health has improved; talks about the 
cattle plague affecting their cattle, and her photograph 
collection.  
1 item 
 

17 Apr 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/132 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about her sons distress at the illness of his wife 
and how he is coping financially; mentions Emily's and 
Henry's plans for the summer and the purchase of a 
mowing machine. Enclosed are two bills for £150 (9 
May 1866). 
3 items 
 

12 May 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/133 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Glad to hear that his wife is recovering; Emily has lost 
her father; all her wealthy neighbours are in London for 
the season. 
1 item 
 

17 Jun 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/134 Letter. Henry Baines, Naburn Lock, to W. M. Baines  
Emily is in great distress over the death of her father - 
Mr Pease - his funeral was attended by many; the 
Prince and Princess of Wales are coming to York so 
there will be all sorts of amusements going on. 
1 item 
 

17 Jun 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/135 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Busy hay making using a hay cutting machine; having 
Kate's eldest boy over to stay; the Barstow's drove 
over the other evening; York preparing for the visit of 
the Prince and Princess of Wales. 
1 item 
 

16 Jul 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/136 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Had John James and Kate over; Mrs Harrison gave 
her a picture of her brother. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/11/136a Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Father and Uncle John went to York to see the visit by 
the Prince and Princess of Wales. 
1 item 
 

14 Aug 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/137 Letter. Emily Baines, Ambleside, to W. M. Baines 

Enjoying the district; has been fishing; in November 
they are going to Torquay for 6 months; Fulford church 
is nearly built now; comments on the fashion for 
women to wear the 'widest stupid dresses they can get 
hold of'. 
1 item 
 

15 Aug 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/138 Letter. Henry Baines, Cumberland, to W. M. Baines 

Staying at the Lakes; going to Torquay for winter; 
reminisces about the time they spent at the Lakes; 
mentions the events at York. 
1 item 
 

15 Aug 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/139 Letter. Ann Tinsley, Blackpool, to W. M. Baines 

Always enjoys getting his letters; talks about when she 
used to read him stories; his parents seemed so 
pleased he called his son Hewley Mortimer. 
1 item 
 

6 Aug 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/140 Letter. J. Dixon, Tarrina, to M. V. Baines 

Baines said that Fooks is going up the Waikato; asks 
her to write and tell him plenty of news and to find him 
a sweetheart by the next time he comes to town. 
1 item 
 

2 Sep 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/141 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Tipi Creek, to W. M. Baines 

They are not in need of anything; hopes to have 
finished the job by Christmas; sent him some money to 
buy ball cartridges; they have not had time to send the 
trees up but he hopes they will soon. 
1 item 
 

3 Sep 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/142 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the death of Uncle John at Bellwood, with 
details of his funeral and will; her birthday. 
1 item 
 

7 Sep 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/143 Letter. Henry Baines, Scarborough, to W. M. Baines 

Have been in Scarborough all summer; leaving next 
month to go to Fulford. 
1 item 
 

17 Sep [1866] 
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U DDBH/26/11/144 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Received mail; no news; does not expect to travel to 
town until the timber is shipped. 
1 item 
 

22 Sep 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/145 Letter. A. Boardman, Provincial Council Chambers, 
Auckland, to W. M. Baines, Newmarket 
Asking him to call regarding the claim of Edward 
Dixon. 
1 item 
 

3 Oct 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/146 Letter. E. T. Dixon, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Got the mill; wants Fooks out there before the end of 
the month; asks if he can get him a good watch; 
cannot come to town as must do repairs to the mill. 
1 item 
 

14 Oct 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/147 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Unable to get to Auckland so can he undertake his 
business and take charge of Fran and the youngsters; 
he has written to Fran and told her to pack up things 
so that they are ready to move; no need to tell Vernon 
exactly where he is; Mr Bennan is doing up a house for 
him.  
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/148 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Hokanga, to W. M. Baines 

Not much to do until after Christmas. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/149 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Sending an order to draw money for a trap and goods 
for when his family can join him. 
1 item 
 

2 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/150 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Asks him to organise a trap for his wife to leave 
Auckland next Tuesday fortnight, and to get him a 
good knife. 
1 item 
 

9 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/151 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

They are having difficulty with the contract; he may 
have to delay his wife's move.  
1 item 
 

15 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/152 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Hokanga, to W. M. Baines 

Asking Baines to represent him when certain goods 
are divided between himself and Crawford. 
1 item 
 

29 Dec 1866 
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U DDBH/26/11/153 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Now in his own home; asks if Vernon needs go to 
Auckland and for his goods to be sent to him. 
1 item 
 

29 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/154 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Uncle John's widow is not happy with the will; John 
James is to sell Tollerton; the York Exhibition has been 
very good. 
1 item 
 

15 Oct 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/155 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

They are too old to bring up one of his little girls; 
having a family gathering in York. 
1 item 
 

15 Nov [1866] 

U DDBH/26/11/156 Incomplete letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. 
Baines 

Celebrated Kate's birthday this month; Emily has gone 
to Torquay and Henry will follow next week. 
1 item 
 

7 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/157 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Black Forest, to his father 
No answer yet to his letter to Baines; Henry rarely 
speaks of his life on the diggings; if he had the money 
he would do well to come over and settle where he is. 
1 item 
 

9 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/158 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Black Forest, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about his work; heard that he has settled in the 
wheat district - believes this is not a good idea. 
1 item 
 

12 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/159 Letter. Emily Baines, Torquay, to W. M. Baines 

Much warmer here than Yorkshire; their villa is 
spacious and well furnished; invites one of Baines 
daughters to visit when they are settled; there has 
been a colliery accident at Barnsley - 350 men lost.    
1 item 
 

17 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/160 Letter. Henry Baines, Torquay, to W. M. Baines  
They have a nice place in Torquay - Emily's mother 
pays the rent and they cover all other expenses; it is 
full of visitors for the winter; pleased to have one of his 
children once he has his own home.  
1 item 
 

17 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/161 Receipt signed by Henry Crawford 

Acknowledging having received money from P. V. 
Dixon. 
1 item 
 

29 Dec 1866 
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U DDBH/26/11/162 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Tipi Bush, to W. M. Baines  
He and Edwards hope to do well with their contracts; 
Kauri is becoming rather scarce where they are; he is 
enclosing a letter to William W. Dixon. 
1 item 
 

31 Dec 1866 

U DDBH/26/11/163 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Tipi Bush, to W. M. Baines 

About to finish contract; will have cleared about £500 if 
the dam stands; water is rising fast. 
1 item 
 

11 Jan 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/164 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Has enclosed a ten pound Bank of England bill to 
cover the loss of two cows; mentions the railway 
running across his land.  
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/165 Letter. Emily Baines, Torquay, to W. M. Baines 

Discusses the photograph of his children; talks about 
Torquay and the weather. 
1 item 
 

11 Feb 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/166 Letter. Henry Baines, Torquay, to W. M. Baines 

Has seen the photograph of his children - they all look 
very healthy; Jeremy Harrison has got a commission in 
the 42nd Highlanders; Kate's eldest girl is engaged. 
1 item 
 

11 Feb 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/167 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Laurie has £500 to work with and might do well. 
1 item 
 

10 Feb 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/168 Letter. Ann Tinsley, Blackpool, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the photograph he sent of his children. 
Enclosed with the letter is a printed flyer about 
Blackpool Pier. 
2 items 
 

18 Feb 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/169 Receipt signed by G. B. Owen 

Acknowledging having received £190 from W. M. 
Baines. 
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/170 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to Nan 

Has had Lizzie Johnstone and her sister staying with 
them; had a visit from Bishop Selwyn who was 
performing a Christening. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1867 
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U DDBH/26/11/171 Letter. Henry Baines, Torquay, to W. M. Baines 

Received the photograph he sent of his children; he 
has had the offer of a house at Malton. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/172 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Mentions that Henry may go to Malton and Jane 
Royds has been staying with them. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/173 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Has lost his watch, but thinks it has been 
misappropriated by 'Dutch Harry' and given to a 
woman; suggests he visits them at Aratapu before they 
leave. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/174 Receipt  
Acknowledging that H. Crawford received £7 from 
Peter Dixon. 
1 item 
 

26 Mar 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/175 Bill. E. Hansen and V. Stephenson, Bay of Islands, to 
Mr Dixon 

For horse and boy to Hokanga. 
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/176 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Russell, to W. M. Baines 

Has been underground a few feet; will bring him a few 
samples when he can. 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/177 Copy. Receipt  
Acknowledging that Thomas Edwards and Jacob 
Dixon has received £261.5.9 from M. R. Seccombe. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/178 Letter 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/179 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

The garden is looking better than ever; Henry and 
Emily have enjoyed Torquay; the building of the 
railroad is slow. 
1 item 
 

11 May 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/180 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Very busy at the moment with the railroad and the 
garden. 
1 item 
 

18 May 1867 
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U DDBH/26/11/181 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Ned has arrived; not clear if he is to take the mill. 
1 item 
 

19 May 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/182 Incomplete letter. [Emily], Beverley, to W. M. Baines 

She is writing instead of Henry because he is too lazy 
to write himself; been in Beverley for militia training; 
wishes he and his wife were in England.  
1 item 
 

18 May [1867] 

U DDBH/26/11/183 Letter. Henry and Emily Baines, Torquay, to W. M. 
Baines 

Going back to Yorkshire soon, to a house near Malton; 
Devon is a picturesque county but the wages are very 
low; Mr Sabben's eldest son has married. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/184 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Ned will have told him about the sale; suppose he 
must stay until he finds out what will happen.  
1 item 
 

23 Jun 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/185 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Has sent a box to New Zealand. 
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/186 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Enclosed is a bill of loading for the box aboard the 'Ida 
Ziegler' (5 Jul 1867). 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/186a Bill. Loading for a case on the 'Ida Ziegler' 
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/187 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes he gets the box safely; glad he has built himself 
a nice house and gains employment by building 
others. Enclosed is a bill of loading (5 Jul 1867). 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/188 Letter. Henry Baines, Malton, to W. M. Baines 

They are settled in their new house; stayed a few days 
at Harrogate; Kate's eldest daughter is engaged.  
1 item 
 

19 Jul [1867] 

U DDBH/26/11/189 Bill. Clothing and provisions  
Purchased from Owen and Graham, Auckland for 
£17.2.6. 
1 item 
 

20 Aug 1867 
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U DDBH/26/11/190 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Asks that he call at Kenny and Anderton's office and 
ask them what amount they would require to get him 
free of his mess; he has given up everything to 
Vernon. 
1 item 
 

22 Sep 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/191 Guarantee. Richard Seccombe and Sons, to supply W. 
M. Baines with timber 
1 item 
 

26 Sep 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/192 Letter. Henry Baines, Malton, to W. M. Baines 

Suffering from a bad bilious attack; mother is very ill; 
sending him a ten pound post office order. 
1 item 
 

17 Oct 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/193 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Russell, to W. M. Baines 

Glad to see that he has started his crushing machine; 
Peter is managing the mines and he is still building 
punts. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/194 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

Received the bills; not out of debt yet with the mill; will 
visit him when he comes to town by the next boat. 
1 item 
 

27 Nov 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/195 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes the mill he is managing for Mr Dixon will repay 
him; she is recovering from her illness, caused by a 
broken blood vessel in her lungs; Caroline Wood is 
coming over for a week. 
1 item 
 

12 Nov 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/196 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Had a letter from Lady Wenlock to say that Lord 
Lyttleton was intending to go out to New Zealand, and 
wishes to be acquainted with him. 
1 item 
 

16 Nov [1867] 

U DDBH/26/11/197 Letter. [J. W. Wright], to W. M. Baines 

Feared he intended to remove the [Pruderous…] for 
one of a more goodly proportion; his construction may 
be so in advance of time as to enable him to add some 
additions.  
1 item 
 

13 Dec 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/198 Letter. Ann Tinsley, Kirby Misperton, to W. M. Baines 

Has been visiting her Yorkshire friends; reminisces 
about the past. 
1 item 
 

12 Dec 1867 
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U DDBH/26/11/199 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Ann Tinsley has been staying; went to York for the first 
time since her illness.   
1 item 
 

14 Dec 1867 

U DDBH/26/11/200 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him and family a happy Christmas; the 
morning was too rough to go to church; they have 
been visiting friends. 
1 item 
 

25 Dec [1867] 

U DDBH/26/11/201 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Thames, to W. M. Baines 

Only a small amount of gold obtained yesterday; has 
threatened legal proceedings against [Jenners]. 
1 item 
 

5 Jan 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/202 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Thames, to W. M. Baines  
Talks about their claims on the goldfields; bills are 
pouring in. 
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/203 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Thames, to W. M. Baines 

Found a little gold today; would like some biscuits and 
potatoes. 
1 item 
 

10 Jan 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/204 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry and Emily have been ill; Mrs [Zoeburge] has 
died of a heart attack; Kate is getting a governess for 
her girls. 
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/205 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Captain Harrison (Uncle Tom) has died. 
1 item 
 

7 Feb [1868] 

U DDBH/26/11/206 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry is very ill - father has gone by train to see him 
and Emily is in great distress. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/207 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry has died; he is to be buried in Naburn 
churchyard.  
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1868 
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U DDBH/26/11/208 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

He will need to consider whether it would be 
practicable for him to come over to live in England now 
that Henry has died. Enclosed is a bill for £50 (10 Mar 
1868). 
2 items 
 

12 Mar 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/209 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Henry has left him £50; he has had a vault made at 
Naburn; wishes him to consider coming to England to 
arrange matters. 
1 item 
 

11 Mar 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/210 Letter. M. H. Williams, Hobson Street, to W. M. Baines 

Could he come round on Saturday as he knows a 
digger who will buy his land in the Waikato.  
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/211 Letter. Emily Baines, Cheltenham, to W. M. Baines 

Encloses a bill for £50; she loved Henry dearly; thinks 
he should come over.  
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/212 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about Henry; asks if he can come over or send 
his son to be educated in England; hopes his wife gets 
well after her confinement. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/213 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

He would have got their sad letter by now; Emily is a 
great deal overcome by Henry's death; Mr Sabben has 
got a living in Easingwold. 
1 item 
 

17 Apr 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/214 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

They are well and feeling more composed; wonders if 
he thinks it practicable to come over and settle his wife 
and children in England. Lady Wenlock has died. 
1 item 
 

11 May [1868] 

U DDBH/26/11/215 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

His last letter said he has returned from the diggings, 
which had not answered. Enclosed is a bill for £150 (7 
May 1868). 
2 items 
 

16 May 1868 
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U DDBH/26/11/216 Letter. Elizabeth Dixon, Dixon Bay, to M. V. Baines 

Glad that Mrs Fooks has gone to a house of her own; 
can she get Baines to come down before he goes to 
England. 
1 item 
 

15 Jun 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/217 Letter. Emily Baines, York, to W. M. Baines 

Got his letter announcing the birth his second son, and 
is pleased he has been named Henry; his mother has 
been talking about him and Henry as boys. 
1 item 
 

18 Jun 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/218 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

They often wonder whether he is coming to England; 
Kate and John James have had dinners for all the 
officers of the local militia. 
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/219 Letter. C. H. Cornforth, Whangapoa, to W. M. Baines 

Old Mr Dixon wishes him to enquire into the property 
he believes he is heir to in England; he must call on 
them on his way north - they are within five months of 
what they hope will be a prosperous goldfield at 
Kennedy Bay; Henry Dixon has a post of engineer at 
Port Charles. 
1 item 
 

5 Jul 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/220 Letter. P. R. Dixon, Bay of Islands, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him goodbye before he sails home; if he has 
the address of Cornforth's friend he will know how to 
act; instructs him to eject his brother if he finds him on 
the property. 
1 item 
 

29 Jul 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/221 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

She is writing to her as William and daughter will have 
already left New Zealand; hopes Mary Frances will feel 
comfortable at Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

5 Oct 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/222 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

His mother has received the news that he is coming 
over to England; visited the Fooks. Enclosed are two 
small letters written by two of his children. 
3 items 
 

10 Oct 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/223 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

He is probably rounding the Horn by now; hopes it is 
the last trip he will do without her; slept through a slight 
earthquake. 
1 item 
 

18 Oct 1868 
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U DDBH/26/11/224 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Has received no letters from England for him; news of 
the family. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/224a Letter. R. Hunter, Mount Eden, to Fanny Baines 

She misses Fanny and her papa; it is lonely in the 
evenings. 
1 item 
 

Oct 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/225 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Feels sad; imagines he is near Cape Verde now; 
Jacques and Griff have gone prospecting at Kennedy 
Bay. Enclosed is a small Christmas card. 
2 items 
 

10 Nov 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/226 Letter. W. M. Baines, on board the 'Kate Waters' near 
Trinidad, to M. V. Baines 

They are having a pleasant voyage. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/227 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

The house is let to an old lady and her husband at five 
shillings a week; she is tired and hot from running 
through the paddocks after the cows. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/228 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Took a trip to Thames last Tuesday and brought up a 
bit of gold; she had to stay at a boarding house 
because Peter's house was so full of loafers; she is 
struggling to manage on the pound a week. 
1 item 
 

6 Dec [1868] 

U DDBH/26/11/229 Letter. Jacob Dixon, Grahams Town, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes to be in Auckland for Christmas; has several 
small contracts. 
1 item 
 

20 Dec 1868 

U DDBH/26/11/230 Note. W. G. Clark 

Agreeing to sell his piano for £25 to relieve debt. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/11/231 Letter. W. M. Baines to M. V. Baines 

Has been ill; the crushing machine is unsatisfactory 
and larger ones are coming from Australia; the claim is 
looking up. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/11/232 Letter. W. M. Baines, Shortland, to M. V. Baines 

Fook's letter told them to go down to be a witness in 
Ned's case; very wet weather; going to build a hut on 
the claim at Tapu. Also, a note to his daughter Rosa. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/11/233 Letter. W. M. Baines, Shortland, to M. V. Baines 

Fooks left in a great hurry that morning; the case has 
been put off; there are rich finds every day; asks her to 
pay the Morris bill and arrange to let the house. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/12 Letters from and to William Mortimer Baines, Bell 
Hall and Hemingbrough Hall 
From various correspondents. 
c.145 items 
 

1869-1872 

U DDBH/26/12/1 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines. 
He and Fanny have arrived in England safely after 102 
days at sea.  Going to London to pay money to Owen 
and Graham and visit Fook's father. Wishes Mary to 
come to England with the children.  Memo attached (4 
Jan 1869) regarding packages cleared from the Kate 
Waters. 
2 items 
 

1 Jan 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/2 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines 

Surprised not to have seen him. Invites Baines to his 
house to talk about Australia. Baines' bill is also ready 
for collection from the office. 
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/3 Draft for £60 to be sent to Mary Ann Verdon Baines 
through the Bank of Australasia, Auckland. 
1 item 
 

11 Jan 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/4 Letter. John Longford, Birmingham, to W. M. Baines 

Reply to earlier letter with an invitation to visit him in 
Birmingham. 
1 item 
 

12 Jan 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/5 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that they have secured £148.7 for the 
expenses incurred through baggage handling and 
storage.  
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/6 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Confirmation that he has sent her £60. Fanny is to take 
organ lessons. Dined with Lord Wenlock. Wants to sell 
Mount Eden but for no less than £1000. Says the 
family are not very rich but grand. Also confirms that 
he has been acknowledged as his father's heir. 
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/7 Letter. Mary Frances Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Arrived safely in England. Hopes the children are well. 
General family news. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/8 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Grahams Town, to M. V. Baines 

Discussing financial issues, her kindness to him and 
informing her that he has just started work. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/9 List. Items needed by Mrs Baines and six children for 
the voyage to England 

Appears to be written in W. M. Baines' handwriting. 
1 item 
 

[Jan 1969] 

U DDBH/26/12/10 Letter. J. B. Jaffrey, London, to W. M. Baines 

Bill for leasing of luggage, warehouse and dock 
charges and a railway carriage to York of £1.6.4. 
1 item 
 

10 Feb 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/11 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Suggests that it is best for her and the children to 
come to England. Says the climate is not as good as in 
New Zealand. The money from the Mount Eden 
property should cover the cost of the voyage and help 
to pay their debts. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/12 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Short note that had been attached to a photograph of 
Fanny [missing]. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/13 Letter. W. M. Baines to M. V. Baines 

Hopes she received the £60. Will be sending further 
money to Fooks. May also use Fooks as an agent for 
the Mount Eden property if they are unable to sell it for 
more than £1000. Says the Turners are to visit her in 
Auckland. Advice for the voyage such as what to wear 
and the need to travel with another woman who could 
help her with the children. 
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/14 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Will send a power of attorney for the sale of the Mount 
Eden property to her or Mr Owen which would save 
her the trouble. Tells her to buy whatever she needs 
when the sale is realised and to send for him the 
moment they arrive in England. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/15 Letter. B. Laurie, Auckland, to M. V. Baines  
Will come and stay with her and her family if it's not too 
much trouble.   
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/16 Letter. J. W. Dixon to M. V. Baines 

Discusses Mary Ann's voyage to England. Times have 
been hard and there has been no chance to get any 
money and also mentions possibility of getting married.  
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/17 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

England is very dull without her. Will send power of 
attorney to Mr Owen to sell Mount Eden - he will then 
give her the money for the voyage. 
1 item 
 

6 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/18 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Aratapu, to W. M. Baines 

None of the boys are making their fortune yet. Talks of 
his father in England and the heaviest rainfall they 
have ever known.  
1 item 
 

7 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/19 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Must get the deeds of Mount Eden before the Power of 
Attorney to sell it. He is sending her money and 
instructions of what she needs to bring. 
1 item 
 

9 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/20 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines, Bell 
Hall 
Advises him to write to Mr Owen and instruct him to 
sell Mount Eden at any price. Regarding the passage 
money Graham says Baines should give him the 
money and he will then transfer it to Australia free of 
charge. Also informs him that his daughter Alice is 
home from boarding school.  
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/21 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

General family news. Claims money is short at Bell 
Hall but hopes to send £200 for the voyage. Also gives 
her a list of plants he wishes her to bring. 
1 item 
 

14 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/22 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that £250 will be made available to M. V. 
Baines. Mr Owen will take care of financial matters in 
Australia. 
1 item 
 

[Mar 1869] 

U DDBH/26/12/23 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Tells her to get Davy Hunter to bargain for a passage. 
Any money she could bring to England would be useful 
as money is short at Bell Hall. Includes a further list of 
plants and books he wishes her to bring to England. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/24 Letter. Fanny Baines, Bell Hall, to Annie Baines 

1 item 
 

17 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/25 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Confirms that he is sending £250. Tells her to bargain 
carefully for her voyage and to bring all the Waikato 
deeds to England. Gives news of Fanny and reminds 
her to bring the plants. 
1 item 
 

18 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/26 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes the £60 has arrived and tells her the £250 is on 
its way. Gives news of Fanny and claims life is very 
dull. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/27 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Grahams Town, to M. V. Baines 

All is well as he has found plenty of work. Offers her 
money if she needs it and also asks her to tell him if 
W. M. Baines is coming back. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/28 Letter. R. Hunter, St Georges Bay, to W. M. Baines 

Glad he and Fanny have arrived in England safely. All 
is well at the old home. They will miss the Baines 
family when they leave. Discusses mutual friends.  
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/29 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Mrs Baines is managing and the family are well. 
Discusses mutual friends and describes the heavy rain 
and floods. 
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/30 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Grahams Town, to M. V. Baines 

Says she wishes they lived closer to each other but is 
glad that she is living in comfort with her children.   
1 item 
 

[Apr 1869] 

U DDBH/26/12/31 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Fanny will be glad to see her mother again. Warns her 
about some of the people she will meet on the ship 
and tells her to get Davy Hunter and Mr Fooks to help 
her. 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/32 Letter. M. Dixon, Grahams Town, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes they will be able to put his wife Mary into an 
asylum soon so he can be reunited with his children.  
1 item 
 

17 Apr 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/33 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

News of Fanny and a list of things to bring from New 
Zealand. 
1 item 
 

20 Apr 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/34 Account. W. C. Wilson, printer, to W. M. Baines  
For a subscription to the Weekly Herald. 
1 item 
 

25 Apr 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/35 Letter. Katherine Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Note to her father. 
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/36 Letter. Rosa Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Short note to her father. 
1 item 
 

[Apr 1869] 

U DDBH/26/12/37 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

News of Mrs Baines and the family. Advice not to sell 
the New Zealand property at present and lease it for a 
few years instead. Mount Eden claims have struck a 
very rich lode. Suggests some help Mr Baines can give 
over financial affairs with Fooks' family in England. 
Confirms that a cabin has been engaged on a fine ship 
the Percy and a domestic help has been obtained. 
1 item 
 

28 Apr 1869 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 152 of 331 

U DDBH/26/12/38 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Domestic news; secured a voyage on the Percy and 
gives news of friends. 
1 item 
 

1 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/39 Letter. Rosa Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Note to her father. 
1 item 
 

[May 1869] 

U DDBH/26/12/40 Letter. E. W. Dixon, Grahams Town, to W. M. Baines  
Tells of the progress of the claims and his battle 
against the loan sharks. Doubts if Baines will get 
£1000 for Mount Eden. Better for MaryAnn to leave the 
trouble behind her but expects to see her back in four 
or five years. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/41 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

He and Fanny are looking forward to her arrival. Tells 
her that goods in England are almost as expensive as 
those in New Zealand. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/42 Letter. R. Hunter, Epsom, to W. M. Baines  
Domestic news. Will gather plants for him.   
1 item 
 

11 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/43 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Has received no letters as the Auckland post has been 
held up. 
1 item 
 

12 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/44 Letter. Fanny Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Domestic news. 
1 item 
 

12 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/45 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Sometimes wishes they had all come over on the Kate 
Waters. Tells her not to sell Mount Eden for less than 
£1000 pounds as in a few years the land alone will be 
worth that. 
1 item 
 

23 May 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/46 Letter. M. V. Baines, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

Confirms that she is booking the voyage and hopes to 
see them in four or five months. 
1 item 
 

28 May 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/47 Letter. G. B. Owen, Queen St Wharf, Auckland, to W. 
M. Baines 

Confirmation of accommodation for Mrs Baines, the six 
children and a servant on the Percy leaving in five or 
six weeks.  

1 item 
 

1 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/48 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

He will continue writing till he hears that they are 
sailing. Family news. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/49 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Should be able to let the front of the house to the 
Lonsdales. Goes on to discuss mutual friends and the 
visit from the Duke. 
1 item 
 

6 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/50 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Claims life is dull and that he will be very pleased 
when she arrives. Gentlefolk only talk of horses, dogs 
and shooting. Tells her to telegraph him when she 
arrives. Discusses Mount Eden. 
1 item 
 

9 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/51 Letter. W. D. Hunter, Tooheys Flat, to W. M. Baines 

Mrs Baines' passage is settled. Discusses mutual 
friends and how Tooheys Flat (formerly Grahams 
Town) now looks like a large town. Claims it is as 
vibrant as ever. Also says that mining on the Thames 
is looking up. 
1 item 
 

9 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/52 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Local news; does not think Lonsdale will let Mount 
Eden. An additional note of 4 Jul - Mrs Baines and 
family left Auckland last Wednesday - Nan was upset. 
Discusses the proposed prospecting company for the 
Thames Goldfields which would need capital from 
England and a good management company.   
1 item 
 

20 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/53 Letter. P. V. Dixon, Thames, to M. W. Baines 

Tells of hard times but now took management of Kratz 
Gold Mining Co., and now is manager of Whare Gold 
Company which does well. Is sorry that his wife did not 
agree to him going to England with MaryAnn. 
1 item 
 

20 Jun 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/54 Account. Stratford and Wright, surgeons, to Mrs 
Baines 

A note on the back that Mr P. Dixon owes Mrs Baines 
£8.6.0. 
1 item 
 

21 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/55 Letter. Sarah Dixon, Auckland, to M. V. Baines 

Financial matters. 
1 item 
 

28 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/56 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Glad to hear that Mount Eden has been let. Times 
have been hard but they will make up for it when they 
meet. Family news. 
1 item 
 

29 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/57 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

E. V. Dixon has confided in him that he intended to 
propose marriage. As he has not seen him since he 
suspects that he did not have the courage to do so, or 
was unsuccessful. Discusses the matter of selling the 
Mount Eden property. 
1 item 
 

29 Jun 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/58 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines  
Mount Eden has been let but will not generate much 
money at least in the first year. Peter is managing the 
Whare Company and John is in the timber trade.  
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/59 Bill. Owen and Graham, Auckland, to W. M. Baines  
For shipping and dock charges at the cost of £101. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/60 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines 

Baines' family have set off on the Percy. The diggings 
turned out wonderfully and Hunt has sold his sixth of 
the Kowter for £50,000. 
1 item 
 

9 Aug 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/61 Letter. Owen and Graham, Auckland, to W. M. Baines  
Sending a balance of his account. 
1 item 
 

30 Aug 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/62 Letter. Ann Tinsley, Blackpool, to Fanny Baines  
Tells them she is looking for a house for the Baines 
family. Wishes them to visit her in Blackpool. 
1 item 
 

31 Aug 1869 
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U DDBH/26/12/63 Copy Letter. Richard Eaton, Auckland, to W. M. Baines  
Discusses the letting the Mount Eden house. 
1 item 
 

30 Aug 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/64 Letter. F. C. V. Fooks, Otahuhu, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes they have landed safely. It is sad to see the 
house empty and Ned has become engaged. 
1 item 
 

28 Sep 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/65 Letter. Mary Catherine Baines, Harrogate, to W. M. 
Baines 

Family news. Experiencing very poor weather. She 
also hopes that MaryAnn will like England. 
1 item 
 

2 Dec 1869 

U DDBH/26/12/66 Letter. Sarah Dixon, Thames, to M. V. Baines 

Glad to hear they have reached England safely. She is 
going to Auckland for Christmas. Says she will send 
the papers to MaryAnn.   
1 item 
 

9 Jan 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/67 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to M. V. Baines 

Glad to hear they have arrived safely. Christmas and 
family news. 
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/68 Letter. F. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Wishing Happy New Year. Discusses the new Bishop. 
The place looks lonely without the old mill, but if there 
is sufficient work at the Thames it will be much better 
there. Enclosed is a letter of 3 Feb from Anne Hunter - 
looking forward to the arrival of Mrs Baines' journal. 
Anne has been working as a governess again. 
2 items 
 

3 Feb 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/69 No letter at this number 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/12/70 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Grahams Town, to M. V. Baines 

All is well in New Zealand. Local news. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/71 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Is glad that Hunter approves of their having Mount 
Eden. Local news.   
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/72 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Talks of MaryAnn's daughter and of how dull it is at the 
moment. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1870 
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U DDBH/26/12/73 Letter. A. Hunter to W. M. Baines 

Sending balance sheet and receipt. He will not be able 
to let the upper part of Mount Eden without decorating 
it. Mrs Hunter is anxious to buy their house and the mill 
on the Thames is in working order. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/74 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to M. V. Baines 

Says the weather is warm and news meagre. Annie 
Hunter is to stay with them. Also talks of the birth of 
their new daughter. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/75 Letter. A. Hunter, Otahuhu, to M. V. Baines  
Says it is lonely without her. Talks of the new baby and 
of mutual friends. 
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/76 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Hunter is about to be declared bankrupt - had 
transferred property from Baines to himself so it will go 
although he hopes to save the land, house and 
blacksmith's workshop. He will take the younger 
children and then remove some of the effects at night. 
1 item 
 

15 May 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/77 Letter. A. H. Hunter to W. M. Baines 

Has sold part of his prosperous mill on the Thames to 
a Mr Morgan for £1500, but he received no money so 
has had to be declared a bankrupt. There are quite a 
number of failures at the moment.  The English 
machinery has arrived, as has an engineer. 
1 item 
 

5 Jun 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/78 Letter. Bosche to M. V. Baines 

Broken-hearted that they are bankrupt. Thames people 
have lost heart on the diggings. Local news. 
1 item 
 

2 Jul 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/79 Letter. F. B. V. Fooks, Otahuhu, to M. V. Baines 

Peter has gone to Australia or somewhere and left his 
wife. 
1 item 
 

3 Jul 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/80 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines  
Very hard to make a living. He has injured his toe 
kicking a cat which was trying to steal a fish. Heard 
that an enquirer about the Baines' house had been put 
off on learning that Hunter had bought it. Does not 
think Peter will return from his cruise. 
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1870 
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U DDBH/26/12/81 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Discussed the business with Mr Morgan. Says that the 
disposal of the property will take three months to go 
through the court. Fooks has been very kind. With a 
newspaper cutting from the New Zealand Herald on 
the sale of the land. 
2 items 
 

10 Jul 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/82 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines  
Talks of the presumed sinking of the SS Tauranga 
which has not arrived at the Bay of Islands following a 
collision; the old Mount Eden claim which crashed has 
been sold and resold; his affairs not yet settled; the 
new loan which the country desperately needs; bad 
workmanship on the new Court House.  
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/83 Letter. J. Dixon, Grahams Town, Thames, to M. V. 
Baines 

Has not heard from Peter. Talks of the sinking of the 
Tauranga. Would like to visit England. Has heard that 
Peter has reached New Caledonia. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/84 Letter. J. Dixon, Grahams Town, to W. M. Baines 

Things are very dull at Thames. Local news. 
1 item 
 

6 Aug 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/85 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Peter has returned to town broke after a disagreement 
with the ship's chef. Ned has a contract for supplying 
and erecting telegraph posts between Thames and 
Tauranga and expects a bonus for his part in dealing 
with the Maori. Is in a bad way financially. Hunter has 
been whitewashed and still has most of the land. 
1 item 
 

6 Sep 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/86 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes the new child, which should have arrived by 
now, is well. Local news. 
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/87 Letter. S. Stratford, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Would be glad to receive seeds from England. 
1 item 
 

7 Oct 1870   
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U DDBH/26/12/88 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Has received a letter from Jake in Sydney - had 
planned to go to Queensland but there are 
discouraging reports of it so now favours Melbourne. 
Ned is on the Thames. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/89 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines  
There has been an accident to Isabel's finger. 
1 item 
 

21 Oct 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/90 Letter. Theodore Verdon, Dublin, to W. M. Baines 

Congratulations on birth of Ethel Mary Baines. His 
sister Mary Ann has died. Other family news. 
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/91 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

No news - Otahuhu gets duller. There has been a 
severe lack of rain and the crops have failed and the 
price of cattle has risen. Peter wants capital to develop 
a new coalfield - he has a contract to supply timber to 
the Thames. 
1 item 
 

6 Nov 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/92 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Father is well. Glad to hear that the children are well. 
Other family news. 
1 item 
 

[Nov 1870] 

U DDBH/26/12/93 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Congratulations on his new daughter. Says that it is 
now unpleasant living there. An added note to W. M. 
Baines from A. Hunter with a statement on the rent 
and expenses of the let house. 
1 item 
 

6 Dec 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/94 Letter. Mary Catherine Baines, Harrogate, to W. M. 
Baines 

Going to Bell Hall to see parents and to go to the York 
Christmas Flower Show. Hopes to see them there. 
1 item 
 

9 Dec 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/95 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Offering to take the eldest daughters for a while due to 
the birth of Edith. 
1 item 
 

[Dec 1870] 
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U DDBH/26/12/96 Letter. J. James, Official Agents Office, Auckland, to 
W. M. Baines 

Mr Hunter has asked him to move to the lower house 
so that he can occupy the upper one, which he does 
not wish to do. Asks if it is true that he can take 
possession at the end of the present term. 
1 item 
 

7 Dec 1870 

U DDBH/26/12/97 Letter. J. W. Dixon, Glenlyon, Victoria, to M. V. Baines 

It has been four months since he left Auckland and 
went to Sydney and Melbourne where there were good 
prospects of work, so on to a sawmill - hopes to save 
money and will then visit them. 
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/98 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Says it is a wonder that any of them can keep out of 
debt. Lottie has come home for a week with the 
Hunters who plan to move into the lower house.  
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/99 Letter. W. V. Hunter to W. M. Baines 

The Thames area has much changed - the site of the 
old establishment is now a great reservoir and there is 
a mass of machinery for crushing, pumping, winding 
and smelting. They also keep an analytical chemist 
there. There are rich gold finds from the Caledonia 
Claim so some have had good dividends. Asks him to 
choose some works for him on the Hearn Engine Land 
and Marine for learning principals.  

1 item 
 

8 Mar 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/100 Letter. A. Hunter, Waimate, Bay of Islands, to M. V. 
Baines 

Talks of MaryAnn's new baby and of her own 
engagement to Harry King which has made her very 
happy but she will have to wait till at least next 
Christmas to marry.   
1 item 
 

15 Apr 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/101 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Says he is glad that he has some money from the 
Hunters even if it is only a little. The Hunters have 
moved out of the lower part of Mount Eden as it is too 
small and Mr James would not leave the upper one. 
Believes Mr Hunter will take the upper part when the 
lease expires. Wishes he could hear of his family 
sending him money from England but fears it will never 
happen.   
1 item 
 

2 May 1871 
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U DDBH/26/12/102 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Peter has been given a contract for timber. He is going 
on an expedition in the bush. 
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/103 Letter. A. Hunter, c/o Reverend L. Prilt, Ingairanwhia, 
Waikato, to W. M. Baines 

Has a new situation. 
1 item 
 

14 Aug 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/104 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Otahuhu gets duller and duller. Says the grant he has 
received should help until the depression after it. He 
has not heard from Jake in Victoria for a long time. The 
other boys should still be on the Thames, all are broke. 
Fooks is expecting another child. Local news. 
1 item 
 

3 Oct 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/105 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Asking whether he has gone to Harrogate and if he 
could come to Bell Hall to help select a servant. 
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/106 Bill. North Eastern Railway Company to H. M. Baines  
For £13.111 for the holding of certain goods. 
1 item 
 

Oct 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/107 Letter. Geo. Hadfield, Manchester, to W. M. Baines 

Response to an enquiry by Baines about Sir John 
Wesoley's family history. Also enquires if Baines would 
be willing to donate two portraits of St John to the 
Lancashire College. 
1 item 
 

22 Nov 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/108 Letter. H. M. and M. Baines to W. M. Baines 

Says he is not willing to sell the portraits but Hadfield is 
more than welcome to have a copy. Mary tells of family 
news. 
1 item 
 

24 Nov 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/109 Letter. Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

General family news. 
1 item 
 

26 Nov 1871 

U DDBH/26/12/110 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Informs him that he has had a son. Local news. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1871 
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U DDBH/26/12/111 Notice. Death of Peter Verdon Dixon 

Third son of Mr P. V. Dixon at Kareka, 1 Jan 1872, 
aged 32 years. 
1 item 
 

1 Jan 1872  

U DDBH/26/12/112 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Suggesting someone for a position that has arisen at 
his house. In addition, Ann Tinsley is visiting Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/113 Letter. H. M. and Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. 
Baines 

Mrs Tinsley is staying at Bell Hall. H. M. wants to know 
if the position has been filled. News of friends who 
have died. 
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/114 Letter. Mary Baines to W. M. Baines 

Discusses Easter celebrations. She and ''Father'' are 
unwell but are both on the mend.   
1 item 
 

28 Mar 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/115 Letter. Mary Baines to W. M. Baines  
Discusses Easter celebrations and gives a report of 
the family.     
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/116 Letter. A. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the petticoat. Says her fiancée has 
taken a small farm but will not marry her until he can 
offer her a comfortable home but she wants to marry 
sooner. Other local news. 
1 item 
 

13 Apr 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/117 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for presents. Tells of local news and the 
progress at Coromandel. 
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/118 Letter. W. V. Hunter to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for books on machines. Says the business 
is improving and tells of the people at Coromandel. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/119 Letter. John W. Jon to W. M. Baines 

Asking Baines if he has received a bill sent by the 
lawyers. On the reverse of the letter is the trustee 
settlement of Charles Grey Tate esquire to J. W. Jon. 
1 item 
 

7 May 1872 
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U DDBH/26/12/120 Letter. Mary Baines to W. M. Baines 

Thanks Fanny for her note and discusses other family 
news. 
1 item 
 

13 May 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/121 Letter. Mary Baines to W. M. Baines   
Says his father is ill and that it is very cold. Her friend, 
Miss Maisive, recently died. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/122 Notice from the official Agent's Office, Auckland 

To inform W. M. Baines of Bell Hall that the case of the 
Mount Eden Gold Mining Company will be heard on 27 
Mar 1873. 
1 item 
 

26 Aug 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/123 Letter. R. Hunter, Epsom, to M. V. Baines 

Finding it difficult to get Mr James to settle up. They 
are to move back to their old house. 
1 item 
 

28 Aug 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/124 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines 

Surprised that Hunter has not contacted him regarding 
the estate - if he wishes to sell he should send a 
Power of Attorney in hand to be ready at a favourable 
time. States that diggers generally pay the best prices. 
News of family. 
1 item 
 

4 Sep 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/125 Invitation. Bazaar for the Hemingborough Restoration 
Fund 

W. M. Baines' name appears as one of the founders of 
the organisation. 
1 item 
 

18 Jun 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/126 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

His brown cartmore horse has died. William's mother 
is ill. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/127 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear the children have whooping cough. 
Suggests that they should go to Hornsea for a change 
of air. 
1 item 
 

14 Jul 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/128 Letter. Alice Harrison to W. M. Baines 

Invitation for William, Mary and Fanny to her wedding 
on the 30th of the month. Asks if the children have 
recovered from whooping cough. 
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1872 
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U DDBH/26/12/129 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Visited Mrs Peel in York. Emily has left William's 
children a sovereign to spend at the bazaar with Mary. 
Sent the money with the letter. 
1 item 
 

16 Jul 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/130 Letter. Mary Baines to W. M. Baines 

Both Mary and Hewley are very ill. Asks about his 
family's health.   
1 item 
 

27 Aug 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/131 Letter. H. M. and Mary Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. 
Baines 

Surprised not to have seen him recently. They have 
been to York. Father's health is improving. Invites him 
to come and shoot. 
1 item 
 

15 Sep 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/132 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Congratulations on the baby. Suggests some names. 
Invites them to come and stay at Bell Hall. Other news. 
1 item 
 

10 Sep 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/133 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Says he has sent William two £5 notes. Hopes the 
baby and MaryAnn are doing well. 
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/134 Letter. W. M. Baines to Annie Baines 

Short summary of family news. 
1 item 
 

17 Sep 1872     

U DDBH/26/12/135 Letter. W. M. Baines to John W. Jon 

Notice agreeing to leave Hemingborough Hall.   
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/136 Letter. John W. Jon to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that he has received the notice for the 
quitting of Hemingborough Hall.   
1 item 
 

3 Oct 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/137 Letter. Mary Baines to W. M. Baines 

Short note saying that his father is unwell. 
1 item 
 

[Nov 1872] 

U DDBH/26/12/138 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Says he is still not feeling well - bad cough. Had 
guests for dinner including Lady Constance Wenlock. 
1 item 
 

27 Nov 1872 
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U DDBH/26/12/139 Letter. Emily Baines to W. M. Baines  
She is getting married again. Asks for his blessing. 
Hopes he is well and says she will come and visit them 
soon.  
1 item 
 

5 Dec 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/140 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Looking forward to the arrival of Kate and Rosa. Will 
send a coach to collect them. 
1 item 
 

12 Dec 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/141 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Asks him about Selby (where William has moved to). 
Instructs him to argue the rent. Encloses a small note 
from his mother. 
1 item 
 

21 Dec 1872 

U DDBH/26/12/142 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Disappointed that MaryAnn cannot make it. Met Lord 
Wenlock recently to discuss business. 
1 item 
 

28 Dec 1872 

U DDBH/26/13 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Hemingbrough 
Hall 
From various correspondents.  
78 items 
 

1872-1874 

U DDBH/26/13/1 Letter. W. P. Fooks, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines   
Congratulations on another daughter. Hunter is very 
hard up at Coromandel and will probably soon return 
to the old place (Mount Eden). The family are now at 
Parnell. An addition of 3 Jan 1873 - Hunter has passed 
the affair of the property to Mr Dyer and has left the 
house to people of very bad character.  
1 item 
 

18 Dec 1872 

U DDBH/26/13/2 Letter. A. Hunter, Parnell, to W. M. Baines 

Tells of their escape from Matarohera just before all 
their friends and neighbours were killed. Speaks of the 
preparations ahead of the Duke's visit. May be coming 
to England to stay for a while. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/3 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him to come to Bell Hall to discuss the best 
course of action relating to Mr Whitehead's wish to buy 
land from them 

1 item 
 

4 Feb 1873 
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U DDBH/26/13/4 Letter. Mr Whitehead, York, to M. V. Baines 

Asks for a reduction in the price of the land he is 
wishing to rent as he is only going to occupy around 
two thirds of it. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/5 Letter. Mr Whitehead, York, to M. V. Baines 

Believes he will have to give up all idea of renting the 
land as he had not considered the extra costs that 
would go with the rent. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/6 Letter. Mr Whitehead, York, to M. V. Baines 

Wishes to arrange a meeting. 
1 item 
 

early 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/7 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Very poor weather which is affecting them. Hopes to 
see him soon if the weather improves. Received a 
letter from Emily who is back from Paris. 
1 item 
 

early 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/8 Letter. Mr Parson, York, to W. M. Baines 

Description of a large house (Ash House, Haxby) that 
William might be interested in and an invitation to 
meet. 
1 item 
 

Feb 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/9 Letter. A. Walker to H. M. Bannister 
Missed him at the arranged meeting place and time. 
Would like to arrange another meeting if that is 
possible.   
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/10 Letter. Mr Sowusly, Tadcaster, to W. M. Baines 

Has not got enough two inch pipes in stock to meet 
Baines' request. If Baines cannot wait for more pipes 
to be made, he will collect some from a different yard. 
On back of letter is a price list for the pipes. 
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/11 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Both he and Mary are unwell. Will send the omnibus to 
pick up William and his family as they are going to Bell 
Hall. Other family news. 
1 item 
 

23 Mar 1873 
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U DDBH/26/13/12 Letter. R. Verdon, London, to W. M. Baines 

Met a man named Augustus Franks who was in the 
British Museum on work relating to New Zealand. 
Franks said he would write to Baines to see if he could 
enhance his collection. Asks for help to find a copy of 
Joseph Banks' translation of 'Tasmanian Voyages'. 
1 item 
 

19th cent.  

U DDBH/26/13/13 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Both are feeling unwell. As William will not have 
possession of his new house until 6 Apr, his wife and 
children are to stay at Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/14 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Children are well. He is feeling slightly better. William's 
mother is much the same. Asks if he is busy packing 
and selling his house.   
1 item 
 

28 Mar 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/15 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Both are still unwell. Bad weather is really affecting 
them. He has been to the farm. Hopes that William will 
be able to visit them the coming Monday. Has sent 
Esther home in the carriage. Hopes MaryAnn is 
improving and that all the children are well. 
1 item 
 

3 May 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/16 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Otahuhu, to W. M. Baines  
Called in on journey from Thames to Auckland to find 
Fooks dying and his wife taking it very much to heart. 
Asks for his advice on what to do and asks him to write 
to Fooks' family. 
1 item 
 

7 May 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/17 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Fooks has died and he is trying to gain enough money 
to send his wife and children to England. Asks for his 
help and that he contact Fooks' family. 
1 item 
 

11 May 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/18 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

List of items she has sold, including a bookcase and a 
chest of drawers. 
1 item 
 

21 Jun 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/19 Letter. A. Hunter to W. M. Baines 

Account for rent and repair to houses. 
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1874 
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U DDBH/26/13/20 Letter. W. M. Baines, York, to P. V. Fooks  
Sending a Power of Attorney to collect rents and debts 
and let or sell the house at Mount Eden and the land at 
Waikato. Has asked Mr Hunter to remove bad tenants 
- prefers to give him a present rather than a 
percentage of the rents. Envelope marked 'Deceased'. 
1 item 
 

21 Jun 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/21 Letter. W. M. Baines, York, to Hunter (copy to Fooks)  
Sending Power of Attorney as he has written many 
times to get an account of the rents for his house. 
1 item 
 

21 Jun 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/22 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Financial matters concerning the Wigginton tenants. 
Asks whether he is to dine with the Palmers. Asks him 
to send a pot of Selby Soap. 
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/23 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Mr Askwith is coming to visit Bell Hall and he asks if 
William will come for the day. Both are unwell. Emily is 
visiting for the day. 
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/24 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Small note asking him to leave the waistcoat as it is 
too small.  
1 item 
 

11 Jul 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/25 Letter. J. Potter to W. M. Baines 

Has measured the plantation and estimated the 
amount of posts needed to surround it. Should 
encourage hay growth. 
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/26 Letter. Jno. Carr, York, to W. M. Baines 

Informing him of the new rents for Wigginton farm 
following the rise of his valuation rents. Hopes to 
provide a detailed valuation and report by the following 
Thursday. 
1 item 
 

12 Jul 1873 
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U DDBH/26/13/27 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Has been to the farm. Surprised not to have seen him 
recently as he has plenty of vegetables and fruit to 
give him. Mother is very unwell and seemingly 
bedridden. Asks him to come and visit them and bring 
soap and a box of biscuits. Beckett wishes to see 
William concerning Leighton Drain. Considering asking 
Ball for medical advice. 
1 item 
 

25 Jul 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/28 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Glad to hear he is improving. May be visiting him in the 
coming week as he has to do some shopping at 
Fishergate. He is still unwell. Hopes MaryAnn is not 
working too much despite not having a cook.   
1 item 
 

2 Aug 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/29 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for not coming to see him but weather was 
too bad. Repeats much of what he said in the previous 
letter [U DDBH/26/13/28]. 
1 item 
 

4 Aug 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/30 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Mother is very unwell. Had to call out the doctor. She 
asked for champagne and the doctor approved 
claiming it calms the nerves.   
1 item 
 

14 Aug 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/31 Letter. Emily Staton, The Vicarage, to W. M. Baines  
Glad he likes the photograph. She has also sent one 
for Fanny. Has become a shareholder in the Co-
operative. Describes the shop and its goods. General 
family and local news. 
1 item 
 

9 Sep 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/32 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Is very unwell. Has consulted the doctor. Letter from 
Ann Tinsley. Struggling to eat. Hopes they are well and 
that MaryAnn is improving. 
1 item 
 

10 Sep 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/33 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him to come as soon as possible as mother is 
in a very bad condition. Is very short of breath. Asks 
for MaryAnn to come also. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/13/34 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Both are now extremely poorly. Breathing is very 
difficult but hopes a restful night will help. 
1 item 
 

1 Oct 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/35 Letter. W. Fooks, Bowman's Lodge, Kent, to W. M. 
Baines 

Letter from Fooks' mother saying that his widow is 
travelling to England. As MaryAnn Baines is related to 
the woman she is asking for help in the maintenance 
of her and her family.  
1 item 
 

8 Oct 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/36 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines   
Both are still very unwell. Are sleeping and eating 
poorly.   
1 item 
 

12 Oct 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/37 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Still very unwell. Thinks mother is worsening. Still not 
eating properly. Asks God to have mercy upon them. 
Feels very lonely.      
1 item 
 

14 Oct 1873 

U DDBH/26/13/38 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Having to send the children home as they are too 
feeble to look after them. Their man has also been 
taken ill. Received a note from John James. Heat is 
intolerable.    
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/39 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him to send his W. Hoppeises book and the 
marking iron as he wishes to measure a felled tree. 
Has been up all night with cow calving. Only one calf 
so far. No mention of ill health. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/40 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Doctor thinks mothers condition has turned for the 
worst. She has asked to see William so he has sent a 
carriage.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/41 Letter. Fanny Baines, The Poplars, Patricroft, to W. M. 
Baines 

Sorry to hear they could not come and visit. Have 
visited Manchester. Will return to York tomorrow and 
hopes William will meet them.   
1 item 
 

15 Jan 1874 
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U DDBH/26/13/41a Transfer for £37.4.7 by W. M. Baines to the Bank of 
New Zealand 

1 item 
 

17 Jan 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/42 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Parnell, New Zealand, to W. M. 
Baines 

Apologises for not sending a balance sheet regularly. 
Was doing well in Coromandel until the smash of the 
Green Harp Gold Mining Company. Has lost virtually 
all his money and will have to start again with no 
capital.   
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/43 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Says his mother is feeling better but he is still very 
poorly. Asks him to visit soon and says he will send the 
coach. Note at bottom of page written by W. M. Baines 
- 'The last letter I ever had from my dear Father' (20 
Jan 1874). 
1 item 
 

[20 Jan 1874] 

U DDBH/26/13/44 Letter. H. Watts, St Thomas' Hospital, to W. M. Baines 

Pleased to hear he has had his book published. Other 
general news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/45 Letter. W. D. Hunter, Sydney, to W. M. Baines 

Very dull and lonely in Sydney but there are more 
opportunities than in Auckland. 'Money seems to be 
the only passport to society here'. Is working as a 
draughtsman in an engineering office where he is 
doing well and can send his mother 4u/- a week. 
Advises Baines not to come out to Australia again as it 
is much changed.   
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/46 Letter. Mary Crigan, Burton Rectory, to W. M. Baines 

Gives her deepest sympathies on the loss of his father 
and mother. Saying it was a mercy they died so close 
to one another. She is the last survivor of the group of 
friends (she is 83). Says she will try and visit when she 
can. Family news - her son Charles has moved to 
London with his wife and ten children.  
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/47 Letter. T. Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Gives advice on selling Fishergate House and on 
settling affairs relating to Bell Hall. Apologises for not 
coming to Mary's funeral but he could not get away. 
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1874 
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U DDBH/26/13/48 Letter. J. J. Harrison, Harrogate, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending William £1000 as repayment of a loan. 
Hopes all is well. 
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/49 Conditions and remarks for the sale of timber between 
J. Bellerby & Sons and W. M. Baines 

Agrees to pay £305 in cash for roughly 350 chunks of 
wood.    

1 item 
 

7 Apr 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/50 Letter. W. H. Wright, Hemingborough Vicarage, to W. 
M. Baines 

Thanks William for his advice and offers any service 
that he can give to him. There was a dance at 
Hemingborough Hall the previous evening but it was 
not as good as those held by William and his family. 
1 item 
 

7 Apr 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/51 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines 

There is trouble in Auckland. Wonders if William has 
considered selling his property there. 
1 item 
 

11 May 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/51a Preface. 'The Narrative of Edward Crewe' by William 
Mortimer Baines 

First proof. 
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/52 Letter. Sampson Low Marston & Co, London, to W. M. 
Baines 

Received £68.15.0 for a book which has been 
advertised in their lists - they will use correspondents 
in New Zealand and Australia and suggest that the 
Colonial press should be notified with two accounts. 
Includes prospectus of and preface for New Zealand. 
'The Narrative of Edward Crewe' by W. H. Baines 
along with a selection of press extracts and the 
contract between the two. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/53 Copy letter. Hugh H. Lusk, Auckland, to R. Dyer 
Notification that the official agent has registered a 
memorial against the mount Eden property of Mr W. M. 
Baines in respect of a debt of £40. 
1 item 
 

23 May 1874 
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U DDBH/26/13/54 Letter. W. K. Graham, London, to W. M. Baines 

Approves of the book. Says he can picture most of the 
adventures. Believe the public are interested in New 
Zealand adventures and that the book will do very well. 
1 item 
 

30 Jun 1874  

U DDBH/26/13/55 Letter. M. MacKenzie, 25 De Grey Street, to M. V. 
Baines 

Williams god son is now doing well. They enjoy his 
book very much. Hopes they can find new lodgings 
soon. Asks when the book is due out. Family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/56 Remembrance card. Frances Bell  
Frances died at the age of 81 on 26 Jul 1874. 
1 item 
 

29 Jul 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/57 Letter. Allan Atwood, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines  
Says he almost turned a package away but saw it 
contained Baines' book and kept it. Is glad the critics 
have written nicely about it. Thanks him for sending Mr 
Wright's poems and note.  
1 item 
 

12 Aug 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/58 Letter. Jno. Cox, Weston Super Mare, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks William for the copy of his book. Praises it 
highly saying he learnt a great deal about New 
Zealand. Hopes they are settling in well at Bell Hall. 
General news. 
1 item 
 

13 Aug 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/59 Letter. Jane Royds, Heysham Cottage, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is going to come and visit them at Bell Hall after not 
hearing from them regarding the children going to see 
her. Asks him to thank Kate for her copy of the notice 
of his book and for a copy of a portrait that she did on 
her request. 
1 item 
 

3 Oct 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/60 Letter. A. Kennedy, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his feedback on his work on New 
Zealand. Lists several names who he suggests Baines 
should send his work to. 
1 item 
 

8 Oct 1874 
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U DDBH/26/13/61 Letter. Clapisto Backhill, Farnham Cottage, to W. M. 
Baines 

Has been to the sea side for a month on the orders of 
the doctor for a change of air. Returned to find a letter 
containing the opinions of the press towards Baines 
book. Says they were complimentary.  
1 item 
 

20 Aug 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/62 Letter. J. Dixon, Laanecooria, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear of mother and father's death. Contains 
two press cuttings from the York Herald featuring 
reviews of Baines' book. 
1 item 
 

30 Jun 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/63 Letter. T. B. Whytehead, 13 South Parade, to W. M. 
Baines  
Had forwarded his book to the New Zealand Herald 
and has enclosed the review (missing) for his perusal.  
1 item 
 

19 Sep 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/64 Letter. G. Owen, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Asks if there is to be another volume as the first book 
only covered a period of five years. Points out a few 
inaccuracies in the first volume. 
1 item 
 

19 Sep 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/65 Letter. Jno. Carr, York, to W. M. Baines 

Valuation list of timber for sale at Deighton.    
1 item 
 

26 Nov 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/66 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Carrey is moving to Brisbane. Talks of their children. 
Eddie is working in the bank at Grafton and goes 
kangaroo hunting. 
1 item 
 

20 Nov 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/67 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the presents. Family news. 
1 item 
 

26 Nov 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/68 Letter. J. Coleman, Estate Office, Escrick, to W. M. 
Baines 

Discusses the possibility of Baines exchanging land in 
Deighton with Lord Wenlock. Believes it will be 
mutually beneficial.  
1 item 
 

14 Dec 1874 
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U DDBH/26/13/69 Letter. J. Coleman, Estate Office, Escrick, to W. M. 
Baines 

Lord Wenlock is refusing to agree to the exchange 
unless Baines is willing to negotiate further. 
1 item 
 

18 Dec 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/70 Letter. Wm. Bellerby, Hungate Saw Mills, York, to W. 
M. Baines  
Agrees to build Baines' greenhouse for the price of 
£85.0.0. 
1 item 
 

29 Dec 1874 

U DDBH/26/13/71 Letter  
Prices and designs of mourning materials from the 
London General Mourning Warehouse. Contains two 
samples. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/72 Letter. Emily Staton, The Vicarage, to W. M. Baines 

Family news. Holiday plans. Brother is to marry Fanny 
Pease. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/73 Letter. Emily Staton, Melton Mowbray, to W. M. Baines 

Family news. Thanks him for the parasol. Have been 
visiting lots of people. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/74 Letter. Rosa Baines, Eccles, to W. M. Baines 

Family news. Is coming to see them soon. Hopes they 
are well. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/75 Letter. Lady Constance Lawley, The Villa, Escrick, to 
M. V. Baines   
Apology for trespassing on Baines' land. She was 
collecting plants for Christmas decorations and hadn't 
considered whose land it was. 
1 item 
 

late 19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/13/76 Letter. W. M. Baines to Lady Constance Lawley 

Reply to previous letter. Says it is he who should be 
apologising as he had not meant to lose his temper. 
Had been aggrieved by other tenants just prior to their 
meeting. Says she is welcome to walk on his fathers 
plantations whenever she desires.    
1 item 
 

19th cent. 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 175 of 331 

U DDBH/26/14 Letters to William Mortimer Baines from R.C. Dyer, 
House, Estate & General Commission Agent, 
Shortland Street, Auckland, New Zealand 

20 items 
 

1874-1880 

U DDBH/26/14/1 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Rents from Messrs James and Atkinson in the two 
houses - the latter gives no rent but when they put the 
bailiff in there was not enough furniture to pay the 
arrears. They are still in possession of the property. Mr 
James is also in arrears with his rent. Accounts are 
attached. 
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1874 

U DDBH/26/14/2 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

No more rents have been received. He may be able to 
sell the property for £500. 
1 item 
 

7 Feb 1874 

U DDBH/26/14/3 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

The property will be sold at auction within three 
months unless he hears from him. 
1 item 
 

8 Jun 1874 

U DDBH/26/14/4 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines   
As he did not hear from him he had to act to prevent 
the auction particularly as two people were interested 
in buying the properties. He has received the Power of 
Attorney and he must send the deeds if he wishes 
them sold. Attached are a Power of Attorney of 1 
Sep1874, accounts and a copy of a printed notice of 
the Supreme Court for the properties to be auctioned. 
1 item 
 

24 Sep 1874 

U DDBH/26/14/5 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

The Atkinsons have left and the house is let at 6/- a 
week. 
1 item 
 

30 Oct 1874 

U DDBH/26/14/6 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Mr James has left the property and the house is let at 
12/- a week.   
1 item 
 

24 Dec 1874 

U DDBH/26/14/7 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Business matters including shares in the Mount Eden 
Gold Mining Company. Is sending a statement of 
account. 
1 item 
 

9 Jun 1875 
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U DDBH/26/14/8 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Talks about the tenants and his land in Waikato. 
1 item 
 

18 Dec 1875 

U DDBH/26/14/9 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Repairs to the property. There are new tenants. A 
statement of account is attached. 
1 item 
 

26 Aug 1876 

U DDBH/26/14/10 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Half-yearly statement of account. 
1 item 
 

29 Aug 1877 

U DDBH/26/14/11 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Describes the changes which have occurred in 
Auckland and Waikato, including the arrival of many 
capitalists to the region. With statement of account 
showing a small credit balance and a copy of Dyer's 
business card. 
5 items 
 

5 Mar 1878 

U DDBH/26/14/12 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Business is bad in New Zealand so it is hard to get 
rent - things must improve. Price of property in 
Waikato and Queen Street remains high. There have 
been great changes in Auckland. With half-yearly 
statement of account.   
2 items 
 

20 Aug 1878 

U DDBH/26/14/13 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

An account. A general depreciation in New Zealand 
due to bank and other failures in England that have 
been felt there. Also the tariff for insurance companies 
has been broken so they are all trying to undercut 
each other. With a statement of account. 
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1879 

U DDBH/26/14/14 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

No money to forward for some time as things are very 
bad. His son will now manage these affairs as he is 
leaving Auckland.   
1 item 
 

7 Jan 1880 

U DDBH/26/14/15 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Sending transfer for £12.6.7 to Baines through the 
Colonial Bank of New Zealand. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1880 
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U DDBH/26/14/16 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Sending transfer for £13.19.3 to Baines through the 
Colonial Bank of New Zealand. 
1 item 
 

25 May 1880 

U DDBH/26/14/17 Letter. R. C. Dyer, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

In accordance with instructions has handed over the 
agency of his house to Mrs Hunter of Parnell. 
1 item 
 

16 Jul 1880 

U DDBH/26/15 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall 
From various correspondents. 
54 items 
 

1875-1879 

U DDBH/26/15/1 Letter. Wm. Bellerby, Hungate Saw Mills, York, to W. 
M. Baines 

Needs the dimensions of the proposed greenhouse. 
Was also unable to reduce the price of the estimate. 
1 item 
 

1 Jan 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/2 Letter. Wm. Bellerby, York, to W. M. Baines 

Agrees to build the greenhouse for the price of 
£85.10.0 plus additions if they should arise. 
1 item 
 

15 Jan 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/3 Letter. H. Binks, Whixley, York, to W. M. Baines 

Arrived safely home with his pig. The station master 
complained that the pig should not be travelling by 
passenger train. His married sister is dying.   
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/4 Letter. F. Walker, Yorkshire Club, to W. M. Baines 

Asks him to write to Broadley to ask him to authorize 
the club secretary to place him as Baines' seconder. 
Mr Brown has already placed his name down as 
proposer. 
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/5 Letter. James Hartley and Co, Wear Glass Works, 
Sunderland, to W. M. Baines 

Have sent Baines letter received from Mr Haist of 
Selby. Their chance of supplying his order is remote 
due to lack of trade and financial problems.  
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/6 Letter. J. Royds, Heysham Cottage, to W. M. Baines 

Asking if he would like a horse which she no longer 
has needs for. Believes it would be perfect for 
ploughing. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1875 
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U DDBH/26/15/7 Letter. Jno. Carr, Blake Street, York, to W. M. Baines 

Arranging a meeting for the coming Saturday. Asks 
him to bring a stamped envelope which contains items 
needed for the meeting. 
1 item 
 

2 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/8 Letter. Emily Staton, York, to W. M. Baines 

Family news. Thanks him for the cheque. Mr Broadley 
has bought Melton Hill for £90,000. Her brother is 
going to rent it off him. 
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/9 Letter. E. H. Roe, Patricroft, to W. M. Baines   
Enquiring if he could help him find a decent horse. 
Hopes to see him and the family soon. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/10 Letter. Augusta Beckett, Farnham Street, Martin, to W. 
M. Baines  
Family news. Is an old friend of his mothers. Known 
the family for 50 years. Is enquiring after the various 
members of the Baines family. Invites them to stay at 
summer. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/11 Letter. Ethel Shardly, Patricroft, to W. M. Baines 

Family news. Settling in. Husband is very busy with 
new patients. Hopes they are well. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/12 Letter. C. Askwith, Ripon, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for sending the items left to her in his 
mothers will. However has not received a ring which 
was originally her mothers.   
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/13 Letter. Jno. Cox, Nutgate Farm, Wordburn, to W. M. 
Baines 

Family news. Has suffered from the cold. Glad to hear 
they are all well at Bell Hall.  
1 item 
 

27 Mar 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/14 Letter. A. Hunter, Auckland, to M. V. Baines 

Glad she can see Fran so often - sure she is better off 
in England. Her mother is to go to Australia. She finds 
teaching a wearing life. Rose has changed a lot.  
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1875 
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U DDBH/26/15/15 Letter. A. Hunter, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the copy of his book. Hopes it is not the 
last book he will write. Sorry she did not send a report 
of the massacre but his request came a very difficult 
time. She is working as a governess/housekeeper from 
7 in the morning to 10 at night. Presumes that her 
mother and younger members of the family will join her 
brother in Australia soon.   
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/16 Letter. A. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

At home with her mother. Doesn't know what she'll do 
when she goes to Australia. Wishes she could come 
and care for MaryAnn's children. Tom Verdon has 
been unable to get any work here and wishes he was 
back in Ireland. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/17 Letter. R. Hunter to M. V. Baines 

She is a grandmother now as Rose has had a son. 
She is considering moving to Australia. Ted is working 
in the Surveyor General's Office in Sydney. Eddie is in 
the Bank at Grafton. They wish her to go to Sydney 
from where it is only three days to Brisbane. 
1 item 
 

10 May 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/18 Letter. J. Potter, Wigginton Lodge, to W. M. Baines 

Has paid £140.13.4 for the half-yearly rent of the 
Lodge into the Union Bank. 
1 item 
 

28 Jun 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/19 Letter. Emily Staton, York, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the picture of Harry. Has sent him £10 
as a gift for the gesture. Family news. 
1 item 
 

12 Aug 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/20 Letter. J. A. Hill, Pickering, to W. M. Baines 

Giving information on the age captains take boys on 
vessels and on various navy schools. Also gives the 
cost of sending a child away to sea - £50 aboard the 
Britannia.   
1 item 
 

14 Aug 1875 

U DDBH/26/15/21 Letter. C. Askwith, Ripon, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his hospitality on his recent visit. Invites 
them to visit Ripon. Hopes they settle in Bell Hall for 
many years. 
1 item 
 

14 Sep 1875 
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U DDBH/26/15/22 Letter. T. F. Fairfax, Belbro' Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Forwarding letter he has received from the keeper at 
Mosely about a fox that has been caught in a trap. 
Hopes this will be of help in catching the people who 
are setting the traps. 
1 item 
 

12 Jan 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/23 Letter. T. H. Preston, Moreby Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Has been speaking to the Superintendent of the police 
and he believes a man named Fountain and one or 
two others from the village are responsible for the fox 
trapping. Asks him for any information he might have. 
Says there are few free foxes left to hunt. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/15/24 Letter. T. H. Preston, Moreby Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for his quick reply - wished others did the 
same. Missed him at Bell Hall but had tea with Mrs 
Baines. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/15/25 Letter. Hewley M. Baines, Scarborough, to W. M. 
Baines 

Small letter telling of a failed prank. Hopes mother and 
Fanny got home safely. 
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/26 Letter. F. R. Pease, Hull, to W. M. Baines 

Received his letter of 17th. Will postpone the 
arrangements in reference to Mrs Staton's trust till Mr 
Parnell returns from the South. 
1 item 
 

18 Apr 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/27 Letter. Emily Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for any inconvenience she has caused 
regarding her settlement. Claims Mr Pease made it 
sound simple. Was made between their fathers so she 
asks him not to hold her responsible.   
1 item 
 

16 May 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/28 Letter. Manning Wardle and Co, Boyne Engine Works, 
Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Bill for the vertical engine they are building for Baines 
at the cost of £180. With a traced plan of the engine. 
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1876 
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U DDBH/26/15/29 Letter. J. Davis, Fulford, to W. M. Baines 

He has sent Baines the account for the work he is 
doing. Asks him to check it and to arrange a meeting if 
there are any problems. With the account - lists the 
work being done and cost. 
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/30 Letter. Royal Geographical Society to W. M. Baines 

List of the meetings of the Geographical Society and 
Baines' Fellow's Ticket.    
1 item 
 

17 Oct 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/31 Letter. Simpson, Low, Marston, Searle and Rivington, 
London, to W. M. Baines 

Balance sheet relating to the publication and sales of 
'The Narrative of Edward Crewe'. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/32 Letter. Dibb & Raley Solicitors, Barnsley, to W. M. 
Baines 

Miss Augusta Becketts has left Rose Baines £50 in her 
will. The solicitors are asking Baines to agree to take 
the money for Rose until she is 21 so they can close 
the trust. 
1 item 
 

8 Dec 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/33 Letter. Jno Cox, Bognor, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his letter. Says Hewley is beginning to 
look just like him. Apologises for not being in London 
last time they were there but he was ill. Says Bognor 
hasn't changed much but believes Baines would find it 
boring.   
1 item 
 

16 Dec 1876 

U DDBH/26/15/34 Letter. Dibb & Raley Solicitors, Barnsley, to W. M. 
Baines 

Acknowledgement that they have sent Baines a 
cheque for the £50 that was left to Rose Baines by 
Miss Augusta. 
1 item 
 

23 Jan 1877 

U DDBH/26/15/35 Letter. W. H. H. Broadley, Beverley, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks Baines for asking him to be his child's 
godfather. However, believes that he is too old to fulfil 
the duties that role entails. Would have accepted if a 
few years younger. Is pleased to hear of an impending 
marriage.    
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/15/36 Letter. C. Askwith, Ripon, to W. M. Baines 

Is selling his shares in the York library and is enquiring 
if Baines wishes to buy them. He would not have to 
pay subscription till the following February. The shares 
are £2. He asks Baines that if he does not want to buy 
them would he please ask friends who he thinks might 
be interested. Hopes the family is doing well. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1877 

U DDBH/26/15/37 Letter. H. M. Harrison, Harrogate, to W. M. Baines 

Will be very pleased to be the child's godfather. Asks 
Baines to arrange a proxy for him at the ceremony 
however as he will be unable to attend. Plans to send 
the child a present. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/15/38 Letter. Wm. Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks Baines for his cooperation in a recent matter 
involving the Berwickes and apologises for any 
inconvenience he may have caused. Invites him for 
lunch and shooting. 
1 item 
 

17 May 1877 

U DDBH/26/15/39 Letter. Marshall and Snelgrove, Scarborough, to W. M. 
Baines  
Acknowledgement that they have received the £9.9.0 
for a black silk dress. With the receipt and order form. 
1 item 
 

19 Jul 1877 

U DDBH/26/15/40 Letter. Royal Geographical Society to W. M. Baines 

Admission and regulations for evening meetings. With 
a list of meetings and Baines yearly Fellow's Ticket. 
1 item 
 

28 Oct 1877 

U DDBH/26/15/41 Letter. W. H. H. Broadley, Brough, to W. M. Baines  
Apologises for not being able to except their invitation 
to come and stay at Bell Hall as he already has plans. 
1 item 
 

2 Jan 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/42 Letter. W. V. Hunter, Cooerwull Woollen Mills, 
Bowenfells, to W. M. Baines 

Has been very busy with the new undertaking. Asks 
Baines to choose a man to help him run the business 
as it is becoming too big to do on his own. Hopes that 
he will keep Baines to his promise to find him a lady 
partner. With requirements for the working manager he 
needs. 
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1878 
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U DDBH/26/15/43 Letter. N. G. Graham, St Helens, London, to W. M. 
Baines   
Sorry they couldn't meet up. Hopes for better luck 
time. Congratulates him and Fanny on her coming 
wedding. Feels he is getting old. Other news. 
1 item 
 

7 Feb 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/44 Letter. A. Tinsley, Easingwold, to W. M. Baines 

Small note to say she will be coming to Bell Hall on the 
13th. Is currently visiting her sisters. 
1 item 
 

9 Mar 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/45 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Wellington, to W. M. Baines 

An advertisement he has seen in the paper seeking a 
Robert Hunter or his representative if dead, to benefit 
by some money. With copy of advertisement.  
1 item 
 

24 May 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/46 Letter. East Riding Constabulary to W. M. Baines   
An account of extra expenses for special duty at Bell 
Hall for Miss Baines' wedding. 
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/47 Letter. J. K. Wood, Yorkshire Gentleman's Cricket 
Club, to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that Baines has been elected a member 
of the club. Subscription is 2 guineas. With a list of all 
the club members and information on the clubs dinner. 
1 item 
 

7 Sep 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/48 Letter. J. P. Poad, Fulford Grange, to J. Carr,York  
Encloses a copy of the subscribers to buy land near 
York with the plan of widening a road. Baines' name is 
featured on the list and is giving £1. 
1 item 
 

29 Nov 1878 

U DDBH/26/15/49 Letter. S. Tate, Deighton, to W. M. Baines 

His wife has died that day. Asks Baines to excuse his 
absence from Bell Hall the coming Monday. Says he 
will be able to look after the business still. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1879 

U DDBH/26/15/50 Letter. Wm. W. Hargrove, Yorkshire Fine Art and 
Industrial Exhibition, York, to W. M. Baines  
Requesting that Baines contributes some pieces of art 
for the exhibition. Claims that many of the nobility in 
Yorkshire have donated pieces. 
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1879 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 184 of 331 

U DDBH/26/15/51 Letter. Wm. W. Hargrove, Yorkshire Fine Art and 
Industrial Exhibition, York, to W. M. Baines   
Thanking him for agreeing to donate some artwork. As 
their staff is very busy he asks Baines himself to 
choose the pieces he thinks are best and send him a 
list of the selected pictures.  
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1879  

U DDBH/26/15/52 Copy letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to Wm. W. 
Hargrove 

A list of 12 paintings which he is donating to the 
exhibition. Asks Hargrove to send a man the following 
Wednesday or Thursday to collect them.   
1 item 
 

22 Apr 1879 

U DDBH/26/15/53 Letter. Royal Geographical Society to W. M. Baines 

Admission and regulations for evening meetings. With 
a list of meetings and Baines yearly Fellow's Ticket. 
1 item 
 

25 Oct 1879 

U DDBH/26/15/54 Letter. Jno. Cox, Notting Hill, to W. M. Baines  
Forgot his mitts at Bell Hall but says Baines is 
welcome to keep them as they will stretch to his size.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/16 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall 
From various correspondents. 
94 items 
 

1880-1889 

U DDBH/26/16/1 Two very small books from Ethel and Hilda Baines to 
W. M. Baines 

Ethel's is on King William I and Hilda's is a collection of 
drawings. Books appear to be hand sown. 
2 items 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/16/2 Small note. Ethel Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Letter attached to the small books. She hopes he likes 
them. 
1 item 
 

1 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/16/2a Printed announcement  
D. V. Hunter has commenced business as general 
storekeeper, forwarding and general commission 
agent at Hunter's Wharf, Ballina, Richmond River.  
1 item 
 

c.1880 

U DDBH/26/16/3 Letter. Wm. Menzies, Scarborough, to W. M. Baines 

Will be his pleasure to testify his opinion as to the 
toughness of Baines constitution. 
1 item 
 

18 Mar 1880 
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U DDBH/26/16/4 Letter. Lord Wenlock, Escrick Park, to W. M. Baines 

Invite to dinner on the following Saturday. 
1 item 
 

2 Aug 1880 

U DDBH/26/16/5 Letter. R. Hunter, Parnell, to W. M. Baines 

He has no money to send because of bad tenants. 
She had been advised that he should send a Power of 
Attorney to Mr Hunter to act over the debts. There is a 
new property tax. Family and local news. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/16/6 Letter. W. Garbutt, Blackpool, to W. M. Baines 

Ann Tinsley has died. On behalf of Mr Tinsley he 
thanks Baines for his deepest sympathies and says he 
will write soon.   
1 item 
 

8 May 1881 

U DDBH/26/16/7 Letter. D. V. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

Fred, Ned and Nellie are all settled on the river in a 
sugar growing area. He would like to visit England and 
then look for a wife. 
1 item 
 

24 Oct 1881 

U DDBH/26/16/8 Letter. R. Hunter, Mount Eden, to M. V. Baines 

Is very lonely as all the children have left. Family news.  
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1882 

U DDBH/26/16/9 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Mount Eden Road, to W. M. 
Baines  
Has received the Power of Attorney. He will inspect 
Baines' land at Mangatawhiri and take possession of it. 
With a note relating to the Power of Attorney. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1882 

U DDBH/26/16/10 Letter. R. Hunter, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines 

She is sending an order for £5. Conditions are 
improving after a long bad period - people are 
becoming rich (though not them) and there are new 
buildings going up. 
1 item 
 

1 Nov 1883 

U DDBH/26/16/11 Report to shareholders of North and East Yorkshire 
Conservative Newspaper and Printing Company Ltd.   
With a receipt for five shares bought by Baines at the 
cost of £7.10.0. 
1 item 
 

26 Oct 1882 

U DDBH/26/16/12 Letter. Royal Geographical Society to W. M. Baines 

Admission and regulations for evening meetings. With 
a list of meetings and Baines yearly Fellow's Ticket. 
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1882 
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U DDBH/26/16/13 Letter. The Bursar, Rugby School, to W. M. Baines  
Receipt for fees for the advent and lent terms at Rugby 
School for H. M. Baines. Total cost is £49.12.11. 
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1883 

U DDBH/26/16/14 Letter. J. Coleman, Escrick, to W. M. Baines 

Is unable to say anything about a possible exchange 
[of land] until he hears from Lord Wenlock. He wishes 
to install a drain which would encroach on Baines' 
land. Says he will do his utmost to create as little 
damage as possible. 
1 item 
 

17 Oct 1883 

U DDBH/26/16/15 Letter. Royal Geographical Society to W. M. Baines 

Admission and regulations for evening meetings. With 
a list of meetings and Baines yearly Fellow's Ticket. 
1 item 
 

6 Oct 1883 

U DDBH/26/16/16 Letters. W. Houlgate, York, to W. M. Baines and W. M. 
Baines to J. K. Burton 

Two letters concerning compensation relating to a dog 
bite.   
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1884 

U DDBH/26/16/17 Letters. F. C. Fooks, Crayford, to W. M. Baines and M. 
V. Baines 

Thanks William for his present. Thanks MaryAnn for 
making her godmother. Family news. 
2 items 
 

21 Jun 1884 

U DDBH/26/16/18 Letter. J. Barstow, Rosedale, to W. M. Baines  
Invites him to a shoot. Asks him to try and bring one or 
two dogs.   
1 item 
 

c.1884 

U DDBH/26/16/19 Letter. T. Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Discussing the proposed marriage of Rosa Baines to 
her cousin Charles. Fears the offspring of the couple 
may not develop physically and mentally due to the 
relation of the couple. Also fears Charles would not get 
a job so asks Baines only allow the marriage when he 
has taken employment. Plans for the wedding. 
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/20 Letter. Lord Wenlock, Escrick Park, to W. M. Baines 

Is agreeable to an exchange of land. Wants to meet so 
they can discuss terms and go through the matter 
thoroughly. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1885 
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U DDBH/26/16/21 Letter. F. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

Is on a visit to see the children and grandchildren. Has 
heard that the cottage at Mount Eden has burnt down 
but Hunter plans to rebuild it. Family news. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/22 Letter. Reverend H. Green, Wistow Vicarage, Selby, to 
W. M. Baines  
Describes Wistow Church and invites Baines to visit. 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/23 Letter. Manager, Bank of New Zealand, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sending a draft for £171.18.6 at request of a Mr A. 
H. Hunter of Ballina, Richmond River. 
1 item 
 

27 Oct 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/24 Letter. F. Walker, Estate Office, Escrick, to W. M. 
Baines 

Confirmation that the exchange of land between 
Baines and Lord Wenlock has fallen through due to 
increasing costs for both parties. 
1 item 
 

2 Nov 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/25 Letter. F. Walker, Estate Office, Escrick, to W. M. 
Baines 

Wants to know if Baines wishes to consider the new 
proposal for the exchange of land having received the 
new valuation. 
1 item 
 

17 Nov 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/26 Copy letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to F. Walker 
Refuses to exchange land according to the new 
valuation. Believes the recent valuation was written 
solely for Lord Wenlock. Will not exchange until the 
valuation is altered. 
1 item 
 

18 Nov 1885 

U DDBH/26/16/27 Valuation mentioned above for Baines' land in the 
township of Deighton 

With a receipt for £1.1.0 sent by Baines. No record of 
the receiver.   
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1886 

U DDBH/26/16/28 Letter. C. Askwith, Ripon, to W. M. Baines 

Congratulates them on Kate's engagement having 
read the announcement in the Yorkshire Gazette.   
1 item 
 

c.1886 
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U DDBH/26/16/29 Letter. Wm. Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for not replying sooner but had planned to 
come and shoot at Bell Hall but the doctor warned him 
not to leave the house. His bronchitis is clearing up 
and he hopes to visit Bell Hall later in the season.   
1 item 
 

10 Sep 1886 

U DDBH/26/16/30 Letter. A. K. Heyland, Auckland, to W. M. Baines  
The Hunters are in New South Wales and all the girls 
are married but not very well. Business in Auckland is 
bad - no money. 
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1887 

U DDBH/26/16/31 Letter. F. A. Laurie, Blackheath, to W. M. Baines 

Has arrived in England for an eye operation. He has a 
letter for Baines from Australia which he will send if 
Baines notifies him of the correct address. 
1 item 
 

6 Sep 1887 

U DDBH/26/16/32 Letter. F. A. Laurie, Blackheath, to W. M. Baines 

Plans to return to New Zealand on the 27 Oct. Offers 
Baines any service he can offer. Has enclosed a letter 
from his uncle for Baines also had one from his aunt 
but he has lost it.  
1 item 
 

13 Sep 1887 

U DDBH/26/16/33 Letter. A. Hunter, St Albans Parsonage, Mount Roskill 
Road, New Zealand, to W. M. Baines 

Her brother Davie Hunter has died at Charters Towers, 
Australia. Believes her mother will never get over it. 
She is very busy but her present position ends in 
March when the Phillips go to England. There is 
terrible poverty there. 
1 item 
 

17 Nov 1887 

U DDBH/26/16/34 Letter. A. Hunter, St Albans Parsonage, Mount Roskill 
Roadd, New Zealand, to W. M. Baines 

Mr Phillips has asked her to go to England with them - 
would they let her stay with them for 9 or 12 months till 
she returns to the Phillips'. 
1 item 
 

4 Dec 1887 

U DDBH/26/16/35 Letter. T. G. Homewood, SS Mararva, to W. M. Baines 

Has seen his house in Mount Eden which is now on a 
seven year lease to a good tenant who would like to 
buy it, but he advises him to wait for better days as 
Auckland is very depressed. Gold has been found on 
the upper Thames. Australia has the gold fever and 
seems prosperous. He was very charmed with 
Sydney. Mentions Annie Hunter and other friends. 
1 item 
 

1 Feb 1888 
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U DDBH/26/16/36 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

Wants to return to Auckland. He put Baines' property 
in good hands when he left but property is depressed 
in Auckland so he advises him not to sell. With note of 
an account of repairs from D. F. Evans. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/37 Letter. Sister Marie Benom, Bayewater, to W. Baines  
Esther Baines (William's sister-in-law) is very near 
death. She does not recognise the sister or the doctor. 
Thanks Baines for arranging the funeral. She has 
made her will in words to Miss Teresa Maxwell. 
1 item 
 

26 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/38 Letter. Teresa Maxwell, Portman Square, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is happy to allow Baines and Dr Verdon to arrange the 
funeral for Esther. Informing him that the local priest 
has changed. Everything in her will is to go to Baines 
apart from a few photographs and religious statues.   
1 item 
 

27 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/39 Letter. Sister Marie Benom, Bayewater, to W. Baines 

Small note to update Baines on Esther's health. She is 
still alive but there is little change. Doctor thinks she 
may live for some days yet.   
1 item 
 

29 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/40 Telegram to W. M. Baines 

Esther has died. 
1 item 
 

31 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/41 Letter. Fanny Verdon, Hereford House, to W. M. 
Baines  
Family news. Was glad to see Esther before she died. 
The coffin is going to be made from polished elm.   
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/42 Letter. Sister Marie Benom, Bayewater, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for the flowers. Expects the undertaker to 
arrive shortly and remove the body. Following that she 
will arrange Esther's possessions and send them to 
Baines.   
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1888 
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U DDBH/26/16/43 Letter. Teresa Maxwell, Portman Square, to W. M. 
Baines 

She has not found much when sorting Esther's 
belongings. Believed she sold most of her things 
before she died as she needed the money. She asks 
Baines if she can keep the religious ornaments 
including statues and carvings. 
1 item 
 

25 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/44 Letter. Maxwell Bros. Undertakers, London, to W. M. 
Baines 

They are to build the coffin and send it, containing 
Esther, to York.   
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/45 Letter. Maxwell, Streatham, to W. M. Baines 

Telegram confirming he will pay the railway fees. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/46 Letter. J. Thackray and Son, Carriage Proprietors, 
York, to W. M. Baines  
Bill for cost of hearse, undertaker and expenses for 
Esther's funeral. Comes to £3.16.0. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/47 Letter. F. G. Homewood, SS Mararva, to W. M. Baines 

There is a possibility of selling his property. Talks 
about Baines' gold mine and his voyage. With a 
statement from the Property Tax Department, 
Wellington (20 Dec 1886). 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/48 Letter. Sister Marie Benom, Bayewater, to W. M. 
Baines 

Send a memorandum of the expenses relating to 
Esther. Although most has been paid off by money 
found in Esther's possession the doctor's bill is still 
unpaid. Asks Baines to send the money. She is 
sending two boxes of Esther's possessions. With the 
accounts of expenses and letter of receipt for £4.4.0. 
1 item 
 

6 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/49 Letter. Sister Marie Benom, Bayewater, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks Baines for the prompt reply and the cheque for 
the full amount. Hopes he will receive the boxes soon. 
Asks if he could send some flowers as London is very 
expensive. 
1 item 
 

8 Jun 1888 
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U DDBH/26/16/50 Letter. Sister Marie Benom, Bayewater, to W. M. 
Baines 

Tells Baines not to worry about sending Miss Maxwell 
any of the religious items he received from Esther as 
she already has enough. 
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/51 Letter. Maxwell Bros. Undertakers, London, to W. M. 
Baines  
Asking for a cheque for £9.8.0 to cover expenses they 
have incurred. 
1 item 
 

14 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/52 Letter. Teresa Maxwell, Portman Square, to W. M. 
Baines 

Asks Baines if she can keep some of the religious 
items which were in Esther Baines' possession. 
1 item 
 

14 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/53 Letter. Maxwell Bros. Undertakers, London, to W. M. 
Baines 

Bill for the coffin and other expenses. Total £16.18.0. 
1 item 
 

Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/54 Letter. G. Sellwood, Churchill, Waikato, to W. M. 
Baines 

Discusses the possibility of erecting fences between 
their properties. With specifications for the work. 
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/55 Letter. W. M. Baines to G. Sellwood, Waikato 

Will write to old Evans on the matter of the fencing. 
1 item 
 

27 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/56 Invitation. W. M. Baines to the opening of the New 
Lock by HRH Prince Albert Victor of Wales 

1 item 
 

14 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/57 Letter. F. Walker, Estate Office, Escrick, to W. M. 
Baines 

Will cut the wood Baines has requested. Asks Baines 
to reduce the amount of rabbits on the estate as they 
are causing damage to other areas. 
1 item 
 

28 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/58 Letter. W. K. Gordon, London, to W. M. Baines  
Saw Fanny and her family recently. He has leased his 
property. Land prices are very low in Australia and 
New Zealand. Has moved to London. Hopes to see 
them when he is next in Yorkshire.   
1 item 
 

29 Aug 1888 
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U DDBH/26/16/59 Letter. J. Royds, Heysham Cottage, to W. M. Baines 

Encloses a cheque for Hilda's schools and thanks him 
for news of the family. Family news. 
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/60 Letter. Thames Nautical Training College to W. M. 
Baines 

Letter of acceptance for William Phillip Baines to the 
college for the Michaelmas term to serve on board the 
Worcester.  
1 item 
 

4 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/61 Letter. Annie Hunter, Beckton Hall, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for the letters he forwarded to Fanny's, 
where she is staying and for letting her parents stay at 
his old house in Bellina. Wallace Fooks has been to a 
diamond merchant and has agreed a price for the two 
largest diamonds of ten shillings.   
1 item 
 

10 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/62 Copy birth certificate. William Phillip Baines  
Born on 5 May 1874. 
1 item 
 

4 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/63 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

Talks of his land in Waikato. Business is improving and 
they hope to go back to Auckland. With a newspaper 
cutting of 8 Oct - 'Brighter Times in New Zealand'. 
1 item 
 

28 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/64 Letter. Mary Marriott, Brussels, to W. M. Baines  
Thank him for the table he has made for them. They 
are having a wonderful time.   
1 item 
 

[Oct 1888] 

U DDBH/26/16/65 Letter. G. Sellwood, Churchill, to W. M. Baines  
The offer he made to lease Baines' land is open till 
January. He has been unable to find the roads laid 
down in the plan which was sent to him by Baines.   
1 item 
 

29 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/65a Copy letter. W. M. Baines to G. Sellwood, Churchill  
Accepts the offer to lease the land. 
1 item 
 

12 Dec 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/66 Letter. M. Askwith, St Georges Square, to W. M. 
Baines 

Couldn't make it to Bell Hall as was too busy. Would 
like Phillip to come up for a weekend if he could get 
leave. 
1 item 
 

8 Nov 1888 
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U DDBH/26/16/67 Letter. R. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

She is just leaving Ballina for Auckland where she will 
enquire into his property. 
1 item 
 

2 Dec 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/68 Letter. F. H. Eadon, Bangalore, to W. M. Baines 

News from India. Been shooting. Very warm. Wishes 
them a happy Christmas. 
1 item 
 

17 Dec 1888 

U DDBH/26/16/69 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

Advice on leasing Sellwood the land - suggests he 
adds extra clauses to go with the contract. Mrs Hunter 
has left for Auckland. 
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/70 Letter. R. Hunter, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Sellwood refused the latest terms for the land but there 
are plenty of others who are interested. 
1 item 
 

8 Feb 1889  

U DDBH/26/16/71 Letter. G. Sellwood, Churchill, to W. M. Baines 

Finally accepts Baines terms for the leasing of the 
prices. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/72 Papers relating to the exchange of shooting rights 
between Lord Wenlock and W. M. Baines 

1 item 
 

Mar 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/73 Letter. Mary Marriott, Droitwich, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him again for the table. Hopes they are well 
despite the cold weather. Hopes to visit Bell Hall soon. 
1 item 
 

11 Mar 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/74 Letter. Emily Staton, The Vicarage, Wakefield, to W. 
M. Baines 

Thanks him for the socks. Invites them to stay at the 
Vicarage when they are next in the area. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/75 Invitation. W. M. Baines to the annual meeting of the 
Cawood Feoffee Charity  
To be held on the 24 Apr.   
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/76 Copy. Lease of allotments 

Allotments Nos. 56-60 Maungatawhiri, Count of Eden.   
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1889 
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U DDBH/26/16/77 There is no letter at this number 
1 item 
 

n.d. 

U DDBH/26/16/78 Letter. W. E. Russell, Hertford, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks Baines for the table. Is moving to a small 
house but with a large garden and he hopes to build a 
tennis court. Invites Baines to visit when it's finished.  
1 item 
 

12 Apr 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/79 Letter. Walter Fooks, Crayford, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for recommending him as tutor for Mr 
Harrison's son. Hopes to visit Bell Hall during the 
summer. Phillip has gone back to his ship. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

8 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/80 Letter. W. M. Baines to Governor of York Castle 

Offer of some spare wood that he does not need 
having felled some oak trees. With reply on reverse 
(13 May) declining the offer. 
1 item 
 

9 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/81 Letter. R. Hunter, Mount Eden, to W. M. Baines  
They have been very unsettled since they came home. 
Auckland is very depressed at the moment.   
1 item 
 

10 Jun 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/82 Letter. Lord Wenlock, 8 Great Cumberland Place, to 
W. M. Baines  
Is pleased to hear of Baines' son's success at Coopers 
Hill. Encloses a certificate notifying that he has 
reached a good level of riding efficiency. Asks Baines 
to reconsider the proposed sale of a strip of land off 
York Road. 
1 item 
 

30 Jun 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/83 Letter. Kate Harrison, Holme on Swale, to M. V. 
Baines 

Is sending her a cheque to help raise her godchild. 
Family news. Hopes to visit Bell Hall soon. Asks if 
Fanny and her children are there at the moment. With 
a cheque from Charles Harrison for £22.15.0 

1 item 
 

3 Jul 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/84 Letter. D. F. Evans and Co., Auckland, to W. M. 
Baines 

Memorandum on Maugatawhiri Waikato lease and 
Mount Eden property leases. 
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1889 
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U DDBH/26/16/85 Letter. G. Sellwood, Churchill, to W. M. Baines 

Sending the lease for Baines to sign. 
1 item 
 

2 Sep 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/86 Letter. J. Raine, York, to W. M. Baines 

Response to a question regarding the dedication of the 
old chapel at Naburn. 
1 item 
 

15 Sep 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/87 Letter. Edith Brander, Fulford, to W. M. Baines 

Her husband is away in Brighton so will be unable to 
play [tennis] however her brother-in-law is staying with 
them and he would be prepared to take his place. 
1 item 
 

Sep 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/88 Letter. Lord Wenlock, Escrick Park, to W. M. Baines 

Is unable to give letter of introduction to women in 
India on Baines' son's behalf as he believes the 
women he knew have all returned home. Tells him to 
contact his brother who is stationed in India with the 
army. Also asks him to give the tenant of the cottage 
on the strip of land that Baines has sold to Wenlock 
the correct notice so he will find it empty.    
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/89 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to G. Sellwood, Churchill 
Is returning one of the deeds relating to the land in 
Maugatawhiri. 
1 item 
 

31 Oct 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/90 Letter. J. Raine, York, to W. M. Baines 

More information on the old chapel at Naburn. Wishes 
Baines luck with his coming lecture. 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/91 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Asks his father to write to the Captain and ask if he 
can leave the ship on the 20th in order that he may 
come and visit them. Has written to Rosa and Annie. 
Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

8 Dec 1889 

U DDBH/26/16/92 Report card. William Phillip Baines  
From the Thames Nautical Training College for the 
Michaelmas term. 
1 item 
 

 

 

late 1880s 
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U DDBH/26/17 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall 
From various correspondents. 
118 items 
 

1890-1899 

U DDBH/26/17/1 Documents relating to W. P. Baines time' at the 
Thames Nautical Training College 

Including circulars, accounts and a certificate awarded 
to W. P. Baines on leaving the Thames Nautical 
Training College. He achieved First Class in both his 
scholastic and seamanship studies.   
10 items 
 

1890 

U DDBH/26/17/2 Letter. A. T. Strangeway, York, to W. M. Baines 

Agrees a fee for hay he is buying from Baines. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/3 Letter. W. Whitwell, Balham, to W. M. Baines 

Recommends several books to Baines on botany as 
MaryAnn appears to be taking an interest. In the 
second part of the letter he gives a very detailed 
opinion of the geological make up of the Ouse and 
Derwent division. He also gives a brief personal 
history. With a sheet of rough diagrams to illustrate the 
geology of the Ouse and Derwent division. 
1 item 
 

24 Mar 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/4 Letter. Frank Eadon, Mysore, to W. M. Baines  
Is hunting in India however the torrential rain has 
meant little can be done. Describes the various 
animals he's seen including two bears who attacked 
him.   
1 item 
 

14 May 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/5 Letter. G. Palmes, Newark, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for advice on advertising Naburn Mill in a 
scientific journal for electricity. 
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/6 Letter. C. Empson, Sowerby Bridge,  to W. M. Baines 

Requests advice and assistance in buying a house. 
1 item 
 

29 Jun 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/6a Copy letter. W. M. Baines to A. Sellwood, Waikato   
Has received the £6.0.0 rent for the land in Waikato for 
which he is much obliged. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1890 
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U DDBH/26/17/7 Letter. A. Sellwood, Waikato, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending the rent for the land in Waikato. Apologises 
for it being late and promises to send the next one 
early to make up for it. 
1 item 
 

14 May 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/8 Letter. Margaret Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him greatly for the chair. They wish Phillip well 
on his new ship and hope the family are well. 
1 item 
 

16 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/9 Letter. Walter Fooks, Crayford, to W. M. Baines  
He hasn't yet finished his finals but thanks him for his 
letter none the less. Talks of a voyage around the 
world. Family news. 
1 item 
 

24 Dec 1890 

U DDBH/26/17/10 Letter. A. H. Hunter, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a statement on Mount Eden property on 
which no rent has been received. Mr Evans the agent 
has disappeared so he is returning to Auckland to 
clear up the debts. With the statement. 
1 item 
 

24 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/17/11 Letter. A. Sellwood, Waikato, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending £6.0.0 for one years rent of the land at 
Waikato. 
1 item 
 

24 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/17/12 Letter. R. Hunter, Ballina, to W. M. Baines 

Her husband has gone to Auckland about Baines' 
properties - the house is to have a new roof. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

19 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/17/13 Letter. A. Hunter, Bradford, to W. M. Baines 

Her father has gone to Auckland and found Mr Evans 
who has not paid anything for three years. Her sister 
Rose is very ill and needs a nurse at all times.   
1 item 
 

21 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/17/14 Memorandum. Crawford and Rowat, Ship and 
Insurance brokers, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines  
Regarding the voyage time for the Port Yarrock and 
the time it takes for the delivery of letters.   
1 item 
 

6 Jun 1891 

U DDBH/26/17/15 Letter. Louisa Harrison, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the chair. Invites them to stay but 
realises that it is difficult as they are both very busy.   
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1891 
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U DDBH/26/17/16 Letter. Margaret Askwith, High Harrogate, to W. M. 
Baines   
Are having a nice time in Harrogate and have decided 
to stay a further week. Invites William and MaryAnn to 
go and visit them.   
1 item 
 

30 Aug 1891 

U DDBH/26/17/17 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to W. M. 
Baines 

Family news. Describes some of the patients she has 
treated. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/18 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to W. M. 
Baines 

Family and hospital news. Glad to hear that Phillip's 
ship has arrived safely. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/19 Letter. Lucy Baines, 47 Brixton Hill, Rosa Baines, St 
Thomas' Hospital, to W. M. Baines 

Likes the brooches Emily sent. They were going to visit 
Rosa but the weather has been too cold. Phillip's arm 
is much better. Family news. 
1 item 
 

Feb 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/20 Small note. Listing the postal orders sent to Phillip and 
instructions for further changes 

Note is in two pieces. 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/21 Letter. Margaret Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines   
Thanks him for his sympathy following the death of her 
daughter. The weather is terrible. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/22 Letter. F. Collins, Fulford, to W. M. Baines 

A printed letter with information about Baines' 
ancestors taken from the Knaresburgh Court Rolls 
1697-1698. With a letter from a E. W. Dickinson with 
further information on his family history. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/23 Letter. W. R. Woolrych, Rickmansworth, to W. M. 
Baines 

Further information for Baines' family history. Including 
a family tree from John Hewley onwards. From whom 
both the Woolrych and Baines families descend. 
1 item 
 

8 Apr 1892 
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U DDBH/26/17/24 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' hospital, to W. M. 
Baines  
Wishes him a happy birthday. She is feeling much 
better. Hospital news.   
1 item 
 

6 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/25 Letter. Annie Baines, London, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. The Fooks are visiting. 
They are to visit the newly opened Royal Academy. 
They have been playing lots of tennis. Family news. 
1 item 
 

7 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/26 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Family news. 
1 item 
 

[6 May 1892] 

U DDBH/26/17/27 Letter. Dorothy Baines, Holme Lodge, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Family news. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/28 Letter. Charles Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Family news.   
1 item 
 

6 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/29 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to A. Sellwood, Waikato  
Asks for a reason as to why the rent he is owed has 
not been paid.  
1 item 
 

9 Aug 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/30 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to W. M. 
Baines 

Glad to hear Phillip has arrived home safely. Is feeling 
well. Family and hospital news. 
1 item 
 

Sep 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/31 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to W. M. 
Baines 

Report of the meeting she had with the matron. 
Hospital news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/32 Letter. A. Lawson, Boroughbridge, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for sending the items. Glad to hear that he 
enjoyed his stay at Boroughbridge and hopes to visit 
Bell Hall soon. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/33 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to W. M. Baines   
News of her new job. Appears to like it. Family news.  
1 item 
 

7 Nov 1892 
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U DDBH/26/17/34 Letter. Annie Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Family and local news including an account of a 
concert in which the singer stormed off the stage after 
being heckled. 
1 item 
 

Dec 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/35 Letter. T. Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. Baines   
Is able to send Baines the lock and hinges for his 
case. His friend Mr Wood is very ill. 
1 item 
 

8 Dec 1892 

U DDBH/26/17/36 Letter. H. Thompson, Agent, Auckland, to W. M. 
Baines 

Payment from A. Sellwood has lapsed - he has left the 
land and his brother who has the property on the other 
side will not pay the arrears. Other men's stock is 
grazing on the land as there are no fences. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1893 

U DDBH/26/17/37 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Has been offered £150 for the Waikato property - not a 
particularly high bid. 
1 item 
 

19 Apr 1893 

U DDBH/26/17/38 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to H. Thompson 

Is sending a copy of the agreement under which the 
Sellwood's have lost their claim of right of purchase. 
The Sellwood's have agreed to do all the fencing. 
Wants advice on what to do next. 
1 item 
 

24 Apr 1893 

U DDBH/26/17/39 Copy letter. H. Thompson to W. M. Baines 

Advises Baines to decline the offer of £150. 
1 item 
 

31 May 1893 

U DDBH/26/17/40 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to W. M. Baines 

She has handed in her letter of resignation at the 
infirmary, as she cannot work with the Matron. She will 
be sad to leave as she has become attached to many 
of her patients. 
1 item 
 

2 May 1893 

U DDBH/26/17/41 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to W. M. Baines 

Attempting to understand just how the Matron she 
works for could be so evil.  
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/42 Letter. J. W. Barry, Robin Hood's Bay, to W. M. Baines 

Information on various types of trees. 
1 item 
 

22 Dec 1893 
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U DDBH/26/17/43 Letter. A. R. Sellwood, Mercer, to W. M. Baines 

He has recently been away and would like to know 
how much rent does he owe. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/44 Account showing rent A. R. Sellwood owes to W. M. 
Baines 

1 item 
 

1894 

U DDBH/26/17/45 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to A. R. Sellwood 

Notification that their agreement is broken as a result 
of Sellwood not paying rent by the agreed date. 
1 item 
 

9 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/46 Letter. Colonel R. E. Roe, Ealing, to W. M. Baines 

Is an old school friend but they haven't met for 33 
years. He asks Baines to assist his son, who has 
moved to York, in making acquaintances.   
1 item 
 

9 Jun 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/47 Letter. Colonel R. E. Roe, Ealing, to W. M. Baines 

Gives his condolences on the death of Phillip Baines. 
Thanks Baines for saying he will visit his son in York.   
1 item 
 

15 Jun 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/48 Letter. Colonel R. E. Roe, Ealing, to W. M. Baines 

Further condolences. Hopes that Phillip has gone to a 
better place. Thanks Baines for inviting his son to Bell 
Hall. 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/49 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to an acquaintance 

Thanks him for his advice on the edit of his new novel 
'Michael Greig'.  
1 item 
 

17 Aug 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/50 Letter. Miss A. Crellin, Isle of Mann, to W. M. Baines 

Description of the Manx spinning wheel or Quiffel. 
Says she should be able to procure one for Mrs Baines 
if she so wishes.  
1 item 
 

23 Aug 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/51 Letter. T. Thompson to W. M. Baines 

Writing to say that his brother is to visit Bell Hall the 
coming Thursday and hopes that Baines will then visit 
their home. With copy of reply from Baines saying that 
if Thompson still wishes to buy land in Waikato off 
Baines he can do depending on the offer. 
1 item 
 

Sep 1894 
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U DDBH/26/17/52 Letter. H. Thompson, London, to W. M. Baines 

He is returning to Auckland. 
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/53 Letter. Jno. Baynes, Brighton, to W. M. Baines 

Regarding information on the Baines' family history. 
1 item 
 

27 Oct 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/54 Letter. A. A. Carrington, Grantham, to W. M. Baines 

There are no charters for Naburn found in their 
collection of muniments.  
1 item 
 

3 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/55 Letter. Jno. Baynes, Ripon, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the drawing of the Baines family arms. 
Asks him for any more information that he may 
possess.   
1 item 
 

6 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/56 Letter. W. H. Key, Fulford Hall, to W. M. Baines 

An account of the history of Fulford Hall. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/57 Letter. J. Lucas, Tooting Graveney, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the impressions of the three seals 
including the Baines-Mortimer seal. Is to pass them on 
to a man at the British Museum. It is a possibility that 
Baines is related by blood to the Plantagenet line of 
Kings.      
1 item 
 

17 Dec 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/58 Letter. J. Baynes, Ulleskelf, to W. M. Baines 

Relating to information on Baines' family history. 
1 item 
 

19 Dec 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/59 Letter. J. Baynes, Ulleskelf, to W. M. Baines 

Asking Baines to confirm that he has received his 
previous letter. 
1 item 
 

28 Dec 1894 

U DDBH/26/17/60 Letter. Wm. W. Collins, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks Baines for the information he sent relating to 
books on art. Is going to send him a photograph of the 
next piece of art he finishes.  
1 item 
 

3 Jan 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/61 Letter. Rosa Baines, The 'Rufford Hall', to W. M. 
Baines  
Lengthy journal of her voyage to Port Said, en route to 
India.  
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1895 
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U DDBH/26/17/62 Letter. T. H. Preston, Moreby Hall, York, to W. M. 
Baines 

Enquiring about the land near Moreby Hall which he 
previously tried to buy from Baines' father. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/63 Letter. Hewley Sawyer Ellis Bell, Cardiff, to W. M. 
Baines 

Enquiry from Hewley Baines great-great-grandson 
regarding his will.    
1 item 
 

18 May 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/64 Letter. J. Lucas to W. M. Baines 

Postcard asking Baines if he has a copy of a bond 
relating to the tuition of Hewley Baines.  
1 item 
 

9 Apr 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/65 Letter. Rob Sawyer, Shaftsbury, to W. M. Baines 

Knows nothing of the correspondent (i.e. Hewley 
Sawyer) Baines speaks of in his previous letter. Will 
investigate further. 
1 item 
 

23 May 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/66 Letter. Evelyn Sawyer, Shaftsbury, to W. M. Baines 

Her father is very ill and is therefore unable to reply to 
Baines' letter. He hopes to go on holiday in order to 
recover his strength and will then reply in full to 
Baines. 
1 item 
 

29 May 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/67 Key to a photograph sent by Rosa Baines to W. M. 
Baines from India 

1 item 
 

13 Jul 1895 

U DDBH/26/17/68 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, New Zealand, to W. 
M. Baines 

He is now in the contracting business for building 
roads etc. New Zealand has changed. Thanks Baines 
for the copy of his new book. Believes he should get 
an award off the New Zealand government for helping 
the area prosper. The type of people in New Zealand 
is changing with far more white people choosing to live 
there. The area itself has changed as more people are 
living off the land. With a contents list for Dixon's novel 
charting his life in New Zealand called the 'Rough Life 
in New Zealand'. 
1 item 
 

30 Oct 1896 
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U DDBH/26/17/69 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, New Zealand, to W. 
M. Baines 

Information relating to the origin of the town's name. 
Came from Norwegian settlers. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/70 Letter. Mary Ann Dixon, Hokianga, to W. M. and M. V. 
Baines 

William and her husband have died. She now lives 
with her adopted daughter Alice Hunter. They are 
keeping a few livestock. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/71 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

He has paid the rates and taxes on Baines' land for 
him. 
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/72 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, to W. M. Baines 

Is still unwell. Will send a manuscript of his novel. The 
rates are too high in New Zealand to have it published.  
1 item 
 

20 Jun 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/73 Letter. A. Anderson, Auckland, to W. M. and M. V. 
Baines 

She married a drunkard four years ago and has now 
had to get a protection order against him. Family news.  
1 item 
 

25 Oct 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/74 Letter. Hewley M. Baines, Idak, India, to Rosa Baines 

Account of his life in India including his journey from 
Port Said to Idak. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/75 Letter. Rosa Baines, Rawalpindi, India, to W. M. 
Baines 

Account of her life in the hospital. She is treating 
wounded soldiers and she may get a medal for her 
service.      
1 item 
 

6 Dec 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/76 Letter. Rosa Baines, Rawalpindi, India, to W. M. 
Baines 

Hospital news. Hopes they are well and hopes to hear 
from them soon. 
1 item 
 

18 Dec 1897 

U DDBH/26/17/77 Report card. W. Baines  
From St Aubyn's, South Lowestoft. 
1 item 
 

Dec 1897 
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U DDBH/26/17/78 Letter. Rosa Baines, Rawalpindi, India, to W. M. 
Baines 

Hospital news. Letter is written 'with one of those pens 
which one fills with ink'. 
1 item 
 

9 Jan 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/79 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Short note thanking him for forwarding Rosa's letters 
and also for sending them the New Zealand papers. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/80 Letter. J. G. Parker-Joulson, Mill End, Rickmansworth, 
to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the book he sent. Is enjoying his job 
and hopes to stay there for a while. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/81 Letter. Julia [Rilerjia], London, to W. M. Baines 

Discusses financial matters. Hopes Mrs Baines is well 
again. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/82 Letter. T. H. Preston, Frimley, to W. M. Baines 

Says he will move the wood from Baines' land. His 
wife has been very ill. Local news. 
1 item 
 

26 Jul 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/83 Letter. G. M. Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending him a copy of some news of her husband.   
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/84 Letter. D. Munro, Manager of Maharahara Copper 
Mine, to E. V. Dixon 

The property he previously mentioned should be a 
good one and a good investment. Gives a description 
of the area. 
1 item 
 

24 Mar 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/85 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, to W. M. Baines 

Describes a mining property under offer which may be 
a good investment. Asks if he is interested. Hopes he 
received the bank draft for £50 towards the cost of 
'Rough Life in New Zealand'. 
1 item 
 

27 Mar 1898 
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U DDBH/26/17/86 Letter. F. V. Hunter, Grafton, Australia, to W. M. 
Baines 

Enquires as to how they are. Made a lot of money as a 
government-licensed surveyor but lost it through 
growing sugar. Is very happily married with eight 
children. Believes state education provides you with 
education but no interest in work. Is very excited over 
the federation (creation of Australian government).  
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/87 Letter. Rosa Baines, West Bridge, to W. M. Baines 

Hospital news. May be closing as all the troops have 
returned from the front. 
1 item 
 

7 Apr 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/88 Letter. H. J. Anderson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Local news. Claims he would not recognise Auckland 
as it has much changed.   
1 item 
 

13 Apr 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/89 Letter. A. Anderson, Freemans Bay, to W. M. Baines 

Has been travelling round Australia with a concert 
party but is now at home with the children. Hopes 
Uncle Ned's book will be a success. 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/90 Letter. Hewley Baines, India, to W. M. Baines 

Is on his way to pick up Rosa. They will then travel to 
Bombay [Mumbai] and from there return to England. 
1 item 
 

24 Apr 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/91 Letter. Rosa Baines, Rawalpindi, India, to W. M. 
Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday as this will be the last 
letter she writes before returning home. Hewley has 
arrived and they hope to get to Bombay [Mumbai] by 
the beginning of May. She is excited to be coming 
home. 
1 item 
 

26 Apr 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/92 Letter. L. M. G. Dixon, Onehunga, New Zealand, to W. 
M. Baines 

They are having troubles. Discusses old 
acquaintances. 
1 item 
 

14 May 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/93 Letter. Rosa Baines, SS Egypt, to W. M. Baines 

Account of the voyage. She has been unwell for parts 
of the journey. 
1 item 
 

17 May 1898 
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U DDBH/26/17/94 Letter. Annie Baines, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Is enjoying her work. The forthcoming examinations 
will be hard but she will work hard for them.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/17/95 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, to W. M. Baines 

He has lent £50 from Mr G. Hunter of the House of 
Representatives in good faith to help the book. He is 
now getting the book in type. There is a newspaper 
from Auckland which is showing interest in the 
pioneering life, which should promise a good sale for a 
book such as his.   
1 item 
 

3 Jul 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/96 Letter. Guy Palmes, Hackness, to W. M. Baines 

Asks Baines for permission to enclose an open pond.   
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/97 Letter. Mary Dixon, Woodstock, to W. M. Baines 

News from Australia. She has been unwell due to the 
heat. Her family are well. Hopes they will return to 
Australia for a visit. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/98 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

There has been no news of the property. Mr Hunter 
has been very ill for a long time. He is being cared for 
by Mrs Carrie Walker. 
1 item 
 

6 Aug 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/99 Letter. The Postmaster, York, to W. M. Baines 

Apologies for Graham Tye who trespassed across 
Baines' estate. 
1 item 
 

23 Aug 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/100 Letter. M. Kirkham, Opotiki, to W. M. and M. V. Baines 

On her father's death bed he called out for MaryAnn 
and Fanny. Her mother is very infirm and almost blind. 
Recollects their childhood. 
1 item 
 

29 Oct 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/101 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, to W. M. Baines 

There is a possibility of getting 'Rough Times' in print.   
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1898 

U DDBH/26/17/102 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

His wife and three children are to visit England. He 
asks Baines to pass this information on to Annie. 
1 item 
 

7 Feb 1899 
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U DDBH/26/17/103 Letter. L. Thompson, London, to W. M. Baines 

Confirming that they have arrived in London after a 
safe voyage. Has sent them a box of curios.  
1 item 
 

7 May 1899 

U DDBH/26/17/104 Letter. W. McGill, Pokeno, to W. M. Baines 

He is interested in purchasing land in Waikato. Wishes 
to know the lowest he would take for the land. 
1 item 
 

15 May 1899 

U DDBH/26/17/105 Letter. E. V. Dixon, Danneverke, to W. M. Baines 

Travelled to the East Cape in search of gold however 
decided to wait until the summer as they are 
experiencing one of the worst winters he can 
remember. Has made arrangements to have his book 
typed and he will then sell it.  
1 item 
 

25 Aug 1899 

U DDBH/26/17/106 Letter. G. V. Dixon, Koonawarra, Victoria, to W. M. 
Baines 

They have been out of touch for a long time. It has 
been a hard life since they were boys together. He has 
still not married and is very lonely.   
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1899 

U DDBH/26/17/107 Letter. Lord Wenlock, Escrick, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his letter of condolence on his mother's 
death. 
1 item 
 

21 Dec 1899 

U DDBH/26/17/108 Letter. M. S. Cox, Grantham, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for late reply but he has been ill. Family 
news. Asks what is happening with his book.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/18 Letters to William Mortimer Baines and his wife, 
Bell Hall 
From various correspondents.  
47 items 
 

1900-1909 

U DDBH/26/18/1 Letter. Russell & Mackay Solicitors, York, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is near to selling the Tilmires land for £1000 but 
wishes Baines to send authorisation for him to try and 
sell it for fifty pound more. With copy of letter on 
reverse from Baines authorising the raise. 
1 item 
 

9 Apr 1900 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 209 of 331 

U DDBH/26/18/2 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending an offer of £10 cash per acre for his 
Waikato land. If he wishes it to be sold he asks Baines 
to send the deeds.   
1 item 
 

21 May 1900 

U DDBH/26/18/3 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Mr Hunter has died. Mrs Walker will now move from 
the Mount Eden house which will be let. The house is 
in a very bad condition. He suggests that Baines 
should put all his properties in the hands of an agent to 
try for sales. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1900 

U DDBH/26/18/4 Letter. W. M. Baines to H. Thompson 

Has agreed to sell the Mount Eden property but would 
prefer to hold the Waikato land. 
1 item 
 

8 Sep 1900 

U DDBH/26/18/5 Letter. M. Kirkham, Opotiki, to W. M. and M. V. Baines 

Exchange of photographs. Her husband is not well. 
Family news. There is a Dr Fooks of Tauranga but she 
doesn't think he is related to them. 
1 item 
 

15 Nov 1900 

U DDBH/26/18/6 Letter. F. W. G. Attree, Worthing, to W. M. Baines 

Asking for information regarding the Mortimer family 
history.  
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1901 

U DDBH/26/18/7 Letter. F. W. G. Attree, Worthing, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for his reply. Further questions regarding 
the Mortimer family history. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1901 

U DDBH/26/18/8 Letter. W. M. Baines to Manager, Bank of New South 
Wales 

Is sending the deeds for one of his properties which H. 
Thompson is selling on his behalf. 
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/8a Copy letter. J. W. Stewart, Solicitor, Auckland, to the 
Manager, Bank of New South Wales. London 

Papers regarding the purchase of land by Wiseman 
from Baines. With a press cutting containing jokes and 
a humorous extract from a will. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1902 
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U DDBH/26/18/8b Letter. Assistant Manager, Bank of New South Wales, 
to W. M. Baines 

They have received the Deed of Conveyance for the 
sale of the Mount Eden property. 
1 item 
 

20 Jul 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/9 Copy. Pencilled note by Baines  
Of the rent he has received. 
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/10 Letter. M. A. Dixon, Woodstock, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the portrait. One of her friends is 
visiting England and may call on Baines. London will 
be gay for the Coronation. Griff is still in Gippsland. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/11 Letter. H. Fooks, Snowtown, South Australia, to W. M. 
Baines 

They hope to settle in their own house at Lyndoch 
shortly. Locum work has resulted in them constantly 
moving about. Local news. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/12 Copy letter. J. W. Stewart, Auckland, to Messrs 
Russell and Campbell, Solicitors  
Papers relating to the sale of the Mount Eden property 
to Mrs Leonice Eliza Wiseman for £850. 
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/13 Letter. Manager, Bank of New South Wales, London, 
to W. M. Baines 

He needs to sign a deed of convenience before the 
money can be paid. 
1 item 
 

28 Jul 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/14 Letter. H. Fooks, Lyndoch, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending them some seeds. She is going to Adelaide 
as she needs to go to the dentist. She lost the 
diamond from her ring but later found it. Local news. 
1 item 
 

25 Nov 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/15 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, Falmouth, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes them a merry Christmas. They have travelled 
to Falmouth on holiday.   
1 item 
 

27 Dec 1902 

U DDBH/26/18/16 Letter. H. Fooks, Lyndoch, to W. M. Baines 

They are moving again. Her husband is very busy with 
a lot of patients.They are moving to a large house in 
Gawler. She expects to be very busy.   
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1903 
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U DDBH/26/18/17 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, St Leonards-on-Sea, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for his photograph. Family and local news. 
1 item 
 

15 Apr 1904 

U DDBH/26/18/18 Letter. R. Askwith, Heysham, to W. M. Baines 

Informing him that Askwith's aunt, a close friend of 
Baines, has died at the age of 86. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1904 

U DDBH/26/18/19 Letter. R. Askwith, Heysham, to W. M. Baines 

A list of the items left by Mrs Askwith to various 
members of the Baines family in her will. Asks for an 
address for him to send them to.   
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1904 

U DDBH/26/18/20 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Has received notice from the Department of 
Agriculture to clear blackberries from his land under 
the Noxious Weeds Act by 31 Oct next. He suggests 
selling the land as it is in a poor condition. With the 
enclosing papers for the land. 
1 item 
 

19 Oct 1904 

U DDBH/26/18/21 Letters. Charles and Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. 
Baines 

Both wish him and MaryAnn their congratulations on 
their golden wedding anniversary. Family news. 
2 items 
 

21 Jan 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/22 Letter. Howard Verdon, St Thomas' Hospital, London, 
to W. M. Baines 

Congratulates them on their golden wedding 
anniversary.   
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/22a Letter. Decima Baines,  London, to W. M. Baines 

Congratulates them on their golden wedding 
anniversary. Family news. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/23 Letter. M. F. Verdon, Streatham Hill, London, to W. M. 
and M. V. Baines 

Congratulates them on their golden wedding 
anniversary. Is sending them a case of whiskey. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/24 Letter. M. Goullet, Budleigh Salerton, to W. M. Baines 

Offering him a picture of Bell Hall by Dalby for £50 on 
behalf of Mrs Pole.   
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1905 
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U DDBH/26/18/25 Letter. Russell and Campbell, Solicitors, Auckland, to 
W. M. Baines 

They are sending a draft for £97.5.5 for the Waikato 
land. With the enclosing papers for the land. 
1 item 
 

27 Oct 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/26 Letter. Rowntree & Co Ltd, York, to W. M. Baines 

They are unable to use the gravel they sampled from 
his pit unless he agrees to lower the asking price. 
1 item 
 

22 Nov 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/27 Letter. Leonard Baines, Streatham Hill, to W. M. 
Baines 

Advice on how to reply to Rowntree & Co. Believes the 
price they are asking is reasonable and thinks they 
have made a mistake. Family news. 
1 item 
 

25 Nov 1905 

U DDBH/26/18/28 Letter. H. Thompson, Auckland, to W. M. Baines 

Regrets that they could only get £97.5.5 for the 
Waikato land but it was in a very bad condition. 
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1906 

U DDBH/26/18/29 Letter. H. V. Baines, London, to W. M. Baines 

Advice on whether to claim a chest at Lord Wenlock's 
Deighton Hall. 
1 item 
 

16 Jan 1907 

U DDBH/26/18/30 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to M. V. Baines 

Is leading a very busy life. Family news. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/31 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to W. M. Baines 

Mrs Homewood, a cyclist from Ealing, has arrived as 
part of her world tour. 
1 item 
 

4 Mar 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/32 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to W. M. Baines 

They have recently been on a motor ride for 63 miles 
to see the country and have a picnic. Mrs Homewood 
is still there. With a press cutting regarding Mrs 
Homewood's journey. 
1 item 
 

Mar 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/33 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to M. V. Baines  
Wishes her a happy birthday. Her maid is back after a 
time off with illness so she has gone out with Mrs 
Homewood to Adelaide where they met a lady reporter 
and visited the Chief Justice's house. Social news. 
1 item 
 

18 Mar 1908 
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U DDBH/26/18/34 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to M. V. Baines  
Local and family news. The Chief visited them 
recently. Is enjoying life there. 
1 item 
 

9 Mar 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/35 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Has a new car which is difficult 
to use. 
1 item 
 

23 Mar 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/36 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Fears for his crops as the dust 
levels are extremely high.   
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/37 Letter. Nora Baines, Hanover, to W. M. Baines 

She is there with Rosa Baines. They are having a 
good time but nobody speaks English so is very 
confusing.  
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/38 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to M.V. Baines 

Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

Apr 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/39 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes her a happy belated birthday. Local and family 
news. 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/40 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to M. V. Baines 

They are to go to sea for a holiday. Is very hot and dry 
and they could do with some rain. Her husband has 
joined the new bowls club. 
1 item 
 

29 Apr 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/41 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to W. M. Baines 

Local and family news. Weather has taken a turn for 
the worst. 
1 item 
 

11 May 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/42 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to M. V. Baines 

They have returned home from their holiday.  
1 item 
 

20 May 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/43 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. The temperature is very warm 
yet they have still had hail! 
1 item 
 

26 May 1908 
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U DDBH/26/18/44 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to M. V. Baines 

Talks about her children. They have been unwell since 
their holiday as they have caught bad colds.  
1 item 
 

27 May 1908  

U DDBH/26/18/45 Letter. Leonard Baines, Jhelun, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news.   
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1908 

U DDBH/26/18/46 Letter. H. Fooks, Gawler, to W. M. Baines 

The children have been told about England and the 
idea of the big ship going there excites them. Hopes 
they are all well. 
1 item 
 

6 Jan 1909 

U DDBH/26/19 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall, from 
Esther Mary Baines (nee Shannon) 
Letters from London, York, Brussels, Boulogne, 
Bruges, Gilling Castle and Bournemouth. 
30 items 
 

1873-1888 

U DDBH/26/19/1 Letter. Esther Baines, London, to Mary Baines 

Apologises for not seeing her recently but she did not 
want to interfere as she knew they were busy. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

1 Sep 1873 

U DDBH/26/19/2 Letter. Esther Baines, York, to W. M. Baines 

Has been to town to buy an umbrella as she thinks 
Baines took hers by accident. Family news. 
1 item 
 

9 Mar 1875 

U DDBH/26/19/3 Letter. Esther Baines, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is back in York and invites them to come and see her. 
1 item 
 

22 Aug 1875 

U DDBH/26/19/4 Letter. Esther Baines, York, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for offering to pay postage on a box but 
she thinks the person who is buying the contents will 
pay it. Family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/5 Letter. Esther Baines, Brussels, to W. M. Baines 

A detailed account of her trip to Brussels including the 
voyage. With the postage bill from Brussels. 
1 item 
 

22 May 1877 
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U DDBH/26/19/6 Letter. Esther Baines, Brussels, to W. M. Baines 

Has had trouble sending letters and parcels. The box 
she is sending to William will cost a lot to post as it is 
going via Ostand and London. Is very anxious over the 
whole business. With page missing. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/7 Letter. Esther Baines, Boulogne, France, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is still extremely anxious about the box she has sent. 
Describes her journey from Brussels to France and the 
convent where she is staying. 
1 item 
 

19 Jun 1877 

U DDBH/26/19/8 Letter. Esther Baines, Boulogne, to W. M. Baines 

She is having difficulty getting transport home. She 
asks Baines to send two letters on her behalf and 
arrange for her baggage to be picked up. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/9 Letter. Esther Baines, Bruges, to W. M. Baines 

Anxious to hear from them following her hectic past 
two weeks. Had trouble finding lodgings but got help 
from an old friend and is now in a nice room.   
1 item 
 

8 Jul 1878 

U DDBH/26/19/10 Letter. Esther Baines, Bruges, to W. M. Baines 

Account of her journey to Bruges from York. Asks him 
to send two postage cards on her behalf. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/11 Letter. Esther Baines, York, to W. M. Baines 

Asks how they are. Hopes he is better. She is in a 
great deal of pain. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1883 

U DDBH/26/19/12 Letter. Esther Baines, St Mary's, to W. M. Baines 

Is visiting Mrs Hodgeson who has been unwell. 
1 item 
 

24 Apr 1883 

U DDBH/26/19/13 Letter. Esther Baines, York, to W. M. Baines 

Papers relating to Mary Baines' will.   
1 item 
 

1880s 

U DDBH/26/19/14 Letter. Esther Baines, Blake Street, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the cheque. Matters relating to 
business and Baines' father's will. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/19/15 Letter. Esther Baines, Blake Street, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises if she offended him with remarks about his 
father but they were unintentional. She has applied to 
a convent and will work as a servant there until a 
position comes up. Very passionate about religion. 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/19/16 Letter. Esther Baines, Blake Street, to W. M. Baines   
Short note to say her cough is extremely bad. 
1 item 
 

c.1886 

U DDBH/26/19/17 Letter. Esther Baines, Blake Street, to W. M. Baines 

Appeals to him to correct his father's 'mistakes' and be 
kind to her. Claims that on his death bed her husband 
asked his father to look after her and he said he would. 
She now asks Baines to make good this promise. 
1 item 
 

3 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/19/18 Letter. Esther Baines, Blake Street, to W. M. Baines 

Trusts that he will do all he can for her. She is very ill.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/19 Letter. Esther Baines, Blake Street, to W. M. Baines 

His last note greatly displeased her. She is still very ill. 
Her applications for posts in London all failed. She is to 
take a bed-sit as this is all she can afford.      
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/19/20 Letter. Esther Baines, High Petergate, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes they are well. She is very ill - believed she was 
going to die. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/21 Letter. Esther Baines, High Petergate, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his visit and the present. With a pencil 
sketch of what appears to be a clock. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/19/22 Letter. Esther Baines, High Petergate, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his gifts. Pleased the lecture went well. 
Offers to care for MaryAnn who is ill.   
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1887 

U DDBH/26/19/23 Letter. Esther Baines, High Petergate, to W. M. Baines 

Is in a very bad way. Hopes to move to Bournemouth 
and asks Baines to help her pack. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/19/24 Letter. Esther Baines, High Petergate, to W. M. Baines 

Asks him not to be hard on her as she is very weak. 
Asks for information on Hewley. Thinking of applying 
for a position in India. 
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1887 

U DDBH/26/19/25 Letter. Esther Baines, High Petergate, to W. M. Baines 

She has a room in Bournemouth for a fortnight until 
she can find somewhere more permanent. Is very 
scared about the move and wishes Baines to come 
and see her. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1888 

U DDBH/26/19/26 Letter. Esther Baines, Bournemouth, to W. M. Baines 

Is still in a very bad condition. She has written to every 
convent in London applying for lodgings but has heard 
nothing.   
1 item 
 

21 Mar 1888 

U DDBH/26/19/27 Letter. Esther Baines, York, to W. M. and M. V. Baines 

Is now near death. Asks them to visit her and make 
her feel loved.   
1 item 
 

19th cent.  

U DDBH/26/19/28 Letter. Sister Mary Benom, Sion House, Bayeswater, 
to W. M. Baines 

Esther is extremely ill and the doctor does not believe 
she will survive for long. 
1 item 
 

19 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/19/29 Letter. Sister Mary Benom, Sion House, Bayeswater, 
to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the flowers he sent. Esther does not 
have long to live. Asks him to send a relative in order 
to make plans for the burial. He will have to settle all 
her affairs as he is her only known relation. 
1 item 
 

23 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/19/30 Letter. Sister Mary Benom, Sion House, Bayeswater, 
to W. M. Baines 

Esther is still alive but only just. The Sister will carry 
out Baines instructions regarding the funeral. She does 
not know if Esther created a will. 
1 item 
 

 

 

25 May 1888 
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U DDBH/26/20 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall, from 
M. Sheffield Cox,  
Letters from Chalfont Rectory, Gerards Cross, 
Bayswater, Notting Hill, Folkestone and Bromley. 
5 items 
 

1874-1900 

U DDBH/26/20/1 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, Chalfont Rectory, to W. M. 
Baines 

Gives her condolences on the death of his mother and 
father. Recollects happy times at Bell Hall. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

7 Apr 1874 

U DDBH/26/20/2 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, Bayswater, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear that Hewley is ill. Family news. 
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1877 

U DDBH/26/20/3 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, Notting Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Her mother has died at the age of 91. Asks them if 
they are well. Family news. 
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1885 

U DDBH/26/20/4 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, Folkestone, to W. M. Baines 

Asks how they all are. Family and local news.  
1 item 
 

19 Dec 1898 

U DDBH/26/20/5 Letter. M. Sheffield Cox, Bromley, to W. M. Baines 

Charles has died after much suffering. They are the 
only two remaining friends. Recollects happy times. 
Stephen Lawley is very ill. Local and family news. 
Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

10 Oct 1900 

U DDBH/26/21 Letters to William Mortimer Baines 

From various family members. 
113 items 
 

1875-1904 

U DDBH/26/21/1 Letter. Kate Harrison, 2 Alma  Houses, to W. M. 
Baines 

They have arrived safely. Weather is poor so they 
haven't been out much.   
1 item 
 

10 Jul [1875] 

U DDBH/26/21/2 Letter. Fanny Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a coach to pick him up from the station. The 
weather has been bad and the river is very high. 
Walter will not be able to make the ball. 
1 item 
 

22 Oct 1875 
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U DDBH/26/21/3 Letter. [Wosh] Baines, Castlegate House, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for the silk stockings. The girls at school 
gave her a prayer book. Esther and Annie came to visit 
her recently. 
1 item 
 

29  Jan 1876 

U DDBH/26/21/4 Letter. Walter Verdon, London, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for permission to marry Fanny. 
1 item 
 

24  Nov 1877 

U DDBH/26/21/5 Letter. Emily J. Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear he has a cold. She is very busy so won't 
be able to visit her mother soon. Is upset to hear that 
Fulford church has burnt down. Family news. 
1 item 
 

15  Feb 1877 

U DDBH/26/21/6 Letter. Walter Verdon, London, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for any confusion in relation to a recent 
settlement. Maintains that it was the lawyers fault and 
hopes that it does not have an impact on his 
relationship with Fanny.  
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1878 

U DDBH/26/21/7 Letter. A. H. Russell to W. M. Baines 

Walter Verdon has agreed to sign the settlement. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/8 Letter. Hewley Baines, London, to W. M. Baines 

Has arrived safely. Family news. 
1 item 
 

8 Aug 1878 

U DDBH/26/21/9 Letter. Fanny Verdon to W. M. Baines 

They are pleased that mother has come to visit. Thinks 
it is has done her good. Family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/10 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for not writing earlier. The term is going 
very quickly but he is enjoying it. College news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent.  

U DDBH/26/21/11 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to W. M. Baines 

Asks to know which train he should get home from 
school. Is glad to hear that Oxford won the boat race. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/21/12 Letter. Fanny Verdon to W. M. Baines 

Family news. Her son is growing up quickly. Annie has 
visited. She looks unwell. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/21/13 Letter. Fanny Verdon to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a photo of her. She is very upset following 
the death of her son.   
1 item 
 

22 Jul 1884 

U DDBH/26/21/14 Letter. Fanny Verdon to W. M. Baines 

Asks for help regarding the sale of a house. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/15 Letter. Fanny Verdon to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear he is still ill. Family news. 
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1884 

U DDBH/26/21/16 Letter. Hewley Baines, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the £5. Visited Mr Harrison recently. 
Went to Brighton with Walter. Family news. 
1 item 
 

27 Apr 1885 

U DDBH/26/21/17 Letter. Hewley Baines, Staines, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the £2. Local news. He is enjoying his 
time there. He is behind with his mathematics but is 
going to spend all his holiday working on it. Received a 
letter from Fooks who is attempting a BA. 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1885 

U DDBH/26/21/18 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for more money so he can come home in a 
weeks time. Is going to travel home with a friend. He 
has already passed his shooting class and is the best 
shot in any year. His other exams have started and he 
hopes to improve his grades.  
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1886  

U DDBH/26/21/19 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a more detailed account of his results from 
last term. They are not allowed fires and the weather is 
very cold. With a handwritten list of Hewley's exam 
marks.  
1 item 
 

29 Apr 1886 

U DDBH/26/21/20 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. and M. V. 
Baines 

Hopes they are all well. She is very happy. Charles is 
well. Family news. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1886 
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U DDBH/26/21/21 Letter. Hewley Baines, Staines, to W. M. Baines 

Coming to the end of term. Has just finished 
architecture exam. Asks for advice on best route to 
come home and for some money for the journey. 
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/21/22 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the table he has made for them. Family 
news. Is coming to see them in the coming week. 
1 item 
 

21 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/21/23 Letter. Charles Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the table. Has been playing tennis 
against the champion of Yorkshire and losing.   
1 item 
 

21 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/21/24 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Letter regarding dealings with Mr Menzies. Believes 
Baines himself will have to write to him as Menzies 
does not appear to be taking it seriously. With a letter 
(10 Aug 1886) to W. M. Baines from a Mr Vernon 
regarding Mr Menzies marriage settlement. 
1 item 
 

9 Aug 1886 

U DDBH/26/21/25 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Has just finished his survey. His drawings are 
regarded as some of the best in the year. They have 
some exams coming up. Shooting has started again. 
College news. 
1 item 
 

11 Mar 1887 

U DDBH/26/21/26 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Debating whether to get a job with the government or 
somewhere else as he may be able to make more 
money with the latter but there is greater job security 
with the government. Is currently doing some 
architecture exams.  
1 item 
 

24 Mar 1887 

U DDBH/26/21/27 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending him a list of everyone' marks (missing). 
College news. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1887 

U DDBH/26/21/28 Letter. Fanny Verdon, Hereford House, to W. M. 
Baines 

Has been to visit Esther Shannon. She is very ill and 
did not remember Fanny. Believes she doesn't have 
long to live. Family news.   
1 item 
 

29 May 1888 
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U DDBH/26/21/29 Letter. Fanny Verdon, Hereford House, to W. M. 
Baines 

Esther Shannon has died (see U DDBH/26/19). Is 
arranging the train that will carry the body to York 
where Baines will meet it. 
1 item 
 

31 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/30 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Arranges a date for them to come to Thirsk. Family 
news. With two small notes to Annie and Emily Baines.  
1 item 
 

25 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/31 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for some money for his journey home. He is 
waiting for his results. His medical examination is 
coming up shortly. Harry failed his examination.   
1 item 
 

21 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/32 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines 

He has passed his exams and will get an appointment 
if he passes his medical. He thinks he will be placed in 
Bombay [Mumbai] or Madras [Chennai]. 
1 item 
 

23 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/33 Letter. Hewley Baines, Coopers Hill, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for the £4. Has heard from mother, Rose 
and Annie. Gives the list of appointments in India but 
believes he won't get much choice as he came last of 
the qualifying fifteen. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/34 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear how well Hewley has done. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/35 Letter. Henry Baines, London, to W. M. Baines 

He is unsure of when he will receive his exam results. 
Gives a summary of his activities over the past few 
days. 
1 item 
 

25 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/36 Letter. Hewley Baines, London, to W. M. Baines 

Will know the result of his medical next week. Is going 
to wait for Fanny to find someone to mind her house 
before they travel back together. Family news. 
1 item 
 

27 Jul 1888 
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U DDBH/26/21/37 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his hospitality after their recent visit to 
Bell Hall and for all the presents he had made them. 
With a small note for Hewley inviting him and Harry to 
come and visit them before he goes away. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/38 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the invitation but believes she will be 
too busy. Hewley and Harry are coming to visit them 
soon. William has a fever. Local and family news.   
1 item 
 

27 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/39 Letter. Elizabeth Askwith, The Terrace, to Kate 
Harrison  
Invites her to come and stay. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

20 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/40 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to W. M. Baines  
Is enjoying his work. It is very different to college. 
Local news. 
1 item 
 

12 Sep 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/41 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for some money as he is a week behind in his 
payments. Hopes to visit Bell Hall soon. Local news. 
1 item 
 

6 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/42 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to W. M. Baines 

Short note thanking him for the £5 he received just 
after sending the previous letter. 
1 item 
 

10 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/43 Letter. Harry Baines, London, to W. M. Baines  
Is sending the Silvers bill which has been receipted. 
Annie Hunter and Fooks have visited him recently. 
Went to see a Mr Harrison who he hopes will teach 
him law so he can become a solicitor of the Supreme 
Court. With the Silver's bill. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/44 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to W. M. Baines 

Discusses the play he is putting on. Is sending Baines 
a bill from Pickerings. Local and business news. 
1 item 
 

13 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/45 Letter. [M. V. Baines] to Annie Baines, Bell Hall 
Is sending a petticoat. Adds a list of things Annie and 
her father could do to Leonard. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1889 
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U DDBH/26/21/46 Letter. [Sambo] to [M. V. Baines] 
Sorry to hear she has been unwell. Hopes she can be 
of comfort to her. Family news. Hopes to see them all 
soon. 
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/47 Letter. Henry Baines, Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines, Thirsk  
Have arrived in York safely after journey from Thirsk. 
Local news.   
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/48 Letter. [Annie Baines], Bell Hall, to W. M. Baines, 
Thirsk  
She will take Leonard to the train station so he can 
travel to Thirsk. Local news. The timber has not been 
yet. The boys are well. 
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/49 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Is very settled. He will know by Monday if he is to be 
moved to a higher class. Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1888 

U DDBH/26/21/50 Letter. Rosa Freeman, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

The weather is very poor. Has been to the theatre with 
Fanny and her children. Believes churches in London 
are only geared for the rich.   
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1889    

U DDBH/26/21/51 Letter. Rosa Freeman, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Walter has bought the children a little cart. She has 
sent the measurements and a sketch in case Baines 
wished to reproduce it for his children. Goes on to 
describe the cart in greater detail. With a list of the 
carts measurements and a sketch of the cart. 
1 item 
 

11 Apr 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/52 Letter. Rosa Freeman, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. The weather is beautiful 
and London is in high spirits. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/53 Letter. Fanny Verdon, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Will miss Rosa when 
she leaves. Phillip came to stay during his holidays. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/54 Letter. Isabel Fooks, Ilkley, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. The Yorkshire tennis 
tournament is to be held there. Family and local news. 
1 item 
 

6 May 1889 
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U DDBH/26/21/55 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. She invites anyone from 
Bell Hall to come and visit. Family news.   
1 item 
 

6 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/56 Letter. Leonard Baines, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Charles is painting the 
summer house and has bought Leonard a stamp book.   
1 item 
 

6 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/57 Letter. Charles Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines  
Wishes him a happy birthday. Has started to play 
cricket but the grass is still too long for tennis. The 
weather is glorious. Hopes they are all well.  

1 item 
 

6 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/58 Extracts. Encyclopaedia regarding Maypoles 

1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/59 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for his belated birthday wishes but was 
reminded of it through reading 'The narrative of 
Edward Crewe'. Claims the book was a pleasure to 
read. Invites him to form a team and come and play 
them at tennis. 
1 item 
 

8 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/60 Letter. Rosa Baines, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Gives a history of the Naburn feast. 
1 item 
 

15 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/61 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for asking Tom Harrison to send a 
pamphlet on water gas. He has enclosed Tom's letter. 
With Tom's letter (12 Jul 1889). 
1 item 
 

13 Jul 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/62 Report card. Leonard Baines  
From Ripon Grammar School for the Midsummer term 
1889. 
1 item 
 

4 Aug 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/63 Letter. Ethel Baines, Hereford House, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for some money as she does not think she will 
have enough to make the journey home. With a note 
for Annie enquiring how she is. 
1 item 
 

5 Sep 1889 
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U DDBH/26/21/64 Letter. Ethel Baines, Hereford House, to W. M. Baines 

She is sending some photographs taken by J. Askwith. 
Some very nice ones of Holme Lodge. 
1 item 
 

8 Sep 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/65 Letter. J. Askwith, Bank of England, to Mrs [Ethel] 
Harrison 

Thanks her for the parcel of plants. Has sent some 
photographs but will send more when he is less busy 
at the office. 
1 item 
 

7 Sep 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/66 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for the stool. Family news. With a letter for 
M. V. Baines in which she thanks her for the stool and 
tells her of Hewley's recent visit. 
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1889 

U DDBH/26/21/67 Design for a patent oil can 

1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/68 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Has returned to the ship. Most of the crew have had 
influenza. Thanks him for the rug and the shoes. 
1 item 
 

2 May 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/69 Letter. Fanny Verdon, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

She had a very enjoyable birthday. She received £5 off 
Walter. They had a small party. Harry is enjoying 
working in London. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/70 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

News of life on board ship. Hopes to get leave soon 
and visit Brixton. Some of the crew have gone down 
with measles. 
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/71 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Has examinations approaching. Isn't really enjoying his 
time on board this ship. Asks him to send a copy of 
'The narrative of Edward Crewe' as he wishes to lend it 
to someone. With press cuttings relating to the 
Worcester's sports day. W. P. Baines is mentioned as 
one of the individuals responsible for telegraphing the 
results. 
1 item 
 

22 Jun 1890 
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U DDBH/26/21/72 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes to know if he is going to berth him on the 
'Eurasia'. He believes it is an excellent opportunity. He 
also asks if he thinks it would be possible to go on the 
New Zealand shipping camp.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/73 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the money, book and photo he has 
received. Asks Baines to write to the captain and ask 
for leave on his behalf. 
1 item 
 

29 Jul 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/74 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the money and for writing to the 
captain about leave. With an FRGS examination paper 
with markings for the questions W. P. Baines 
answered.  
1 item 
 

2 Jul 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/75 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the money. Believes Captain Peile's 
proposition of gaining a birth on either the Hasa or the 
[Hengist] is a very good one; however he asks Baines 
to deal with the matter as he does not know the best 
course of action. 
1 item 
 

17 Oct 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/76 Letter. W. P. Baines, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

He has finished his exams. Is booking some leave to 
go to the Generals.   
1 item 
 

31 Oct 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/77 Letter. Charles Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his best wishes on his birthday. He 
gives a list of the presents he received. They went to 
the opera in Leeds and greatly enjoyed it. Family 
news.   
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/78 Letter. Annie Baines to W. M. Baines 

Short note to say that Hilda and she will be returning to 
Bell Hall on Thursday. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/79 Letter. Charles Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the 'thing' [straight bowes] for his violin. 
He has had to alter it slightly but it works well.  
1 item 
 

24 Nov 1890 
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U DDBH/26/21/80 Letter. J. Royds, Heysham Cottage, to Kate Harrison 

Thanks her for the brooch she sent. Gives her 
information on a pedigree which Kate has shown 
interest in. 
1 item 
 

10 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/81 Letter. Henry Baines, Brixton Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Is in the middle of his exams for his law course. Walter 
has been ill.   
1 item 
 

7 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/82 Letter. Elizabeth Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines   
Phillip and Rosa have been to visit. She gave Phillip 
some naval clothes. Thanks him for his letter.  
1 item 
 

7 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/83 Letter. Hewley Baines, Dua Ismail Khan, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is enjoying his time there. News of India. Is struggling 
with the heat and is very poor. Hopes he got the 
photographs he sent.   
1 item 
 

19 Oct 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/84 Letter. Rosa Baines, The Nightingale Home, to W. M. 
Baines 

Sad to be spending her first Christmas away from Bell 
Hall. She hopes to do well in the home. She has sent a 
day's extract from her diary. Doesn't believe she will do 
too well in the forthcoming exams. Hospital news. With 
an extract from her diary. 
1 item 
 

19 Dec 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/85 Letter. Rosa Baines, The Nightingale Home, to W. M. 
Baines  
Is sending a printed form as instructed. She also sent 
a form away and has had no reply so she asks Baines 
for advice. 
1 item 
 

24 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/86 Letter. Rosa Baines, The Nightingale Home, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for the postcard and for Hewley's letter. 
Doesn't think she has done well in her exams. Hospital 
news. With a sheet giving her exam marks so far (120 
out of 300). 
1 item 
 

22 Dec 1890 

U DDBH/26/21/87 Letter. Rosa Baines, Charity Ward, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks her mother for her letter. Hospital news. 
1 item 
 

8 Aug 1891 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 229 of 331 

U DDBH/26/21/88 Letter. Rosa Baines, Charity Ward, to W. M. Baines 

Hospital news. Reports are that she is doing well. She 
finds it hard at times.   
1 item 
 

21 Aug 1891 

U DDBH/26/21/89 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the gifts and the hamper. She has 
been to a funeral. Family and local news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/21/90 Letter. Hewley Baines, Burowaie, to Rosa Baines 

Hasn't written home for a while so asks her to forward 
the letter. Is travelling to Balekot but it is a long journey 
and may take several days. News and description of 
the places he is visiting in India on his journey to 
Balekot.   
1 item 
 

27 May 1895 

U DDBH/26/21/91 Letter. Robin Baines, South Lowestoft, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for the knife he has received. He has 
received a lot of letters. School news. 
1 item 
 

5 Oct 1895 

U DDBH/26/21/92 Letter. Hewley Baines, Simla, to W. M. Baines 

Has been looking for a house with Rosa. They believe 
they have found one. Hopes to be promoted soon. 
Believes if Rosa wants to marry now would be the best 
time but says that she would have stood a better 
chance if she had stayed in nursing. News of India.  
1 item 
 

23 Nov 1899 

U DDBH/26/21/93 Letter. Rosa Baines, Sialkot, India, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his letter. News of India. There are 
problems in India due to famine and plague. They 
hope to buy a house soon so they can settle down. 
Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

24 Jan 1897 

U DDBH/26/21/94 Letter. Hewley Baines, Chaka, to W. M. Baines 

His furlough has been cancelled but he is to check 
why. Hopes it can be rectified. Thanks her for sending 
the watch. He hopes to arrive in Rawalpindi on 17th.   
1 item 
 

13 Nov 1897 
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U DDBH/26/21/95 Letter. Rosa Baines, Rawalpindi, to W. M. Baines 

Hewley's leave has been cancelled. He is being 
transferred and she does not know whether to go with 
him or stay. Hewley's new job is better paid but is quite 
far away. They hope to be able to come home in about 
four months.  
1 item 
 

17 Nov 1897 

U DDBH/26/21/96 Letter. Hewley Baines, Bannu, India, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for not being able to come home but 
explains about the cancellation of his leave. There has 
been a terrible bout of dysentery in the camp but he 
has been unaffected. Rosa is having to stay in a tent at 
the hotel as it is full. He hopes to have leave in March 
for a year. 
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1897 

U DDBH/26/21/97 Letter. Hilda Baines, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear that he is ill. Local news. They have 
received letters from India.   
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1898 

U DDBH/26/21/98 Letter. Dorothy Baines, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

They are having a very nice time. Went for a drive with 
Nona Baines and Frank Hare.   
1 item 
 

6 Oct [1898] 

U DDBH/26/21/99 Letter. Nona Baines, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

They are having a very nice time. They have been for 
a drive. Dr Hartley visited hoping to see Esther.   
1 item 
 

6 Oct [1898]  

U DDBH/26/21/100 Letter. Annie Baines, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the cheque. Is going to the theatre to 
see Merchant of Venice. She is teaching at the 
moment. She had dinner with Leonard and he is well.    
1 item 
 

9 Dec 1898  

U DDBH/26/21/101 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Hopes he has recovered 
from his cold. Leonard is coming to visit.   
1 item 
 

May 1899 

U DDBH/26/21/102 Letter. Charles Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Wishes him a happy birthday. Hopes he is feeling 
better. Gives advice on where to get the best tennis 
balls. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1899 
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U DDBH/26/21/103 Letter. Hewley Baines, Delhi, to W. M. Baines 

Description of his journey to Delhi. Arrived at Delhi 
only to find that he was moved to Simla. Not sure how 
long they will be in Simla so they are going to stay in a 
hotel.  
1 item 
 

7 Nov 1899 

U DDBH/26/21/104 Letter. Hewley Baines, Simla, to W. M. Baines 

Has a very bad sore throat. He may be moved to 
Lahore. Describes some of the projects he is working 
on.  
1 item 
 

26 Apr 1900 

U DDBH/26/21/105 Letter. Hilda Baines, 58 Stratham Hill, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the money he sent. She has been very 
poor of late. Visited the Academy. Describes some of 
the paintings she saw there. Harry is visiting her.   
1 item 
 

May 1900 

U DDBH/26/21/106 Letter. Rosa Baines to W. M. Baines 

News of India. They have been to a party and a dinner 
with a Lady Collins. 
1 item 
 

19 Jul 1900 

U DDBH/26/21/107 Letter. Lucy Baines, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the money he sent. Local news. 
1 item 
 

25 Oct 1900 

U DDBH/26/21/108 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the hamper he sent. Essie (Esther 
Baines) has arrived safely. They have written to Rosa. 
Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

25 Oct 1900 

U DDBH/26/21/109 Letter. C. E. Freeman, Aldeburgh-on-Sea, to W. M. 
Baines 

Gives his views and suggestions on Baines' book 
'Michael Grieg'. Believes it is better than 'Edward 
Crewe' and on the whole very good. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1903 

U DDBH/26/21/110 Letter. C. E. Freeman, Aldeburgh-on-Sea, to W. M. 
Baines 

Information regarding the patenting of the 'Baines 
Slide Rule'. Hopes to have it patented in Europe but 
believes it will struggle to take off. 
1 item 
 

23 Apr 1904 
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U DDBH/26/21/111 Letter. Rosa Freeman, Aldeburgh-on-Sea, to W. M. 
Baines 

Information on the patent for the slide rule. Local and 
family news.  
1 item 
 

19 Apr 1904 

U DDBH/26/21/112 Letter. Rosa Freeman, Alderburgh-on-Sea, to W. M. 
Baines 

Glad to hear that Hilda has had a son. Their son Jack 
has passed his entry exams. They have had trouble 
with their maid. Annie Hunter is very ill and has had to 
stop working. 
1 item 
 

25 Aug 1904 

U DDBH/26/21/113 Letter. Unknown (child of Baines) to W. M. Baines 

Hopes they are having a good holiday. Is sending 
them a piece of work they have done. With an essay 
titled 'Daniel in the Lion's Den' and a piece titled 'My 
Favourite Animal'.  

1 item 
 

10 Nov 1904 

U DDBH/26/22 Letters to William Mortimer Baines, Bell Hall 
From various correspondents. Relating to the 
Menzies Trust. 
69 items 
 

1876-1900 

U DDBH/26/22/1 Letter. R. W. Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

His son Alexander is to marry Charlotte Amy Bewicke 
Bewicke, a lady of wealth so he therefore asks Baines 
to act as trustee for the marriage. Mrs Bewicke 
Bewicke's trustee will be a Mr Wilkinson. 
1 item 
 

7 Apr 1876 

U DDBH/26/22/2 Letter. A. J. Wilkinson, Durham, to W. M. Baines 

Concerning the investment of the trust fund in 
debentures proposed by the Bewicke family.   
1 item 
 

11 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/3 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Gives advice on the proposed investment. Says he 
should be wary as he has found no record of the 
debentures in the stock lists. Suggests buying stock in 
the railway companies. 
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/4 Letter. R. W. Menzies, Scarborough, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his trouble. Does not agree with the 
investment and refuses to give his consent.  
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1877 
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U DDBH/26/22/5 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

He has sent a letter to many of the London agents with 
which he deals in order to gain further advice 
regarding the investment.   
1 item 
 

14 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/6 Letter. A. J. Wilkinson, Durham, to W. M. Baines 

He believes that Mrs Menzies will continue to push for 
the investment. He believes it is quite safe and that 
they should follow the wishes of the married couple. 
They have to act quickly as these debentures are 
difficult to acquire.   
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/7 Letter. Mrs A. S. Menzies, Middlesbrough, to W. M. 
Baines 

Writes to give further information as to the security of 
investing in Bolckow, Vaughn and Co. Believes as it is 
her money she should be free to invest it as she 
chooses but won't without his consent.  
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/8 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Further advice on the investment. Believes if the 
couple can not be swayed then they should be allowed 
to invest and take their chance. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/9 Letter. Mrs A. S. Menzies, Middlesbrough, to W. M. 
Baines 

Sorry to hear that he still does not agree with the 
investment. She is sending papers to her husband 
requesting he invest £18,000 of her money in the 
company and she hopes this will be enough to 
persuade Baines to agree. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/10 Letter. R. C. Bewicke, Middlesbrough, to W. M. Baines 

He does not agree with his daughters proposed 
investment and believes that Baines, as trustee, has 
the final say. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/11 Letter. A. J. Wilkinson, Durham, to W. M. Baines 

Confirms that he will only invest the trust funds in 
accordance with the deed drawn up in creating the 
trust.    

1 item 
 

21 Mar 1877 
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U DDBH/26/22/12 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to J. P. Guy 

Is sending him letters from Mrs Menzies and Mr 
Wilkinson and asking for advice on how he should 
reply. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/13 Letter. Mrs A. S. Menzies, Middlesbrough, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sorry that Baines cannot agree to the investment 
despite a signed agreement from her and her husband 
and the approval of Mr Wilkinson. With a copy of 
Baines' reply stating that he is to resign the trust. 
1 item 
 

27 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/14 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is unsure if Baines will be able to resign the trust as it 
may have to go through the courts. If he was to resign 
and anything went wrong then Baines would be held 
responsible. Wants to meet Baines before forwarding 
the resignation letters to the appropriate body. 
1 item 
 

29 Mar 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/15 Letter. R. W. Menzies, Scarborough, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for any information regarding the proposed 
investment. Has asked several businessmen about it 
and they have all warned him not to let them invest.  
1 item 
 

3 Apr 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/16 Letter. R. W. Menzies, Scarborough, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him greatly for all the trouble he has gone to 
regarding the investment and hopes that he will 
continue as trustee. 
1 item 
 

5 Apr 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/17 Letter. R. W. Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his kind regards. He is unwell but 
hopes to be better soon. Also thanks him for the offer 
of a puppy but rejects it as they have too many dogs 
already.  
1 item 
 

10 Apr 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/18 Letter. R. C. Bewicke Bewicke, Middlesbrough, to W. 
M. Baines  
Is writing on behalf of his daughter to plead with 
Baines to allow them to invest the money in Bolckow, 
Vaughn and Co. 
1 item 
 

12 Apr 1877 
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U DDBH/26/22/19 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a copy of the letter he is sending to Mr 
Bewicke's solicitors. He is going to London for a week 
but can be contacted. With a copy of the letter 
forwarded by Guy. 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/20 Letter. J. P. Guy, London, to W. M. Baines 

Has copied the reply he received from Mr Bewicke's 
solicitors on the reverse of the letter. He believes it is a 
highly satisfactory reply. 
1 item 
 

18 Apr 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/21 Letter. J. P. Guy, London, to W. M. Baines 

Is meeting with people in Newcastle and wishes 
Baines to be close so that he can confer before 
making any decisions. 
1 item 
 

26 Apr 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/22 Letter. Mrs A. S. Menzies, Middlesbrough, to W. M. 
Baines 

She has received a signed paper from her husband 
requesting the trustee to invest her money and she 
hopes this will be enough to change Baines' mind. If 
not she may take it to the Court of Chancery. With a 
copy of Baines' reply on the back of the letter in which 
he states that he is still against the investment. 
1 item 
 

7 May 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/23 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Has enclosed a copy of a letter he has received from 
Bewicke's solicitors (on reverse of letter) and a 
statement of accounts (missing). 
1 item 
 

16 May 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/24 Letter. Bank of England to W. M. Baines 

Information that power of attorneys are being set up to 
deal with the transfer of money to the trustees. 
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1877 

U DDBH/26/22/25 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Bewicke's solicitors are sending papers for Baines' 
signature and it needs to be witnessed by two people 
so he asks Baines to visit him as soon as possible. 
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1877 
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U DDBH/26/22/26 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for his signature to enable a Messrs Dees and 
Thompson to invest in the Waterworks companies 
Debentures at Newcastle. The Menzies have given 
written agreement from India. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1878 

U DDBH/26/22/27 Particulars of the rent. Wylam Estate, Ovingham, 
Northumberland.   
Giving individual tenants, the acreage they rent, the 
cost and any other remarks. 
1 item 
 

1877 

U DDBH/26/22/28 Letter. J. P. Guy, Filey, to W. M. Baines 

Trying to arrange a time when they can meet.   
1 item 
 

29 Sep 1885 

U DDBH/26/22/29 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Has enclosed a letter from Dees and Thompson 
regarding Wylam Church business. With the letter. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/30 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Gives advice on how to reply to letter relating to the 
Menzies trust. With a letter from the enquirer Hy 
Howse and Co. Accountants. 
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/31 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a deed relating to the releasing of ground 
from mortgage. Requires Baines' signature. 
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/32 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Arranges a meeting and tells him to bring the Menzies 
marriage settlement. 
1 item 
 

23 Aug 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/33 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

He can't remember who holds the marriage 
settlements. Needs it in order to secure the loan. Is 
going to Filey for the week. 
1 item 
 

25 Aug 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/34 Letter. J. P. Guy, Filey, to W. M. Baines 

Captain Menzies has charged by annuity of £100 to a 
T. H. Blackman to secure £300. Wishes to know if 
Baines has the marriage settlement as this is also 
required. 
1 item 
 

4 Sep 1886 
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U DDBH/26/22/35 Letter. J. P. Guy, Filey, to W. M. Baines 

Captain Menzies' brother-in-law has been suggested 
as the substitute trustee and Baines' agreement is 
needed in order for it to go through. 
1 item 
 

7 Sep 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/36 Letter. Talbot and Tasker Solicitors, London, to W. M. 
Baines 

Asks for information regarding the purchase of land 
from Mr Menzies. Wishes to know if Baines has news 
of any dealings relating to the land and what 
investments the trust fund is pursuing at that time. With 
a letter from R. W. Menzies to W. M. Baines (13 Sep 
1886) stating that he has the final say in who replaces 
him as trustee. Has no objection to Captain Bewicke 
but is weary of both trustees being Bewickes.   
1 item 
 

15 Sep 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/37 Letter. J. P. Guy, Filey, to W. M. Baines 

Gives advice on how to reply to the previous two 
letters. The only dealings relating to the land was 
Menzies' acquiring of £300 in the previous September. 
1 item 
 

17 Sep 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/38 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Needs answers from Mr Menzies to questions relating 
to the property being sold through Talbot and Tasker 
Solicitors.  With a list of questions for Baines to 
forward to Menzies. 
1 item 
 

22 Sep 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/39 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Has enclosed letter from Messrs Dees and Thompson 
which they wished Guy to forward to Baines. 
Forwarded letter is missing. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/40 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Mr Menzies called and they discussed various points 
of business. Needs Baines permission to start the 
process of changing the trustees having found out that 
it was Menzies himself that recommended his brother-
in-law and not his wife. 
1 item 
 

23 Oct 1886 

U DDBH/26/22/41 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Asks if he would come to Howden with Mr Guy the 
coming Friday to discuss business. Thanks Mrs Baines 
for a card she sent. 
1 item 
 

3 Jan 1888 
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U DDBH/26/22/42 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is unable to come to Bell Hall due to work 
commitments.  
1 item 
 

5 Jan 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/43 Letter. Julia Menzies, Brighton, to W. M. Baines 

Is returning a signed cheque. Hopes they are all well 
and have avoided colds. Local news. 
1 item 
 

15 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/44 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a copy of letter from Messrs Dees and 
Thompson regarding an outstanding payment of 
Menzies. Guy's opinion is that the payment should be 
paid immediately. With the copy written on the reverse 
of the letter.   
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/45 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Attempts to arrange a meeting. 
1 item 
 

22 Feb 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/46 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Asks him to come to Mr Guy's office the coming 
Tuesday as he has called a meeting. Is glad to hear 
that Mrs Baines is improving. 
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/47 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Informing him that he has asked Julia Menzies to visit 
his office. 
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/48 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Information relating to a deed of Menzies. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/49 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Mr North has died as a result of illness. They have sold 
their house. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/50 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Has her sister staying at the moment. Invites them to 
come and visit. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1888 
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U DDBH/26/22/51 Letter. S. A. Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines   
He is hoping to raise £1000 to invest. Asks advice and 
consent. His lawyer in London has approved the 
investment. He is going to Norway fishing for three 
weeks. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/52 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Gives the latest information on her gathering the 
money for her investment.   
1 item 
 

2 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/53 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Attempts to arrange a meeting with Baines and Mr 
Guy. Stuart is enjoying Norway. 
1 item 
 

8 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/54 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Confirming the date for a meeting. 
1 item 
 

11 Aug 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/55 Letter. Julia Menzies, Lincoln, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for advice regarding the rent for a farm they own 
where their costs outweigh the money they are taking 
off the tenant.   
1 item 
 

23 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/56 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his advice regarding the farm and gives 
him further information. They have always found those 
tenants hard to deal with. Stuart is returning soon so 
she hopes to resolve the matter shortly. 
1 item 
 

27 Oct 1888 

U DDBH/26/22/57 Annual Report. York City and County Bank Limited 

1 item 
 

9 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/58 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending him a cheque and receipt that requires his 
signature. 
1 item 
 

18 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/59 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending him papers that require his signature. 
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/60 Letter. J. P. Guy, York, to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that he has received the signed papers 
and has processed the payment of £81 into the bank. 
1 item 
 

4 Feb 1889 
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U DDBH/26/22/61 Letter. Julia Menzies, Brighton, to W. M. Baines 

Is having trouble obtaining rent from one of her 
tenants. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/62 Letter. Julia Menzies, Brighton, to W. M. Baines 

Is going to London to stay with a friend. Local and 
family news. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/63 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his letter. Asks for advice on business 
matters. Stuart would like to know how Hewley is 
getting on in India. 
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1889 

U DDBH/26/22/64 Letter. Julia Menzies, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his letters. Her sister Mary has been 
very ill. Local and family news.   
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1890 

U DDBH/26/22/65 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his recommendation of some 
gardeners. Local news. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1890 

U DDBH/26/22/66 Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for dealing with her shares in the North 
Eastern Railway Company. Local news. 
1 item 
 

8 Jun 1897 

U DDBH/26/22/67 Letter. R. J. C. Lyth, York City and County Banking Co. 
Ltd, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending Baines some papers which require his 
signature relating to Mrs Menzies. 
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1898 

U DDBH/26/22/68 Letter. Julia Menzies, London, to W M Baines 

Asks for advice with various business matters. They 
have visited a Rembrandt exhibition.   
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1899 

U DDBH/26/22/69 Letter. Harriette Mary Menzies, Howden, to W. M. 
Baines 

Charles Menzies has died as a result of inflammation 
of the lungs. She thanks him for his birthday letter. 
Family news. 
1 item 
 

5 Oct 1900 
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U DDBH/26/23 Letters. Emily Staton to William Mortimer Baines, 
Bell Hall 
Letters written from The Vicarage, Wakefield; 
Stornoway; Sutherland; Inverness and Bishops 
Court, Isle of Man. 
11 items 
 

1880-1900 

U DDBH/26/23/1 Letter. Emily Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

She has knitted him some socks. Wishes them a 
happy Christmas and hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

10 Dec [1879] 

U DDBH/26/23/2 Letter. Emily Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear that he is unwell. Discusses a 
forthcoming election. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/23/3 Letter. Emily Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

There is great excitement about the forthcoming 
election. Local and Church news. Hears there is a 
splendid harvest in New Zealand.   
1 item 
 

27 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/23/4 Letter. Emily Staton, Stornoway, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear he likes the stockings she sent. 
Their passage to Stornoway was very smooth. Is 
having a very good time. The weather has been poor 
but she has still found time to sketch.  Hopes Hewley 
is doing well. 
1 item 
 

10 Sep [1880] 

U DDBH/26/23/5 Letter. Emily Staton, Sutherland, to W. M. Baines 

They have arrived safely. Local news. Is very sorry to 
hear that he is suffering such a bad harvest. She 
hopes they are all well.  
1 item 
 

23 Sep 1881 

U DDBH/26/23/6 Letter. Emily Staton, Sutherland, to W. M. Baines 

Sorry to hear that things aren't going well at the 
moment. Believes all country gentlemen are in the 
same position. 
1 item 
 

23 Sep 1881 

U DDBH/26/23/7 Letter. Emily Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

Asks if Baines would invite her cousin, Arthur Pease, 
to any tennis parties he is having. Pease is in training 
with the army near Bell Hall. She has been very busy 
of late. She hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/23/8 Letter. Emily Staton, Wakefield, to W. M. Baines 

She has read that they have had another son. Asks 
them to write with news of the baby and MaryAnn. She 
has recently returned from Scotland. Hopes they are 
all well. Mrs Wightmain has lost a daughter. 
1 item 
 

8 Oct 1884 

U DDBH/26/23/9 Letter. Emily Staton, Isle of Man, to W. M. Baines 

Relays gardening advice which she has received off 
her gardener. Local news.   
1 item 
 

28 Jul 1900 

U DDBH/26/23/10 Letter. Emily Staton, Inverness, to W. M. Baines 

She has sent a piece of Harris cloth for him to make a 
suit from. Believes the dark colour will suit his white 
hair. They travelled to Scotland by sea form Liverpool. 
Local news. Asks if Charles Reynolds is dead.  
1 item 
 

21 Sep 1900 

U DDBH/26/23/11 Letter. Emily Staton, Isle of Man, to W. M. Baines 

Relays further advice which she has gained from her 
gardener. The weather has been very poor. She has 
Miss Earle staying with her who is a great comfort. 
Suggests some interesting books including 'The 
Tragedy of the Korasko'.  
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/24 Letters. Thomas Harrison to William Mortimer 
Baines, Bell Hall 
Letter written from Bank, Leeds, and Wyther, 
Kirkstall.  
69 items 
 

1880-1899 

U DDBH/26/24/1 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is pleased to hear that Baines shooting is improving. 
He does not think he will be able to shoot this year as 
his rheumatism prevents him from holding a gun 
steady. 
1 item 
 

24 Aug 1880 

U DDBH/26/24/2 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Wyther, to W. M. Baines 

He is sending two prescriptions for Baines to help with 
his attacks. Enjoyed his recent visit to Bell Hall and 
thinks they should make it a frequent occurrence. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/24/3 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sorry to hear of the death of Baines grandchild 
(Fanny Baines’ child). Is sending Baines a gun. 
1 item 
 

22 Dec 1883 

U DDBH/26/24/4 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sending a gun back to Baines. He does not believe 
the man fixing the weapon has done a very good job. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1884 

U DDBH/26/24/5 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Wyther, to W. M. Baines 

Is not happy with his gunsmith. Asks Baines to send 
him some potatoes. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1884 

U DDBH/26/24/6 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks Baines for the potatoes he has sent. He will 
attempt to find a buyer for his products. Suggests a 
place where Baines could buy some cattle. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1884 

U DDBH/26/24/7 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has been unable to sell the potatoes so far but will 
continue to try. 
1 item 
 

29 Feb 1884 

U DDBH/26/24/8 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Recommends a tutor for Baines’ son Harry. 
1 item 
 

30 Sep 1884 

U DDBH/26/24/9 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He is returning two hampers to Baines. He also asks 
for 40 stone of potatoes. 
1 item 
 

14 Nov 1884 

U DDBH/26/24/10 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for his offer of making a fastener for his 
local church door. He gives further information of the 
properties of the required fastener. 
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1885 
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U DDBH/26/24/11 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

The bolt for the church door has arrived. It may be for 
the wrong door but they think it will be ok. Local news. 
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1885 

U DDBH/26/24/12 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He is returning Hewley’s letter. Discusses Charles 
Harrison and Kate Baines’ marriage settlement. With 
letters from Fanny Verdon and Hewley Baines 
accepting trusteeship. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1886 

U DDBH/26/24/13 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Tells Baines not to sell Bell Hall without the estate as 
they cannot be sold separately. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1886 

U DDBH/26/24/14 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Further discussion of Charles and Kate’s marriage 
settlement. He believes Charles should draw up a will 
as this could be altered whereas the settlement is final. 
1 item 
 

26 Mar 1886 

U DDBH/26/24/15 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for the draft marriage settlement. 
Discusses who has the right to draw up the settlement 
and decide the trustees. Agrees to a day at Holme 
Lodge. Suggests a train route which Baines may take 
to get there.   
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1886 

U DDBH/26/24/16 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Organises a visit to Bell Hall. Charles' will has been 
completed and awaits his signature. 
1 item 
 

13 May 1886 

U DDBH/26/24/17 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Visited Holme Lodge recently. The gardens and tennis 
courts are in a very good condition. Local news. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1886 
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U DDBH/26/24/18 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sending the address of a Mr Baynes who he 
believes Baines should contact. The weather is 
dreadful. Claims that even Baines, who is a keen 
skater, must be fed up of it. 
1 item 
 

13 Jan 1887 

U DDBH/26/24/19 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is enquiring about several cottages to rent. Invites Mrs 
Baines to their house when she is better. His wife is 
away for a month and his daughters may be going on 
a summer expedition. 
1 item 
 

15 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/20 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Will visit Bell Hall on the coming Monday to discuss 
letting Baines’ shooting. Insists on paying the full price 
for the rent. 
1 item 
 

17 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/21 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

They have arrived home safely after a trip to the 
countryside. 
1 item 
 

22 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/22 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Advises him not to cut down trees on his estate at the 
moment as it would disturb the game. He is sending a 
magazine which hasn’t been popular in his household. 
1 item 
 

23 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/23 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Arranges a visit to Bell Hall. Suggests other people 
that Baines may like to invite. 
1 item 
 

25 May 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/24 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He is sorry to hear that Baines is loosing Richardson’s 
farm as he believed it was the best place to hunt on 
the whole estate. 
1 item 
 

12 Nov 1888 
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U DDBH/26/24/25 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He is unable to come to Bell Hall due to the appalling 
weather. He has written to Mr Palmes and Mr Brooks 
to tell them that the shoot has been cancelled. 
1 item 
 

21 Nov 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/26 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Hopes to come and shoot on the coming Wednesday if 
they can find sufficient guns. Asks him to instruct 
Brooks, the keeper, to start 'stinking rabbits out'. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/27 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is unable to come to Bell Hall on the Wednesday but 
will try his best to make it on the Thursday. 
1 item 
 

1 Dec 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/28 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Claims that if Baines is to sell Bell Hall he may bid for it 
however he would do nothing to force Baines into a 
decision. 
1 item 
 

12 Dec 1888 

U DDBH/26/24/29 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has enclosed a cheque for Brook’s wages. He has 
bought a dog which he believes will be a very good 
hunter. 
1 item 
 

2 Feb 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/30 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for information on young Fooks. His 
daughters would have liked to visit Bell Hall but were 
unable due to their studies. Discusses the erection of 
fences around the Bell Hall estate. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/31 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Would be very pleased to see Baines in Leeds. 
Discusses a potential switch of land between Baines 
and Palmes - he doesn’t believe it would be a good 
move. 
1 item 
 

20 Mar 1889 
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U DDBH/26/24/32 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He is sending a cheque for £10 for Brook’s wages. 
Believes having a keeper is vital for a good shoot 
despite the expense. 
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/33 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Ask Baines to take out a licence which will allow 
Brooks to carry a gun. Hopes to visit Bell Hall soon 
and go rambling. 
1 item 
 

4 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/34 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for his offer of some rooks but declines as 
he believes his family would refuse to eat rook pie. Is 
sorry to hear that Walter Fooks has fallen in with a bad 
crowd at Cambridge. 
1 item 
 

11 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/35 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for his invitation to bring his girls to Bell 
Hall on the coming Monday. However, they are both 
away so he is coming on his own. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/36 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Organises a shoot. Asks him to thank Fooks for his 
note. Local news. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/37 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Encloses a cheque for Brook’s wage. Fooks came to 
visit. 
1 item 
 

20 Aug 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/38 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Arranges a time to visit Bell Hall for a shoot. Will not 
come if Baines has too many people staying already. 
1 item 
 

30 Aug 1889 
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U DDBH/26/24/39 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Will be late getting to Naburn on the coming Tuesday. 
Asks Baines to send a trap to collect the baggage as 
Brooks will be doing his rounds at the time of his 
arrival. 
1 item 
 

31 Aug 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/40 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sending a cheque for £50 for the shooting. 
Organises a shoot at Bell Hall and discusses the game 
that can be found there. 
1 item 
 

4 Oct 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/41 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Believes he won’t be able to fit another shoot in this 
year as he is extremely busy at work. Asks Baines to 
send him two or three hares. 
1 item 
 

1 Jan 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/42 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Believes he will have to spend a lot of time in London 
during the coming months due to work. Asks for Philip 
Baines’ address. Tries to organise a shoot. 
1 item 
 

15 Nov 1889 

U DDBH/26/24/43 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has been suffering from an attack of lumbago. 
Doesn’t think he is going to buy Lord Wenlock’s farm 
as he is too old. Discusses shooting and his hunting 
dog. 
1 item 
 

11 Feb 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/44 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is very busy at work. One of the partners at his bank 
has died which has resulted in an increased work load. 
Discusses what to do about the keeper Brooks if he is 
unable to shoot. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/45 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Hopes to visit Bell Hall soon to discuss Brooks. 
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1890 
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U DDBH/26/24/46 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Discusses shooting. Believes Guy Palmes plans for 
the wood will be detrimental to future hunting. Also 
believe that Brooks is becoming idle. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/47 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Wishes him a happy 60th birthday. Will be in London 
shortly and hopes to see Philip. Will take him to his 
club. 
1 item 
 

9 May 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/48 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has agreed to an engagement between his eldest 
daughter Louisa and Charles [Gott]. Believes they are 
well suited. He is suffering badly from rheumatism. Is 
sending a cheque for Brooks' wages. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/49 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sending another cheque for Brooks' wage. He 
doesn’t believe he will be able to shoot due to illness. 
Family news. 
1 item 
 

22 Jul 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/50 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Tells him not to bother coming to meet him at the train 
station as he will walk. Hopes to arrive at Naburn at 
9.10 on the following Monday. 
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/51 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Believes he is too unwell to do any more shooting this 
year. He has received letter from Hewley. 
1 item 
 

26 Aug 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/52 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is extremely sad to have to give up shooting as it is the 
thing he cares most for. He is passing his lease to Guy 
Palmes and selling his guns and dog. 
1 item 
 

27 Aug 1890 
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U DDBH/26/24/53 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has given Henry Fooks some money as he was 
struggling financially. Hopes to visit Bell Hall again 
soon. 
1 item 
 

28 Aug 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/54 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is pleased to hear that everything has been settled 
with Guy Palmes. Is pleased to hear that he has kept 
Brooks on. Has asked Brooks to deliver his gun, dog 
and other equipment to Baines for him. 
1 item 
 

2 Sep 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/55 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Asks if he knows of a handy man who is looking for 
employment as he has a position. 
1 item 
 

6 Sep 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/56 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Asks for his opinion on his book. He has managed to 
sell his hunting dog to someone in London. Local 
news. 
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/57 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Apologises for not sending enough money to cover 
what he owes Baines. Sends a cheque for £16.7.7 
which he hopes will settle the debt. Is curious to hear 
how Guy Palmes is getting on with his shooting. 
1 item 
 

3 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/58 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Invites him to spend a few days in Leeds. He is 
currently in Worcester. Local news. 
1 item 
 

5 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/59 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is pleased to hear they are to visit Leeds on the 15th. 
Asks Baines to bring his gun and belongings. Local 
news. 
1 item 
 

7 Nov 1890 
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U DDBH/26/24/60 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks him for his offer of a pig but declines as he is 
looking for a larger one than is being offered. Hopes to 
meet Baines on the coming Saturday. 
1 item 
 

11 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/61 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Will be near Bell Hall on the coming Saturday so may 
call in if Baines can provide him with the route to his 
house. Is going to Reckett’s funeral. 
1 item 
 

27 Nov 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/62 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Discusses lawyers in Leeds especially one Mr Swift. 
Gives advice on which would be the most suitable for 
Henry Baines to work at if he decides to work in Leeds. 
1 item 
 

2 Dec 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/63 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thanks Baines for sending him a pig. Asks for 
Hewley’s new address. 
1 item 
 

10 Dec 1890 

U DDBH/26/24/64 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Thinks it will be hard for Hewley to get a job in Selby. 
Believes that unless you have a social connection it is 
virtually impossible. 
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1891 

U DDBH/26/24/65 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Their son Charles and his wife are coming to help set 
up the concert they are doing in Aimley Workhouse. 
Invites Baines to the help with production and do a 
'funny reading'. 
1 item 
 

18 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/24/66 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is anxious to know how they all are. His doctor has 
recommended taking quinine and drinking port as the 
best medicine for his illness. 
1 item 
 

22 Apr 1891 
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U DDBH/26/24/67 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Apologises for not saying goodbye the previous Friday 
but he was in a rush to get to Leeds. 
1 item 
 

8 Sep 1891 

U DDBH/26/24/68 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Bank, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is sending a man to Wiggington to look at something 
for Baines. He enjoys the frosty weather but is finding 
it difficult to walk. 
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1899 

U DDBH/26/24/69 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Wyther, Leeds, to W. M. 
Baines 

Hopes to get to Bell Hall soon as all the banks are 
closed. Is going to bring lots of food and beer. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25 Letters to William Mortimer Baines and Henry 
Verdon Baines, Bell Hall,  
Relating to William Philip Baines, and his death at 
sea in wreck of the 'Port Yarrock'. With set of 
copies of letters of William Philip Baines on his 
last voyage out and home (26 Feb 1893-21 Jan 
1894). 
192 items 
 

1890-1895 

U DDBH/26/25/1 Letter. S. W. Silver and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

An account for a pair of trousers that Philip Baines has 
ordered and charged to Baines' account.   
1 item 
 

10 May 1890 

U DDBH/26/25/1a Letter. S. W. Silver and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

An account for goods ordered by Philip Baines which 
he has charged to Baines' account. 
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1890 

U DDBH/26/25/2 Letter. S. W. Silver and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

An account for goods ordered by Philip Baines which 
he has charged to Baines' account.   
1 item 
 

1890 

U DDBH/26/25/3 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that a place upon the 'Port Yarrock' has 
been reserved for Philip on Baines' request.   
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1891 
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U DDBH/26/25/4 Letter. S. W. Silver and Co., London, to W. M. Baines  
They wish to send a list of uniform required for Philip 
as he prepares to go to sea. 
1 item 
 

11 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/5 Letter. New Zealand Shipping Company, London, to 
W. M. Baines 

There is an apprenticeship position available for Philip 
on board the 'Waisoa' if he wishes to take it.   
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/5a Letter. H. Smith, HMS Worcester, to W. M. Baines 

Is willing to place Philip's name forward for an 
apprenticeship with the New Zealand Shipping 
Company. 
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/6 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

They have enclosed one of their 'apprenticeship to the 
sea' circulars (25/7) in case Baines is still looking for a 
ship for Philip to sail on. 
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/7 Apprenticeship to the Sea circular. Houlder Bros and 
Co.   
Lists the ships on which there are vacancies. The 'Port 
Yarrock' is included. Gives the tonnage (1318 tons) 
and the destination. It also gives the wage for the 
successful applicant. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/8 Printed estimate. Cost of a naval apprentice's outfit  
From John Newling, Naval and General Outfitter, 
London. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/9 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

They have written to the 'Port Yarrock' on Baines' 
behalf to apply for one of the apprentice vacancies. 
Describes the voyage the ship will take. Believes the 
voyage will take eight to ten months. 
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/10 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

Informs Baines of the wages an apprentice can expect 
and asks him to confirm if Phillip wishes one of the 
vacancies aboard the 'Port Yarrock' to be reserved. 
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1891 
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U DDBH/26/25/11 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

Informs Baines that a chest similar to the one Phillip 
would have used on the 'Worcester' is adequate. 
Phillip will also be allowed to take a sailors bag as well. 
1 item 
 

19 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/12 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines  
Asks for information about both Philip and William. 
Also gives a rough departure date for the 'Port 
Yarrock'.  With a copy of Baines' reply (30 Mar 1891) 
stating that Philip's birthday is 6th May. 
1 item 
 

28 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/13 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

They will write to the owners of the 'Port Yarrock' to try 
and determine when the ship will depart from England. 
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/14 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

Believes the 'Port Yarrock' will leave Cardiff in the 
middle of May having arrived from Hamburg. 
1 item 
 

8 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/15 Copy letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to Houlder Bros 
and Co., London 

Has enclosed a cheque for the payment of the 
premium of Philip. Asks to know when his son is to join 
the ship in Cardiff. Asks if his son will be senior 
apprentice due to his previous experience. 
1 item 
 

25 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/16 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

The Port Yarrock has arrived in Cardiff and awaits the 
signed indentures as do they.    
1 item 
 

21 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/17 Letter. S. W. Silver and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

An account for items ordered for Philip.   
1 item 
 

22 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/18 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines  
They have enclosed the receipt for Philip's premium. 
They are still waiting to hear when Philip is to join the 
vessel. With a receipt for £31.10.0. 
1 item 
 

29 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/19 Letter. S. W. Silver and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

Information on when they will dispatch the goods 
ordered by Baines. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1891 
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U DDBH/26/25/20 Letter. Houlder Bros and Co., London, to W. M. Baines 

Tells Baines that Philip is to join the 'Port Yarrock' as 
soon as possible as it departs the following 
Wednesday. 
1 item 
 

11 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/21 Letter. Messrs Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. 
M. Baines 

A small note informing him that Philip has sailed on the 
'Port Yarrock'. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/22 Letter. Clyde Shipping Company, Glasgow, to J. P. 
Kidston, Barnet  
Believes 'the young fellow' (no name given) will do well 
on the 'Port Yarrock'. Gives information about the 
vessel.  
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/23 Letter. [J. P. Kidston], Clyde Shipping Co., London, to 
[Baines] 
Has received letter from their sister firm in Glasgow 
(see U DDBH/26/25/22) and all seems satisfactory.   
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/24 Telegraph. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. 
Baines 

The latest reports say that all is going well on the 'Port 
Yarrock'.  Believes it will arrive in about a month's time. 
1 item 
 

8 Sep 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/25 Letter. W. P. Baines, 'Port Yarrock', to W. M. Baines 

Has arrived on the Yarrock safely. They are sailing in a 
fortnight. The crew are very helpful. Went into Cardiff 
but there was not much to see or do. 
1 item 
 

14 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/26 Missing 

1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/27 Postcard. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. 
Baines 

Tells Baines not to worry about Philip's coming voyage 
as it is perfectly safe. If he wishes to write to him in 
Santa Rosalia there is still time. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1891 

U DDBH/26/25/28 Postcard. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. 
Baines 

The 'Yarrock' is arriving at Santa Rosalia shortly. 
1 item 
 

19 Oct 1891 
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U DDBH/26/25/29 Postcard. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. 
Baines 

The 'Yarrock' is due at Portland in a few days. 
1 item 
 

10 Feb 1892 

U DDBH/26/25/30 Postcard. W. P. Baines, 'Port Yarrock', to W. M. 
Baines 

He has arrived at the ship safely. They will be in 
Cardiff for some time. 
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1892 

U DDBH/26/25/31 Postcard. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. 
Baines 

The 'Yarrock' has put into Brandon Bay, Northern 
Ireland and will soon travel to Antwerp. 
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/32 Letter. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Gives information on the 'Port Yarrock's' voyage. 
Believes it will arrive at its destination shortly. 
1 item 
 

4 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/33 Telegram. Gregory Goodman, Tralee, to John Welply, 
65 George Street 
Has been to see an agent regarding information on the 
'Yarrock'. His information (that the crew were saved) is 
incorrect. He is also sending a message to his cousin 
who lives at Castle Gregory by train.  
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/34 Telegram. [Crawford and Rowat] to W. M. Baines 

They cannot wire the 'Yarrock' but they believe that the 
crew are well. 
1 item 
 

26 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/35 Telegram. Harrison to W. M. Baines 

Asks to know if Philip is safe. 
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/36 Telegram. [Henry Baines] to W. M. Baines 

He has just set off for Tralee.   
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/37 Telegram. Henry Baines to W. M. Baines 

Has arrived safely in Tralee. 
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/38 Telegram. Henry Baines to W. M. Baines 

Asks Baines to send five pounds. 
1 item 
 

6 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/39 Telegram. Henry Baines to W. M. Baines 

He has just returned. Philip could not come ashore but 
has sent his latest photograph. 
1 item 
 

1 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/40 Telegram. Henry Baines to W. M. Baines 

Has spoken to Lloyd's agent who believes that all the 
crew of the 'Yarrock' were lost except for three. They 
are going to the wreck tomorrow to see what they can 
find.   
1 item 
 

2 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/41 Telegram. Henry Baines to W. M. Baines  
He is leaving for Dublin. There is no further news. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/42 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. P. Baines 

Is anxious to know why they are pulling in to Brandon 
Bay. Believes the ship must be in some distress. Asks 
him to write as soon as possible. Hopes he is well. 
1 item 
 

24 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/43 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to W. P. Baines 

They were greatly relieved to receive his letter. 
Believes they will not be able to go to sea until the ship 
is passed due to its poor condition. He is writing to 
Crawford and Rowat to ask them to allow Philip to 
come home in order to recover his health. Is sending a 
registered postal packet of two pounds.  
1 item 
 

26 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/44 Receipt. Registered letter at U DDBH/26/25/43 

1 item 
 

26 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/45 Letter. James Welply, Limerick, to Mr Faulkner, 
Escrick, York 

He is sorry to say that he doesn't know anybody in the 
neighbourhood of the Castle Gregory. He has written 
to the sheriff of County Kerry, a Mr Goodman, and he 
hopes he will be able to help Philip Baines during his 
time in Tralee. 
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/46 Letter. James Welply, Limerick, to Mr Faulkner 
He is sending copies of telegrams he has received 
relating to the 'Yarrock'. The nearest station is at 
Tralee. He is also sending a reply from Mr Goodman 
whose cousin lives at Castle Gregory.  
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/47 Letter. James Welply, Limerick, to Mr Faulkner 
Gives an account of the telegrams he has written to Mr 
Gregory in the attempt to ascertain whether the crew 
of the 'Yarrock' have been lost. Was initially told that 
the crew had been saved but later information proved 
otherwise.  
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1894  

U DDBH/26/25/48 Letter. T. Harrison, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear of Philip's arrival. Believes he will 
now be ok and asks Baines to inform him when Philip 
returns home as he would like to see him. Asks for a 
copy of Rosa's testimonial as he thinks he may be of 
use to her. 
1 item 
 

29 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/49 Letter. James Welply, Limerick, to Mr Faulkner 
Expresses his sympathy with the loss of Philip Baines. 
Was given false information by the Chamber of 
Commerce. Says that a tug boat had offered to pull the 
boat to safety a week before the incident for £30 but 
the captain said no as he believed the cost was too 
high! 
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/50 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

She hopes he has received better news regarding 
Philip's safety. Says they must wait for the telegram 
from the owners before giving up hope.   
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/51 Letter. G. Whitehead, York, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes he is not writing too early but wished to give his 
sympathies on the news of the ship's sinking of which 
he had read in the local paper.  

1 item 
 

30 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/52 Letter. Glin Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines 

Apologises for not writing earlier but her husband has 
been very ill and is only just recovering. Gives her 
sympathies on the tragic news. 
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/53 Letter. Crawford and Rowat, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Confirming the 'Yarrock's' complete wreck and the loss 
of all its crew. Gives their sympathies. 
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/54 Letter. Henry Baines, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Believes all the blame should lie with the captain who 
refused all offers of assistance. Describes his and 
Rosa's journey to Tralee. Three of the crew survived. 
Fears Philip will never be found. The captain seemed 
to be a very careless man who didn't care for the 
health of his crew. Some letters of Philip's have been 
found. They are going to Brandon Bay the following 
day. Believes a memorial should be erected near by. 
With a sketch of Brandon Bay showing how the 
'Yarrock' was blown ashore.    
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/55 Letter. A. Grimston, Stillingfleet Vicarage, to W. M. 
Baines 

Gives his deepest sympathies on the news of Philip's 
death. Believes it must be harder for Baines as he was 
already suspicious that the ship was in a bad way 
when it moored in the Bay.   
1 item 
 

1 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/56 Letter. [Mother], Clontarf, to Alice 

Is sorry to hear of the death of Philip. She is travelling 
to meet Rosa and Henry. She doesn't believe Rosa 
should make the trip to Tralee.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/57 Letter. Lloyds, London, to W. M. Baines 

They ask Baines for any information he has on the 
'Yarrock' and its voyage.   
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/58 Letter. Board of Trade, Maritime Department, to W. M. 
Baines 

Acknowledgement that they have received letter from 
Baines and that it will receive due consideration. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/59 Letter. M. S. Cox, Folkestone, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses her deepest sympathies on hearing of 
Philip's death. Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

2 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/60 Letter. R. Hartley, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his deepest sympathies on hearing of 
Philip's death. Claims Philip was always one of his 
favourites. 
1 item 
 

2 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/60a Letter. Julia Menzies, Howden, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear that he has lots of people around 
him. Local news. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/61 Letter. Charlotte Harrison, Arlington House, to W. M. 
Baines 

Expresses her deepest sympathies on hearing of 
Philip's death. Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/62 Letter. E. R. Sandys, Fulford House, to Annie Baines 

Expresses her deepest sympathies on hearing of 
Philip's death and is sorry to hear that Mrs Baines has 
been taken to her bed with illness.   
1 item 
 

4 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/63 Letter. V. R. Farrow, Riccall Vicarage, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his deepest sympathies on hearing of 
Philip's death. Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/64 Letter. Thomas Harrison, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Hopes that Philip's body will be washed ashore as 
many of the other crew have. Believes he is correct in 
bringing matters before the authorities. Offers words of 
comfort. 
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/65 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to Mr Denison 

He has enclosed £5.0.0 which he wishes to be wired to 
Henry Baines in Ireland. He also asks Mr Denison to 
send a copy of the telegram which Baines has noted 
on the back of the letter. Gives a break down of the 
extra money he has sent for the cost of the telegram. 
1 item 
 

6 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/66 Letter. Frank Gott, Leeds, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his deepest sympathies on hearing of 
Philip's death.   
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/67 Letter. Jno. Carr, York, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
They are all well. Hopes Mrs Baines improves quickly. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/68 Letter. Abm. Isaac, Kilbobbin Rectory, County Kerry, to 
Henry Baines 

Agrees to bury Philip if the body is found. Gives 
information on when high and low tides are.     
1 item 
 

10 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/69 Letter. Arthur Wood, Ripon, to W. M. Baines 

Is sorry to hear of Philip's death. They can sympathise 
as they have suffered a similar loss. Hopes they keep 
well. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/70 Letter. James McDonald, RI Constabulary, Tralee, to 
Henry Baines 

He passed on the photo of Philip to a doctor who was 
examining one of the bodies from the 'Yarrock'. 
Unfortunately it wasn't Philip but he promises to keep 
searching for the body so they can bury him. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/71 Letter. Lloyd's, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for forwarding one of the letters Baines 
received from Philip. 
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/72 Letter. Thos. W. O'Connor, Castlerea, to W. M. Baines 

Is sorry to hear of Philip's death. He asks for a copy of 
Philip's diary as he has heard Baines is going to put it 
in print. He says he knows the area where the ship 
sank and claims he has never known a ship leave that 
bay safely.   
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/73 Letter. Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. He also asks for a copy of 
Philip's diary. 
1 item 
 

13 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/74 Letter. Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines 

Tells him not to send a copy of Philip's diary as he has 
already read it in the paper.  
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/75 Letter. J. Everett, Deptford, to W. M. Baines 

Asks if there is any reference to his son, who also died 
in the wreck, in Philip's diary. Believes that it is a 
disgrace to the British nation that the affair was 
allowed to happen. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1894 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 262 of 331 

U DDBH/26/25/76 Letter. Alfred Webb, House of Commons, to W. M. 
Baines 

Agrees that an investigation about the wreck should 
take place. Believes it will be difficult due to the 
captain's death.   
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/77 Letter. Sidney Smith, Wheldrake Rectory, York, to W. 
M. Baines 

He has read of Philip's plight in the Yorkshire Post and 
wishes to express his deepest sympathy. Offers words 
of comfort. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/78 Letter. Christopher Baldwin, Hull, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
He was a school friend at St Peter's. His father was 
chaplain of York Castle. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/79 Letter. E. R. York, Devonshire Club, London, to W. M. 
Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/80 Letter. Percy Coates, Lancaster, to W. M. Baines 

Is very sorry to hear of Philip's death. Asks what has 
happened to his 'two old pupils' Hugh and Harry. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/81 Letter. Chas. G. Tate, Richmond, to W. M. Baines 

Was sorry to read of the death of Philip. Believes the 
captain and the company are to blame for allowing the 
ship to sail too lightly manned. Local news. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/82 Letter. James McDonald, RI Constabulary, Tralee, to 
Henry Baines 

Is pleased to hear they have returned home safely. 
They have buried three of the crew who have been 
washed up. They also found a shirt belonging to Philip 
however they have not found his body. He promises to 
continue searching. 
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/83 Letter. J. R. Hass, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

They have found two bodies washed up however 
neither of them fit Philip's description. They were found 
two miles from the wreck. They are finding it difficult to 
identify the bodies as they are greatly disfigured. He 
asks Baines for any evidence he has regarding the 
cause of the wreck.   
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/84 Letter. Alfred Webb, House of Commons, to W. M. 
Baines 

Believes someone must be made answerable for 
allowing the vessel to go to sea so lightly manned. 
Asks if he can keep the copy of Philip's log that Baines 
has sent him so he can continue an investigation. 
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/85 Letter. Eliza P. Plaite, Barnhill, near Dundee, to W. M. 
Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/86 Letter. T. B. Whytehead, Acomb House, York, to W. M. 
Baines 

Wishes to express his sympathy as he is the father of 
two sailors. Hopes that someone is held responsible 
for allowing the vessel to sail so lightly manned. 
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/87 Letter. Augustus Champ, RI Constabulary, Tralee, to 
Henry Baines 

There have been some more bodies found however 
none of them are Philip. Asks if he wishes them to 
forward the shirt of Philip's that has been washed up.   
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/88 Letter. Elizabeth Barstow, Garrow Hill, York, to W. M. 
Baines 

She has been unable to find a post for Mr Atkinson's 
son at the bank but believes he will find a job at the 
post office. Hopes they are well and not suffering too 
much.   
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/89 Letter. E. Price, Chichester, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/90 Letter. M. A. Roberts, Mount Rivers, to W. M. Baines 

Has heard that more bodies have been washed up. 
Says he would have travelled to Brandon Bay if he 
lived closer. He is considering writing to the Times 
about the wreck and believes that the company was 
trying to save money by undermanning the vessel.  
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/91 Letter. J. Everett, Deptford, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks Baines for sending him information on his son. 
His son had said that the crew had become 
dissatisfied with the captain on the outward voyage. 
The Board of Trade have agreed to hold an inquiry into 
the wreck. With a list of points he believes the inquiry 
should consider.   
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/92 Letter. Arthur Webb, House of Commons, to W. M. 
Baines 

Information regarding the inquiry. Philip's log will be 
used as evidence in the case. 
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/93 Letter. Arthur Robinson, Grand Hotel, Nice, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has just read the letters of Philip in the Times. In all 
his time at sea he believes he didn't suffer such 
hardships as his son. Believes the ship owners are to 
blame.   
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/94 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to E. R. York 

Claims Philip was the only one on board who had not 
been affected by scurvy. Says that only six of the 
twenty crew have been found including the captain. 
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/95 Notices of Motions in Parliaments and Orders of the 
day 

Including questions about the wreck. Ship's name is 
given as 'Port Garrock'.    
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/96 Letter. Vice Admiral E. Field MP, Sussex, to W. M. 
Baines 

He believes the inquiry will struggle to reach a 
conclusion due to the absence of anyone able to give 
evidence. Philip's diary would not be received as legal 
evidence. Believes the captain stayed where he was 
so he wouldn't have to pay harbour dues.   
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/97 Letter. J. McDonald, RI Constabulary, Tralee, to W. M. 
Baines 

Philip's body has still not been found. Philip may still 
be inside the sunken vessel. The ship had split in two. 
Promises to continue searching for Philip. 
1 item 
 

20 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/98 Letter. Board of Trade, London, to Henry Baines 

Confirmation that an inquiry is being launched into the 
stranding of the 'Port Yarrock'. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/99 Letter. James McDonald, RI Constabulary, Tralee, to 
Henry Baines 

Confirms that none of the bodies which had been 
washed up were Philip. The weather has calmed so he 
hopes to sail out to the place of the wreck and look for 
the body. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/100 Letter. [James Howther], London, to W. M. Baines 

Confirmation that he has received Baines' letter 
regarding the 'Port Yarrock' and that it will receive his 
full attention. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/101 Letter. G. H. Lightfoot, Milnthorpe, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for his letter of sympathy and returns the 
sentiments. Asks Baines to thank the Askwiths as well 
for their kind letter. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/102 Letter. T. H. G. Esmond, House of Commons, to W. M. 
Baines 

The wreck of the 'Port Yarrock' occurred within his 
constituency and he immediately contacted the Board 
of Trade. He will continue to keep Baines informed of 
the events of the inquiry. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/103 Letter. Thomas Ringrose, Stockton Hall, York, to W. M. 
Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
He apologises for not writing earlier and hopes that 
they are ok. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/104 Letter. Aunt Fan, The Grove, Greenford, to Annie 
Baines 

Hopes to visit Bell Hall soon. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/25/105 Letter. J. Grant Lawson, York, to W. M. Baines 

Claims he will do everything in his power to launch an 
inquiry into the ship wreck.   
1 item 
 

22 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/106 Letter. W. Wilson-Todd, London, to W. M. Baines 

Claims he will do everything in his power to launch an 
inquiry into the ship wreck. Expresses his deepest 
sympathy. 
1 item 
 

22 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/107 Letter. Sailors and Fireman's Union, London, to W. M. 
Baines  
Believes the inquiry is a farce as they will come to the 
conclusion that the ship was lost due to bad weather. 
He believes action should be taken against the ship 
owners in order to gain compensation for the loss of so 
many lives. 
1 item 
 

22 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/108 Letter. E. Gray, South Driffield, to W. M. Baines 

Expresses his sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

22 Feb [1894] 

U DDBH/26/25/109 Letter. A. Champ, County Kerry, to W. M. Baines 

Gives his opinion on the wreck. Believes it was wholly 
the captain's fault and that he could have saved the 
crew's life if he had taken different actions. He doesn't 
believe that many of the bodies will be found or that 
the ship was sunk following an attack from another 
vessel. 
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/110 Letter. Isabel Fooks, Burnley, to Annie Baines 

Expresses her sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/111 Letter. James McDonald, Tralee, to H. V. Baines 

Three more bodies have been washed up however it is 
impossible to identify any of them. The three have 
been buried in Ireland. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/112 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to H. V. Baines 

Believes erecting a window in Philip's memory is a 
very good idea and is more than happy to contribute. 
Is pleased to hear that mother is improving. Asks him 
to send a copy of the Times. With a copy of a letter 
from Philip (15 May 1893) describing his first watch on 
board the 'Port Yarrock' and how severely 
undermanned they were. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/112a Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to Rosa Baines 

Would be more than pleased to have Rosa come and 
stay. Fanny has been unwell since returning from 
Ireland but is looking forward to Rosa's visit. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/113 Estimate. Whitefriars Glass Works, London 

For three light windows for Escrick Chapel. The 
subject is given as 'Christ Blessing Children'. 
1 item 
 

5 Jul [1890] 

U DDBH/26/25/114 Letter. Mr Esmonde, Ballynastragh, County Wexford, 
to W. M. Baines 

Has written to the Board of Trade demanding an 
inquiry into the wreck. Will write to Baines when a date 
for the inquiry has been set. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/115 Letter. G. F. Jackson, Timber Merchants, Leeds, to W. 
M. Baines 

Is sorry to hear of Philip's death and he offers Baines 
and his family his deepest sympathy. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/116 Letter. Mr [Barnly], Wigginton, to W. M. Baines 

Is sorry to hear of Philip's death. Asks Baines for a 
contribution to their schools. Claims that they rely 
heavily on local landowners for their income.   
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/117 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear that they have been able to finally 
go out to the wreck. Local news. Believes the window 
should be designed by a good artist as many of the 
modern ones aren't and are therefore not very well 
done.  
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/118 Letter. Mrs Preston, York, to W. M. Baines  
Expresses her sympathy on hearing of Philip's death. 
Offers words of comfort. Is pleased to hear the case is 
going before the House of Commons as it should 
prevent further similar tragedies.   
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/119 Letter. Mr Wilson, National Amalgamated Sailors and 
Firemen's Union, to W. M. Baines 

Is sending a copy of the question he is putting to the 
President of the Board of Trade. With a copy of the 
question which asks if the President has considered 
Philip's correspondence regarding the undermanning 
of the 'Port Yarrock' and if he is going to set up an 
inquiry to investigate the incident. 
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/120 Letter. Florie Egremont, Welton Vicarage, Brough, to 
W. M. Baines 

Is shocked to hear of Philip's death. She had not seen 
him for fifteen years. Hopes they are coping with the 
terrible news. 
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/121 Letter. Board of Trade Solicitors to H. V. Baines 

Confirms that Henry will be allowed to attend the 
inquiry. Is going to put forward Philip's letters as 
evidence but he is not sure if the court will allow them 
to be used.   
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/122 Letter. M. H. J. Roberts, Mount Rivers, Carrigaline, to 
W. M. Baines 

Is sending a copy of the Cork Constitution and asks 
Baines to send any copies of the Times which mention 
the 'Port Yarrock'. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/123 Letter. Lord Wenlock, Government House, Madras 
[Chennai], to W. M. Baines 

Is sorry to hear of Philip's death but is pleased that 
Baines has agreed to Hewley's transfer to Abbottabad 
in India. Tells Baines not to be anxious about Hewley's 
health. 
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/124 Letter. Board of Trade Finance Department to W. M. 
Baines 

Informing Baines that Philip's outstanding wages and 
effects have been transferred to his name.  
1 item 
 

7 Mar 1894  
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U DDBH/26/25/125 Letter. A. Webb, House of Commons, to W. M. Baines 

Information on the inquiry. Believes Mr Wilson is a very 
able speaker who has a lot of experience and 
knowledge.  
1 item 
 

7 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/126 Letter. Mr Wilson, National Amalgamated Sailors and 
Firemen's Union, to W. M. Baines 

The inquiry is to be held in Glasgow which he does not 
agree with as it means that few MPs will be able to 
attend. Asks Baines to write to anyone he knows in an 
attempt to have the inquiry moved to London. 
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/127 Letter. James McDonald, Tralee, to W. M. Baines  
No further bodies have been washed up.  
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/128 Letter. M. H. J. Roberts, Mount Rivers, Carrigaline, to 
W. M. Baines  
He has written to various newspapers concerning the 
loss of the 'Port Yarrock'. Asks Baines to send a copy 
of the Times with news relating to the inquiry. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/129 Letter. T. H. G. Esmond, House of Commons, to W. M. 
Baines 

They are unable to change the date of the inquiry but 
any costs incurred by witnesses will be refunded by 
the Board of Trade. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/130 Letter. A. Webb, House of Commons, to W. M. Baines 

Confirms that it is impossible to change the date or 
location of the inquiry. Believes this is a poor state of 
affairs. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/131 Letter. H. D. Fraser, Woolwich, to W. M. Baines 

Is very sorry to hear of Philip's death. He was a close 
friend and shipmate on board the 'Worcester'. Claims 
that a lack of sufficient provisions on board ships is a 
common occurrence. Believes the ship owners are to 
blame and hopes that they are brought to trial. 
1 item 
 

14 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/132 Letter. [M. F.] Verdon, London, to W. M. Baines  
Walter has been busy trying to increase support from 
MPs in London for the inquiry.  
1 item 
 

15 Mar 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/133 Letter. Receiver of Wreck, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Informs Baines that he has been called to give 
evidence in the inquiry on the 20 Mar. If he fails to 
attend he will have to pay a 40 shilling fine.  
1 item 
 

15 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/134 Letter. A. Webb, House of Commons, to W. M. Baines  
Information regarding the inquiry. 
1 item 
 

15 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/135 Letter. Rosa Baines, Thirsk, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for information about the inquiry as soon as he 
has it. Kate may have to leave her Thirsk home as the 
property may be being sold. Local news.  
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/136 Letter. Board of Trade Finance Department to W. M. 
Baines 

Informing Baines that Philip's outstanding wages have 
been forwarded to the Mercantile Marine Office in 
Goole following Baines' application to claim them. 
Baines is to go there to collect them. With a 
memorandum from the Superintendent at the 
Mercantile Marine Office in Goole to W. M. Baines 
confirming that a cheque will be sent to Baines for 
Philip's outstanding wages. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/137 Transcription. Philip's baptism record  
From the Naburn Parish register. 
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/138 Copy. Final report of the inquiry 

The court found managing owner, Mr Robert John 
Rowat, guilty of allowing the vessel to go to sea short 
handed.  
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/139 Memorandum. Superintendent at the Mercantile 
Marine Office in Goole to W. M. Baines.   
Indicates that a cheque for Philip's outstanding wages, 
£7.17.3, has been enclosed. 
1 item 
 

28 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/140 Letter. Mr Wilson, National Amalgamated Sailors and 
Firemen's Union, to W. M. Baines  
Thanks him for sending the copies of the Glasgow 
Herald. Suggests that Baines sends an application for 
compensation as the owner was at fault for the wreck. 
1 item 
 

28 Mar 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/141 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Is sure that Baines will be happy with the findings of 
the court as the 'Yarrock's' owners have been exposed 
in all the papers across the country. Asks Baines to 
rally support for the compensation case.   
1 item 
 

29 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/142 Letter. W. G. [Steppecess], St Paul's Square, to W. M. 
Baines 

He has enclosed press cuttings from the Newcastle 
Chronicle containing facts disclosed at the inquiry. 
With the press cuttings. 
1 item 
 

29 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/143 Letter. Mr Dalton, The Times, London, to W. M. Baines 

Replying on behalf of the Editor claiming that it was 
their pleasure to aid in the exposure of the 'Port 
Yarrock's' owners. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/144 Compliments slip. Board of Trade Solicitor to W. M. 
Baines 

1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/145 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

States that the ship owners are not subject to English 
jurisdiction as they are a Scottish based company. 
Gives further information on how to claim 
compensation.   
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/146 Letter. Walter Fooks, The Infirmary, London, to W. M. 
Baines 

Apologises for not writing sooner but he did not believe 
he could express his sympathy suitably enough.   
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/147 Letter. Mr Wilson, National Amalgamated Sailors and 
Firemen's Union, to W. M. Baines 

Asks Baines to forward him the list of names and 
addresses of those who also lost family in the wreck as 
he believes he will be able to get a lawyer to take up 
the compensation case. 
1 item 
 

6 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/148 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear that £30 has been guaranteed as it 
will allow the case to go ahead. Gives further 
information on the claim for compensation. 
1 item 
 

9 Apr 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/149 Letter. Donald Mackay, York, to W. M. Baines 

He has copied letter from Messrs Crawford and Rowat 
on the reverse of this letter. He believes they are 
considering paying compensation.   
1 item 
 

10 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/150 Letter. W. M. Baines to [unknown] 
He is writing on behalf of the relatives of those lost in 
the 'Post Yarrock' wreck requesting that a tombstone is 
laid in the churchyard of Killarney near Castle Gregory. 
Is willing to pay the cost for the stone. Gives a 
suggested inscription for the tombstone. Four copies of 
the letter. 
4 items 
 

May 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/151 Letter. Mr Wilson, National and Amalgamated Sailors' 
and Firemen's Union, to W. M. Baines 

Is pleased to hear that Mr Rennie has taken up the 
compensation case. Asks to be kept informed of the 
result. 
1 item 
 

11 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/152 Letter. James McDonald, Tralee, to W. M. Baines  
Is sorry to hear Baines has not received Philip's shirt. 
Will endeavour to have the shirt sent as soon as 
possible. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/153 Letter. James McDonald, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Informs Baines that he is sending the photograph of 
Philip which he forgot to send in his previous letter.   
1 item 
 

7 May 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/154 Letter. A. Champ, RI Constabulary, County Kerry, to 
W. M. Baines 

Apologises for not writing sooner. He is forwarding 
Philip's shirt. Unfortunately no further bodies have 
been washed ashore.   
1 item 
 

8 May 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/155 Letter. A. J. Holbeck, Southampton, to W. M. Baines 

Would like to know how much the tombstone that is to 
be erected in memory of those who died on the 
'Yarrock' will cost as he wishes to put something 
towards it. His brother died on board the vessel. 
1 item 
 

12 May 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/156 Letter. James McDonald, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Believes the tombstone is a nice idea. Confirms there 
were thirteen bodies washed ashore following the 
wreck. Gives information on these bodies and where 
they are buried. 
1 item 
 

12 May 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/157 Letter. A. Champ, RI Constabulary, County Kerry, to 
W. M. Baines 

Gives information on some of the other families who 
lost relatives in the wreck.   
1 item 
 

13 May 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/158 Letter. H. Evans, Cardiff, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the photo of Philip. Family news.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/159 Letter. John B. Healy, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Has finished the estimate for the memorial tombstone. 
He is sending it in the coming days along with a piece 
of the limestone from which he will make the stone.  
1 item 
 

5 Jun 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/160 Letter. John B. Healy, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

The cost of the tombstone will be £10.0.0 in granite 
with a marble panel for the lettering. He is sending a 
piece of the stone by parcel post. 
1 item 
 

7 Jun 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/161 Letter. James McDonald, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Divers attempting to recover the ships cargo found 
skeletons caught in the fallen rigging. Thanks him for 
the photo of Philip. 
1 item 
 

11 Jun [1894] 

U DDBH/26/25/162 Letter. W. H. McCowen & Sons, Tralee, to W. M. 
Baines 

Says that there were no skeletons found amongst the 
rigging of the 'Yarrock' after he asked one of the divers 
personally following reading the report in the paper. 
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/163 Letter. W. H. McCowen & Sons, Tralee, to W. M. 
Baines 

Now claims that remains have been found by the 
divers amongst the sunken vessel. Offers his full co-
operation if Baines wishes to take the matter further. 
1 item 
 

23 Jun 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/164 Letter. R. H. Cook, The Vicarage, Healaugh, 
Tadcaster, to W. M. Baines 

Discusses the memorial to Philip and the other 
members of the 'Yarrock'.   
1 item 
 

Jul 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/165 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

There has been no news of the case as the courts 
have been on 'vacation' however he assures Baines 
that they have continued to gather evidence for the 
compensation case. Is pleased a similar letter to 
Philip's written by a fellow seaman on board the 
'Yarrock' has been put forward.   
1 item 
 

11 Oct 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/166 Letter. E. Godby, Guy's Hospital, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for sending Philip's letters. Was pleased to 
read the references to George Keefe (second mate on 
the 'Yarrock'). Asks him to make a note of any further 
references to the same man he comes across. Offers 
to put something towards the memorial for the 
seamen. With a letter addressed to 'Charlie' from Philip 
Baines whilst on board the 'Yarrock' (23 Oct 1891).  
1 item 
 

24 Sep 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/167 Letter. E. Godby, Guy's Hospital, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for sending Mr Rennie's letter. She hopes 
the letter she sent will be of some help in the 
compensation case. 
1 item 
 

13 Oct 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/168 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines   
Is worried that the letter sent by E. Godby will not be 
taken as evidence as it is only a copy. With three 
envelopes which appear to have some form of poetry 
written on them. 
1 item 
 

13 Oct 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/169 Letter. Abm. Isaac, Kilbobbin Rectory, County Kerry, to 
W. M. Baines 

Agrees to ask Mr Healy when the obelisk will be ready. 
Offers them accommodation if they wish to visit the 
obelisk when it is erected. 
1 item 
 

1 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/170 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Has been able to gather three more witnesses for the 
case including the pilot who offered help to the 
'Yarrock'. Was unable to check on the progress of the 
memorial sculpture. 
1 item 
 

2 Nov 1894 
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U DDBH/26/25/171 Letter. Father Austin, The Priory, Barry Dock, to W. M. 
Baines 

He is writing on behalf of Father Hopkins who wishes 
to thank Baines for the picture of Philip. He also hopes 
to visit Baines at Bell Hall in the near future. 
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/172 Letter. Robert McCowen and Sons, Tralee, to W. M. 
Baines 

The obelisk is complete and Mr Healy hopes to send it 
for erection that week. He also recommends a 
photographer to Baines. Asks if there is any news on 
the compensation case. 
1 item 
 

12 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/173 Letter. W. M. Baines, Bell Hall, to unknown 

Thanks him for his design of a brass in memory of 
Philip and believes it is wholly satisfactory. Makes 
some alterations to the inscription he gave in an earlier 
letter. 
1 item 
 

14 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/174 Letter. Abm. Isaac, Kilbobbin Rectory, County Kerry, to 
W. M. Baines 

He called on Mr Healy to check on the obelisk. It is 
completed and they are waiting for the weather to 
improve so they can erect it. Believes it would be nice 
to have the grave of the dead seamen enclosed. 
1 item 
 

14 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/175 Letter. John B. Healy, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Confirms that the obelisk is complete and discusses 
the cost of enclosing the monument. 
1 item 
 

21 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/176 Letter. Mrs Kyate, Myton, to W. M. Baines 

She is writing on behalf of her son who wishes to thank 
the Baines' for the invitation to Bell Hall but 
unfortunately he is unable to visit.    
1 item 
 

27 Nov 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/177 Letter. Abm. Isaac, Kilbobbin Rectory, County Kerry, to 
W. M. Baines 

He has been unable to enquire about the cost of 
enclosing the grave in Killiney but hopes to do so 
shortly. 
1 item 
 

5 Jan 1895 
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U DDBH/26/25/178 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Believes Baines is right in thinking that the £50 offered 
by the 'Yarrock's' owners as compensation is 
inadequate. However, he believes it will be hard to 
raise this figure without taking legal action.  Suggests 
that this may be the best course of action. 
1 item 
 

11 Dec 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/179 Letter. John B. Healy, Tralee, to W. M. Baines 

Confirms that the obelisk has been erected at Killiney.   
1 item 
 

1 Dec 1894 

U DDBH/26/25/180 Letter. R. A. Rennie, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Asks for the name of Baines' wife as she will need to 
sign a discharge form from the Defenders Agency. 
1 item 
 

7 Jan [1895] 

U DDBH/26/25/181 Letter. Abm. Isaac, Kilbobbin Rectory, County Kerry, to 
W. M. Baines 

Gives information on the various forms of enclosing 
wall they could place around the grave.   
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1895  

U DDBH/26/25/182 Letter. Mrs Grant, Glasgow, to W. M. Baines 

Informing Baines that she has received an offer of 
£150 in compensation from Crawford and Rowat. She 
refused this offer and the figure was then raised to 
£250 which her solicitor is suggesting she accepts.   
1 item 
 

22 Jan 1895 

U DDBH/26/25/183 Letter. Rose Thompson, Memuua, New Zealand, to W. 
M. Baines 

Local and family news. Is sorry to hear that MaryAnn is 
still grieving. She has lost two of her children. She 
hopes they are well and asks for a photograph of them 
all. 
1 item 
 

25 Jan 1895 

U DDBH/26/25/184 Letter. Glin. Askwith, London, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the picture of Philip's memorial. Family 
news.   
1 item 
 

17 May 1895 

U DDBH/26/25/185 List. Names and ranks of the crew of the 'Port Yarrock' 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/25/186 Copy letter. [W. M. Baines] to Mr Wells 

Confirms that the obelisk has been completed and 
erected. He also would like to know his opinion on 
having the grave enclosed. He hopes to receive the 
photographs of the monument shortly. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/25/187 Copy book. William Philip Baines' letters to William 
Mortimer Baines  
On his last voyage out and home. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1893- 
21 Jan 1894 

U DDBH/26/26 Letters to and from William Mortimer Baines, Bell 
Hall 
From various correspondents. All relating to the 
death and will of Reverend William Price, late of 
County Wicklow and Memel. 
13 items 
 

Jun-Oct 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/1 Copy will. William Price 

Includes a bequest to Mary Frances (Fanny) Baines 
(W. M. Baines' daughter). 
1 item 
 

2 Jul 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/2 Letter. James Mason, Memel, Germany, Germany, to 
Mrs Walker, London 

Informing her that the Reverend William Price had 
died. He had been ill for some time and died 
peacefully. The letter is a copy which Mrs Walker had 
forwarded to W. M. Baines. 
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/3 Letter. James Mason, Memel, Germany, to [Mrs 
Walker], London 

Informs her that Reverend Price has left all his 
property to Mrs Fanny Baines. However, the money 
gained from the sale of the properties would only cover 
his debts therefore leaving little for Fanny.  
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/4 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to James Mason, Memel, 
Germany 

Asks for information on the executor of Reverend 
Price's will and on who has the authority to sell his 
property. Says that Fanny and Reverend Price were 
first cousins.   
1 item 
 

1 Aug 1895 
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U DDBH/26/26/5 Letter. Mrs Walker, The Ivies, Merton, to W. M. Baines 

She is sending the two letters she has received from 
James Mason.   
1 item 
 

30 Jul 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/6 Letter. James Mason, Memel, Germany, to W. M. 
Baines 

Is going on holiday but promises to give Baines' letter 
his full attention on his return. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/7 Letter. James Mason, Memel, Germany, to W. M. 
Baines 

Gives information on the will and who is responsible 
for the sale of the Reverend's property. Doesn't believe 
there will be much money left after all the debts are 
paid following the sale of the property. 
1 item 
 

7 Aug 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/8 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to James Mason, Memel, 
Germany 

He has not received any communication from the 
executor of Reverend Price's will, Mr Gessner. He has 
written to Fanny informing her of the Reverend's death 
and he would like a copy of the will to send to her. 
1 item 
 

13 Aug 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/9 Copy letter. W. M. Baines to Herr Gessner, Memel, 
Germany 

Thanks him for sending a copy of Reverend Price's will 
and a list of the property he owned. 
1 item 
 

22 Aug 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/10 Letter. Reverend Dr Lucas, Kingston, County Dublin, 
to W. M. Baines  
He has written to Crest at Memel, Germany saying he 
could not act as executor for Reverend Price's will.       
1 item 
 

23 Aug 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/11 Letter. W. M. Baines to Herr Gessner, Memel, 
Germany 

Wishes to know if he can appoint someone else as 
executor to the will in his place. Wishes to appoint 
Fanny's husband Henry Walter Verdon but does not 
know if this would be legal in England. 
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1895 

U DDBH/26/26/12 Letter. Herr Gessner, Memel, Germany, to W. M. 
Baines 

Wishes to know Fanny's exact address. 
1 item 
 

22 Oct 1895 
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U DDBH/26/26/13 Novelty picture card with moving parts (does not work) 
Endorsed 'For Ethel - William Price'. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27 Volume. 'Letters from Her Children to Mary Ann 
Verdon Baines' (wife of William Mortimer Baines) 
Containing letters mainly from Fanny Baines 
(Verdon), Hewley M. Baines, Harry Verdon Baines 
and E. E. Baines. 'Bound up by Harry Baines'. 
1 volume 
 

1878-1889 

U DDBH/26/27/1 Letter. Fanny Baines, Folkestone, to W. M. Baines 

Local and family news. Asks him to send a copy of the 
Yorkshire newspaper.   
1 item 
 

1878 

U DDBH/26/27/2 Letter. Fanny Baines, Folkestone, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the roses which she has received. They 
are going to Brixton. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

1878 

U DDBH/26/27/3 Letter. H. M. Baines, Bengeo, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is looking forward to returning home for the holidays. 
The exams are almost over and hopes to leave in five 
days. Is travelling to London to meet his sisters and 
will then travel to Bell Hall.  
1 item 
 

20 Jul 1878 

U DDBH/26/27/4 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He has started his exams. He is enjoying school and is 
looking forward to returning home for the holidays. 
School news.   
1 item 
 

25 Jul 1878 

U DDBH/26/27/5 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Is looking forward to coming to Bell Hall. Hopes 
MaryAnn will travel back with them to Folkestone after 
the holidays. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

26 Jul 1878 

U DDBH/26/27/6 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines  
Thanks her for sending her some things. Hopes 
MaryAnn will visit during the summer. Local news. 
1 item 
 

8 Feb 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/7 Letter. Fanny Baines, 410 Brixton Road, to M. V. 
Baines 

Thanks her for sending a birthday present. Tells her of 
other gifts she has received.   
1 item 
 

28 Feb 1879 
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U DDBH/26/27/8 Letter. Emily Baines to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/9 Letter. Emily Baines to M. V. Baines 

'Elf' has sent her some flowers. School news. 
1 item 
 

8 Mar 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/10 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Has been told to concentrate on his 
Latin.  
1 item 
 

1879 

U DDBH/26/27/11 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is looking forward to coming home. Asks how the other 
children are.   
1 item 
 

26 Mar 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/12 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines  
Asks about Bell Hall and the 'big nosed' Rosa. They 
are to come home on the 30 Jul. School news. 
1 item 
 

1879 

U DDBH/26/27/13 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news.   
1 item 
 

1879 

U DDBH/26/27/14 Letter. Fanny Baines, 410 Brixton Road, to M. V. 
Baines 

Everyone in London is looking forward to the boat 
race. Local and family news. Hopes they are all feeling 
better. 
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/15 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Invites MaryAnn to visit her.    
1 item 
 

7 Apr 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/16 Letter. Emily Baines, School, to M. V. Baines 

Is looking forward to going home. Is sorry Fanny is not 
going to Bell Hall at the same time as them.   
1 item 
 

5 Apr 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/17 Letter. Fanny Baines, 410 Brixton Road, to M. V. 
Baines 

Hopes MaryAnn will come to London with the twins 
after the holiday. Discusses Edith Lloyd's wedding. 
Local news. 
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1879 
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U DDBH/26/27/18 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He has bought a cricket bat and ball.   
1 item 
 

1879 

U DDBH/26/27/19 Letter. Fanny Baines, 410 Brixton Road, to M. V. 
Baines 

Asks for information on Edith Lloyd's wedding. Local 
and family news.   
1 item 
 

22 Apr 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/20 Letter. [Hewley] Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He no longer has the mumps and suggests that 
MaryAnn doesn't send the grapes as she intended. 
School news.  
1 item 
 

1879 

U DDBH/26/27/21 Letter. Fanny Baines, 410 Brixton Road, to M. V. 
Baines 

She has been ill recently. Local news. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/22 Letter. Fanny Baines, 410 Brixton Road, to M. V. 
Baines 

Walter has promised to do all he can for Annie's sore 
tooth. She has felt much better herself recently. Is 
looking for a nurse-maid. 
1 item 
 

22 May 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/23 Letter. Emily Baines to M. V. Baines 

She is going to visit Fanny in London. Suggests 
MaryAnn should also go. 
1 item 
 

24 May 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/24 Letter. Harry Baines to M. V. Baines 

Asks how they are and for information about Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

28 May 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/25 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks her to send him some flannel 
trousers. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/26 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks about Bell Hall and the other 
children. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/27 Letter. Harry Baines to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is playing lots of cricket. Asks about 
Bell Hall and the other children. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1879 
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U DDBH/26/27/28 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

She is sending some items. Some of the children are 
visiting Mrs North and she hopes to also go. Is sorry to 
hear that MaryAnn is having another baby as she 
believes that she has 'had [her] share'. Local news. 
1 item 
 

4 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/29 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Asks about the 'elf' and his wheelbarrow. 
1 item 
 

8 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/30 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Local news. Hopes MaryAnn will regain her strength 
after the birth of her 13th child.  
1 item 
 

10 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/31 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Believes he might be getting the mumps. 
Asks her to send some paper and envelopes.  
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/32 Letter. Henry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes she is feeling better. School news. Asks about 
Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1879  

U DDBH/26/27/33 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Mrs North and Ely are coming to visit. Local news. She 
is sorry to hear that MaryAnn has been unwell but 
hopes that she will recover her strength soon. 
1 item 
 

12 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/34 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Asks for advice on getting two rabbits, which a friend is 
giving him, back to Bell Hall. School news. They are to 
come home on the 9th (no month given). 
1 item 
 

1879 

U DDBH/26/27/35 Letter. Emily Baines, School, to M. V. Baines 

School news. She is going to buy a small cabinet for 
MaryAnn if they go shopping. 
1 item 
 

14 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/36 Letter. Hewley Baines, Hertford, to Kate [Baines] 
He has a slight case of the mumps. School news. Asks 
about Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

16 Jun 1879 
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U DDBH/26/27/37 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Thinks Hewley will return from the sick 
house shortly.  
1 item 
 

18 Jun 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/38 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Asks for 'the elf' to meet him at Naburn where he will 
be arriving by train. School news. 
1 item 
 

23 Jul 1879 

U DDBH/26/27/39 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. One of the boys drowned at the baths. Is 
looking forward to the holidays. 
1 item 
 

16 [Jan] 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/40 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines  
School news. Asks about the other children and Bell 
Hall. 
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/41 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for her birthday wishes. She did not 
receive anything from her father (William Mortimer 
Baines). They have been to dinner with the Vendanos.   
1 item 
 

4 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/42 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks her to send a new pair of trousers. 
Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

4 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/43 Letter. Fanny Baines, Hastings, to M. V. Baines 

Walter is much better. Describes the holiday including 
the fish market. The baby is doing very well.   
1 item 
 

Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/44 Letter. Fanny Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

They have arrived home from Hastings. Local news. 
They are looking for a new assistant.   
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/45 Letter. Hewley Baines to M. V. Baines 

Apologises for not replying sooner. Asks about the 
other children. School news. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/46 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1880 
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U DDBH/26/27/47 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

The trousers she has sent aren't suitable. Informs her 
of his success at school. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/48 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

There is an outbreak of fever in the school but he has 
been spared. Three boys have died from it. He is doing 
well in his work. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/49 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news including how some boys threw a cat out 
of a window in order to gain revenge for it eating one 
of the boy's birds. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/50 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. The weather is terrible. Asks about Bell 
Hall and the other children. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/51 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Is looking forward to coming home. Asks 
how the pets are. 
1 item 
 

1 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/52 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the trousers. Asks if she would like a 
picture of the school. School news. 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/53 Letter. Kate, Harrogate, to M. V. Baines 

Organises a visit to Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

9 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/54 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

They have been to visit the twins who have been ill but 
are recovering. Howard is doing well and is very 
clever.   
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/55 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is returning to Bell Hall in four weeks. School news. He 
wants to learn how to pole vault and is in the top class 
of art. He is looking forward to the holidays. 
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1880 
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U DDBH/26/27/56 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

He has not received letter from Harry for a while but 
looks forward to catching up during the holidays. 
School news. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/57 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Tells when he is planning to come home. 
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/58 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Local news. He is going to watch the Cambridge-
Oxford boat race. Is looking forward to the holidays. 
1 item 
 

22 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/59 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is looking forward to the holidays. Gives information on 
which trains he is going to get. Oxford won the boat 
race. 
1 item 
 

24 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/60 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to Elf 
He is coming home the following Thursday. School 
news. They had a tug-of-war which they lost. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/61 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines  
Is looking forward to the holidays. School and family 
news. 
1 item 
 

5 Apr 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/62 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Asks her to send him some shoes. School news. 
1 item 
 

3 May 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/63 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He is suffering from ear ache. Asks her to send him 
some trousers.   
1 item 
 

3 May 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/64 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

His acting went well. School news. He has started to 
count down the days till his next holiday. 
1 item 
 

May 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/65 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Invites her to Repton for speech day. They are 
extending the school.  
1 item 
 

24 May 1880 
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U DDBH/26/27/66 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Asks if she has sent him some trousers. He enjoys 
going to the baths. School news. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/67 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Talks about her son, Howard. Hopes to visit Bell Hall 
for a long time soon. She is going to visit Mrs Verdon. 
Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/68 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the flowers she sent. Local news.   
1 item 
 

5 Jun 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/69 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Discusses Rosa's travel arrangements for an 
unspecified journey as she does not believe they are 
safe. Offers to travel with her for part of the way. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/70 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

They are going to play a cricket match against the 
school masters. He has been doing a lot of carpentry 
recently. 
1 item 
 

9 Jun 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/71 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is making a play box which he 
intends to give away. A boy has been found guilty of 
theft at the school. 
1 item 
 

23 Jun 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/72 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

He apologises for not writing for a while as he has 
been busy with exams.   
1 item 
 

2 Jul 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/73 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Describes her journey home from Bell Hall. Walter has 
been unwell.  
1 item 
 

4 Jul 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/74 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is about to start his exams and has 
nearly finished the frames and play box he was 
making.   
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1880 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 287 of 331 

U DDBH/26/27/75 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. His exams have started. He is looking 
forward to coming home and hopes to have finished 
his play box by then. 
1 item 
 

14 Jul 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/76 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is looking forward to coming home. 
The master of his house bought them lots of food. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/77 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Local news. She and her family are doing very well. 
1 item 
 

4 Sep 1880  

U DDBH/26/27/78 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry MaryAnn cannot visit. Hopes that they are able 
to find good servant soon as she thinks her mother is 
doing too much work.   
1 item 
 

18 Sep 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/79 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Her child, Howard, is beginning 
to teeth. 
1 item 
 

25 Sep 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/80 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Howard now has lots of teeth. 
She hopes to visit Bell Hall soon. 
1 item 
 

2 Oct 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/81 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

She was hoping to visit Annie but was unable to as 
they didn't have the time. They have a new assistant 
so they hope to go away for a few days. Family news. 
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/82 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks how the other children are and 
says he will write to them soon. 
1 item 
 

27 Oct 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/83 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

She is making a coat for her son.   
1 item 
 

28 Oct 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/84 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks about the other children and his 
pets. Some of the boys at his school have been taken 
ill with measles.   
1 item 
 

1 Nov 1880 
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U DDBH/26/27/85 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks her that if she is to send him a rug 
then make sure it is a new one as he will be made fun 
of if it is an old one. Family news. 
1 item 
 

3 Nov 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/86 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines   
She has been to the theatre to see a play called the 
'Guv'nor'. Her face is swollen and she believes she 
has caught a cold. Local news. 
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/87 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He thanks her for the rug she sent. He is coming home 
a week earlier than planned. 
1 item 
 

10 Nov 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/88 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

She is looking forward to their trip to Bell Hall as she 
thinks it will help them all recover from their colds.   
1 item 
 

4 Dec 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/89 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

He is going to come home as soon as possible after 
his exams. He hopes they will be able to skate.  
1 item 
 

12 Dec 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/90 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

They are looking forward to their trip to Bell Hall. They 
are meeting Annie and travelling together.   
1 item 
 

16 Dec 1880 

U DDBH/26/27/91 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Local news. Howard's health is improving.  
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/92 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the visit to Bell Hall. Says she will send 
her book as soon s possible. 
1 item 
 

5 Jan 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/93 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Thanks her for his cocoa and asks her to 
tell the other children to write as soon as possible. 
1 item 
 

2 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/94 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Family news. Howard is doing well. She hopes to see 
them all soon. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1881 
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U DDBH/26/27/95 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. She hopes MaryAnn is well 
and not being bothered by servants. 
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/96 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is joining either the artillery or the 
lancers at school. He is looking forward to the holidays 
and asks MaryAnn to sign him up to Rugby Clifton. 
1 item 
 

9 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/97 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Walter has been unwell. Local news. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/98 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is making a cabinet which is the 'best 
piece of work in the shop' and he overheard one of the 
masters saying he was fat. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/99 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to William Mortimer 
Baines 

School news. They had to write a piece on the last 
book they had read so Hewley wrote about William's 
novel. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/100 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Asks if a friend can stay for two weeks during the 
summer holidays. Wishes to go on an expedition up 
the river with his friend and live on what they can 
shoot.   
1 item 
 

16 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/101 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Is pleased to hear that she is well following the birth of 
her newest baby (Dorothy Sybella Baines). Is jealous 
as she would like another child. 
1 item 
 

19 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/102 Letter. Hilda Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Family news. She is sending her dress measurements. 
Is glad to hear that MaryAnn is feeling better and has 
started to go out. 
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/103 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

He has been reading a book on Yorkshire. Asks her to 
send him some stamps and trousers.  
1 item 
 

26 Feb 1881 
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U DDBH/26/27/104 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks if she has contacted Rugby school 
to see about a place for him.  
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/105 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Family news. They are all doing very well.   
1 item 
 

6 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/106 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines  
School news. Asks how his report for that term was.   
1 item 
 

9 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/107 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

They have been to visit the Wilmots. They are going to 
Brighton shortly which she believes is needed as 
Walter has been unwell. 
1 item 
 

12 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/108 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks her about the Boer war and talks of 
going to fight there. They are finishing school soon for 
the holidays. 
1 item 
 

16 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/109 Letter. Fanny Baines, Brighton, to M. V. Baines 

They are having a nice break and are all feeling better 
for it. She hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

19 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/110 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He enjoys History and English. Asks 
how the family are, including the new baby. Gives 
details of when he is arriving at Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

23 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/111 Letter. Fanny Baines, Brighton, to M. V. Baines 

They are returning to London a few days early. They 
have had a very nice time and feel a lot better for the 
change.  
1 item 
 

26 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/112 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Gives details of his journey home from school. 
1 item 
 

30 Mar 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/113 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Asks her to send a new pair of trousers. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/27/114 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He is starting to collect coins. School news. Asks how 
everybody is at home. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/115 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

She is desperate to see the new baby. She has been 
invited to a ball in London and hopes to take some of 
her sisters.  
1 item 
 

9 Apr 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/116 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Some of her sisters are visiting and she hopes to travel 
back up to Bell Hall with them. 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/117 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He arrived safely in London and met up with some 
friends. He feels a lot better. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/118 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is looking forward to playing cricket. 
Asks after the family. 
1 item 
 

4 May 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/119 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Asks if his father has been working on the boat. He 
has started to make a medicine cabinet for her and 
asks her to send a diagram of a similar item for him to 
work from. 
1 item 
 

4 May 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/120 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

They have been to the theatre. She is travelling to Bell 
Hall, with her sisters, the following week and hopes 
they are all there. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/121 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is learning to swim. 
1 item 
 

25 May 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/122 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

It is very warm. Asks her to send some cricket trousers 
and a shirt. School news. 
1 item 
 

1 Jun 1881 
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U DDBH/26/27/123 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes his father will finish the boat in time for the 
holidays. Asks her to tell Fanny to write to him. He has 
almost finished her cabinet.  
1 item 
 

6 Jun 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/124 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He has received a letter from Annie. School news. 
1 item 
 

8 Jun 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/125 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Describes some of the cricket games he has played in. 
Their school reports are being written but he is not 
sure how good his will be. 
1 item 
 

15 Jun 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/126 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

They have arrived in London safely. Thanks her for a 
nice visit. Sends a prescription for Annie.   
1 item 
 

18 Jun 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/127 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is playing a lot of cricket. The reports have come out 
but he doesn't think his will be very good. 
1 item 
 

22 Jun 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/128 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines  
She has been very busy since her return from Bell Hall 
and has been to visit a family friend.   
1 item 
 

25 Jun 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/129 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He has been to inspect the new chapel.   
1 item 
 

6 Jul 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/130 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Is pleased they are coming to London. Hopes they will 
bring Hilda to play with Howard and stay for a long 
time. Her uncle is visiting.  
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/131 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Local and school news. He is looking forward to the 
holiday and is pleased to hear that his father has been 
working on the boat. 
1 item 
 

11 Jul 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/132 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is annoyed at not receiving a letter. Gives details of 
when he is returning to Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

13 Jul 1881 
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U DDBH/26/27/133 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

It is very warm. Annie's eldest daughter is very ill and 
is not expected to survive.   
1 item 
 

16 Jul 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/134 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He doesn't want Walter to come and visit him. Writes a 
short poem about leaving school. 
1 item 
 

20 Jul 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/135 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to M. V. Baines 

Gives details of when he is returning to Bell Hall. May 
go to a baths with some friends from Sunderland. 
1 item 
 

28 Jul 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/136 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Mrs Roe has been to visit. She is pleased Rosa is 
coming to London with MaryAnn. Local news. 
1 item 
 

13 Aug 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/137 Letter. Fanny Baines, Sussex, to M. V. Baines 

They have had a nice break and all feel better for it. 
She is pregnant, with the baby due in December. She 
feels perfectly well.   
1 item 
 

9 Oct 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/138 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Talks of the case of a man named Lefroy 
who has been condemned to death. 
1 item 
 

9 Nov 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/139 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to hear that Hewley is ill. Asks her to get the 
papers for Rugby school for him to complete during the 
holidays.   
1 item 
 

16 Nov 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/140 Letter. Harry Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines  
School news. He has received the papers for Rugby. 
Hopes they will be able to skate when they return 
home for the holidays. 
1 item 
 

30 Nov 1881 

U DDBH/26/27/141 Letter. Hewley Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Fanny and Lucy have arrived safely in London. 
Doesn't believe MaryAnn should make Philip wear 
flannel shirts for school as the other boys will laugh at 
him. 
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1885 
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U DDBH/26/27/142 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to hear that she is unwell and that she has had 
another miscarriage. They are all well and Lucy is 
enjoying her visit.   
1 item 
 

2 Mar 1885 

U DDBH/26/27/143 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Hewley has been busy with work. Lucy and Howard 
have been getting on very well.   
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1885 

U DDBH/26/27/144 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines  
She has found two new maids. Is looking forward to 
Howard's return from Bell Hall.   
1 item 
 

9 Jun 1885 

U DDBH/26/27/145 Letter. Hewley Baines, Repton, to W. M. Baines 

Thanks him for the five pounds he sent. He has 
decided to go to camp for a few days so will not be 
home until August. 
1 item 
 

20 Jul 1886 

U DDBH/26/27/146 Letter. Hewley Baines, Staines, to Rosebud (Rosa 

He is not sending her a valentine. Philip is on sick 
leave. He has been unable to get a paper for their 
father and asks for advice on what he should do next. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/147 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for a very pleasant stay. She hopes she is 
feeling better and not exerting herself. 
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1887 

U DDBH/26/27/148 Letter. Hilda Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Gives an update on all the children. Asks if she is 
feeling better and if she can walk yet.  
1 item 
 

4 Mar 1887 

U DDBH/26/27/149 Letter. Fanny Baines, London, to M. V. Baines 

They have found some new servants. They have all 
been feeling unwell. She is missing her son Howard 
who is at Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

3 Aug 1887 

U DDBH/26/27/150 Letter. Hewley Baines, Staines, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to hear Henry (aka Harry) had done poorly in 
his exams. Family news. 
1 item 
 

18 Jul 1889 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 295 of 331 

U DDBH/26/27/151 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to M. V. Baines 

He is coming home for her birthday. 'Old Bud' is also 
moving home having been turned out of Brixton.  
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1889 

U DDBH/26/27/152 Letter. Hewley Baines to M. V. Baines 

He is returning the £10 she lent to him. Local and 
family news. 
1 item 
 

26 Jun 1889 

U DDBH/26/27/153 Letter. Hewley Baines, Darlington, to M. V. Baines   
He has been playing tennis. Invites his sisters to come 
and visit him for a week. Local news. 
1 item 
 

8 Jul 1889 

U DDBH/26/27/154 Letter. Rosa Baines, Albion Road, to M. V. Baines  
Thanks her for the hamper. They are having a nice 
time in Scarborough and feel much better for it. 
1 item 
 

14 May 1889 

U DDBH/26/27/155 Letter. Rosa Baines, Bell Hall, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes she had a safe journey to Holme. Local news. 
1 item 
 

5 Nov 1889 

U DDBH/26/27/156 Letter. Fanny Baines, Eastbourne, to M. V. Baines 

Walter has been unwell. She is missing her children. 
She hopes 'the elf' enjoyed her ball. 
1 item 
 

5 Feb [1880] 

U DDBH/26/27/157 Letter. Fanny Baines, Brighton, to M. V. Baines 

Walter has been very ill but is improving. Family news.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/158 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines  
The children have arrived safely. [Tommy] has broken 
his leg in two places and took along time to see the 
doctor. Family news.  
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/159 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines   
The children have asked to stay till Tuesday. Charles 
has been taking their picture.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/27/160 Letter. Fanny Baines, Scarborough, to M. V. Baines  
She hopes Rosa will be happy in Blackpool. They have 
been to visit Miss Binks. This letter is loose. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 296 of 331 

U DDBH/26/28 Volume. Letters to Mary Ann Verdon Baines 
(similar to that at U DDBH/26/27) 
Containing letters mainly from Hewley M. Baines, 
Rose Baines, Leonard M. Baines, Lucy Baines, 
Kate Harrison, Annie Baines and Fanny Verdon.  
1 volume 
 

1891-1918 

U DDBH/26/28/1 Letter. Hewley Baines, Ismail, India, to M. V. Baines 

He thinks he will be moved to Delhi. Says he has 
heard that the Humber and Ouse rivers have frozen 
over. Discusses the appointment of Lord Wenlock as 
Governor of Madras [Chennai]. 
1 item 
 

25 Jan 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/2 Letter. Hewley Baines, Ismail, India, to M. V. Baines 

He has been given new orders and hopes to leave 
Ismail shortly. Local news.   
1 item 
 

8 Feb 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/3 Letter. Rosa Baines, Nightingale Home, to M. V. 
Baines 

She has been to a service at the local abbey. She is 
really enjoying her new position.   
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/4 Letter. Hewley Baines, Amritsar, India, to M. V. Baines 

Describes Amritsar. He doesn't know anybody there. 
He is going in for exams which would enable him to 
gain a promotion. 
1 item 
 

17 Feb 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/5 Letter. Hewley Baines, Amritsar, to M. V. Baines 

He has been on a shoot. Has visited Pathankot. He 
has employed a cook. Is sorry to hear Henry can't find 
work but believes there are numerous openings for 
barristers in India. 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/6 Letter. Leonard Baines, Bengeo, Hertford, to Charles 

Asks about his pets. 
1 item 
 

7 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/7 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines   
Asks her to send a testimonial as he needs it urgently.    
1 item 
 

17 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/8 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Local news. Pleased to hear Philip has found a vessel 
to sail on. Some of the other pupils have chickenpox.   
1 item 
 

18 Mar 1891 



Hull History Centre: Papers of the Baines Family of Bell Hall, Naburn 

page 297 of 331 

U DDBH/26/28/9 Letter. Hewley Baines, Amritsar, to M. V. Baines 

They have had terrible weather. He has bought two 
new small houses and is to convert them into one. 
1 item 
 

18 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/10 Letter. Lucy Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

They are all well. Thanks her for sending some money. 
Walter is almost an MP.   
1 item 
 

21 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/11 Letter. Rosa Baines, Nightingale Home, to M. V. 
Baines 

Is sorry to hear she is ill. Wishes she had seen Philip 
before his maiden voyage. Thinks she may be sent to 
a new place shortly. Hospital news.   
1 item 
 

23 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/12 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to hear she is ill. Asks if the children are 
coming to stay. Local news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/13 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Asks about the children. Local news.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/14 Letter. Annie Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

Philip is recovering but was very close to losing an 
arm. Walter Verdon was able to save the arm. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/15 Letter. Rosa Baines, Nightingale Home, to M. V. 
Baines   
Local news. She has a chemistry exam soon.   
1 item 
 

23 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/16 Letter. Hewley Baines, Amritsar, to M. V. Baines 

He is travelling to Dalhousie where he is to perform a 
survey. Hopes that he will not be then transferred to 
Bannu as it is very remote. Local news. 
1 item 
 

24 Mar 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/17 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He won a chessboard for winning a race. Plans to 
write to Hewley soon. 
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/18 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Wishes her a happy birthday. Local news.   
1 item 
 

14 Apr 1891 
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U DDBH/26/28/19 Letter. Rosa Baines, Nightingale Home, to M. V. 
Baines 

Wishes her a happy birthday. Local news.   
1 item 
 

15 Apr 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/20 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

They are going to Wyther for five nights. Hopes they 
are all better. Local news. 
1 item 
 

20 Apr 1891  

U DDBH/26/28/21 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Annie is sending a hamper. 
1 item 
 

3 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/22 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to have missed Philip. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

12 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/23 Letter. Unknown [Fanny Baines] to M. V. Baines 

Walter has injured his ankle. Local and family news. 
Unfinished. 
1 item 
 

12 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/24 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

She recently met Miss Askwith. Hopes to see them 
before Christmas. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/25 Letter. Hewley Baines, Dalhousie, to M. V. Baines 

He failed an exam in Departmental Accounts. He has 
been to Rawalpindi. The train back was stopped due to 
a swarm of locusts. He has also been to Amritsar. 
They then walked to Dalhousie which took a whole 
day.   
1 item 
 

15 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/26 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. 
1 item 
 

24 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/27 Letter. Philip Baines, Port Yarrock, to W. M. Baines 

There are only four English seamen onboard. The 
seamen are always drunk. They are not sure on their 
direction as they do not have a quality atlas. Says he is 
feeling homesick.  
1 item 
 

2 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/28 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines  
Asks her to send some writing paper and jam. School 
news.   
1 item 
 

31 Mar 1891 
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U DDBH/26/28/29 Letter. Rosa Baines, Nightingale Home, to M. V. 
Baines  
Family news. Walter has fractured his leg. Her training 
is coming to an end. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/30 Letter. Fanny Baines, Suffolk, to M. V. Baines 

It is the 13th anniversary of her wedding. Tries to 
arrange a visit to Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/31 Letter. Annie Baines, North Wales, to M. V. Baines  
Local and family news. They are enjoying themselves. 
Hopes they are all well. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/32 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Walter is still suffering with his leg. They are looking for 
a new housemaid.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/33 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Has been very cold. Family news. 
1 item 
 

20 May 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/34 Letter. Annie Baines, North Wales, to Kate Harrison, 
Thirsk 

Local news. Ethel is doing well. Hopes to visit in July.  
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/35 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local news. Harry has been making things for her. 
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/36 Letter. Fanny Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

Philip has been unwell. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/37 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Asks if Rosa or Lucy will come and visit. They have 
been invited to a wedding. Local news. 
1 item 
 

11 Aug 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/38 Letter. Hewley Baines, Dalhousie, to M. V. Baines  
He has had the fever. He went to a fancy dress ball. 
Local news. Thanks her for the photographs. 
1 item 
 

16 Aug 1891 
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U DDBH/26/28/39 Letter. Hewley Baines, Dalhousie, to M. V. Baines 

He is looking forward to his birthday (24 Sep). Hopes 
to hear from Philip once he reaches dry land. Local 
news. 
1 item 
 

21 Sep 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/40 Letter. Rosa Baines to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for the flowers. She is feeling a lot better 
and enjoying her work. 
1 item 
 

Oct 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/41 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Would be glad to have them for a visit in November. 
Local news.   
1 item 
 

19 Oct 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/42 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Her children have whooping cough. She has seen 
Lucy and Rosa who are both well. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/43 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

She has been unwell. Family news. Hopes to see them 
all soon. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1891  

U DDBH/26/28/44 Letter. Hewley Baines, Bannu, Punjab, to M. V. Baines 

Gives details of his journey to Bannu. He passed an 
exam which he had previously failed. He is due for a 
rise in pay as a result of being in India for two years. 
Describes Bannu. 
1 item 
 

22 Nov 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/45 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Many of the boys have been suffering 
with colds. 
1 item 
 

22 Nov 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/46 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

He is looking forward to the holidays. Hopes the lake 
will be frozen so they can skate. 
1 item 
 

29 Nov 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/47 Letter. Rosa Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

Has a week's holiday. She is starting to work nights. 
Local news. Hopes to stay at St Thomas' but does not 
believe it will be easy.    
1 item 
 

2 Dec 1891 
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U DDBH/26/28/48 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. They are having a magic show. 
1 item 
 

6 Dec 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/49 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Charles had a music exam in Bradford. Local news. Is 
looking forward to going to Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

19 Dec 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/50 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Arranges when she is to come to Bell Hall. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

Dec 1891 

U DDBH/26/28/51 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for letting them stay. Hopes they will visit 
her soon. Local news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/52 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for sending a picture of Hewley. Family 
news. Rosa is moving to a new hospital in Liverpool. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/53 Letter. Fanny Baines to W. M. Baines 

They have been suffering from whooping cough. Local 
news.  
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/54 Letter. Hewley Baines, Bannu, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes the play they are putting on in Naburn will go 
well.   
1 item 
 

3 Jan 1872 

U DDBH/26/28/55 Letter. Hewley Baines, Bannu, to M. V. Baines 

Describes his main work there as repairing buildings 
and constructing new roads. He has been put forward 
for a pay rise of 50 [rupees] a month.   
1 item 
 

10 Jan 1872 

U DDBH/26/28/56 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

The weather has been very bad. Thanks her for all the 
Christmas presents she sent. Hopes they are all 
feeling better.  
1 item 
 

8 Jan 1872 
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U DDBH/26/28/57 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Family news. Was pleased to hear of Philip's safe 
journey. With a press cutting giving the name of the 
Reverend J. Palmes who was Archdeacon of the East 
Riding of Yorkshire. May be from a list of recently 
dead.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/58 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

They are all feeling much better. Family news. She 
misses Howard (her son) but hopes he is happy at Bell 
Hall. 
1 item 
 

17 Jan 1852 

U DDBH/26/28/59 Letter. Fanny Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

She met Howard at the train station but didn't wish to 
take him home as some of the children have whooping 
cough and influenza. Thanks her for looking after him 
during the holidays.   
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/60 Letter. Ethel Baines, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local news. Feels much better. Hopes to return home 
soon and help with all MaryAnn's work. 
1 item 
 

28 Jan 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/61 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to hear that Hilda has been released from Mrs 
Royds service. Local news. Charles will write soon 
regarding fire insurance. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/62 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. One of the churches has been burnt 
down.   
1 item 
 

31 Jan 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/63 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Rosa has been unwell. Walter Fooks is staying with 
them but is applying for a new job. Family news. 
1 item 
 

15 Feb 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/64 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. They have had a lot of snow. 
1 item 
 

21 Feb 1892 
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U DDBH/26/28/65 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

Thanks her for the gifts she sent. She is enjoying her 
work. She has been filling in for the night nurse and 
enjoys that side of her work. 
1 item 
 

24 Feb 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/66 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to [Han] 
Is looking forward to her visit. Philip Verdon has badly 
damaged his arm but should be ok. She is enjoying 
her work but it is very tiring. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/67 Letter. Annie Baines to M. V. Baines 

Thinks they should have nothing to do with Mrs Royds 
after she fired Hilda. Thinks it is a good idea for Lucy 
to go back to school if she cannot find a post 
anywhere.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/68 Letter. Annie Baines to M. V. Baines 

Family news. Philip Verdon is feeling better. Plans to 
write to Hewley and Philip Baines.  
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/69 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

Thanks her for the gifts she has sent but asks her not 
to send anything else as she feels ashamed. Family 
news. 
1 item 
 

7 Mar 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/70 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

Asks her to send some money for carpentry. They 
have started to play hockey. 
1 item 
 

13 Mar 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/71 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Family and local news. Thanks her for letting them 
stay at Bell Hall. 
1 item 
 

29 Mar 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/72 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. She hopes 'father' is well and is 
looking forward to seeing some of her sisters.   
1 item 
 

2 Apr 1892 
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U DDBH/26/28/73 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

They have had sports day and he won the three 
legged race. Is returning to Bell Hall the following 
week. 
1 item 
 

3 Apr 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/74 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

She will meet the children at the station. Local news. 
1 item 
 

7 Apr 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/75 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

Writing to wish her a happy birthday (17 Apr). Hopes 
she has a nice tea party. Local news. 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/76 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news.   
1 item 
 

1 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/77 Letter. Hewley Baines, Bannu, to M. V. Baines 

He is moving to Dua Ismail Khan for six weeks and 
then on to Dalhousie where he will act as Executive 
Engineer.   
1 item 
 

16 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/78 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Is looking forward to seeing 
Ethel and Hilda. 
1 item 
 

18 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/79 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines   
School news. There was an eclipse of the moon the 
previous week and there is soon to be another one. 
1 item 
 

15 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/80 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

Local news. She hopes to have a holiday in July or 
August and hopes to see Philip if he is home.   
1 item 
 

22 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/81 Letter. 'Charity' [Rosa Baines] to M. V. Baines 

She is enjoying her work. Describes different aspects 
of it. [Unfinished] 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/26/28/82 Letter. 'Sister Charity' [Rosa Baines], Charity Ward, St 
Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. Baines 

She has enjoyed her month in the ward but it has been 
hard work. Describes some of the patients and what 
her job entails. Believes the matron is happy with her 
work over the probationary year at the hospital. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/83 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. They have started playing cricket and 
going to the baths. 
1 item 
 

29 May 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/84 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Asks if they can come and stay 
at Bell Hall for a few days. 
1 item 
 

29 Jun 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/85 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for sending some eggs. Family news. 
1 item 
 

29 Jun 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/86 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for having them at Bell Hall. Hopes she is 
feeling well. Family news. 
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/87 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to Aunt [Fall] 
Asks if she would like to visit them with Rosa. Hopes 
her father will be able to collect in his hay soon. Local 
news.   
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/88 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

Is returning to Bell Hall for her holiday on the 14th. 
Family news. [Unfinished] 
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/89 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines   
School news. They only have two weeks left in the 
term. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/90 Letter. Rosa Baines, St Thomas' Hospital, to M. V. 
Baines 

She may be delayed in getting away as the hospital is 
very busy.   
1 item 
 

14 Jul 1892 
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U DDBH/26/28/91 Letter. Annie Baines to M. V. Baines 

She is staying with Isabel for a short while.  
1 item 
 

15 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/92 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Their examinations start soon. Hopes to 
see Philip over the summer. 
1 item 
 

17 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/93 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines   
School news. They went for a drive with one of the 
masters. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/94 Letter. [Fanny Baines], Brixton, to M. V. Baines   
She plans to return to Bell Hall after an election which 
Walter is standing in. She doesn't believe he has much 
chance of winning though. Local news. 
1 item 
 

27 Jul 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/95 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Is pleased to hear that Hewley 
and Philip are well. 
1 item 
 

10 Aug 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/96 Letter. Rosa Baines, 'In bed', to M. V. Baines 

Family news. Believes the matron is impressed with 
her work. Local news. 
1 item 
 

2 Sep 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/97 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Is looking forward to seeing her and Philip. Local and 
family news. 
1 item 
 

23 Sep 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/98 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. Hopes Philip can stay at home for a 
while longer. 
1 item 
 

21 Sep 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/99 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. He is making a toy box in carpentry. 
1 item 
 

26 Sep 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/100 Letter. Ethel Baines, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Is desperate to see Philip and will return home as soon 
as possible. She has started mountain climbing. 
1 item 
 

26 Sep 1892 
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U DDBH/26/28/101 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Hopes to see her and Philip soon but thinks Ethel and 
Hilda will return to Bell Hall before they set off. Local 
news. 
1 item 
 

26 Sep 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/102 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Hopes to visit them all soon.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/103 Letter. Fanny Baines to M. V. Baines 

Tells her about Rosa and her new position in a 
Chichester hospital. The matron seems to be nice. She 
is very angry at the way St Thomas' Hospital treated 
Rosa.   
1 item 
 

5 Nov 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/104 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. There have been some floods. They did 
not have any fireworks on the 5th.   
1 item 
 

6 Nov 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/105 Letter. Hewley Baines, Bannu, to M. V. Baines 

Is sorry to hear they have suffered terrible flooding at 
Bell Hall. He is working on new roads. A young lady he 
knew died of cholera recently. 
1 item 
 

13 Nov 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/106 Letter. Leonard Baines, Hertford, to M. V. Baines 

School news. They have been playing lots of football 
(rugby). 
1 item 
 

17 Nov 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/107 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to M. V. Baines 

Asks if she would give Annie some money to buy 
some cloth for her room in the hospital and she will 
pay her back when she is next paid.   
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/108 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for sending some gifts. She met with a lady 
who used to work at St Thomas' Hospital. Local news. 
1 item 
 

11 Dec 1892 

U DDBH/26/28/109 Letter. Hilda Baines, Heysham Cottage, to M. V. 
Baines 

She is settling in well. They went to a concert with Mrs 
Royds. Local news.   
1 item 
 

14 Jan 1893 
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U DDBH/26/28/110 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to M. V. Baines 

Work news. She is very lonely but still enjoying her 
work. She describes some of her duties and some of 
the patients she deals with. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/111 Letter. Annie Baines, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

They are enjoying their break. Charles and Kate are 
looking after them. They have been to a dance and 
plan to go to another. Local news. 
1 item 
 

25 Jan 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/112 Letter. Rosa Baines, Chichester, to M. V. Baines 

Local and family news. Apologises for not writing more 
often.   
1 item 
 

5 Feb 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/113 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Howard and Leonard have arrived safely and are 
having a nice time. Local news. 
1 item 
 

4 Apr 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/114 Letter. Hewley Baines, Tank, to M. V. Baines 

He hopes to leave by the 15 May if he finishes his 
work. Local news. 
1 item 
 

30 Apr 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/115 Letter. Hewley Baines, Tank, to M. V. Baines 

He has finished one of the forts he was working on but 
due to the bad weather there is still one to go. Hopes 
to take some leave on 1 May but is not confident. Is 
travelling to Bannu shortly to collect his warm weather 
clothing. 
1 item 
 

5 Mar 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/116 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Thanks her for their visit to Bell Hall and for all the gifts 
she has given them. Local news.   
1 item 
 

23 Jul 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/117 Letter. Rosa Baines, Brixton, to M. V. Baines 

Ethel is feeling much better and has been for a walk 
without any side affects.   
1 item 
 

16 Dec 1893 

U DDBH/26/28/118 Letter. Kate Harrison, Thirsk, to M. V. Baines 

Is glad to hear that Philip is safe. Hopes he will be able 
to come home soon. It is 'the elf's' [Rosa] birthday on 
the 29th. Local news. 
1 item 
 

27 Jan 1894 
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U DDBH/26/28/119 Letter. Hewley Baines, Abbottabad, to M. V. Baines.   
Believes the owners of the 'Port Yarrock', on which 
Philip Baines died, are to blame. Local news. Wishes 
to put money towards the memorial erected in Philip's 
memory.  
1 item 
 

1 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/28/120 Letter. Annie Baines, Ventnor, to M. V. Baines 

Wishes her a happy birthday. Local and family news. 
They are enjoying their break and she feels much 
better for it.     
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1894 

U DDBH/26/28/121 Letter. Rosa Baines, Nightingale Home, to M. V. 
Baines 

Is looking forward to returning to Bell Hall. Describes 
her ward and gives a list of the staff. Describes some 
of her duties. Local and family news. 
1 item 
 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/26/28/122 Letter. Harry Baines, Maida Vale, to M. V. Baines 

A note about the binding of the volumes. He is sending 
the first volume but is yet to finish the second. He and 
his wife, Catharine are well. Hopes to hear from her 
soon.   
1 item 
 

7 Jul 1918 

U DDBH/26/29 Letter. P. Johnson, Heslington to Mr Ricard 

Legal matters relating to estate of Hewley Baines. 
1 item 
 

12 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/26/30 Letter. G. E(arle), Paris to Robert Bewlay junior, York 

Paintings by Rubens at Antwerp; descriptions of 
Chantilly and Paris; social gossip. 
1 item 
 

8 Sep 1769 

U DDBH/26/31 Letter. G. Earle, Rome, to Mr Mortimer, attorney, York 

Rome (processions, fireworks, illumination of cupola of 
St Peter's church); character of Roman people; social 
gossip. 
1 item 
 

c.1769 

U DDBH/26/32 Letter. Thomas Duncombe, Towlston Lodge, to Messrs 
Cattle & Barber, Coney Street, York 

Pedigree of a horse, 'Cottager'. 
1 item 
 

12 Feb 1812 
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U DDBH/26/33 Letters to James Hall, near Beverley (unless otherwise 
stated)  
From correspondents including George Osbaldeston, 
Haverhill, Suffolk and Ebberston (5); (Hotham?), 
Scarborough; - (?), Hardwick; N. Constable Maxwell, 
Everingham; George Strickland, Boynton (2) and G. S. 
to Sir Henry Boynton and Charles - (copies); Lord 
Middleton, Birdsall (to Sir George Strickland); J. 
Russell, Tordown, Barnstaple (to Mr Legard); Mr 
Assheton Biddulph, Moneyguyreen, Kinnitty, Kings Co. 
(to Cecil Legard esquire (2).) Subjects include: hunting 
on estates of Bethell, Strickland and Constable 
families; list of Holderness Hounds (1828); death of 
father of James Hall; Holderness Hunt; telegram from 
Vienna reporting death of Arthur Walford; photographs 
of a man and child and a woman and child, taken in 
Vienna; lists of Mr Assheton Biddulph's fox hounds 
(1889-1890) (2). 
1 bundle 
 

1822-1890 

U DDBH/26/34 Copy letter to Reverend William Warde of Witton 

Expressing regret at his intention of leaving the parish 
'on account of ... apprehensions of an irruption of 
irreligion and immorality from the establishment of a 
Railway through our peaceful Vale'. Original signed by 
350 parishioners of Witton le Wear. 
1 item 
 

24 Jul 1845 

U DDBH/26/35 Letter. M. W. Baines, Balgone Barns, to his sister Kate 

Letter in rhyme. 
1 item 
 

c.1848 

U DDBH/26/36 Letter. Henry Hassard Short, York to Mrs Harrison 

Genealogy of Baynes and Hassard families. 
1 item 
 

4 Nov 1859 

U DDBH/26/37 Letters to Fanny (Mary Frances) Baines  
From Caroline Hunter, Emily Hunter Parnell, Katherine 
Baines and Emily Armitage, Mount Eden, New 
Zealand (all written in childhood); and Esther Mary 
Baines, Everingham Park. Family news. 
5 items 
 

1869-c.1872 

U DDBH/26/38 Letter. M. (widow of Robert) to Mr [Envett] 
Her claim to furniture after death of husband. Portraits 
given to Miss [Legard]. 
1 item 
 

 

19th cent. 
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U DDBH/27 Diaries and Journals 

'Bundle No. 35. Journals of Henry Baines & William 
Mortimer Baines' 
10 items or volumes 
 

c.1780-1875 

U DDBH/27/1 Journal. Henry Baines 

Voyage from Barbados to Santa Lucia on board The 
Grand Duchess of Russia, and his stay there with the 
90th Regiment; mentions Sir Henry Calder ('Villain and 
Scoundrel'); Admiral Parker; French at Martinique; 
severe storms. 
1 item 
 

c.1780 

U DDBH/27/2 'The Ladies' Own Memorandum Book', belonging to 
Mary Harrison 

Includes addresses, birthdays and personal 
memoranda. Engravings of fashionable dress; 
'Enigmas, Charades and Rebuses'; anecdotes; new 
songs and new country dances. 
1 volume 
 

1819 

U DDBH/27/3 Journal . Hewley John Baines 

Of an excursion to Hambleton, Coxwold, Byland 
Abbey, Rievaulx Abbey, Duncombe Park, Ampleforth 
College and Helmsley, by Hewley John Baines 'a pupil 
at Haxby School near York'. With pen and ink sketches 
of Skelton Church, Byland Abbey and Helmsley 
Castle, referred to as Ross Castle. 
1 item 
 

Aug 1837 

U DDBH/27/4 Diary. [  ] [Verdon] 
In Sydney, Australia. Family affairs. Five pages only, 
partly illegible. 
1 volume 
 

1832-1840 

U DDBH/27/5 Diary. William Mortimer Baines, Auckland, New 
Zealand 

Voyage to New Zealand on the 'Sir Edward Paget'; 
fellow passengers; first impressions of New Zealand. 
1 volume 
 

Aug-Dec 1850 

U DDBH/27/6 Goldsmith's Almanac  
Containing 'useful information' and personal 
memoranda. 
1 item 
 

1872 

U DDBH/27/7 Goldsmith's Almanac  
Containing 'useful information' and personal 
memoranda. 
1 item 
 

1873 
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U DDBH/27/8 De la Rue's Indelible Diary and Memorandum Book 

1 volume 
 

1875 

U DDBH/27/9 Recollections of life and conditions for early settlers in 
New Zealand 

1 item 
 

mid 19th cent. 

U DDBH/27/10 'Notes whilst staying at the Isle of Man' 
Memoranda relating to Bishop Criggan; books; 
addresses. 
1 item 
 

 

19th cent. 

U DDBH/28 Legal 
U DDBH/28/20-27 Opinions in the following cases 

27 items or bundles 
 

1608-1834 

U DDBH/28/1 Legal papers. William Rocliff v. John Aclam and Brian 
Middleton 

Ejectment from messuage and lands in Deighton, on 
lease from Arthur Robinson. 
3 items 
 

1608 

U DDBH/28/2 Legal papers. Nelson v. Robinson 

Ejectment. 
1 item 
 

1610 

U DDBH/28/3 Legal papers. Arthur Robinson v. Thomas and Luke 
Walthall 
Estate of their father William Walthall of London 
alderman deceased. 
4 items 
 

1618 

U DDBH/28/4 Legal papers. Richard Aske v. Arthur Robinson 

[Feofee] farm rent out of Deighton Northcloses. 
3 items 
 

1626 
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U DDBH/28/5 Legal papers. Walter [  ], John Wray and John 
Robinson, tenants of [John] Aske v. [  ] Sowden  
Manor of Clevinge Closes alias Clevinge Feildes with 
50ac. in Clevinge, Lonsbrough, Goodmanham and 
Shipton. 100ac. in Dighton called Dighton Lees alias 
Dighton Wood. Site of Ellerton Priory with 30ac. 
meadow and 200ac. pasture. Manor of Goodmadam 
alias Goodmanham. 16 messuages, 20 cottages, 
80ac. land, 200ac. meadow and 100ac. pasture in 
Grimston. Site of Thickhead Priory with 40ac. land, 
120ac. pasture and 40ac. meadow in Thickhead and 
Thorganby. Manor of Dighton with eight messuages, 
eight cottages, 40ac. land, 150ac. meadow and 250ac. 
pasture. Two messuages in York. 
1 item 
 

early 17th cent. 

U DDBH/28/6 Legal papers. Arthur and Henry Robinson v. [  ] 
Sowden 

60ac. meadow and 60ac. pasture in Kiplingates and 
Midleton. Manor of Cleving Closes alias Clevinge 
Feildes with 50ac. land in Clevinge, Lonsbrough, 
Goodmadham and Shipton. Cottage, 5ac. land and 
5ac. meadow in Holme super le Woulds. 10ac. land, 
10ac. meadow and 10ac. pasture in Goodmadham. 
Messuage, 20ac. land, 10ac. pasture, 10ac. meadow; 
and a cottage, 2ac. land and 2ac. meadow in Bubwith. 
50ac. land and 250ac. meadow in Eskricke called 
Northcloses. Site of Thickhead Priory with 40ac. land, 
120ac. pasture and 140ac. meadow. Manor of Dighton 
with eight messuages, eight cottages, 400ac. land, 
150ac. meadow, 250ac. pasture. 
1 item 
 

early 17th cent. 

U DDBH/28/7 Legal papers. Sir Arthur Robinson v. Sir William 
Acklam 

Debt arising from failure of Sir W. A. to do suit of court 
at manor of Dighton. 
1 item 
 

1636 

U DDBH/28/8 Legal papers. George Potts v. Arthur Robinson  
Pew in Escrick Church, for lord of manor of Deighton 
and occupiers of Nun Pallions in Eskrick. 
16 items 
 

1664 

U DDBH/28/9 Legal papers. Richard Carter v. Ralph Holmes and 
Robert Cooke 

Impounding a steer at Deighton. 
1 item 
 

c.1671 
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U DDBH/28/10 Legal papers. Arthur Robinson v. Henry Lasenby 

Trespass on Deighton Moor. 
1 item 
 

c.1680 

U DDBH/28/11 Legal papers. Arthur Robinson v. Reverend Nathaniel 
Lambe, Hannah Robinson and John Tomlinson 

Settlement of manor of Deighton, with estates there 
and in Naburn. 
4 items 
 

1682 

U DDBH/28/12 Legal papers. Robert Leafe v. Reverend Joseph Roper 
Tithes due to Rector of Escrick from lands in Escrick 
and Deighton. 
13 item 
 

1688 

U DDBH/28/13 Legal papers. Henry Richardson v. Reverend Joseph 
Roper, rector of Escrick 

Tithes. 
4 items 
 

1687 

U DDBH/28/14 Legal papers. William Pickard v. Reverend Joseph 
Roper 
Tithes of close called Hopridding in Escrick. 
5 items 
 

1687 

U DDBH/28/15 Legal papers. George Naylor v. Reverend Joseph 
Roper 
Tithes of closes called Dobridding alias Doveridding, 
Four Pounds Close and Hoppredding in Escrick. 
3 items 
 

1687 

U DDBH/28/16 Legal papers. John Taylor v. Arthur Robinson 

Boundaries of Tilmire in the manors of Deighton, Gate 
Fulford and Heslington. 
1 item 
 

17th cent. 

U DDBH/28/17 Legal papers. Reverend Richard Wynne v. Hewley 
Baines esquire 

Title to rectory of Whitton on Humber, Lincolnshire. 
1 item 
 

post 1742 

U DDBH/28/18 Legal papers. Reverend Hewley Baines v. John 
Baines 

Estate of Hewley Baines. 
2 items 
 

1761 

U DDBH/28/19 Legal papers. Alexander Crigan v. Hewley Mortimer 
Baines 

Estate of Mary Baines of Lingcroft Lodge, Naburn, 
spinster deceased. 
4 items 
 

1834 
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U DDBH/28/20 Opinion. Children's portions of Grace, Isabel, Elizabeth 
and Mary 

[Daughters of Arthur Robinson] 
1 item 
 

20 Jan 1702 

U DDBH/28/21 Opinion. Children's portions of Grace, Isabel, Elizabeth 
and Mary  
[Daughters of Arthur Robinson] 
1 item 
 

13 Apr 1702 

U DDBH/28/22 Opinion. Provision to be made by Mr Baines for his 
younger children 

1 item 
 

1716 

U DDBH/28/23 Opinion. Title to estate at Bell Hall, and sale of wood 
there 

1 item 
 

26 May 1760 

U DDBH/28/24 Opinion. Dispute between Hewley and John Baines  
Over occupancy of Bell Hall and title to personal estate 
and fixtures there. 
1 item 
 

20 Sep 1760 

U DDBH/28/25 Opinion. Title to estates of Reverend Hewley Baines. 
1 item 
 

18 Mar 1786 

U DDBH/28/26 Opinion. Right to use landing on River Ouse at Naburn 

1 item 
 

26 Jan 1791 

U DDBH/28/27 Opinion. Baines family Settlements 

1 item 
 

 

7 Oct 1797 

U DDBH/29 Miscellaneous 

49 items or bundles 
 

1724-1905 

U DDBH/29/1 Pedigrees and genealogical notes. Baines family of 
Bell Hall (Hewley, Wolrich) 
1544-1887 

15 items 
 

1724-1887 

U DDBH/29/2 Ordination. Charles Mortimer BA, University College 
Oxford 

As a Deacon. 
1 item 
 

21 May 1749 

U DDBH/29/3 Ordination. Charles Mortimer BA, Fellow of Lincoln 
College 

As a Priest. 
1 item 
 

23 Sep 1750 
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U DDBH/29/4 Manuscript sermon. [Reverend Charles Mortimer] 
1 item 
 

c.1757 

U DDBH/29/5 Manuscript sermon. [Reverend Charles Mortimer] 
1 item 
 

c.1757 

U DDBH/29/6 Commission. Hewley John Baines gentleman  
Ensign, 14th Regiment of Foot. 
1 item 
 

21 Dec 1780 

U DDBH/29/7 Commission. Hewley John Baines gentleman  
Lieutenant, Captain John Storie's Independent 
Company of Foot. 
1 item 
 

2 Oct 1781 

U DDBH/29/8 Commission. Hewley John Baines esquire  
Captain of a Company of York Corps of Volunteers. 
1 item 
 

31 Jul 1794 

U DDBH/29/9 Commission. Hewley John Baines esquire  
Major, City of York Volunteers. 
1 item 
 

27 Feb 1796 

U DDBH/29/10 Commission. Hewley John Baines esquire  
Lieutenant Colonel, City of York Volunteers. 
1 item 
 

22 Aug 1803 

U DDBH/29/11 Letter. 'A Young Volunteer', York Volunteer Corps to 
Colonel Baines, St Andrew-gate 

Complaining of 'a certain degree of illiberality' in the 
Committee; non-delivery of great-coats and 
knapsacks; and The Flannel Subscription. 
1 item 
 

18 Feb 1804 

U DDBH/29/12 Letter. A. Chambre, Judge of Assize, to Lieutenant 
Colonel Baines 

Permission for drums to be beaten and York 
Volunteers to be assembled whilst court is sitting. 
1 item 
 

25 Mar 1804 

U DDBH/29/13 Draft circular. Commanding Officer to officers and non-
commissioned officers of York Volunteers 

Conduct of men. With anti-Napoleonic verse from 'The 
Maid of Bristol'. 
1 item 
 

c.1804 

U DDBH/29/14 Warrant to Hewley Mortimer Baines esquire of Naburn 

To enrol in militia or provide a substitute. 
1 item 
 

Oct 1810 
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U DDBH/29/15 Certificate of Clerk of Militia Meetings 

Provision of substitute by Hewley M. Baines as U 
DDBH/29/14. 
1 item 
 

27 Nov 1810 

U DDBH/29/16 Printed resolutions of House of Commons  
Thanking officers, non-commissioned officers and men 
of the Corps of Volunteers, formed during the course 
of the war, for their services. With covering letters. 
1 bundle 
 

Jul 1814 

U DDBH/29/17 Circular letter from War Office  
Requesting return of details of military service of 
officers receiving reduced or retired allowances. 
1 item 
 

22 Oct 1828 

U DDBH/29/18 Commission. Henry Baines  
Lieutenant, [East Riding] Militia. 
1 item 
 

28 Sep 1852 

U DDBH/29/19 Commission. Henry Baines 

Captain, [East Riding] Militia. 
1 item 
 

14 Feb 1855 

U DDBH/29/20 Commission. Hewley John Baines gentleman  
Adjutant, [East Riding] Militia. 
1 item 
 

19 May 1855 

U DDBH/29/21 Form of Beating Order for raising recruits 

1 item 
 

late 19th cent. 

U DDBH/29/22 Receipts. Subscription of Mrs Baines to 1st West 
Riding Rifle Volunteers 

2 items 
 

1860-1861 

U DDBH/29/23 Valuations. Plate belonging to the late Timothy 
Mortimer esquire 

3 items 
 

24 Jan 1789 

U DDBH/29/24 Instructions. Knitted cap and shoe  
2 items 
 

[1809] 

U DDBH/29/25 Book. Chinese Puzzles 

1 volume 
 

1822 

U DDBH/29/26 'Bundle No. 16. Old miscellaneous papers, verses etc.'  
Visiting cards (4); small engravings of country seats, 
etc. (12); engraving in memory of work of William 
Wilberforce; poems (25); and list of 'Naburn poor, 
1825'. 
1 bundle 
 

1825-1867 
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U DDBH/29/27 'Hair of various members of the (Baines) family' 
1 bundle 
 

early 19th cent. 

U DDBH/29/28 'Case containing Mary Baines' papers' 
Biblical and religious extracts, quotations and notes. 
c. 50 items 
 

c.1827 

U DDBH/29/29 Printed minutes. Yorkshire Museum Building 
Committee and Report of Sub-Committee 

1 item 
 

31 Jul 1827 

U DDBH/29/30 List. Personal effects of Hewley John Baines esquire 
deceased 

1 item 
 

23 Jun 1830 

U DDBH/29/31 'The Surprising History of Jack and the Bean Stalk', 
belonging to William Mortimer Baines 

Cover, illustration and one page. 
1 item 
 

Dec 1833 

U DDBH/29/32 Funeral Sermon. Dame Sarah Hewley 

Preached at St Saviourgate Chapel, York in 1710 by 
Reverend Thomas Coulton. 
1 item 
 

1836 

U DDBH/29/33 Newspaper. 'Feuille D'Ostende' 
1 item 
 

2 Sep 1849 

U DDBH/29/34 'Old Medical and other Receipts' 
Remedial, household and cookery recipes. 
c. 70 items 
 

mid 19th cent. 

U DDBH/29/35 'The War Almanac for 1856' 
Containing memoirs of officers, service of staff officers 
in the Crimea; chronology of the war; Baltic and Black 
Sea fleets; distribution of the army and militia; pay of 
army and navy; etc. 
1 volume 
 

1856 

U DDBH/29/36 Certificate of Miner's Right  
Issued in the province of Nelson, New Zealand under 
the Gold Fields Act, 1866. 
1 item 
 

c.1866 

U DDBH/29/37 Details of committees upon which Sir John Hewley MP 
served (1679) by George Hadfield 

1 item 
 

1871 

U DDBH/29/38 Diploma of Knighthood of the Primrose League. 
William Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall 
1 item 
 

16 Apr 1886 
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U DDBH/29/39 'List of things left to me by my sister in law Esther Mary 
Baines who died at the Convent 18 Powis Square, 
Bayswater, London May 31st 1888'. 
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1888 

U DDBH/29/40 Self-measurement chart for gentleman's clothing 

Drawn up by Jarvis & Jones, Tailors and Breeches 
Makers, 47 Conduit Street, Bond Street, London. 
1 item 
 

late 19th cent. 

U DDBH/29/41 Pamphlet. 'Knavesmire or A Few Thoughts on the Turf' 
1 item 
 

late 19th cent. 

U DDBH/29/42 'The Civil & Military Gazette'  
Published Lahore (21 Apr 1894). 
1 item 
 

c.1894 

U DDBH/29/43 Notebook. General memoranda 

1 item 
 

1902 

U DDBH/29/44 Notebook. 'Given to me on the occasion of my birthday 
... by M. A. Baines' 
Containing general, historical and geographical notes 
and memoranda; notes on New Zealand; and 
quotations; a rough sketch of tower of Houses of 
Parliament, acreage of Deighton Hall Farm; notes on 
the Menzies family of Wood Hall. 
1 item 
 

1905 

U DDBH/29/45 Notebook  
Contents similar to U DDBH/29/44, including detailed 
instructions for making a distaff; and reference to a 
May Pole on the boundary of land known as 'Acaster 
detached', probably erected to indicate the boundary. 
1 item 
 

1905 

U DDBH/29/46 Notes. Preparation of food for farm stock 

1 item 
 

late 19th cent.-
early 20th cent. 

U DDBH/29/47 Extracts from Domesday Book and various Histories 

Relating to Skipwith, Thorganby, Heslington, 
Menthorpe, Kelfield, Moreby, Cottingwith, Riccall, 
Naburn, Deighton, Escrick, York, Cawood. 
1 item 
 

20th cent. 
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U DDBH/29/48 Parts of (a game?); photograph of a miniature; and cuff 
of a baby's dress 

East Riding Archives holds a letter from Thomas 
Coglan, 47 Piccadilly, London, to Thomas Clifford 
explaining changes in his system of hieroglyphics, and 
enclosing two sheets of hieroglyphics which are very 
similar to the sheets here thought to be part of a game 
(ERA reference DDCC/147/14/75). 
1 item 
 

c.1800 

U DDBH/29/49 List of bundles of papers. 'Contents of this Box' 
1 item 
 

 

early 20th cent. 

U DDBH/30 Settlements 

7 items 
 

1582-1876 

U DDBH/30/1 Marriage Settlement 
Sir Thomas Fairfaixe of Denton to Robett Aske of 
Aughtonne esquire, prior to marriage of Thomas son 
and heir of Sir T. F. and Ellyne, a daughter of R. A. 
Manors of Dentonne, Askwith, Thwaites, Newsam, 
Rightonne, Tolstonne, Clifford and Pennithorpe. 
Rectory of Harwood. A third part of manor and estate 
of North Ferriby. Lands in Keighley, Benglaie, West 
Mortone and Steade.  Dissolved Priory of 
Nunappletone. Manor of Apletone commonly called 
Brockett Hall. Lands in Bilbroughe (with rectory of 
Bilbroughe), Ingram, York, Howden, Bilbey (Belby), 
Skeltonne, Thorp, Linton, Kelpin, Langrick Ferry, 
Laxtonne, Dunkeswick, Hewby, Westowhill, Weardley, 
Stubhouse, Wytonne, Newby, Helthwaithill, Wyck, 
Fraysthorp, East Cowtonne, Eastrington, Swanland, 
Hasell and Darycotes. Manor house of Davyehall in 
York: Witnesses Wylliam Belassys, Ric. Mawleverer, 
Hy. Belasis, James Rither, Henry Fairfax, Wyllm. 
Vavasour, Thomas Stillington, Willm. Parker, F. 
Dawny, P. Dawney. 
1 item 
 

27 Jul 1582 

U DDBH/30/2 Marriage Settlement 
Thomas Armstrong, son of Thomas A. deceased, both 
of Naburn yeomen to Daniel Nicholson of Naburn and 
Richard Dent of Cawdwell yeomen: prior to marriage of 
T. A. and Margarett Nicholson of Stainthropp, County 
Durham, spinster. Great Wood Closes (40ac.); two 
lands on the Howelands (one near the windmill or site 
of a windmill); and 2 Houghlands all in Gate Foulforth: 
Witnesses Robert Healles, Jo. Wilkinson, Ed. 
Wilkinson. 
1 item 
 

8-9 Jan 1712 
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U DDBH/30/3 Marriage Settlement  
i) Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
ii) Henry Masterman senior of parish St Andrews, 
Holbourn and Henry Masterman junior of the Middle 
Temple gentleman 
iii) Lucy Masterman spinster, daughter of H. M. senior. 
Prior to marriage of H. B. and L. M.: all manors and 
estates of H. B. (except those in Wistow in tenure of 
specified tenants): Witnesses Jno. Masterman, Jno. 
Ridge. 
1 item 
 

10 Mar 1718 

U DDBH/30/4 Copy of U DDBH/30/3 

1 item 
 

c.1718 

U DDBH/30/5 Settlement 
i) Reverend Hewley Baines of Bell Hall (eldest son of 
Hewley and Lucy Baines, as in U DDBH/30/3, both 
deceased) 
ii) John Baines of Killinghall gentleman 
iii) Henry Masterman junior of the Middle Temple 
esquire 
Further to U DDBH/30/3: Bell Hall and lands of H. B. 
deceased there and in Naburn and Acaster Malbis: 
Witnesses John Burton, J. Ricard, E. Gray. 
1 item 
 

19 Nov 1760 

U DDBH/30/6 Copy. Marriage Settlement 
i) Henry Baines of Bell Hall esquire 
ii) Emily Jane Pease of Hesslewood House spinster 
iii) Hewley Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall esquire (father 
of H. B.) 
iv) Joseph Robinson Pease of Hesslewood House 
esquire (father of E. J. P.) 
v) Joseph Walker Pease of Hesslewood House 
esquire and John James Harrison of High Harrogate 
esquire 
Prior to marriage of H. B. and E. J. P.: specified sums. 
1 item 
 

2 Jun 1857 
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U DDBH/30/7 Draft. Marriage Settlement 
i) Robert William Menzies of Wood Hall near Howden 
esquire 
ii) Stuart Alexander Menzies, Lieutenant in 92nd 
Regiment 
iii) Charlotte Amy Bewicke Bewicke of Coulby Manor, 
near Middlesborough spinster 
iv) William Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall esquire and 
Anthony John Anstruther Wilkinson of Durham esquire 
Prior to marriage of S. A. M. and C. A. B. B.: manor 
and mansion house of Woodhall with scheduled lands 
in Woodhall and Brackenholme, parish Hemingbrough, 
and South Duffield: See also U DDBH/26/22. 
1 item 
 

 

3 May 1876 

U DDBH/31 Various Deeds 

23 items or bundles 
 

1587-1918 

U DDBH/31/1 Extract. Accounts of Robert Aske esquire as sheriff of 
Yorkshire 

1 item 
 

1587-1588 

U DDBH/31/2 Account. Sums levied [Assessment] 
Heading perished, but relates to Wapentake of Ouse 
and Derwent giving sums 'in bonis' or 'in terris' against 
names of a few inhabitants (numbers in single figures) 
of each parish. 
1 item 
 

1625-1649 

U DDBH/31/3 Inquisition post mortem  
John Aske late of London and sometime of Aughton 
esquire, son and heir of Robert Aske of Aughton 
deceased. Bubwith Ferry, with a cottage and croft 
belonging (bequeathed to his wife Margaret daughter 
of John Gwilliams of Minsterwood, Gloucestershire): 
Died 16 Dec 1605, his son and heir Richard then aged 
16. 
1 item 
 

12 Apr 1606 

U DDBH/31/4 Acknowledgement  
By William Hardwicke of York gentleman of debt of £5 
to Thomas Jackson of Wath gentleman. Witnesses 
John Hillary, Richard Mangie. 
1 item 
 

3 Feb 1660 
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U DDBH/31/5 Award of Thomas Rokeby and George Prickett of York 
esquires 

To settle differences between Arthur Robinson of 
Dighton esquire (son and heir of A. R. deceased) and 
Hannah R., daughter and executor of A. R. the father, 
and her trustees John Tomlinson of Barlow gentleman 
and Reverend Nathaniel Lamb of York: Bonds, 
furniture, clothing: Witnesses William Whitehead, T. 
Beane. 
1 item 
 

30 Sep 1682 

U DDBH/31/6 Receipt and General Quitclaim  
For £140.5s. paid by Mary Robinson of York widow 
and executor of Arthur Robinson of Deighton, to 
James Jolliffe of York milliner. In satisfaction of all 
claims of his deceased wife Hannah, daughter of A. R. 
Witnesses D'arcy Molyneux, Richard Procter, John 
Sanderson 

1 item 
 

8 Jun 1689 

U DDBH/31/7 Award between Mrs Margaret Hardwick and William 
Justice 

Boundary, wall and rights of light between their 
houses. 
1 item 
 

27 May 1690 

U DDBH/31/8 Letter of Attorney. Mary Pearson widow to William 
Wilkinson gentleman, both of York 

To receive money due to her from Hewley Baines in 
respect of a copyhold estate at Wistow: Witnesses 
Tho. and Rob. Jubb. 
1 item 
 

10 Aug 1730 

U DDBH/31/9 Gift. Lucy, wife of Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire to 
her son Hewley B. 
£600 under Will of her father, conditional on his 
satisfying her creditors (£120 to Samuel Thornton of 
Naburn and £60 to Ellen Dickinson of York spinster): 
Should he decline, the money to be offered in turn, on 
same terms, to her son John and daughter Lucy. 
Witnesses John Hardy, Ian Brown. 
1 item 
 

7 May 1754 

U DDBH/31/10 Letter of appointment. Reverend Hewley Baines of Bell 
Hall to Arthur Ricard and Ebenezer Gray of York 
gentlemen 

To take seisin of a house and lands from Robert 
Bewlay junior of York gentleman: Witnesses Hary 
Harrison, Frances Addison. 
1 item 
 

21 Jan 1761 
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U DDBH/31/11 Mortgage 

For £75: Commissioners for Navigation of River Swale 
and Bedale Brook to Timothy Mortimer gentleman. 
Tolls of the Navigation. 
1 item 
 

4 Aug 1768 

U DDBH/31/12 Mortgage  
Similar to U DDBH/31/11 for £30. 
1 item 
 

5 May 1769 

U DDBH/31/13 Agreement for Sale 

For £3450: Thomas George Walmesley to Hewley 
John Baines. House and 20ac. at Lincroft (Lingcroft, 
parish Naburn). 
1 item 
 

11 Jun 1825 

U DDBH/31/14 Valuation. Furniture at Lincroft 
1 item 
 

28 May 1832 

U DDBH/31/15 Declaration by Henry Broadley of Beverley MP, John 
Harrison of Bellwood and Hewley Mortimer Baines of 
Bell Hall esquires 

Of their respective shares of £18,500 advanced to 
Andrew Lawson of Boroughbridge Hall on mortgage of 
estates at Albrough and Rawcliffe.  
1 item 
 

28 Nov 1845 

U DDBH/31/16 Licences, Certificates, Declarations, Institutions, etc.  
As:  
a) Curate at Marston Montgomery, Derbyshire (1868) 
b) Priesthood (1869) 
c) Vicar of Boynton and Carnaby with Fraisthorpe 
(1870) 
d) Curate at Aylesby, Lincolnshire (1879) 
e) Rector of Healing, Lincolnshire (1880) 
f) Rector of Cottesbrooke, Northamptonshire (1887) 
25 items 
 

1868-1887 

U DDBH/31/17 Manuscript poem. 'How they do it with the Brocklesby' 
1 item 
 

22 Dec 1882 

U DDBH/31/18 Lists. Mr Assheton Biddulph's Hounds  
Ormond and King's County Hunt (1885-1886).  
2 items 
 

24 Nov 1889 

U DDBH/31/19 Cheque book 

1 volume 
 

1885-1889 
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U DDBH/31/20 Correspondence  
Letters from Peterborough Diocesan Registry (4); son 
Digby Legard; F. C. Greenfield; A. T. Fludyer; Charles 
Legard; O. C. Wallis; J. C. Hodgson; 'Aubrey' (8); C. 
Moor; Bishop of Peterborough. Death of Sir Charles 
Legard; pedigrees of Byerley, Grimston and Legard 
families; hunting (Cornwall, Leicester); tithes of 
Cottesbrooke. 
1 bundle 
 

1886-1914 

U DDBH/31/21 Lists. Furniture, wine, plate and glass  
12 items 
 

c.1889 

U DDBH/31/22 Draft Declaration. Emily Mary Legard, wife of 
Reverend C. H. L. 
As to her marriage and children, in matter of estate of 
Mrs Caroline Walford.  
1 item 
 

Dec 1900 

U DDBH/31/23 Inventory. Furniture, pictures, books and silver 
Left by Reverend C. H. L. as heirlooms. 
1 item 
 

 

1918 

U DDBH/32 Wills 

47 items 
 

1682-1916 

U DDBH/32/1 Copy Will. Sir John Hewley of York 

Bequests to wife Dame Sarah H.; poor of parish in 
which he dies; niece - Metcalfe and her daughter; son 
of Margaret, eldest daughter of John Baines of Wistow 
gentleman; niece (Anne?) Baynes, youngest daughter 
of brother Baynes and his first wife Margaret, 
deceased; brother Baynes; John and Thomas, sons of 
John Baynes; cousin John Wood, Lord Mayor of York 
and his children and daughter-in-law; cousin Elizabeth 
Woolrych and her brother Anthony W., Fellow of All 
Souls, Oxford: unspecified houses; money: Witnesses 
Ralph Ward, Timothy Hodgson, (Katherine?) Habson, 
Frances Ward. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1682 

U DDBH/32/2 Draft Will. Arthur Robinson of Deighton esquire 

Bequests to eldest son Arthur, daughters Grace, 
Isabell, Elizabeth and Mary; and wife. Friends Darcy 
Molyneux, Thomas Fawkes and Arthur Robinson of 
York merchant to act as supervisors and guardians to 
his children until they marry or come of age. 
1 item 
 

c.1685 
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U DDBH/32/3 Copy Will. Dame Sarah Hewley of York widow 

Bequests to Barbarah, wife of William Ward advocate, 
in trust for Hewley son of John Baines of York esquire 
deceased.; children of Thomas and Elizabeth Baines; 
Hatton son of Sir Toby Woolrich deceased; Thomas 
Woolrich; Mrs Mercy Mott; [  ] Mott, daughter of Mrs 
Mary Manton; Richard Wynne, sergeant at law; Mary 
wife of Joseph Walker of Norton Conyers; Timothy 
Hodgson; Hewley Moxon of York upholsterer; Mayor 
and Corporation of York in trust to supply coals for the 
poor, for school or hospital of boys lately erected in 
Peaseholm Green and for erection of a school or 
hospital of poor girls in York; two sisters of Hatton 
Woolrich; Dr Ward; Mrs Dorothy Mott and her younger 
brother; Mrs Green; and others mentioned in 'Private 
Instructions' given the day before she died: Bell Hall; 
Naburn; copyhold estate in Forest of Knaresborough; 
houses in St Saviourgate; cottage and tithes in Boulton 
parish Bishop Wilton; tenements and kiln in Walmgate; 
house in Black street of Coulton; two messuage 
houses in Bishopsgate, London: Codicil 21 Aug 1710. 
Witnesses S. Williams, Sam. Smith, Drewry Peake, 
Robert Rhodes. 
1 item 
 

9 Jul 1707 

U DDBH/32/4 Abstract of Will as U DDBH/32/3 

1 item 
 

c.1707 

U DDBH/32/5 Copy Will. Henry Masterman of York 

Bequests to Joseph Stillington and William Gossip in 
trust for daughter Lucy Baines, her husband Hewley 
B.; son Henry; brother Stephen; niece Elizabeth Eyre; 
servants Joseph Walker and Elizabeth Foxton: 
messuage in the first Water Lane parish St Michael 
Spurriergate in York and unspecified estate. 
1 item 
 

30 Jan 1731 

U DDBH/32/6 Copy Will. Reverend George Colbatch of Great 
Driffield 

Bequests to Matthew 'supposed son' of brother 
Matthew deceased; John, Mary and Jane children of 
brother Timothy deceased; Frances Gough and Jane 
Davis, children of sister Ann Low deceased; Thomas 
Radford of Kidderminster; James Stockell parish clerk 
of Driffield; nephews Timothy and Thomas sons of 
brother Timothy; niece Jane wife of Christopher 
Jackson of Bridlington; housekeeper Jane Davis 
daughter of niece Jane D. Witnesses Jas. Cooke, 
Willm. Paul, Robt. Hudson. 
1 item 
 

21 Nov 1754 
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U DDBH/32/7 'Mr Bewlay's Instructions for his Will' 
Bequests to Elizabeth Ombler; Ann Collingwood; Mary 
Mortimer; Arrabella Mortimer; Mrs Ann Cassons; Mrs 
Bewlay; Charles Mortimer: Barstow House and Garth, 
three closes in Beggargate Lane, close in Midlethorpe 
Ings. 
1 item 
 

24 Apr 1780 

U DDBH/32/8 Account. Timothy Mortimer and Reverend Hewley 
Baines 

1 item 
 

1773-1787 

U DDBH/32/9 Account. Trustees of Reverend Hewley Baines and 
Hewley John Baines esquire (his eldest son)  
And for raising portions for his younger children and 
payment of legacies as U DDBH/32/11. 
1 item 
 

1786-1787 

U DDBH/32/10 Power of Attorney. Reverend Hewley Baines to William 
Preston of Moreby esquire and Timothy Mortimer of 
York gentleman  
To receive and pay dividends to, and upon receipts of, 
Lucy, Mary, Ann and Dorothy Baines, daughters of 
Reverend H. B.  
1 item 
 

23 Feb 1787 

U DDBH/32/11 Note of bequest. Ann Masterman 

£50 to each of eight children of her cousin Reverend 
Hewley Baines. 
1 item 
 

c.1787 

U DDBH/32/12 Receipt. Henry Baines esquire  
For legacy as U DDBH/32/11. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1787 

U DDBH/32/13 Receipt. Miss M. Baines 

Legacy as U DDBH/32/11. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1787 

U DDBH/32/14 Receipt. Miss L. Baines 

Legacy as U DDBH/32/11. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1787 

U DDBH/32/15 Receipt. Miss Eliza. Baines 

Legacy as U DDBH/32/11. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1787 

U DDBH/32/16 Account of Jnas Barlow esquire with younger children 
of Reverend Hewley Baines 

Legacies as U DDBH/32/11. 
1 item 
 

10 Jul 1787 
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U DDBH/32/17 Receipt. Reverend Hewley Baines 

Legacy as U DDBH/32/11, bequeathed to his daughter 
Sarah deceased. 
1 item 
 

24 Jun 1788 

U DDBH/32/18 Letters of Administration. Sarah Baines of Bell Hall, 
Naburn, spinster 
Granted to her father Reverend Hewley Baines of 
York. 
1 bundle 
 

24 Jun 1788 

U DDBH/32/19 Copy Will. William Harrison of Ripon, doctor of physic 

Bequests to wife Catherine. Brother Thomas Harrison 
of Bishopton Lodge, Ripon doctor of physic, John 
Hewley Baines of Bell Hall esquire, and Thomas 
Swann of York banker appointed trustees for his eight 
children (William Henry, Elizabeth, John, Catherine, 
Ann, Mary, Thomas and Charlotte): Burgage House 
with property and land in Ripon: Witnesses Thomas 
Terry, John Ewbank, Storner Reynard. 
1 item 
 

3 Sep 1802 

U DDBH/32/20 Account book. Trustees of Will as U DDBH/32/19 

1 volume 
 

1802-1821 

U DDBH/32/21 Letter. John Howard to Thomas Swann 

Financial matters arising from Will as U DDBH/32/19. 
1 item 
 

3 Mar 1810 

U DDBH/32/22 Letter from [one of children of William Harrison?] 
Legacy under Will as U DDBH/32/19. 
1 item 
 

early 19th cent. 

U DDBH/32/23 Bond 

In £1400: Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall esquire to 
David Russell of York gentleman. Payment of annuity 
of £84 during life of Mrs Lucy Sawyer of York widow: 
Witnesses John W. Forrest, Wm. Dyson. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1808 

U DDBH/32/24 Memorandum of Agreement 
Parties as U DDBH/32/23. Relating to annuity as U 
DDBH/32/23. 
1 item 
 

20 Oct 1808 

U DDBH/32/25 Promissory Note  
For £200 paid to George Simpson. 
1 item 
 

24 Nov 1820 
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U DDBH/32/26 Bond 

In £1000: Hewley Mortimer Baines esquire and wife 
Mary of Eastfield House near Dunnington to William 
Henry Harrison of Ripon, Richard Terry of 
Knaresborough, Joseph Beevers Terry and John 
Harrison both of Ripon bankers. For payment of £500. 
1 item 
 

15 Jan 1822 

U DDBH/32/27 Account book. Executors of Will of Mary Baines 

1 volume 
 

1833-1834 

U DDBH/32/28 Valuation. Goods and property of Miss Baines 
deceased  
Taken by George Beal junior. 
1 item 
 

7 Feb 1834 

U DDBH/32/29 Letters. Legacy Duty Department, Stamp Office to 
Hewley Mortimer Baines esquire 

Will of Mary Baines. 
2 items 
 

1834-1836 

U DDBH/32/30 Probate Copy. Will of Hewley John Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire 

Bequests to son Hewley Mortimer Baines and 
daughter Mary Baines. Witnesses David Russell, 
William Thompson, James Russell. Probate 4 Aug 
1830. 
1 item 
 

11 Sep 1819 

U DDBH/32/31 Copy Will. As U DDBH/32/30 

1 item 
 

c.1819 

U DDBH/32/32 Letter. David Russell, Clifton to [H. M. Baines] 
Will as U DDBH/32/30. 
1 item 
 

c.1830 

U DDBH/32/33 Probate copy. Will of Mary Baines of Lingcroft Lodge in 
Naburn, spinster 
Bequests to niece Mary Catherine Baines of Bell Hall; 
cousin Eliza Lucy Russell of Clifton; god-daughter 
Jane Askwith of Ripon; Reverend Dr Alexander 
Crigan, rector of Escrick and wife Mary and daughter 
Mary Smelt Crigan; friends Ann Dawson, Mary 
Sergeantson, Elizabeth Williamson, sister-in-law Mary 
Baines; maid Elizabeth Flint of Low Catton; John Wiley 
senior for teaching Deighton Sunday School; brother 
Hewley Mortimer Baines: money, personalty (mentions 
portraits of her parents and view of Bell Hall): 
Witnesses Sarahanna Rolls, Sarah Long, Thomas 
Simpson.  With Codicil. Probate 15 Mar 1834. 
1 item 
 

2 Dec 1831 
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U DDBH/32/34 Copy Will. As U DDBH/32/33 

1 item 
 

c.1831 

U DDBH/32/35 Case and Opinion of J. L. Knight, Lincoln's Inn 

Bequest in Will as U DDBH/32/33.  
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1834 

U DDBH/32/36 Will (cancelled). Hewley Mortimer Baines of Bell Hall 
esquire 

No provision to be made for eldest son Hewley John 
Baines 'having acted contrary to my wishes and deeply 
offended me by his misconduct'. Bequests to wife 
Mary; sons Henry and William Mortimer; John Harrison 
of Belwood esquire; daughter Mary Catherine wife of 
John James Harrison of High Harrogate esquire. 
Witnesses James Russell solicitor and Josh. 
Fillingham. With note that Hewley John B., eldest son 
of H. M. B. died 8 Oct 1855. 
1 item 
 

27 Jun 1846 

U DDBH/32/37 Codicil (cancelled) to Will. As U DDBH/32/36 

1 item 
 

27 Mar 1849 

U DDBH/32/38 Instructions for Codicil. As U DDBH/32/37 

1 item 
 

c.1849 

U DDBH/32/39 Will (cancelled). Hewley Mortimer Baines (as U 
DDBH/32/36) 
Bequests to wife, son William Mortimer, daughter Mary 
Catherine and David Russell of York gentleman. 
1 item 
 

20 Apr 1870 

U DDBH/32/40 Probate Copy. Will of Hewley Mortimer Baines (as U 
DDBH/32/36) 
Bequests to wife, son William Mortimer, son-in-law 
John James Harrison for children of deceased. wife 
Catherine Mary; and David Russell of York gentleman. 
Witnesses E. P. Tippett solicitor, H. Ragland Deck, law 
student. Probate 18 Apr 1874. With Inland Revenue 
returns (4) (1874). 
1 item 
 

8 Apr 1871 
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U DDBH/32/41 Copy Will. James Middleton Hall of Scorborough 

Bequests to daughters Frances, Harriet wife of 
Reverend Rudd, Emily wife of Reverend Cecil Henry 
Legard, and Caroline Walford. James Sprott of Spot 
near Dunbar esquire, James Robinson Pease of 
Beverley banker and Henry Edward Silvester of 
Beverley gentleman trustees. Witnesses Harold A. 
Silvester, Beverley gentleman; William Williamson, 
Scorborough, butler to Mr Hall. Probate 7 Sep 1877. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/32/42 Copy Will. James Middleton Hall of Scorborough 

Bequests to daughters Frances, Harriet wife of 
Reverend Rudd, Emily wife of Reverend Cecil Henry 
Legard, and Caroline Walford. James Sprott of Spot 
near Dunbar esquire, James Robinson Pease of 
Beverley banker and Henry Edward Silvester of 
Beverley gentleman trustees. Witnesses Harold A. 
Silvester, Beverley gentleman; William Williamson, 
Scorborough, butler to Mr Hall. Probate 7 Sep 1877. 
1 item 
 

25 Feb 1875 

U DDBH/32/43 Release 

Harry Mortimer Harrison esquire and the children of 
Mary Catherine Harrison deceased to William Mortimer 
Baines esquire. From trusts of Will of Hewley Mortimer 
Baines in respect of a bequest of £7000. 
1 item 
 

22 Dec 1882 

U DDBH/32/44 Inland Revenue returns 

Duty on estate of William Mortimer Baines deceased. 
1 item 
 

1912 

U DDBH/32/45 Inland Revenue returns 

Estate of Emily Jane Straton of Tunbridge Wells, Kent 
deceased. 
1 item 
 

1916 

U DDBH/32/46 Letter. H. V. Baines, solicitor, 37 Queen Victoria 
Street, London to H. M. Baines, Bell Hall 
Letters of Administration granted on death of 'uncle 
Henry'. 
1 item 
 

13 May 1916 

U DDBH/32/47 Grant of Letters of Administration  
Of unadministered personal estate of Henry Baines of 
Malton granted to Hewley Mortimer Baines, as 
executor of Will of William Mortimer Baines. 
1 item 
 

28 Oct 1916 

 


